

### Kac-Rice Formula: A contemporary overview of the main results and applications

Corinne Berzin, Alain Latour, José León

#### ▶ To cite this version:

Corinne Berzin, Alain Latour, José León. Kac-Rice Formula: A contemporary overview of the main results and applications. 2022. hal-03665428

#### HAL Id: hal-03665428 https://hal.science/hal-03665428v1

Preprint submitted on 13 May 2022

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers.

L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

#### Abstract

The book develops the fundamental ideas of the famous Kac-Rice formula for vectorvalued random fields. This formula allows to compute the expectation and moments of the measure, and integrals with respect to this measure, of the sets of levels of such fields.

After a presentation of the historical context of the Kac-Rice formula, we give an elementary demonstration of the co-area formula. This formula replaces the change of variable formula in multiple integrals and a direct application of this formula gives the Kac-Rice formula for almost all levels. We emphasize the necessity of having the formula for all levels, because for some applications one needs, for example, the formula for level zero.

The previous observation leads us to refine the analysis to show that the terms appearing in the formula obtained from the co-aera formula are continuous functions. This leads us to carefully use the results provided by the implicit function theorem. We prove the continuity with respect to the level of the studied functional. This result is crucial to be able to use the tools of measure theory to exchange the limit with the expectation. Then, the other term of the equality, the one where the conditional expectation intervenes, requires tools of the probability calculus to check its continuity with respect to the level.

The procedure indicated above applies to moments of order greater than two of the functional. An important part of our work gives several applications. Some of them are strictly probabilistic in nature, others are related to the study of the random sea, and still others concern the roots of trigonometric and algebraic random polynomials. Finally, we also make a small excursion into the theory of gravitational lenses.

We end the book with a novel study of the local time approximation of Gaussian fields by measuring the set of levels of the regularized field by convolution with a kernel that approximates the Dirac delta. From a technical point of view, this chapter is a bit more demanding, but its inclusion reveals the power of the formulas and opens to the reader some possible research directions.

Corinne Berzin Alain Latour José R. León

# KAC-RICE FORMULA: A CONTEMPORARY OVERVIEW OF THE MAIN RESULTS AND APPLICATIONS

Corinne Berzin, Alain Latour, José R. León

## KAC-RICE FORMULA: A CONTEMPORARY OVERVIEW OF THE MAIN RESULTS AND APPLICATIONS

Corinne Berzin Alain Latour José R. León

#### **FOREWORD**

To Enrique Cabaña

In these notes, we study the behavior of the level set  $C_X(y) := \{x \in D \subset \mathbb{R}^d : X(x) = y\}$  for a fairly smooth random field  $X : \Omega \times D \subset \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j$  with  $d \geq j$ . We are interested in establishing a formula for the expectation and for the higher order moments of the (d-j)-area measure of the level set  $C_X(y)$ , i.e.,  $\sigma_{d-j}(C_X(y))$ , as well as formulas for level set functionals.

Let us give the historical context. The study of level sets of Gaussian random processes began in the 1940s with two seminal papers by Mark Kac [35] and Stephen 0. Rice [54], respectively. In both articles, a formula was established to calculate the expectation of the number of zeros of a Gaussian process  $X: \Omega \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ . It should be noted, however, that Kac was interested in the asymptotic study of the number of roots of a random polynomial while Rice sought such a formula for imperatively Gaussian models in communication theory. Over the next decade, both works were generalized and deepened. Kac's work was extended to calculate the asymptotic variance of the number of roots and a central limit theorem was also proved. Rice's work was also generalized. Cramér and Leadbetter began a fruitful collaboration on this subject that resulted in their very famous book [23].

In 1957, M. S. Longuet-Higgins, in an article devoted to the modeling of the sea as a random surface [44], gives for the first time a Kac-Rice formula for Gaussian fields,  $X: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ , which can be considered as a great success. The work, while very ingenious, provided no formal mathematical proof. Nevertheless, this article was intensely cited after its appearance and its imprint on subsequent work for the study of level sets for random fields was very important.

In the early eighties of the last century, three other key works were published. The article entitled "Esperanzas de integrales sobre conjuntos de nivel aleatorios" by E. Cabaña, [21], that the reader will have the opportunity to

ii FOREWORD

revisit with these notes, a Springer Lecture Notes [61] written by M. Wschebor "Surfaces aléatoires" and finally the Robert Adler's book "The Geometry of Random Fields" [1]. These three works deal with the extension of the ideas of Kac and Rice to multidimensional random fields.

These themes, somewhat "exotic" for the time they were studied, have been revived in the 21st century. We have seen the appearance of two books,[3] and [10], that gave a new impetus to the subject.

The well-established Kac-Rice formulas in the 1980s have been proven again and improved, revealing unsuspected connections. However, the most important aspect of this recent revival is the application of Kac-Rice formulas in several areas of pure and applied mathematics. With these notes, different in its accent from the two aforementioned books, we want to introduce the reader into an old and at the same time young field, highlighting a significant number of applications.

These notes come from a course given by one of the authors at the XXX Escuela Venezolana de Matemática that took place at Mérida, Venezuela in September 2017. For this edition, they have been considerably expanded and corrected.

#### CONTENTS

roreword	1
1. Some historical remarks about Kac-Rice formula	1
2. A proof of the coarea formula	
2.1. Preliminaries	
2.2. Hypothesis and notations	
2.3. Coarea formula	
2.4. Kac-Rice formulas for almost all levels	21
3. Kac-Rice formula for all level	25
3.1. Rice formula for a regular level set	25
3.2. Rice's formula for all level	58
3.3. General Rice formulas for all level	78
4. Applications	97
4.1. Dimensions $d = j = 1 \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$	
4.2. Sea modeling applications	106
4.3. Berry and Dennis dislocations	110
4.4. Gravitational stochastic microlensing	114
4.5. Kostlan-Shub-Smale systems	116
4.6. Local time and length of curves of level set	129
5. Vague convergence and stable convergence	225
5.1. Vague convergence	
5.2. Stable convergence	
Bibliography	229

#### CHAPTER 1

#### SOME HISTORICAL REMARKS ABOUT KAC-RICE FORMULA

The well-known change of variable formula in an integral of a real function can be written as follows. Let  $G : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  a monotone and differentiable function and I = G([a, b]). If f is a continuous function, we have

$$\int_{I} f(y) \, \mathrm{d}y = \int_{a}^{b} f(G(t)) \left| G'(t) \right| \, \mathrm{d}t.$$

A similar formula is also true when G is differentiable but not necessarily monotone. In such a case, the formula must be modified by introducing the number of crossings of the level y for the function G. We define the latter quantity as follows:

$$N_{[a,b]}^G(y) := \#\{t \in [a,b] : G(t) = y\}.$$

leading to the following formula

$$\int_{I} f(y) N_{[a,b]}^{G}(y) \, \mathrm{d}y = \int_{a}^{b} f(G(t)) \left| G'(t) \right| \, \mathrm{d}t.$$

This formula is known as the area formula and has a long history. Its first proof is presented in an article by S. Banach [11].

This formula can be used to obtain another formula known as the Kac counter [36]. In fact, if the function G is continuously differentiable and has a finite number of crossings at the u level, then

(1) 
$$N_{[a,b]}^{G}(u) = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{1}{2\delta} \int_{a}^{b} \mathbb{1}_{[u-\delta, u+\delta]}(G(s)) |G'(s)| \, \mathrm{d}s.$$

Kac used this formula to obtain the expectation of the number of real roots of a random polynomial. In fact, let  $\{a_i\}_{i=0}^n$  be a set of independent standard Gaussian random variables. Let us define for each n the following random

polynomial

$$X_n(t) := a_0 + a_1 t + \dots + a_n t^n.$$

Kac was interested in the expectation of the random variable  $N_{[0,T]}^{X_n}(0)$ . Using the counter (1), knowing that the number of real roots of  $X_n$  and  $X'_n$  is bounded by n, we see that almost surely, we have

$$N_{[0,T]}^{X_n}(0) = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{1}{2\delta} \int_0^T \mathbb{1}_{[-\delta,+\delta]}(X_n(s)) |X_n'(s)| \, \mathrm{d}s,$$

and moreover, the right side is also bounded. The dominated convergence theorem implies

$$\mathbb{E}\Big[N_{[0,T]}^{X_n}(0)\Big] = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{1}{2\delta} \int_0^T \int_{-\delta}^{\delta} \int_{\mathbb{R}} |z| \, p_{X_n(s), X_n'(s)}(x, z) \, \mathrm{d}z \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}s$$
$$= \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}} |z| \, p_{X_n(s), X_n'(s)}(0, z) \, \mathrm{d}z \, \mathrm{d}s,$$

where  $p_{X_n(s),X'_n(s)}(x,z)$  is the density of the Gaussian vector  $(X_n(s),X'_n(s))$ .

This is the famous Kac-Rice formula. This name comes from the fact that Rice, considering the zeros of random processes, also gives a proof of this result for Gaussian processes [55]. Nevertheless, Rice's interest was not in random polynomials, but in problems related to random signals. In the case studied by Rice, more work is needed because, in general, the processes are not almost surely bounded.

In a historical article [53], the author claims that in fact, the formula was obtained by Rice long before the publication of his articles [54] and [55], which remain the main references to the first proof of the formula.

Rice's proof, although original and very suggestive, was supplemented by Itô in [34] who gives, for stationary Gaussian processes, a necessary and sufficient condition for the number of crossings to be finite. The Itô's condition requires the finiteness of the second spectral moment of the process.

In 1967, some time after the publication of the aforementioned works, Cramér & Leadbetter's book [23] was published. In this book, not only was a general proof of the Kac-Rice formula given, but the higher moments were also considered, establishing a formula for factorial moments of the number of crossings for Gaussian processes. In addition, the theory has been enriched and supplemented by an interesting series of applications.

Besides, in the text, a necessary condition was given to ensure that the variance of the  $N_{[0,T]}^X(0)$  was finite, X being a stationary Gaussian process. To do this, the authors used Kac-Rice's formula for the second factorial moment

of  $N_{[0,T]}^X(0)$ . The condition was expressed as follows:  $\exists \delta > 0$  such that

$$\int_0^\delta \frac{|r''(t) - r''(0)|}{t} \, \mathrm{d}t < \infty,$$

where r is the covariance function of X. A little later, D. Geman [29] showed that this condition was also sufficient.

At that time, the study of level sets for random fields was not very popular. A brilliant exception is the seminal work of M.S. Longuet-Higgins [44] appeared in 1957 and in which, among several applications of the level crossings to sea modeling, a Kac-Rice formula for the length of the level curve for a stationary Gaussian random field  $X : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$  was firmly established.

Apart from the article mentioned above, interest in the functional of level sets for a random field only emerged in the last seventies and eighties of the last century. For example, we can cite the founding article [2], where Adler and Hasofer extended the notion of crossing levels using the Euler characteristic of the excursion set from a Gaussian random field  $X : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ . Also, it is important to mention the work of Benzaquén & Cabaña [12], where for the first time a Kac-Rice formula for the measure of the level set of a Gaussian random field  $X : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  was obtained, generalizing the result of the aforementioned article [44].

In the eighties, two books dealing with the levels set for random fields were published. The first book, written by R. Adler [1], deals with problems related to the geometry of random fields. The Euler characteristic of the excursion set  $A_u(X,S) := \{s \in S : X(s) \geqslant u\}$  for a Gaussian random field  $X : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  was introduced and a Kac-Rice formula for the expectation of this functional has been proved. In addition, a formula for the expected number of maxima above the u level of X(t) for  $t \in S$  has been given. Subsequently, several applications of the last mentioned formula were provided. In particular, the author obtains an approximation of the tail of the distribution of the random variable  $\max_{t \in S} X(t)$ . The second book, is a Springer Lecture Notes written by M. Wschebor [61] where the expectation of the Lebesgue measure of the level set  $\mathcal{C}_{S,X}(u) := \{s \in S : X(s) = u\}$  was computed. The results contained in this book generalize those of the article [12], showing a Kac-Rice formula for more general Gaussian fields, demonstrating a formula for higher moments and also considering non-Gaussian processes.

The Kac-Rice formulas cited above are based on a geometric measurement formula known as the coarea formula. This formula will be established and proven at the beginning of this book. The coarea formula is one of the main tools in Federer's work [26] and other mathematicians (the corresponding references can be found in the bibliography of this latter book).

To facilitate understanding, we will give the formula and sketch an application. Let G be a differentiable function  $G: D \subset \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j, d \geqslant j$ , and D an open set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . Let  $\nabla G(\cdot)$  denote its Jacobian. If  $f: \mathbb{R}^j \to \mathbb{R}^+$  then for a Borel subset  $B \subset D$ ,

$$\int_{B} f(G(x)) (\det(\nabla G(x) \nabla G(x)^{T}))^{\frac{1}{2}} dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j}} f(y) \mathcal{H}_{d-j}(\mathcal{C}_{B,G}(y)) dy$$

where  $\mathcal{H}_{d-j}$  is the Hausdorff measure in dimension d-j and  $\mathcal{C}_{B,G}(y) := \{x \in B : G(x) = y\}$ . In the case we develop, we define j = 1,  $f = 1_A$  for A a Borel set of  $\mathbb{R}$  and G = X a continuously differentiable Gaussian random field and its gradient satisfies a Hölder condition. In this case,  $\mathcal{C}_{B,X}(y)$  is almost surely a differentiable variety of co-dimension one (see [61]) and the formula is

$$\int_{B} \mathbb{1}_{\{X(x) \in A\}} \|\nabla X(x)\|_{d} dx = \int_{A} \sigma_{d-1}(\mathcal{C}_{B,X}(y)) dy.$$

Then, taking the expectation on both sides and assuming that for any bounded Borel set A one of the two integrals is finite, using Fubini's theorem and duality, we get for almost all y

(2) 
$$\mathbb{E}[\sigma_{d-1}(\mathcal{C}_{B,X}(y))] = \int_{B} \mathbb{E}[\|\nabla X(x)\|_{d} |X(x) = y] p_{X(x)}(y) dx.$$

In [12] for stationary Gaussian fields and in [61] for more general and smooth Gaussian fields, conditions are given for the formula to be true for all y. In general, it is not trivial to switch from the formula (2) to the formula given for all y. Different strategies have been developed and the explanation of a possible way is one of the main interests of this work.

The formula (2) for  $d \ge j \ge 1$  was studied by Cabaña in [21]. The article was written in Spanish and had not been widely distributed. In the more recent book [10] a proof has been sketched, and in these notes, we will generalize and complete these two nice initiatives.

In the twenty-first century, two books appeared [3] and [10] that gave new impetus to the subject. New fields of application of the formulas have appeared in the literature and the question has become a vast research field. Examples include applications to the number of roots of random polynomial systems (algebraic or trigonometric) and also to the volume of nodal sets for rectangular systems.

The current literature is considerable. We can mention among others: [32] and [8] for the study of random trigonometric real polynomials and [39] which

considers the length of the set of zeros of the random trigonometric polynomial in the torus  $\mathbb{T}^2$ , also [62], [10, Chapter 12] and [5] for the zeros of Kostlan-Shub-Smale polynomials or systems and [40] for the study of zeros for more general polynomials and also the zeros of other geometric objects. Kac-Rice formulas are also a basic tool for studying sets of zeros of random waves and it has been very important to prove or disprove Berry's conjectures [14], see [46] and the references therein.

One area of application where the formulas have been very useful is random modelling of the sea. This domain presents the first application of Kac-Rice's formula for random fields in the nice article [44]. In addition, the Lund's School of probability has been very active in these areas, see for example [43] and the references contained therein. The Kac-Rice formula is not valid for random fields with non-differentiable trajectories. However, the study of some level functionals for these fields as the local time, was implemented by approximating the actual field by a regular field using a convolution with an approximate Dirac delta. In addition, the Kac-Rice formula for a functional level of the smoothed field makes it possible to approximate a level functional of the original field. Thus, the random fields to which the level sets are studied can have their domain in a finite-dimensional manifold; see [40] for example.

We have presented a panorama, perhaps a little fast, of the genesis and development of Kac-Rice formulas and their deep imprint in the study of sets of zeros of random functions. In these notes, we will try to make accessible to postgraduate students and researchers in probability and statistics and related fields the basic ideas for demonstrating the formulas. We will also insist on its applications, both those of the first epoch and those of the present times. We hope the reader will enjoy reading them as much as we did while writing them.

#### CHAPTER 2

#### A PROOF OF THE COAREA FORMULA

#### 2.1. Preliminaries

As mentioned earlier, in these notes we study the Kac-Rice formulas dealing with the expectation of the level set measure for random fields or processes. In what follows, we describe the different parts of this work.

First, there are two variants of the change of variables formula for multiple integrals that are very useful in integral geometry. The first one corresponds to smooth and locally bijective functions  $G: \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$  and the second one applies to smooth functions  $G: \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j$  with d > j, having a differential of maximal rank. These formulas are called respectively area formula and coarea formula. By applying these formulas to the trajectories of the random fields, then taking the expectation, we obtain the well known Kac-Rice formulas. Recently and mainly thanks to the publication of two excellent books ([3] and [10]), the application of these formulas has aroused a growing interest in fields as varied as: random algebraic geometry, the complexity of algorithms for solving large systems of equations, the study of zeros of random polynomial systems, and finally, applications in engineering. We now present the parts of this book.

- 1. In the first part, we give an analytical proof of the area and coarea formulas. Such a proof, originally attributed to Banach and Federer [26], uses elementary tools of vector calculus and measure theory in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .
- 2. The above formulas are the basis for establishing the validity of Kac-Rice formulas for random fields. They allow to compute the expectation of the measure of the level sets

$$C_{Q,X}(y) := \{ t \in Q \subset \mathbb{R}^d : X(t) = y \},\$$

- where  $X: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j$  is a random field and  $d \geq j$ . It should be noted that one can obtain a Kac-Rice formula for almost any level using the area and coarea formulas, Fubini's theorem and duality. However, in applications, the interest is directed towards a fixed y-level. For example, the zeros in the study of the roots of a random polynomial. This precision leads us to a delicate study to generalize the classical theorems of inverse function and implicit function. For this part, we have based our approach on two seminal works: on the one hand, an article by E. Cabaña [21], published in the proceedings of the II CLAPEM conference and on the other hand, in the Lecture Notes of Mathematics by M. Wschebor [61]. The method we use also produces the Kac-Rice formula for the upper moments of the level measure.
- 3. These notes continue with several applications. We first show examples where the hypothesis can be verified, then we use the Kac-Rice formulas to obtain conditions on the finiteness of the first and second moments of the level set measure. The very important case of Gaussian random fields leads us to explicit calculations. Then, we study the number of roots of trigonometric random polynomials. We highlight the asymptotic behavior of the expectation and variance of the number of roots. We then study the application of the Kac-Rice formula to the modeling of the sea and to random gravitational lenses. Another topic we consider is the nodal curves of the random wave system considered by Berry and Dennis in [15]. These curves are called dislocations in physics and correspond to the lines of darkness in the propagation of light, or the threads of silence in the propagation of sound (see [15]).
- 4. After these applications, we pay special attention to systems of random polynomials of several variables which are invariant under the action of the group of rotations in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . These polynomial systems are called Kostlan-Shub-Smale, after the authors who first studied them and also established the properties of the set of their zeros. We obtain an asymptotic formula for the variance of the measure of the set of zeros of these systems. It is important to note that this result had already been obtained by another method by Letendre and Puchol in [42].
- 5. Finally, we consider a Gaussian random field whose trajectories are not differentiable. If we approximate its trajectories using a convolution with a sequence approximating the Dirac delta, the approximated fields have smooth trajectories. We then study the approximation of the local time of the original field by the length of the set of levels of the smoothed

process. We obtain the convergence in  $\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega)$  and also some results of convergence in law.

#### 2.2. Hypothesis and notations

Let D be an open set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and let  $j \leq d$  be a positive integer and  $G : D \subset \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j$  be a function.

The function G satisfies the hypothesis  $H_0$ :

 $H_0$ : G is continuously differentiable on D, that is  $G \in C^1(D, \mathbb{R}^j)$ .

We denote by  $\nabla G(\cdot)$  its Jacobian.

For  $y \in \mathbb{R}^j$  we define the level set at y as:

$$C_G(y) := \{x \in D : G(x) = y\} = G^{-1}(y),$$

and

$$C_{Q,G}(y) := C_G(y) \cap Q,$$

where Q is a subset of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

If G satisfies  $H_0$ , we will denote by  $D_G^r$  the following set

$$D_G^r := \{x \in D : \nabla G(x) \text{ is of rank } j\}.$$

Also  $C_G^{D^r}(y)$  (resp.  $C_{Q,G}^{D^r}(y)$ ) denotes the level set,  $C_G^{D^r}(y) := C_G(y) \cap D_G^r$  (resp.  $C_{Q,G}^{D^r}(y) := C_{Q,G}(y) \cap D_G^r$ ).

From now on,  $\sigma_d$  denotes the Lebesgue measure on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . We use the symbol T for the transpose operator. For a set  $A \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $A^c$  denotes its complement on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and if  $A \subset D$ ,  $A^{c_1}$  denotes its complement on D. The class of sets  $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is the Borel  $\sigma$ -algebra in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . Also  $\overline{\mathbb{R}}^+$  is the set of positive real numbers including  $+\infty$ ,  $\|\cdot\|_d$  denotes the Euclidean norm in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

For  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , B(x,r) (resp.  $\overline{B}(x,r)$ ), r > 0, is the open ball (resp. closed) of center x and radius r, that is  $B(x,r) := \{z \in \mathbb{R}^d, \|z - x\|_d < r\}$  (resp.  $\overline{B}(x,r) := \{z \in \mathbb{R}^d, \|z - x\|_d \leq r\}$ ).

$$\mathbb{N}^* = \{ x \in \mathbb{Z}, x > 0 \}.$$

An application  $f:(E,d_E)\to (F,d_F)$  between two metric spaces is said to be L-Lipschitz,  $L\geqslant 0$ , if  $d_F(f(x),f(y))\leqslant Ld_E(x,y)$ , for any pair of points  $x,y\in E$ .

We also say that an application is Lipschitz if it is L-Lipschitz for some L.

In the same way, an application  $f:(E,d_E) \to (F,d_F)$  between two metric spaces, is said to be locally Lipschitz, if for each  $x \in E$ , there exists a neighborhood  $V_x$  of x such that the restriction of function f to  $V_x$  is Lipschitz.

 $\mathfrak{L}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^j)$  denotes the vector space of linear functions from  $\mathbb{R}^d$  to  $\mathbb{R}^j$  with the norm  $\|\cdot\|_{j,d}$ . Also  $\mathfrak{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^j)$  is the vector space of continuous symmetric linear applications from  $\mathbb{R}^d$  to  $\mathbb{R}^j$  with the norm  $\|\cdot\|_{j,d}^{(s)}$ . If B is a matrix,  $B_{ij}$  denotes the element that appears in the ith row and jth column.

For  $j \in \mathbb{N}^*$ ,  $\mathbb{S}^{j-1}$  is the boundary of the unit ball of  $\mathbb{R}^j$ .

For any function f, supp(f) is its support.

C is a generic constant and its value can change within a proof.

#### 2.3. Coarea formula

The two results below are known in the literature as the coarea formula, cf. Federer [26, pp. 247-249] and Cabaña [21]. Our proof is based on the excellent notes of Weizäcker & Geißler from Kaiserslautern University [60].

**Theorem 2.3.1.** — Let  $f: \mathbb{R}^j \to \mathbb{R}$  be a mesurable function and  $G: D \subset \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j$ ,  $j \leq d$ , be a function satisfying the hypothesis  $\mathbf{H}_0$  where D is an open set. For any Borel B subset of D, the following formula is true:

$$(3) \quad \int_{B} f(G(x)) \left( \det \left( \nabla G(x) \nabla G(x)^{T} \right) \right)^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j}} f(y) \sigma_{d-j} (\mathcal{C}_{B,G}^{D^{r}}(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y,$$

provided that one of the two integrals is finite.

**Remark 2.3.2.** — If f is mesurable and positive the equality (3) is true and in this case the integrals can be infinite.

**Remark 2.3.3.** — The additional assumptions that f is bounded and B is a compact set imply that the left-hand side integral is finite and that the formula (3) is true.

**Corollary 2.3.4.** — Let h be a mesurable function,  $h : \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^j \to \mathbb{R}$  and  $G : D \subset \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j$ ,  $j \leq d$ , be a function satisfying the hypothesis  $\mathbf{H}_0$  where D is an open set. For all Borel set B subset of D, we have

(4) 
$$\int_{B} h(x, G(x)) \left( \det \left( \nabla G(x) \nabla G(x)^{T} \right) \right)^{1/2} dx$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j}} \left[ \int_{\mathcal{C}_{B,G}^{D^{r}}(y)} h(x, y) d\sigma_{d-j}(x) \right] dy,$$

provided that one of the two integrals is finite.

**Remark 2.3.5.** — If h mesurable and positive the equality (4) is satisfied and in this case the integrals can be infinite.

**Remark 2.3.6.** — The hypotheses that h is bounded and B is compact imply that the left-hand side integral of (4) is finite and the formula holds.

Proof of Theorem 2.3.1 and Corollary 2.3.4.

First, we will show, in the line of [60, pp. 60-67], the following proposition.

**Proposition 2.3.7.** — Let  $g: \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j$ ,  $j \leq d$  be a continuously differentiable function defined on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

Then for any  $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  we have

$$\int_{A} \left( \det \left( \nabla g(x) \nabla g(x)^{T} \right) \right)^{1/2} dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j}} \sigma_{d-j} (\mathcal{C}_{A,g}^{D^{r}}(y)) dy.$$

**Remark 2.3.8.** — Proposition 2.3.7 remains true if one assumes that the function g is only locally Lipschitz on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  instead of being  $C^1$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . In this case, the function g is almost surely differentiable on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and the measure  $\sigma_{d-j}$  which appears in the right-hand side of the previous equality is replaced by the Euclidean Hausdorff measure  $\mathcal{H}_{d-j}$ . We invite the reader to consult [60, Theorem 4.12, p. 61] for more details.

Proof of Proposition 2.3.7. As we have indicated, the proof is based on the notes [60, pp.60-67]. First, we will prove the formula for affine functions g, then we will consider the formula for sets A of null Lebesgue measure in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , and then we will consider sets A which are subsets of  $D_g^r$ . In order to accomplish our task, we need to prove some lemmas.

**Lemma 2.3.9.** — Proposition 2.3.7 is true for surjective affine functions g, that is if  $g(x) := a + \varphi(x)$  where  $a \in \mathbb{R}^j$  is fixed and  $\varphi$  is a linear function of maximum rank j.

Proof of Lemma 2.3.9. Without loss of generality, we can always consider a=0. Indeed, on the one hand  $\nabla g(\cdot) = \nabla \varphi(\cdot)$ , so for any Borel set A of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  the following equality is true:

$$\int_{A} \left( \det \left( \nabla g(x) \nabla g(x)^T \right) \right)^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{A} (\det (\nabla \varphi(x) \nabla \varphi(x)^T))^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

On the other hand, because the mesure  $\sigma_i$  is translation invariant, we have:

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{j}} \sigma_{d-j}(\mathcal{C}_{A,g}(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j}} \sigma_{d-j}(\mathcal{C}_{A,\varphi}(y-a)) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_{j}(y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j}} \sigma_{d-j}(\mathcal{C}_{A,\varphi}(y)) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_{j}(y).$$

Now let V be the vector subspace of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  defined by  $V := \ker \varphi$ . This space is of dimension (d-j) because  $\varphi$  has maximal rank j. We denote by  $V^{\perp}$  its orthogonal complement which is of dimension j.

We will work with coordinate systems associated with these spaces, i.e. if  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , we will write x := (z, w) with  $z \in V^{\perp}$  and  $w \in V$ . Then the Lebesgue measure  $\sigma_d$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  is the product measure  $\sigma_j \otimes \sigma_{d-j}$ .

Observe that  $\varphi|_{V^{\perp}}$  is a one to one function since  $\dim V^{\perp} = j$ . Let us denote  $\Psi$  the inverse function of this restriction, i.e.  $\Psi := (\varphi|_{V^{\perp}})^{-1}$ . We have  $\varphi \circ \Psi = Id_{\mathbb{R}^j}$  and  $\Psi \circ \varphi|_{V^{\perp}} = Id_{V^{\perp}}$ , where  $Id_{\mathbb{R}^j}$  (resp.  $Id_{V^{\perp}}$ ) is the identity function on  $\mathbb{R}^j$  (resp.  $V^{\perp}$ ). Moreover, since  $\varphi^T$  maps  $\mathbb{R}^j$  into  $V^{\perp}$  by definition of V, we have:

$$\Psi^T \circ \Psi \circ \varphi \circ \varphi^T = \Psi^T \circ \varphi^T = (\varphi \circ \Psi)^T = Id_{\mathbb{R}^j},$$

then:

$$(\det(\varphi \circ \varphi^T))^{1/2} = (\det(\Psi^T \circ \Psi))^{-1/2} = |\det(\Psi)|^{-1},$$

the last equality is a consequence of the fact that  $\Psi$  is an endomorphism of  $\mathbb{R}^{j}$ .

Let A be a fixed Borel set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . Consider the function

$$h: V^{\perp} \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}^+$$
  
 $z \longmapsto \sigma_{d-j} \{ w \in V : (z, w) \in A \}.$ 

Observe that for  $y \in \mathbb{R}^j$  we have

$$\varphi^{-1}(y) \cap A = \{(\Psi(y), w) : w \in V\} \cap A$$

and given that  $\Psi(y) \in V^{\perp}$ ,

(6) 
$$h(\Psi(y)) = \sigma_{d-j}(\varphi^{-1}(y) \cap A).$$

So, since the Lebesgue measure  $\sigma_d$  is the product measure  $\sigma_j \otimes \sigma_{d-j}$ , we get

(7) 
$$\sigma_d(A) = \int_{V^{\perp}} h(z) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_j(z).$$

Finally, since the function  $\varphi$  is a linear function and by using the equalities (5), (7), the formula of change of variable for function  $\Psi$  which is a  $C^1$  function as well as  $\Psi^{-1}$  as endomorphism in finite dimension and the equality (6), we obtain

$$\int_{A} (\det(\nabla \varphi(x) \nabla \varphi(x)^{T}))^{1/2} dx = \int_{A} (\det(\varphi \circ \varphi^{T}))^{1/2} dx$$
$$= \sigma_{d}(A) |\det(\Psi)|^{-1}$$
$$= \int_{V^{\perp}} |\det(\Psi)|^{-1} h(z) d\sigma_{j}(z)$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^j} h(\Psi(y)) \, dy$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^j} \sigma_{d-j}(\varphi^{-1}(y) \cap A) \, dy,$$

this completes the proof of Lemma 2.3.9 for the affine functions.

**Lemma 2.3.10.** — Let O an open set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $A \subseteq O$  a Borel set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and  $g: O \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^j$ ,  $j \leq d$  be a continuously differentiable Lipschitz function with Lipschitz constant, Lip(g). Thus we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^j} \sigma_{d-j}(\mathcal{C}_{A,g}^{D^r}(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y \leqslant \frac{\omega_j \omega_{d-j}}{\omega_d} Lip^j(g) \sigma_d(A).$$

Above,  $\omega_d$  denotes the volume of the unit ball of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

**Remark 2.3.11.** — In particular, we obtain that Proposition 2.3.7 is true for Borel sets A of null Lebesgue measure in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

To prove Remark 2.3.11, we need a lemma.

**Lemma 2.3.12.** — Let  $g: \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j$ , be a locally Lipschitz function. Then the function g is Lipschitz on any compact set K of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

Proof of Lemma 2.3.12. Consider K a compact set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and  $x \in K$ . Since g is locally Lipschitz on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , there exists a constant  $L_x > 0$  and a radius  $r_x > 0$ , such that, for all  $u, v \in B(x, r_x)$ ,  $\|g(u) - g(v)\|_i \leq L_x \|u - v\|_d$ .

Since g is locally Lipschitz on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , it is continuous on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and also on the compact set K. We define  $M := \sup_{u \in K} \|g(u)\|_i < \infty$ .

Since K is compact, there exists  $m \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , such that for any  $i = 1, \ldots, m$ , there exists  $x_i \in K$ , satisfying  $K \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^m B(x_i, r_{x_i}/2)$ .

Also define  $L := \max_{i=1,...,m} \{L_{x_i}\}$  and  $r := \min_{i=1,...,m} \{r_{x_i}\}$ . Let us prove that g is a Lipschitz function on K with Lipschitz constant  $\widetilde{L} := \max\{L, 4M/r\}$ .

Indeed, let us consider  $u, v \in K$ .

If  $||u-v||_d \leq \frac{r}{2}$ : there exists  $i \in \{1,\ldots,m\}$ , such that  $u \in B(x_i,r_{x_i}/2)$ . In this case  $u,v \in B(x_i,r_{x_i})$  and

$$\|g(u) - g(v)\|_{j} \leqslant L_{x_{i}} \|u - v\|_{d} \leqslant \widetilde{L} \|u - v\|_{d}.$$

If  $||u - v||_d > \frac{r}{2}$ :

$$\|g(u)-g(v)\|_{j}\leqslant 2M=\frac{4M}{r}\times\frac{r}{2}\leqslant\frac{4M}{r}\,\|u-v\|_{d}\leqslant\widetilde{L}\,\|u-v\|_{d}\,.$$

This completes the proof of the lemma.

•

Proof of Remark 2.3.11. Since g is  $C^1$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  then it is locally Lipschitz on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . By Lemma 2.3.12, we know that function g is then a Lipschitz function on any compact of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , an in particular on  $K_n := [-n, n]^d$ ,  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ . Thus, let A be a Borel set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  such that  $\sigma_d(A) = 0$  and let  $A_n := ]-n, n[^d \cap A, n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ . By Lemma 2.3.10, one gets

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^j} \sigma_{d-j}(\mathcal{C}_{A_n,g}^{D^r}(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y = 0.$$

By taking the limit when  $n \to \infty$ , Beppo Levi's theorem implies that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^j} \sigma_{d-j}(\mathcal{C}_{A,g}^{D^r}(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y = 0.$$

Remark 2.3.11 follows.

Proof of Lemma 2.3.10. For  $\delta > 0$ , we will denote by  $\mathcal{H}_k^{\delta}$  the Euclidean Hausdorff pre-measure which defines the k-dimensional Euclidean Hausdorff measure, denoted  $\mathcal{H}_k$ ,  $k \in \mathbb{N}^*$ . The measure  $\mathcal{H}_k$  coincides with the Lebesgue measure  $\sigma_k$  on  $\mathbb{R}^k$  with the Euclidean norm (cf. [60, p. 16]).

Let  $\delta := 1/\ell$ ,  $\ell \in \mathbb{N}^*$ . By definition of  $\mathcal{H}_d^{1/\ell}$ , there exists a covering  $((U_i^{\ell})_{i \in I_{\ell}})_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}}$  of closed subsets of O such that for all  $\ell$ 

(8) 
$$\left| U_i^{\ell} \right| \leqslant \frac{1}{\ell} \text{ and } \frac{\omega_d}{2^d} \sum_{i \in I_{\ell}} \left| U_i^{\ell} \right|^d < \mathcal{H}_d(A) + \frac{1}{\ell},$$

where |U| denotes the Euclidean diameter U, or

$$|U| := \sup_{x,y \in U} ||x - y||_d$$
.

Moreover, by definition of  $\mathcal{H}_{d-j}^{1/\ell}$ , and given that  $((U_i^{\ell})_{i\in I_{\ell}})_{\ell\in\mathbb{N}}$  covers A, we have

(9) 
$$\frac{2^{d-j}}{\omega_{d-j}} \mathcal{H}_{d-j}^{1/\ell}(g^{-1}(y) \cap A \cap D_g^r) \leqslant \sum_{i \in I_\ell} \left| U_i^{\ell} \right|^{d-j} \mathbb{1}_{g(U_i^{\ell})}(y) := h_{\ell}(y).$$

Then from the inequality (9), Fatou's lemma and the fact that the measures  $\sigma_{d-j}$  and  $\mathcal{H}_{d-j}$  coincide, we get the following inequalities

$$\frac{2^{d-j}}{\omega_{d-j}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^j} \sigma_{d-j}(\mathcal{C}_{A,g}^{D^r}(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y = \frac{2^{d-j}}{\omega_{d-j}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^j} \mathcal{H}_{d-j}(\mathcal{C}_{A,g}^{D^r}(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y \\
= \frac{2^{d-j}}{\omega_{d-j}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^j} \lim_{\ell \to +\infty} \mathcal{H}_{d-j}^{\ell}(\mathcal{C}_{A,g}^{D^r}(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y \leqslant \int_{\mathbb{R}^j} \lim_{\ell \to +\infty} h_{\ell}(y) \, \mathrm{d}y$$

$$\leqslant \liminf_{\ell \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^j} h_{\ell}(y) \, \mathrm{d}y = \liminf_{\ell \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^j} \sum_{i \in I_{\ell}} \left| U_i^{\ell} \right|^{d-j} \mathbb{1}_{g(U_i^{\ell})}(y) \, \mathrm{d}y$$

$$= \liminf_{\ell \to +\infty} \sum_{i \in I_{\ell}} \left| U_i^{\ell} \right|^{d-j} \sigma_j(g(U_i^{\ell})).$$

The idea is now to establish a relation between  $\sigma_j(g(U_i^{\ell}))$  and  $|U_i^{\ell}|$ . The isodiametric inequality for the norms (cf. [60, p. 14]) will allow us to obtain this relation and thus to continue our proof. Let us recall this inequality.

**Proposition 2.3.13.** — Let C be a bounded Borel set of  $\mathbb{R}^j$  then

$$\sigma_j(C) \leqslant \frac{\omega_j}{2^j} |C|^j$$
.

The function g is Lipschitz on O, so that the images  $g(U_i^{\ell})$  are bounded sets. We use the isodiametric inequality for these bounded sets and also that g is Lipschitz with Lipschitz constant Lip(g), and finally inequality (8). In this way (10) gives us

$$\frac{2^{d-j}}{\omega_{d-j}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j}} \sigma_{d-j}(\mathcal{C}_{A,g}^{Dr}(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y \leqslant \liminf_{\ell \to +\infty} \sum_{i \in I_{\ell}} \left| U_{\ell}^{\ell} \right|^{d-j} \sigma_{j}(g(U_{\ell}^{\ell}))$$

$$\leqslant \liminf_{\ell \to +\infty} \sum_{i \in I_{\ell}} \left| U_{i}^{\ell} \right|^{d-j} \frac{\omega_{j}}{2^{j}} \left| g(U_{i}^{\ell}) \right|^{j}$$

$$\leqslant \liminf_{\ell \to +\infty} \sum_{i \in I_{\ell}} \left| U_{i}^{\ell} \right|^{d-j} \frac{\omega_{j}}{2^{j}} Lip^{j}(g) \left| U_{i}^{\ell} \right|^{j}$$

$$= \liminf_{\ell \to +\infty} \sum_{i \in I_{\ell}} \left| U_{i}^{\ell} \right|^{d} \frac{\omega_{j}}{2^{j}} Lip^{j}(g)$$

$$\leqslant \liminf_{\ell \to +\infty} \frac{\omega_{j}}{2^{j}} Lip^{j}(g) \frac{2^{d}}{\omega_{d}} \left( \mathcal{H}_{d}^{1/\ell}(A) + \frac{1}{\ell} \right)$$

$$= 2^{d-j} \frac{\omega_{j}}{\omega_{d}} Lip^{j}(g) \mathcal{H}_{d}(A)$$

$$= 2^{d-j} \frac{\omega_{j}}{\omega_{d}} Lip^{j}(g) \sigma_{d}(A).$$

This completes the proof of Lemma 2.3.10

**Lemma 2.3.14.** — Proposition 2.3.7 holds if  $A \subseteq D_q^r$ .

Proof of Lemma 2.3.14.

We can always assume that A is a compact. Indeed, since A is a Borel set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , it can be written, except for a zero measure set, as a nondecreasing union of compacts.

Remark 2.3.11 following Lemma 2.3.10 and Beppo Levi's theorem allow us to show Proposition 2.3.7 only in the compact case.

Let us choose an element  $x \in A$ . Consider the vector subspace of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  defined by  $V := \ker \nabla g(x)$ . It is of dimension (d-j) since  $\nabla g(x)$  has maximal rank j. Let  $V^{\perp}$  be its orthogonal complement which is of dimension j. Let us observe that  $\nabla g(x)|_{V^{\perp}}$  is one to one.

We will denote by  $\pi_V$  the orthogonal projection of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  onto V and define the function  $h_x: \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$  as

$$h_x(x') := x + \pi_V(x') + (\nabla g(x)|_{V^{\perp}})^{-1} (g(x') - g(x)).$$

We want to prove that for any  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there exists  $\delta > 0$  such that if  $B_{\delta}(x)$  is the set

(11) 
$$B_{\delta}(x) := \overline{B}(x, \delta) \cap A,$$

then

$$\left(\frac{1-\varepsilon}{1+\varepsilon}\right)^{d} (1+\varepsilon)^{j} \left(\int_{B_{\delta}(x)} \left(\det(\nabla g(x')\nabla g(x')^{T})\right)^{1/2} dx' - \varepsilon \sigma_{d}(B_{\delta}(x))\right) 
(12)$$

$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j}} \sigma_{d-j}(\mathcal{C}_{B_{\delta}(x),g}(y)) dy$$

$$\leq \left(\frac{1+\varepsilon}{1-\varepsilon}\right)^{d} (1-\varepsilon)^{j} \left(\int_{B_{\delta}(x)} \left(\det(\nabla g(x')\nabla g(x')^{T})\right)^{1/2} dx' + \varepsilon \sigma_{d}(B_{\delta}(x))\right).$$

To do this, let's start by showing the following two things:

For any  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there exists  $\delta > 0$  such that if  $x', x'' \in B_{\delta}(x)$ , we have:

(13) 
$$(1 - \varepsilon) \|x' - x''\|_d \le \|h_x(x') - h_x(x'')\|_d \le (1 + \varepsilon) \|x' - x''\|_d,$$

as well as

(14) 
$$\left| \left( \det \left( \nabla g(x) \nabla g(x)^T \right) \right)^{1/2} - \left( \det \left( \nabla g(x') \nabla g(x')^T \right) \right)^{1/2} \right| < \varepsilon.$$

The inequality (14) is a consequence of the fact that  $\nabla g(\cdot)$  is a continuous function defined on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

To prove (13), notice that  $(\nabla g(x)|_{V^{\perp}})^{-1}$  is a finite dimensional endomorphism and therefore continuous. Thus, we have  $\|(\nabla g(x)|_{V^{\perp}})^{-1}\|_{i,i} < \infty$ .

Furthermore, let's define  $\Delta_{\delta}(x)$  as

$$\Delta_{\delta}(x) := \sup_{x' \neq x'', x', x'' \in B_{\delta}(x)} \frac{\|g(x') - g(x'') - \nabla g(x)(x' - x'')\|_{j}}{\|x' - x''\|_{d}},$$

remembering that  $B_{\delta}(x)$  is defined by (11).

Since g belongs to  $C^1$ , we can write the following first order Taylor expansion

$$g(x') = g(x'') + \left(\int_0^1 \nabla g(x'' + \lambda(x' - x'')) d\lambda\right) (x' - x''),$$

getting

$$g(x') - g(x'') - \nabla g(x)(x' - x'')$$

$$= \left(\int_0^1 (\nabla g(x'' + \lambda(x' - x'')) - \nabla g(x)) \, \mathrm{d}\lambda\right) (x' - x'').$$

This implies, since  $\nabla g(\cdot)$  is continuous, that for any  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there exists  $\delta > 0$ , such that

(15) 
$$\Delta_{\delta}(x) \leqslant \varepsilon \left\| (\nabla g(x)|_{V^{\perp}})^{-1} \right\|_{i,i}^{-1}.$$

Let  $\varepsilon > 0$  be a fixed real number and  $x', x'' \in B_{\delta}(x)$ . Since  $V = \ker \nabla g(x)$ , we have

$$\nabla g(x)|_{V^{\perp}}(\pi_{V^{\perp}}(x'-x'')) = \nabla g(x)(x'-x'').$$

This implies

$$\begin{aligned} \|x' - x'' - (h_x(x') - h_x(x''))\|_d \\ &= \|\pi_{V^{\perp}}(x' - x'') - (\nabla g(x)|_{V^{\perp}})^{-1}(g(x') - g(x''))\|_d \\ &= \|(\nabla g(x)|_{V^{\perp}})^{-1}(\nabla g(x)(x' - x'') - (g(x') - g(x'')))\|_d \\ &\leq \|(\nabla g(x)|_{V^{\perp}})^{-1}\|_{j,j} \Delta_{\delta}(x) \|x' - x''\|_d \\ &\leq \varepsilon \|x' - x''\|_d, \end{aligned}$$

the last inequality comes from (15). The proof of (13) is thus completed.

Let  $T_x: \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j$  be the following affine function,

$$T_x(x') := g(x) + \nabla g(x)(x' - x).$$

It is surjective because  $\nabla g(x)$  is of maximal rank j.

Moreover, it is certain that  $T_x \circ h_x = g$ .

Indeed, given that  $\pi_V(x') \in V$  and  $(\nabla g(x)|_{V^{\perp}})^{-1}(g(x') - g(x)) \in V^{\perp}$ , we can write

$$T_{x}(h_{x}(x')) = g(x) + \nabla g(x)(h_{x}(x') - x)$$

$$= g(x) + \nabla g(x)(\pi_{V}(x')) + \nabla g(x)((\nabla g(x)|_{V^{\perp}})^{-1}(g(x') - g(x)))$$

$$= g(x) + \nabla g(x)|_{V^{\perp}}((\nabla g(x)|_{V^{\perp}})^{-1}(g(x') - g(x)))$$

$$= g(x) + g(x') - g(x)$$

$$= g(x').$$

Furthermore, (13) allows us to conclude that for fixed  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,  $h_x$  is Lipschitz on  $B_{\delta}(x)$ , having a Lipschitz constant equal to  $(1+\varepsilon)$ . Since  $h_x$  is an injective function on  $B_{\delta}(x)$ ,  $h_x$  admits an inverse function defined on  $h_x(B_{\delta}(x))$ . The inequality (13) ensures that this inverse is also Lipschitz on  $h_x(B_{\delta}(x))$  with a Lipschitz constant equal to  $(1-\varepsilon)^{-1}$ .

These two facts allow us to apply to  $h_x$  and  $h_x^{-1}$  the Lipschitz contraction principle which we recall below (cf. [60, p. 18]).

**Proposition 2.3.15.** — Let E, F be two subsets of  $\mathbb{R}^m$ . We assume that there exists a surjective Lipschitz function  $f: E \to F$  with Lipschitz constant L. Then

$$\mathcal{H}_k(F) \leqslant L^k \mathcal{H}_k(E)$$
 for all  $k \geqslant 0$ .

Let us apply simultaneously this last principle on the one hand to the function  $f := h_x$  for  $E := B_{\delta}(x)$ ,  $F := h_x(B_{\delta}(x))$ ,  $L := (1 + \varepsilon)$  and k := d, and on the other hand to  $f := h_x^{-1}$  for  $E := h_x(B_{\delta}(x))$ ,  $F := B_{\delta}(x)$ ,  $L := (1 - \varepsilon)^{-1}$  and k := d. We obtain

$$(16) (1-\varepsilon)^d \sigma_d(B_\delta(x)) \leqslant \sigma_d(h_x(B_\delta(x))) \leqslant (1+\varepsilon)^d \sigma_d(B_\delta(x)).$$

Let G be a set such that  $G \subseteq h_x(B_\delta(x))$ . Let us again apply simultaneously the principle of contraction to the function  $f := h_x^{-1}$ , for E := G,  $F := h_x^{-1}(G)$ ,  $L := (1 - \varepsilon)^{-1}$  and k := d - j, and then to  $f := h_x$ , for  $E := h_x^{-1}(G)$ , F := G,  $L := (1 + \varepsilon)$  and k := d - j, we get

$$(1+\varepsilon)^{-(d-j)}\mathcal{H}_{d-j}(G) \leqslant \mathcal{H}_{d-j}(h_x^{-1}(G)) \leqslant (1-\varepsilon)^{-(d-j)}\mathcal{H}_{d-j}(G).$$

In particular, if we choose  $G := T_x^{-1}(y) \cap h_x(B_\delta(x))$ , and observe that

$$T_x \circ h_x = g$$
,  $\mathcal{H}_{d-j}(h_x^{-1}(T_x^{-1}(y) \cap h_x(B_\delta(x)))) = \sigma_{d-j}(g^{-1}(y) \cap B_\delta(x))$ , then we get

$$(17) \qquad (1+\varepsilon)^{-(d-j)}\sigma_{d-j}\left(T_x^{-1}(y)\cap h_x(B_{\delta}(x))\right) \leqslant \sigma_{d-j}(g^{-1}(y)\cap B_{\delta}(x))$$
$$\leqslant (1-\varepsilon)^{-(d-j)}\sigma_{d-j}\left(T_x^{-1}(y)\cap h_x(B_{\delta}(x))\right).$$

We can now prove (12). To do so, we apply (17), then Lemma 2.3.9 to the surjective affine function  $T_x$  for the Borel set  $A := h_x(B_\delta(x))$ , also (16) and finally (14), so we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{j}} \sigma_{d-j} (g^{-1}(y) \cap B_{\delta}(x)) dy$$

$$\leq (1 - \varepsilon)^{-(d-j)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j}} \sigma_{d-j} (T_{x}^{-1}(y) \cap h_{x}(B_{\delta}(x))) dy$$

$$= (1 - \varepsilon)^{-(d-j)} \int_{h_x(B_{\delta}(x))} \left( \det(\nabla T_x(x') \nabla T_x(x')^T) \right)^{1/2} dx'$$

$$= (1 - \varepsilon)^{-(d-j)} \sigma_d(h_x(B_{\delta}(x))) \left( \det \nabla g(x) \nabla g(x)^T \right)^{1/2}$$

$$\leq (1 - \varepsilon)^{-(d-j)} (1 + \varepsilon)^d \sigma_d(B_{\delta}(x)) \left( \det \nabla g(x) \nabla g(x)^T \right)^{1/2}$$

$$\leq \left( \frac{1 + \varepsilon}{1 - \varepsilon} \right)^d (1 - \varepsilon)^j \left( \int_{B_{\delta}(x)} \left( \det(\nabla g(x') \nabla g(x')^T) \right)^{1/2} dx' + \varepsilon \sigma_d(B_{\delta}(x)) \right).$$

In the same way

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{j}} \sigma_{d-j} (g^{-1}(y) \cap B_{\delta}(x)) dy$$

$$\geqslant (1+\varepsilon)^{-(d-j)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j}} \sigma_{d-j} (T_{x}^{-1}(y) \cap h_{x}(B_{\delta}(x))) dy$$

$$= (1+\varepsilon)^{-(d-j)} \int_{h_{x}(B_{\delta}(x))} \left( \det(\nabla T_{x}(x') \nabla T_{x}(x')^{T}) \right)^{1/2} dx'$$

$$= (1+\varepsilon)^{-(d-j)} \sigma_{d}(h_{x}(B_{\delta}(x))) \left( \det \nabla g(x) \nabla g(x)^{T} \right)^{1/2}$$

$$\geqslant (1+\varepsilon)^{-(d-j)} (1-\varepsilon)^{d} \sigma_{d}(B_{\delta}(x)) \left( \det \nabla g(x) \nabla g(x)^{T} \right)^{1/2}$$

$$\geqslant \left( \frac{1-\varepsilon}{1+\varepsilon} \right)^{d} (1+\varepsilon)^{j} \left( \int_{B_{\delta}(x)} \left( \det(\nabla g(x') \nabla g(x')^{T}) \right)^{1/2} dx' - \varepsilon \sigma_{d}(B_{\delta}(x)) \right).$$

The inequality (12) follows.

To finish the proof of Lemma 2.3.14, for fixed  $\varepsilon > 0$ , using Vitali's covering theorem (cf. [60, Theorem 1.15, p. 14]), the set A can be covered, except for a set whose Lebesgue measure is zero, by a sequence of disjoint sets of the type  $B_{\delta}(x)$ . These are closed sets because A is closed since it is compact. By Remark 2.3.11, we can forget the null measure set. Then we take the sum on this partition. By highlighting the fact that  $\sigma_d(A) < \infty$ , A being a compact set and by using (12), we obtain

$$\left(\frac{1-\varepsilon}{1+\varepsilon}\right)^{d} (1+\varepsilon)^{j} \left(\int_{A} \left(\det(\nabla g(x')\nabla g(x')^{T})\right)^{1/2} dx' - \varepsilon \sigma_{d}(A)\right) \\
\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j}} \sigma_{d-j}(\mathcal{C}_{A,g}(y)) dy \\
\leq \left(\frac{1+\varepsilon}{1-\varepsilon}\right)^{d} (1-\varepsilon)^{j} \left(\int_{A} \left(\det(\nabla g(x')\nabla g(x')^{T})\right)^{1/2} dx' + \varepsilon \sigma_{d}(A)\right).$$

Since  $\varepsilon > 0$  is sufficiently small, Proposition 2.3.7 is satisfied if  $A \subseteq D_g^r$ , which completes the proof of Lemma 2.3.14.

To finish the proof of Proposition 2.3.7, we apply Lemma 2.3.14 to the Borel set  $A \cap D_g^r$ . Noting that  $(D_g^r)^c = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \det(\nabla g(x)\nabla g(x)^T) = 0\}$ , Proposition 2.3.7 follows.

We can prove now Theorem 2.3.1 and its corollary.

Let B be a Borel subset of D and  $A := B \cap G^{-1}(I)$ , where I is a Borel set of  $\mathbb{R}^j$ .

We consider  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , the closed sets

$$D_n := \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^d, d(x, D^c) \geqslant \frac{1}{n} \right\}.$$

Since D is open, the sets  $(D_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}^*}$  are included in D. Whitney [56, Theorem 2] allows us to extend for  $n\in\mathbb{N}^*$ , the  $C^1$ -function  $G|_{D_n}$  to a function  $g_n:\mathbb{R}^d\to\mathbb{R}^j$  still  $C^1$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

By applying  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , Proposition 2.3.7 to the  $C^1$ -function  $g_n$ , defined on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and to the Borel set  $A_n := A \cap D_n$ , we obtain

$$\int_{A_n} (\det(\nabla g_n(x) \nabla g_n(x)^T))^{1/2} dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^j} \sigma_{d-j}(\mathcal{C}_{A_n,g_n}^{D^r}(y)) dy,$$

and since  $g_n = G$  on  $D_n$  then on  $A_n$ , we get

$$\int_{B \cap D_n} \mathbb{1}_I(G(x)) \left( \det \left( \nabla G(x) \nabla G(x)^T \right) \right)^{1/2} dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^j} \mathbb{1}_I(y) \sigma_{d-j} \left( \mathcal{C}_{B \cap D_n, G}^{D^r}(y) \right) dy.$$

Moreover, when n tends to infinity, the sets  $(D_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}^*}$  tend increasingly towards D. Beppo Levi's theorem implies that Theorem 2.3.1 holds true for functions f of the form  $f := \mathbb{1}_I$ . By a standard approximation argument, Theorem 2.3.1 is true for positive measurable functions. This leads to Remark 2.3.2 and also to Theorem 2.3.1.

Remark 2.3.3 is a consequence of the fact that if B is a compact set and the function f is bounded, then

$$\int_{B} |f(G(x))| \left( \det \left( \nabla G(x) \nabla G(x)^{T} \right) \right)^{1/2} dx$$

$$\leq C \int_{B} \left( \det \left( \nabla G(x) \nabla G(x)^{T} \right) \right)^{1/2} dx < \infty,$$

since the function G is  $C^1$  on D and B is a compact subset of D. Remark 2.3.2 allows us to prove Corollary 2.3.4.

Indeed, applying this remark to the measurable and positive function  $f := \mathbb{1}_I$  and to the Borel set  $B \cap A$  where I (resp. A) is some Borel set of  $\mathbb{R}^j$  (resp.  $\mathbb{R}^d$ ), and B is a Borel subset of D, allows to establish Corollary 2.3.4 for functions h of the form  $\mathbb{1}_{A \times I}$ . Still by a standard approximation argument, Remark 2.3.5

and Corollary 2.3.4 follow.

In the same way as for Remark 2.3.3, we obtain Remark 2.3.6.

This completes the proof of Theorem 2.3.1 and of Corollary 2.3.4.

#### 2.4. Kac-Rice formulas for almost all levels

In this section,  $X: \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j$   $(j \leq d)$  denotes a random field that belongs to  $C^1(D, \mathbb{R}^j)$ ,  $Y: \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  is a continuous process and D is an open set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

Let H be the operator

$$H: \mathfrak{L}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^j) \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^+$$
  
 $A \longmapsto (\det(AA^T))^{1/2}.$ 

Recall that the random set  $D_X^r$  is defined as  $D_X^r = \{x \in D : \operatorname{rank}(\nabla X(x)) = j\}$  and for  $y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ , the level set  $\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)$  is  $\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y) = \mathcal{C}_X(y) \cap D_X^r$ .

Let us consider the following hypotheses

- $H_1$ : For almost all  $x \in D$ , the density of X(x), i.e.  $p_{X(x)}(\cdot)$ , exists.
- $\boldsymbol{H}_2$ : The function

$$u \longmapsto \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(u)} |Y(x)| d\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right],$$

is a continuous function of the variable u.

 $- \boldsymbol{H}_{2}^{\star}$ : The function

$$u \longmapsto \mathbb{E}\left[\sigma_{d-j}\left(\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(u)\right)\right],$$

is a continuous function of the variable u.

-  $H_3$ : The function

$$u \longmapsto \int_D p_{X(x)}(u) \mathbb{E}[|Y(x)| H(\nabla X(x)) | X(x) = u] dx,$$

is a continuous function of the variable u.

 $- H_3^{\star}$ : The function

$$u \longmapsto \int_D p_{X(x)}(u) \mathbb{E} \big[ H(\nabla X(x)) \, \big| \, X(x) = u \big] \, \mathrm{d}x,$$

is a continuous function of the variable u.

Using the coarea formula and by duality, we will prove the following proposition.

**Proposition 2.4.1.** — 1. If X satisfies the hypotheses  $\mathbf{H}_1$  and  $(\mathbf{H}_2^{\star})$  or  $\mathbf{H}_3^{\star}$ , then for almost all  $y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

(18) 
$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sigma_{d-j}(\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y))\right] = \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[H(\nabla X(x)) \mid X(x) = y\right] dx.$$

2. If X and Y satisfy the hypotheses  $\mathbf{H}_1$  and  $(\mathbf{H}_2 \text{ or } \mathbf{H}_3)$ , then for almost all  $y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

(19) 
$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} Y(x) d\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right]$$
$$= \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[Y(x) H(\nabla X(x)) \mid X(x) = y\right] dx.$$

Proof of Proposition 2.4.1. Let us begin by proving part 1 of the proposition. Applying Remark 2.3.2 that follows Theorem 2.3.1 to the function G = X and  $f = \mathbb{1}_A$  where A is a Borel set of  $\mathbb{R}^j$  and to the Borel set B = D, we have

$$\int_D \mathbb{1}_{X(x)\in A} H(\nabla X(x)) \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_A \sigma_{d-j}(\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y.$$

By taking the expectation of each side of the equality, which is possible because both terms are positive, and by applying Beppo Levi's theorem, we obtain by using the hypothesis  $\mathbf{H}_1$ 

$$\int_{A} \mathbb{E}\left[\sigma_{d-j}(\mathcal{C}_{X}^{D^{r}}(y))\right] dy = \int_{A} \int_{D} p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[H(\nabla X(x)) \mid X(x) = y\right] dx dy.$$

In this step of the proof, we need a duality lemma.

**Lemma 2.4.2.** Let  $f_1, f_2 : \mathbb{R}^j \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}^+$ , be two measurable functions such that for any bounded set  $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^j)$ ,  $\int_A f_1(y) dy = \int_A f_2(y) dy < \infty$ , then  $f_1 = f_2 \sigma_j$ -almost surely.

Proof of Lemma 2.4.2. We start by proving the lemma for two measurable functions  $g_1$  et  $g_2$  taking values in  $\mathbb{R}^+$  such that, for all  $B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^j)$ ,  $\int_B g_1(y) \, \mathrm{d}y = \int_B g_2(y) \, \mathrm{d}y < \infty$ . Consider the set  $B := \{g_2 < g_1\}$ . Since  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^j} g_2(y) \, \mathrm{d}y < \infty$ , the hypothesis  $\int_B g_1(y) \, \mathrm{d}y = \int_B g_2(y) \, \mathrm{d}y$  implies that  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^j} \mathbb{1}_B(y)(g_1(y) - g_2(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y = 0$ , and thus  $\mathbb{1}_B(y)(g_1(y) - g_2(y)) = 0$  for almost all  $y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ . Similarly, consider  $B' := \{g_1 < g_2\}$  and conclude  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^j} \mathbb{1}_{B'}(y)(g_2(y) - g_1(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y = 0$  for almost all  $y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ . Finally  $g_1 = g_2$ ,  $\sigma_j$ -almost surely.

Now consider two functions  $f_1$  and  $f_2$  satisfying the assumptions of the lemma. Let K be a compact set in  $\mathbb{R}^j$ . Since for any  $B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^j)$ ,  $A := B \cap K$  is a bounded Borel set of  $\mathbb{R}^j$ , and if  $g_1 := f_1 \mathbb{1}_K$  and  $g_2 := f_2 \mathbb{1}_K$ , we have by hypothesis  $\int_B g_1(y) \, \mathrm{d}y = \int_B g_2(y) \, \mathrm{d}y < \infty$ . The preliminary result that we have shown implies that for any compact set K of  $\mathbb{R}^j$ ,  $f_1 \mathbb{1}_K = f_2 \mathbb{1}_K$ ,  $\sigma_j$ -almost surely.

The proof ends by noting that, except for a set of zero measure, the set  $\mathbb{R}^j$  can be written as a non-decreasing union of compact sets and applying Beppo Levi's theorem.

We apply here the lemma to the function  $f_1(y) := \mathbb{E}\left[\sigma_{d-j}(\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y))\right]$  and to the function  $f_2(y) := \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[H(\nabla X(x)) \mid X(x) = y\right] dx$ .

The functions  $f_1$  or  $f_2$  are locally integrable by the hypothesis  $\mathbf{H}_2^{\star}$  or  $\mathbf{H}_3^{\star}$ . This completes the proof of the part 1 of the proposition.

Let us prove part 2. First, we assume that X and Y satisfy the hypotheses  $\mathbf{H}_1$  and  $\mathbf{H}_2$ . Applying Corollary 2.3.4 to the function G := X,  $h(x,y) := \mathbb{1}_A(y) \times Y(x) \times \mathbb{1}_D(x)$  where A is a bounded Borel set of  $\mathbb{R}^j$  and to the Borel set B := D, we almost surely have

(20) 
$$\int_D \mathbb{1}_{X(x) \in A} Y(x) H(\nabla X(x)) \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_A \left[ \int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} Y(x) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_{d-j}(x) \right] \, \mathrm{d}y.$$

Indeed, the hypothesis  $H_2$  implies

(21) 
$$\mathbb{E}\left(\int_{A} \left[ \int_{\mathcal{C}_{X}^{D^{r}}(y)} |Y(x)| \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x) \right] \, dy \right) < \infty,$$

so almost surely  $\int_A \left[ \int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} |Y(x)| \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x) \right] dy < \infty$ , and (4) applies. Note that (20) remains true if |Y| is substituted for Y. This last observation and (21) imply

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{D} \mathbb{1}_{X(x) \in A} |Y(x)| H(\nabla X(x)) \, \mathrm{d}x\right] < \infty.$$

We can take the expectation both sides of (20) and from the hypothesis  $\mathbf{H}_1$ , we obtain that for any bounded Borel set A of  $\mathbb{R}^j$ 

$$\int_{A} \mathbb{E} \left[ \int_{\mathcal{C}_{X}^{D^{r}}(y)} Y(x) d\sigma_{d-j}(x) \right] dy$$

$$= \int_{A} \left( \int_{D} p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E} \left[ Y(x) H(\nabla X(x)) \mid X(x) = y \right] dx \right) dy.$$

Note that the last equality is still true replacing Y by |Y| and the corresponding integrals are finite.

Let us now consider

$$f_1(y) := \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} Y(x) d\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right]$$

and

$$f_2(y) := \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[Y(x) H(\nabla X(x)) \mid X(x) = y\right] dx.$$

A priori, the functions  $f_1$  and  $f_2$  do not take their values in  $\overline{\mathbb{R}}^+$ . However, a small modification of Lemma 2.4.2 can be made, by noticing that  $\int_A |f_1(y)| \, \mathrm{d}y < \infty$  and  $\int_A |f_2(y)| \, \mathrm{d}y < \infty$ , for any bounded Borel set A of  $\mathbb{R}^j$ , this implies  $f_1 = f_2$ ,  $\sigma_{d-j}$ -almost surely.

This completes the proof of Proposition 2.4.1 in the case where X and Y satisfy the hypotheses  $H_1$  and  $H_2$ . A similar proof can be made when X and Y satisfy the hypotheses  $H_1$  and  $H_3$ .

#### CHAPTER 3

#### KAC-RICE FORMULA FOR ALL LEVEL

In this section  $X: \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j$   $(j \leq d)$  denotes a random field that belongs to  $C^1(D, \mathbb{R}^j)$ ,  $Y: \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  is a continuous process and D is an open set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

#### 3.1. Rice formula for a regular level set

Let us specify that (18) and (19) are true for almost all  $y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ . However, in applications, these formulas are needed for all y fixed in  $\mathbb{R}^j$ . We will establish a theorem that gives assumptions on X and Y such that these formulas will hold for all y in  $\mathbb{R}^j$ . Specifically, we will assume continuity of both members of (18) and (19), restricting ourselves to the set  $D_X^r$  and proving the equality for any y fixed in  $\mathbb{R}^j$ . Before going any further, let us state two assumptions that are useful for what follows.

These formulas are similar to the previous ones but without the absolute value in the integrand.

-  $H_4$ : The function

$$u \longmapsto \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(u)} Y(x) d\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right],$$

is a continuous function of the variable u.

-  $H_5$ : The function

$$u \longmapsto \int_D p_{X(x)}(u) \mathbb{E}[Y(x)H(\nabla X(x)) \mid X(x) = u] dx,$$

is a continuous function of the variable u.

**Theorem 3.1.1.** — 1. If X satisfies the hypotheses  $\mathbf{H}_1$ ,  $\mathbf{H}_2^{\star}$  and  $\mathbf{H}_3^{\star}$ , then  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

(22) 
$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sigma_{d-j}(\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y))\right] = \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[H(\nabla X(x)) \mid X(x) = y\right] dx.$$

2. If X and Y satisfy the hypotheses  $\mathbf{H}_1$ ,  $(\mathbf{H}_2 \text{ or } \mathbf{H}_3)$ ,  $\mathbf{H}_4$  and  $\mathbf{H}_5$ , then  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

(23) 
$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} Y(x) d\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right]$$
$$= \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[Y(x) H(\nabla X(x)) \mid X(x) = y\right] dx.$$

**Remark 3.1.2.** — If X and Y satisfy the hypotheses  $H_1$ ,  $H_2$  and  $H_3$ , then  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$  it holds that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} |Y(x)| \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right]$$

$$= \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[|Y(x)| \, H(\nabla X(x)) \, \big| \, X(x) = y\right] \, dx.$$

Proof of Theorem 3.1.1 and of Remark 3.1.2. Let us start by proving (22). Since X satisfies the hypotheses  $\mathbf{H}_1$ ,  $\mathbf{H}_2^{\star}$  and  $\mathbf{H}_3^{\star}$ , as a consequence of part 1 of Proposition 2.4.1, we know that for almost all  $y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sigma_{d-j}(\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y))\right] = \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[H(\nabla X(x)) \mid X(x) = y\right] dx.$$

The hypotheses  $H_2^*$  and  $H_3^*$  imply the continuity of each member of the equality and in consequence their equality  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ .

By reasoning in a similar way, we can prove (23). This completes the proof of Theorem 3.1.1.

Remark 3.1.2 comes from the fact that the hypotheses  $\mathbf{H}_4$  and  $\mathbf{H}_5$  become the hypotheses  $\mathbf{H}_2$  and  $\mathbf{H}_3$ , replacing Y by |Y|.

**3.1.1. Checking the hypotheses.** — In the previous section, we proved (23) by assuming mainly the continuity of its two members. Our goal in what follows is to specify a large class of processes X and Y that satisfies the hypotheses  $\mathbf{H}_i$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, 5$ .

We first consider the hypotheses  $H_2$  and  $H_4$ . This leads us to prove Theorem 3.1.3 which is needed to prove Proposition 3.1.8 which follows. We must

emphasize that the proof we are about to give is deeply inspired by Cabaña [21].

For a while, the functions X and Y will be assumed to be deterministic, i.e. they are not random functions.

**Theorem 3.1.3.** — Let  $X: D \subset \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j$   $(j \leq d)$  be a function belonging to  $C^1(D, \mathbb{R}^j)$  such that  $\nabla X$  is Lipschitz on D which is an open and convex set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . Let  $D_1$  be an open and bounded subset of D and  $Y: D_1 \subset \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  a continuous function such that  $\operatorname{supp}(Y) \subset D^r_{X|_{D_1}}$ . Then the function

$$y \longmapsto \int_{\mathcal{C}_{D_1,X}^{D^r}(y)} Y(x) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_{d-j}(x)$$

is continuous with respect to the variable y.

Proof of Theorem 3.1.3. Just like Cabaña, we will define an atlas of  $\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)$ . Consider  $x_0 \in D_X^r$  fixed. Thus  $\nabla X(x_0)$  has rank j.

If  $A_d := \{1, 2, \dots, d\}$ , there exists  $\lambda := (\ell_1, \ell_2, \dots, \ell_j) \in A_d^j$ ,  $\ell_1 < \ell_2 < \dots < \ell_j$  such that

$$J_X^{(\lambda)}(x_0) := \det\left(\frac{\partial(X_1, \dots, X_j)}{\partial(x_{\ell_1}, x_{\ell_2}, \dots, x_{\ell_j})}(x_0)\right) \neq 0.$$

We define  $\lambda^c$  the complementary index in  $A_d$ , i.e.  $\lambda^c := (i_1, i_2, \dots, i_{d-j}) \in A_d^{d-j}$ , and  $i_1 < i_2 < \dots < i_{d-j}$ . If  $(e_1, e_2, \dots, e_d)$  denotes the canonical basis of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , let  $V_{\lambda} := \text{vect}(e_{i_1}, e_{i_2}, \dots, e_{i_{d-j}})$  and  $V_{\lambda}^{\perp}$  be the corresponding orthogonal subspace, i.e.  $V_{\lambda}^{\perp} := \text{vect}(e_{\ell_1}, e_{\ell_2}, \dots, e_{\ell_j})$ . With these notations, if

$$x := (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_d) = \sum_{i=1}^d x_i e_i \in \mathbb{R}^d$$
, we denote  $\widehat{x}_{\lambda} := (x_{i_1}, x_{i_2}, \dots, x_{i_{d-j}})$ .

Consider the function  $f_{\lambda}$  defined from  $D \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  into  $\mathbb{R}^d$  such that  $x \mapsto f_{\lambda}(x) := \pi_{V_{\lambda}}(x) + \sum_{k=1}^{j} (X_k(x) - y_k) e_{\ell_k}$ , where  $X_k$  (resp.  $y_k$ ) denotes the components of X (resp. y),  $k = 1, \ldots, j$ , and where  $\pi_{V_{\lambda}}$  represents the projector on  $V_{\lambda}$ .

The Jacobian  $J_{f_{\lambda}}(x_0)$  of this transformation evaluated at  $x_0$  is  $J_{f_{\lambda}}(x_0) = |J_X^{\lambda}(x_0)| \neq 0$ . By the inverse function theorem, there exists an open neighborhood  $U_{x_0}^{\lambda}$  of  $x_0$  included in D, such that  $f_{\lambda}(U_{x_0}^{\lambda})$  is still an open set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and such that the restriction  $f_{\lambda}|_{U_{x_0}^{\lambda}}$  has an inverse  $h_{\lambda}$  belonging to  $C^1$  defined from  $f_{\lambda}(U_{x_0}^{\lambda})$  onto  $U_{x_0}^{\lambda}$ .

Let us define the set  $R_{x_0}^{\lambda}$ , by

$$R_{x_0}^{\lambda} := \left\{ (x_{i_1}, x_{i_2}, \dots, x_{i_{d-j}}) \in \mathbb{R}^{d-j} : \sum_{k=1}^{d-j} x_{i_k} e_{i_k} \in f_{\lambda}(U_{x_0}^{\lambda}) \right\}.$$

Since  $f_{\lambda}(U_{x_0}^{\lambda})$  is an open set, the set  $R_{x_0}^{\lambda}$  is also an open set of  $\mathbb{R}^{d-j}$ . Let us denote  $h_{\lambda} := (h_1^{\lambda}, h_2^{\lambda}, \dots, h_d^{\lambda})$ . We have the following sequence of equivalences

$$\begin{split} \left(x \in U_{x_0}^{\lambda}, X(x) = y\right) &\iff \left(x \in U_{x_0}^{\lambda}, f_{\lambda}(x) = \pi_{V_{\lambda}}(x)\right) \\ &\iff \left(\pi_{V_{\lambda}}(x) \in f_{\lambda}(U_{x_0}^{\lambda}), x = h_{\lambda}(\pi_{V_{\lambda}}(x))\right) \\ &\iff \left(x = \pi_{V_{\lambda}}(x) + \sum_{k=1}^{j} h_{\ell_{k}}^{\lambda}(\pi_{V_{\lambda}}(x))e_{\ell_{k}}, \widehat{x}_{\lambda} \in R_{x_0}^{\lambda}\right) \\ &\iff \left(x = \sum_{k=1}^{d-j} x_{i_{k}}e_{i_{k}} + \sum_{k=1}^{j} h_{\ell_{k}}^{\lambda}\left(\sum_{k=1}^{d-j} x_{i_{k}}e_{i_{k}}\right)e_{\ell_{k}}, \widehat{x}_{\lambda} \in R_{x_0}^{\lambda}\right) \\ &\iff \left(x = \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda, x_0}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}), \widehat{x}_{\lambda} \in R_{x_0}^{\lambda}\right), \end{split}$$

where we defined  $\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0}}: R_{x_0}^{\lambda} \subset \mathbb{R}^{d-j} \to \mathbb{R}^d$  by

(24) 
$$\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0}}(x_{i_1}, x_{i_2}, \dots, x_{i_{d-j}}) := \sum_{k=1}^{d-j} x_{i_k} e_{i_k} + \sum_{k=1}^{j} h_{\ell_k}^{\lambda} \left( \sum_{k=1}^{d-j} x_{i_k} e_{i_k} \right) e_{\ell_k}.$$

This provides us with a local parametrization of the level set  $\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)$ , defined by  $\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda}}$ . Moreover, such a function belongs to  $C^1$  defined over  $R_{x_0}^{\lambda}$ .

**Remark 3.1.4.** — Furthermore, as a bonus, we get that  $\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)$  is a differentiable manifold of dimension (d-j).

We now decompose  $D_X^r$  into the following form:

$$D_X^r = \bigcup_{\lambda \in B_i} \Gamma(\lambda),$$

where  $B_j := \{\lambda = (\ell_1, \ell_2, \dots, \ell_j), \ell_k \in A_d, \ell_1 < \ell_2 < \dots < \ell_j\}$  and  $\Gamma(\lambda) := \{x \in D, J_X^{(\lambda)}(x) \neq 0\}.$ 

**Remark 3.1.5.** — For all  $\lambda \in B_j$ ,  $\Gamma(\lambda) = \{x \in D, \nabla X(x)|_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}} \text{ is invertible}\}$ 

**Remark 3.1.6.** — Let us mention that if  $x_0 \in \mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y) \cap \Gamma(\lambda)$ , for  $\lambda \in B_j$ , then  $\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0}}(\widehat{x}_{0,\lambda}) = x_0$ .

Remark 3.1.7. — We could have proved a less general result than the one established in this theorem. More exactly, we could have proved this theorem under the following weaker hypothesis:  $Y:D_X^r\subset\mathbb{R}^d\to\mathbb{R}$  is a continuous function such that  $\operatorname{supp}(Y)\subset\Gamma(\lambda)$ , for any  $\lambda\in B_j$ . Indeed, it is this condition that we finally need in the proof of Propositions 3.1.8 and 3.2.3 given later. However, the result of the above theorem seemed interesting to us in itself because we did not find it in the literature. Moreover, this general result has the advantage that in the proof we expose in a neat way a partition of unity of  $D_X^r$ . This construction will allow us later in the proof of Proposition 3.2.3 to decompose the function Y on this partition and thus to find ourselves in the case where the function has its support included in  $\Gamma(\lambda)$ .

Let us prove Theorem 3.1.3 in the case where  $D=D_1$ . That is, when D is an open, convex, bounded set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $X:D\subset\mathbb{R}^d\to\mathbb{R}^j$   $(j\leqslant d)$  is a function in  $C^1(D,\mathbb{R}^j)$  such that  $\nabla X$  is Lipschitz and  $Y:D\subset\mathbb{R}^d\to\mathbb{R}$  is a continuous function such that  $\sup(Y)\subset D^r_X$ . It suffices to prove the theorem in the case where  $Y:D^r_X\subset\mathbb{R}^d\to\mathbb{R}$  is a continuous function with  $\sup(Y)\subset D^r_X$ .

Let y be fixed in  $\mathbb{R}^j$ . We assume  $\operatorname{supp}(Y) \subset \Gamma(\lambda)$ ,  $\lambda \in B_j$ . We will define the integral of Y on the level set  $\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)$ , i.e. we will give a meaning to  $\int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} Y(x) d\sigma_{d-j}(x)$ .

Consider  $x_0 \in \text{supp}(Y) \subset \Gamma(\lambda)$ . For the previous facts, there exists an open neighborhood  $U_{x_0}^{\lambda}$  of  $x_0$ , such that

$$\left(x \in U_{x_0}^{\lambda} \cap \mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)\right) \iff \left(x = \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda, x_0}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}), \widehat{x}_{\lambda} \in R_{x_0}^{\lambda}\right).$$

Since  $U_{x_0}^{\lambda}$  is an open set, one can choose a radius  $r_{x_0}^{\lambda} > 0$  such that the closed ball of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  with center  $x_0$  and radius  $r_{x_0}^{\lambda}$  is contained in  $U_{x_0}^{\lambda}$ , so  $\overline{B}(x_0, r_{x_0}^{\lambda}) \subset U_{x_0}^{\lambda}$ .

Since supp(Y) is a compact set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , we can cover supp(Y) by a finite number of balls, i.e. supp $(Y) \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^m B(x_i, r_{x_i}^{\lambda})$  such that for all  $i = 1, \ldots, m$ , we still have:  $\overline{B}(x_i, r_{x_i}^{\lambda}) \subset U_{x_i}^{\lambda}$ .

We will construct a partition of unity for supp(Y) which is a compact manifold and denote it by  $\{\pi_1, \ldots, \pi_m\}$ .

As in Wendell Fleming's book [27], we define the real-valued function h of  $C^{\infty}$  by

$$h(x) := \begin{cases} \exp\left(\frac{-1}{1-x^2}\right), & |x| < 1; \\ 0, & |x| \geqslant 1. \end{cases}$$

For i = 1, ..., m and for  $x \in \operatorname{supp}(Y)$ , let  $\Psi_i(x) := h(\|x - x_i\|_d / r_{x_i}^{\lambda})$ . Since  $\operatorname{supp}(Y) \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^m B(x_i, r_{x_i}^{\lambda})$  by construction, we have that  $\forall x \in \operatorname{supp}(Y)$ ,  $\sum_{i=1}^m \Psi_i(x) > 0$ .

For  $i=1,\ldots,m$  and for  $x\in \operatorname{supp}(Y)$ , let us define  $\pi_i(x):=\Psi_i(x)/\sum_{i=1}^m \Psi_i(x)$ .

The functions  $\{\pi_1, \dots, \pi_m\}$  define a partition of unity for supp(Y) because

- 1.  $\pi_i$  is  $C^{\infty}$  over supp(Y),  $\pi_i \geqslant 0$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, m$ ;
- 2.  $\operatorname{supp}(\pi_i) = \operatorname{supp}(\Psi_i) \subset \operatorname{supp}(Y) \cap \overline{B}(x_i, r_{x_i}^{\lambda}) \subset U_{x_i}^{\lambda};$
- 3.  $\sum_{i=1}^{m} \pi_i(x) = 1, x \in \text{supp}(Y).$

The integral of Y on the level set y can be defined by

$$(25) \int_{\mathcal{C}_{X}^{D^{r}}(y)} Y(x) d\sigma_{d-j}(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \int_{U_{x_{i}}^{\lambda} \cap \mathcal{C}_{X}^{D^{r}}(y)} \pi_{i}(x) Y(x) d\sigma_{d-j}(x)$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{m} \int_{R_{x_{i}}^{\lambda}} \pi_{i}(\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda, x_{i}}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})) Y(\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda, x_{i}}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})) \left( \det \left( \nabla \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda, x_{i}}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}) \nabla \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda, x_{i}}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})^{T} \right) \right)^{1/2} d\widehat{x}_{\lambda}.$$

After defining the integral, we need to prove that it is a continuous function of the level. As the level varies, we have to modify the procedure. We continue by following the approach of Cabaña.

Consider  $x_0 \in \Gamma(\lambda) \cap \mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)$  fixed. We then construct  $U_{x_0}^{\lambda}$  and  $R_{x_0}^{\lambda}$ . Let us define the function

$$G: R_{x_0}^{\lambda} \times \mathbb{R}^j \times \widetilde{W}_{x_0}^{\lambda} \subset \mathbb{R}^{d-j} \times \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathbb{R}^j \to \mathbb{R}^j,$$

by

$$G(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}, \delta, \gamma) := X(\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda, x_0}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}) + \sum_{k=1}^{j} \gamma_k e_{\ell_k}) - y - \delta,$$

where  $\gamma:=(\gamma_1,\ldots,\gamma_j),\ \widehat{x}_\lambda:=(x_{i_1},x_{i_2},\ldots,x_{i_{d-j}})$  and  $\widetilde{W}_{x_0}^\lambda$  is a neighborhood of zero in  $\mathbb{R}^j$  such that for any  $\widehat{x}_\lambda\in R_{x_0}^\lambda,\ \overline{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0}}(\widehat{x}_\lambda)+\sum_{k=1}^j\gamma_ke_{\ell_k}\in D$  and  $\nabla X(\overline{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0}}(\widehat{x}_\lambda)+\sum_{k=1}^j\gamma_ke_{\ell_k})|_{V_\lambda^\perp}$  is invertible, which remains possible since  $\Gamma(\lambda)$  is an open set of D and  $x_0\in\Gamma(\lambda)$ .

Since X is  $C^1$  and  $\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0}}$  is  $\overrightarrow{C^1}$  on  $R_{x_0}^{\lambda}$ , then G is  $C^1$  on  $R_{x_0}^{\lambda} \times \mathbb{R}^j \times \widetilde{W}_{x_0}^{\lambda}$ . Moreover, by Remark 3.1.6, we have  $G(\widehat{x}_{0,\lambda},0,0) = X(\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0}}(\widehat{x}_{0,\lambda})) - y = X(x_0) - y = \vec{0}_{\mathbb{R}^j}$ . More,

(26) 
$$\frac{\partial G}{\partial \gamma}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}, \delta, \gamma) = \left. \nabla X \left( \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda, x_0}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}) + \sum_{k=1}^{j} \gamma_k e_{\ell_k} \right) \right|_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}},$$

this implies

$$\frac{\partial G}{\partial \gamma}(\widehat{x}_{0,\lambda},0,0) = \nabla \! X(x_0)|_{V_\lambda^\perp},$$

which is invertible by Remark 3.1.5.

The implicit function theorem can be applied. Thus there exists three neighborhoods, first  $V_{x_0}^{\lambda} \subset R_{x_0}^{\lambda}$  which we can choose equal to  $R_{x_0}^{\lambda}$ , and two other neighborhoods of zero in  $\mathbb{R}^j$  which we denote by  $W_{x_0}^{\lambda}$  and  $\widetilde{W}_{x_0}^{\lambda}$  (we can also choose this neighborhood equal to  $\widetilde{W}_{x_0}^{\lambda}$ ) and a function  $\gamma_{\lambda,x_0}$  of class  $C^1$  defined from  $R_{x_0}^{\lambda} \times W_{x_0}^{\lambda}$  onto  $\widetilde{W}_{x_0}^{\lambda}$ , that is  $\gamma_{\lambda,x_0} : R_{x_0}^{\lambda} \times W_{x_0}^{\lambda} \subset \mathbb{R}^{d-j} \times \mathbb{R}^j \to \widetilde{W}_{x_0}^{\lambda} \subset \mathbb{R}^j$ 

1. 
$$\gamma_{\lambda,x_0}(\widehat{x}_{0,\lambda},0) = \vec{0}_{\mathbb{R}^j}$$

1. 
$$\gamma_{\lambda,x_0}(x_{0,\lambda},\delta) = \delta_{\mathbb{R}^j}$$
  
2.  $\forall (\widehat{x}_{\lambda},\delta) \in R_{x_0}^{\lambda} \times W_{x_0}^{\lambda}, G(\widehat{x}_{\lambda},\delta,\gamma_{\lambda,x_0}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda},\delta)) = \vec{0}_{\mathbb{R}^j}$   
3.  $\forall (\widehat{x}_{\lambda},\delta,\gamma) \in R_{x_0}^{\lambda} \times W_{x_0}^{\lambda} \times \widetilde{W}_{x_0}^{\lambda},$ 

3. 
$$\forall (\widehat{x}_{\lambda}, \delta, \gamma) \in R_{x_0}^{\lambda} \times W_{x_0}^{\lambda} \times \widetilde{W}_{x_0}^{\lambda}$$

$$(G(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}, \delta, \gamma) = \vec{0}_{\mathbb{R}^j} \Rightarrow \gamma = \gamma_{\lambda, x_0}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}, \delta)).$$

Moreover, by differenciating the expression  $G(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}, \delta, \gamma_{\lambda, x_0}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}, \delta)) = \vec{0}_{\mathbb{R}^j}$  with respect to  $\widehat{x}_{\lambda}$ , we obtain for all  $(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}, \delta) \in R_{x_0}^{\lambda} \times W_{x_0}^{\lambda}$ ,

$$O_{j,d-j} = \frac{\partial G}{\partial \widehat{x}_{\lambda}} \left( \widehat{x}_{\lambda}, \delta, \gamma_{\lambda,x_0}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}, \delta) \right) + \frac{\partial G}{\partial \gamma} \left( \widehat{x}_{\lambda}, \delta, \gamma_{\lambda,x_0}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}, \delta) \right) \times \frac{\partial \gamma_{\lambda,x_0}}{\partial \widehat{x}_{\lambda}} \left( \widehat{x}_{\lambda}, \delta \right),$$

where  $O_{j,d-j}$  is the null matrix with j rows and d-j columns. From(26) and since

$$\frac{\partial G}{\partial \widehat{x}_{\lambda}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}, \delta, \gamma_{\lambda, x_{0}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}, \delta)) = \nabla X \left(\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda, x_{0}}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}) + \sum_{k=1}^{j} \gamma_{k, \lambda, x_{0}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}, \delta) e_{\ell_{k}}\right) \times \nabla \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda, x_{0}}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}),$$

we finally obtain

$$(27) \quad \frac{\partial \gamma_{\lambda,x_0}}{\partial \widehat{x}_{\lambda}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda},\delta) = -\left[\nabla X\left(\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}) + \sum_{k=1}^{j} \gamma_{k,\lambda,x_0}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda},\delta)e_{\ell_k}\right)|_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}}\right]^{-1} \times \nabla X\left(\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}) + \sum_{k=1}^{j} \gamma_{k,\lambda,x_0}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda},\delta)e_{\ell_k}\right) \times \nabla \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}).$$

Define

(28) 
$$\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0,\delta}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}) := \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}) + \sum_{k=1}^{j} \gamma_{k,\lambda,x_0}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda},\delta) e_{\ell_k},$$

this function is a local parametrization of the level set  $\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y+\delta)$ . With this new parametrization we can write (27) as

(29) 
$$\frac{\partial \gamma_{\lambda,x_0}}{\partial \widehat{x}_{\lambda}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda},\delta) = -\left[\nabla X(\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0,\delta}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}))|_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}}\right]^{-1} \times \nabla X(\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0,\delta}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})) \times \nabla \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}).$$

In a similar way, by differentiating the equality  $G(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}, \delta, \gamma_{\lambda, x_0}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}, \delta)) = \vec{0}_{\mathbb{R}^j}$  with respect to  $\delta$ , this time, we obtain the equality

(30) 
$$\frac{\partial \gamma_{\lambda,x_0}}{\partial \delta}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda},\delta) = \left[\nabla X(\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0,\delta}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}))|_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}}\right]^{-1}.$$

We should point out that if  $\widehat{x}_{\lambda} \in R_{x_0}^{\lambda}$  then  $G(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}, 0, 0) = X(\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda, x_0}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})) - y = \overrightarrow{0}_{\mathbb{R}^j}$ . By the previous point 3, we get  $\gamma_{\lambda, x_0}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}, 0) = 0$ , and since  $\gamma_{\lambda, x_0}$  is a continuous function on  $R_{x_0}^{\lambda} \times W_{x_0}^{\lambda}$ , first we obtain

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda, x_0, \delta}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}) = \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda, x_0}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}),$$

the convergence being uniform on  $\overline{R}_{x_0}^{\lambda}$ . Indeed, since  $\gamma_{\lambda,x_0}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda},0) = 0$  and using the mean value theorem and (30), we have

$$\begin{split} &\|\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0,\delta}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}) - \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})\|_d \\ &= \left\| \sum_{k=1}^j \left( \sum_{i=1}^j \frac{\partial \gamma_{k,\lambda,x_0}}{\partial \delta_i} (\widehat{x}_{\lambda}, \theta_k \delta) \delta_i \right) e_{\ell_k} \right\|_d \\ &= \left\| \sum_{k=1}^j ((\nabla X (\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0,\theta_k}} \delta(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}))|_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}})^{-1} (\delta))_{k,1} e_{\ell_k} \right\|_d \\ &\leqslant \sqrt{j} \sup_{z \in K} \left\| (\nabla X (z)|_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}})^{-1} \right\|_{d,j} \times \|\delta\|_j \,, \end{split}$$

where  $0 < \theta_k < 1$ , for  $k = 1, \ldots, j$  and K is a compact set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  defined by  $K := \overline{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0}}(\overline{R_{x_0}^{\lambda}}) + \sum_{i=1}^j \gamma_{\ell_{k,\lambda,x_0}}(\overline{R_{x_0}^{\lambda}} \times \overline{W_{x_0}^{\lambda}}) e_{\ell_k}$ . Finally, let us recall that  $\|(\nabla X(z)|_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}})^{-1}\|_{d,j}$  remains bounded on this compact set. To show this, just make the open sets  $V_{x_0}^{\lambda}$  and  $W_{x_0}^{\lambda}$  smaller. That is, choose  $V_{x_0}^{\lambda}$  such that  $\overline{V_{x_0}^{\lambda}} \subset R_{x_0}^{\lambda}$  and an open set  $F_{x_0}^{\lambda}$  containing 0 on  $\mathbb{R}^j$  such that  $\overline{F_{x_0}^{\lambda}} \subset W_{x_0}^{\lambda}$ . Second, let us prove that  $\nabla \overline{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0,\delta}}$  converges uniformly to  $\nabla \overline{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0}}$  on  $\overline{R_{x_0}^{\lambda}}$ . Given that  $\forall \widehat{x}_{\lambda} \in R_{x_0}^{\lambda}$ ,  $X(\overline{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})) = y$ , we get

$$\nabla X(\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})) \times \nabla \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}) = O_{j,d-j}.$$

By this last fact, (28) and (29), we have the following sequence of inequalities:

$$\begin{split} \|\nabla \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda, x_0, \delta}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}) - \nabla \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda, x_0}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})\|_{d, d - j} \\ &= \left\| - \left[ \nabla X(\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda, x_0, \delta}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}))|_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}} \right]^{-1} \times \left[ \nabla X(\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda, x_0, \delta}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})) - \nabla X(\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda, x_0}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})) \right] \right\|_{L^{2}} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} & \times \nabla \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}) \Big\|_{d,d-j} \\ \leqslant & \left\| \left[ \nabla X(\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0,\delta}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}))|_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}} \right]^{-1} \right\|_{d,j} \times \left\| \nabla X(\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0,\delta}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})) - \nabla X(\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})) \right\|_{j,d} \\ & \times \left\| \nabla \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}) \right\|_{d,d-j} \\ \leqslant & \sup_{z \in K} \left\| (\nabla X(z)|_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}})^{-1} \right\|_{d,j} \sup_{\widehat{x}_{\lambda} \in \overrightarrow{R_{x_0}^{\lambda}}} \left\| \nabla X(\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0,\delta}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})) - \nabla X(\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})) \right\|_{j,d} \\ & \times \sup_{\widehat{x}_{\lambda} \in \overrightarrow{R_{x_0}^{\lambda}}} \left\| \nabla \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}) \right\|_{d,d-j}. \end{split}$$

The first term in the last inequality is bounded as explained above. The third term is also bounded because  $\nabla \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0}}$  is continuous on  $\overline{R_{x_0}^{\lambda}}$  which is a compact set. In the same way, the second term tends to zero because we already know that  $\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0,\delta}}$  uniformly converges to  $\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_0}}$  on  $\overline{R_{x_0}^{\lambda}}$  and  $\nabla X$  is continuous on K, a compact set.

We will show that

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y+\delta)} Y(z) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_{d-j}(z) = \int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} Y(z) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_{d-j}(z).$$

Using first that  $\operatorname{supp}(Y)$  is a compact subset of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  included in the open set  $\Gamma(\lambda)$ , we can prove that there exists an open set O contained in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  such that:  $\operatorname{supp}(Y) \subset O \subset \overline{O} \subset \Gamma(\lambda)$ .

Then, let us notice that since  $\overline{O} \subset \Gamma(\lambda) \subset D$ , the set  $\overline{O} \cap \mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)$  is a compact set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

Let us build a partition of unity  $\{\pi_1, \ldots, \pi_m\}$  for this compact manifold in the following way.

Consider  $x \in \overline{O} \cap \mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)$ . Since  $x \in \overline{O} \subset \Gamma(\lambda)$ ,  $x \in \Gamma(\lambda)$  it turns out that  $J_X^{(\lambda)}(x) \neq 0$  and we can construct the open set  $U_x^{\lambda}$ . Since  $U_x^{\lambda}$  is open, we can choose a real number  $r_x^{\lambda} > 0$  such that the closed ball of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  of center x and radius  $r_x^{\lambda}$  is contained in  $U_x^{\lambda}$ , let  $\overline{B}(x, r_x^{\lambda}) \subset U_x^{\lambda}$ .

We know that  $\overline{O} \cap \mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)$  is a compact set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , then we can cover  $\overline{O} \cap \mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)$  with a finite number of these balls, that is  $\overline{O} \cap \mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y) \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^m B(x_i, r_{x_i}^{\lambda})$  such that for  $i = 1, \ldots, m$ , we still have:

$$\overline{B}(x_i, r_{x_i}^{\lambda}) \subset U_{x_i}^{\lambda}.$$

In the same way as on page 30, we obtain a partition of unity of  $\overline{O} \cap \mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)$ , i.e.  $\{\pi_1, \ldots, \pi_m\}$ , such that:

1. 
$$\pi_i$$
 is  $C^{\infty}$  on  $\overline{O} \cap \mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)$ ,  $\pi_i \geqslant 0$ ,  $i = 1, \dots, m$ ;

such sets:

2. 
$$\operatorname{supp}(\pi_i) \subset \overline{O} \cap \mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y) \cap \overline{B}(x_i, r_{x_i}^{\lambda}) \subset U_{x_i}^{\lambda};$$

3. 
$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \pi_i(x) = 1, x \in \overline{O} \cap \mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y).$$

Moreover, the following sequence of inclusions is true

$$\operatorname{supp}(Y) \cap \mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y) \subset O \cap \mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y) \subset \overline{O} \cap \mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)$$

$$\subset \cup_{i=0}^m U_{x_i}^{\lambda}, \ x_i \in \overline{O} \cap \mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y), i = 1, \dots, m.$$

Let us use the fact that  $\operatorname{supp}(Y)$  is a compact set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and that O is open, in the following way. Consider  $\omega \in \operatorname{supp}(Y)$ . Given that  $\operatorname{supp}(Y) \subset O \subset \Gamma(\lambda)$ , there exist two open sets  $\widetilde{U}(\omega)$  and  $U(\omega)$  containing  $\{\omega\}$  and  $R_{\omega} > 0$ ,  $\widetilde{U}(\omega) \subset U(\omega) \subset O$  such that the restriction  $f_{\lambda}|_{\widetilde{U}(\omega)}$  has an inverse on the open ball  $B(f_{\lambda}(\omega), R_{\omega}/2)$  and the restriction  $f_{\lambda}|_{U(\omega)}$  has an inverse on the open ball  $B(f_{\lambda}(\omega), R_{\omega})$ . It is also possible to have  $\operatorname{diam}(U(\omega)) \leqslant \inf_{i=1,\dots,m} \operatorname{diam}(\widetilde{W}_{x_i}^{\lambda})$ ,  $\widetilde{W}_{x_i}^{\lambda}$  being the neighborhood of zero in  $\mathbb{R}^j$  used to construct the function  $\gamma_{\lambda,x_i}$  and also the local parametrization of the level curve at level  $y + \delta$ . Since  $\operatorname{supp}(Y)$  is a compact set in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , it can be covered by a finite number of

$$\operatorname{supp}(Y) \subset \cup_{\ell=1}^k \widetilde{U}(\omega_\ell) \subset \cup_{\ell=1}^k U(\omega_\ell) \subset O$$

where  $\omega_{\ell} \in \text{supp}(Y)$ , for  $\ell = 1, \ldots, k$ .

Let us chose  $\delta = (\delta_1, \dots, \delta_j) \in \mathbb{R}^j$  such that  $\|\delta\|_j \leq \inf_{\ell=1,\dots,k} R_{\omega_\ell}/2$ . We will prove that if  $\delta$  is small enough, any element of  $\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y+\delta) \cap \operatorname{supp}(Y)$  belongs to  $\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_i,\delta}}(R_{x_i}^{\lambda})$ , at least for one index i belonging to  $1,\dots,m$ . Let us chose  $z \in \mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y+\delta) \cap \operatorname{supp}(Y)$ . Since  $z \in \operatorname{supp}(Y)$ , there exists  $\ell = 1,\dots,k$ , such that  $z \in \widetilde{U}(\omega_\ell)$ , and given that  $z \in \mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y+\delta)$ ,  $f_{\lambda}(z) = \pi_{V_{\lambda}}(z) + \sum_{k=1}^{j} \delta_k e_{\ell_k} \in B(f_{\lambda}(\omega_\ell), R_{\omega_\ell}/2)$ . It follows that  $\pi_{V_{\lambda}}(z) \in B(f_{\lambda}(z), \|\delta\|_i) \subset B(f_{\lambda}(\omega_\ell), R_{\omega_\ell})$ . Thus there exists an

It follows that  $\pi_{V_{\lambda}}(z) \in B(f_{\lambda}(z), \|\delta\|_j) \subset B(f_{\lambda}(\omega_{\ell}), R_{\omega_{\ell}})$ . Thus there exists an unique  $x \in U(\omega_{\ell}) \subset O$ , such that

$$f_{\lambda}(x) = \pi_{V_{\lambda}}(z) = \pi_{V_{\lambda}}(x) + \sum_{k=1}^{j} (X_k(x) - y_k) e_{\ell_k}.$$

So  $\pi_{V_{\lambda}}(z) = \pi_{V_{\lambda}}(x)$  and  $\sum_{k=1}^{j} (X_k(x) - y_k) e_{\ell_k} = 0$ , so X(x) = y. Since  $x \in O \cap \mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y) \subset \bigcup_{i=0}^{m} U_{x_i}^{\lambda}$ , x can be written as  $x = \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda, x_i}}(\widehat{x_{\lambda}}), \widehat{x_{\lambda}} \in R_{x_i}^{\lambda}$ , for some  $i = 1, \ldots, m$ . Finally and since  $\pi_{V_{\lambda}}(z) = \pi_{V_{\lambda}}(x)$ , the vector z can be written as  $z = x + \pi_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}}(z - x)$ . Moreover,  $\pi_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}}(z - x) = \sum_{k=1}^{j} \gamma_k e_{\ell_k}$  and  $\|\gamma\|_j = \|\pi_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}}(z - x)\|_d \leqslant \|z - x\|_d \leqslant \operatorname{diam}(U(\omega_\ell)) \leqslant \operatorname{diam}(\widetilde{W}_{x_i}^{\lambda})$ , because we have

$$\sup_{\ell=1,\dots,k} \operatorname{diam}(U(\omega_{\ell})) \leqslant \inf_{i=1,\dots,m} \operatorname{diam}(\widetilde{W}_{x_i}^{\lambda}).$$

Using Property 3. of function G, we proved that  $z = \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_i,\delta}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}), \widehat{x}_{\lambda} \in R_{x_i}^{\lambda}, i = 1, \ldots, m$ .

Suppose that  $t, s \in (\bigcup_{i=0}^m U_{x_i}^{\lambda}) \cap C_X^{D^r}(y)$  are such that  $\pi_{V_{\lambda}}(t) = \pi_{V_{\lambda}}(s)$  and  $t \neq s$ . We can write  $s = (\pi_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}}(t) + \sigma_0 \gamma) + \pi_{V_{\lambda}}(t)$ , where  $\sigma_0 > 0$ ,  $\gamma \in V_{\lambda}^{\perp}$  and  $\|\gamma\|_d = 1$ . By defining  $h(\sigma) := X(t + \sigma \gamma)$  we have  $h(0) = h(\sigma_0) = y$ . Let us specify that this function is well defined for  $0 \leq \sigma \leq \sigma_0$ , because D is a convex open set and here is the only place where we use the convexity of the set D. Moreover, Rolle's theorem allows us to state that if  $h := (h_1, \dots, h_j)$ , then for all  $\ell = 1, \dots, j$ , there exists  $\sigma_\ell \in (0, \sigma_0)$  such that  $h_\ell(\sigma_\ell) = \nabla X_\ell(t + \sigma_\ell \gamma)(\gamma) = 0$ . Moreover,

$$1 = \|\gamma\|_d = \left\| (\nabla X(t)|_{V_\lambda^\perp})^{-1} (\nabla X(t)|_{V_\lambda^\perp}(\gamma)) \right\|_d \leqslant M \left\| \nabla X(t)(\gamma) \right\|_j,$$

where

$$M := \sum_{i=1}^m \sup_{x \in \overline{U_{x_i}^{\lambda}}} \left\| (\nabla X(x)|_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}})^{-1} \right\|_{d,j} < \infty.$$

To ensure that the last norm is finite it is sufficient to take the open sets  $U_{x_i}^{\lambda}$  sufficiently small. Finally, using that  $\dot{h}_{\ell}(\sigma_{\ell}) = 0$  we obtain

$$1 \leqslant M^2 \sum_{\ell=1}^{j} |\nabla X_{\ell}(t + \sigma_{\ell}\gamma)(\gamma) - \nabla X_{\ell}(t)(\gamma)|^2$$
$$\leqslant M^2 \sum_{\ell=1}^{j} ||\nabla X_{\ell}(t + \sigma_{\ell}\gamma) - \nabla X_{\ell}(t)||_{1,d}^2.$$

Assume  $\nabla X$  is a Lipschitz function. Let L be its Lipschitz's constant. We have

$$1 \leqslant M^2 L^2 \sum_{\ell=1}^{j} \sigma_{\ell}^2 \leqslant j M^2 L^2 \sigma^2,$$

where  $\sigma := \max_{\ell=1,\dots,j} \sigma_{\ell}$ . From this, we obtain

(31) 
$$||s - t||_d = \sigma_0 \geqslant \sigma \geqslant \frac{1}{\sqrt{j}ML} := a.$$

Let us prove that if  $z \in \mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y+\delta) \cap \operatorname{supp}(Y)$ , there exists a unique  $x \in \bigcup_{i=0}^m U_{x_i}^{\lambda} \cap \mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)$ , such that  $z = x + \pi_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}}(z-x)$  and such that  $\|\pi_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}}(z-x)\|_d \leq \inf_{i=1,\dots,m} \operatorname{diam}(\widetilde{W}_{x_i}^{\lambda})$  (note that it is always possible by taking the open sets  $\widetilde{W}_{x_i}^{\lambda}$  to ensure that  $\operatorname{diam}(\widetilde{W}_{x_i}^{\lambda}) < a/2$ ).

Since z belongs to  $\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y+\delta)\cap\operatorname{supp}(Y)$ , we have shown above the existence of this x. Let us now show the uniqueness. Assume that there exists another vector  $x'\in (\cup_{i=0}^m U_{x_i}^\lambda)\cap \mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y), \ x'\neq x$ , such that  $z=x'+\pi_{V_\lambda^\perp}(z-x')$  and

also that  $\|\pi_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}}(z-x')\|_{d} \leqslant \inf_{i=1,\dots,m} \operatorname{diam}(\widetilde{W}_{x_{i}}^{\lambda})$ . From (31) we necessarily have  $\|x-x'\|_{d} \geqslant a$ . Furthermore, it holds

$$\begin{split} \left\| x - x' \right\|_d & \leqslant \| x - z \|_d + \left\| x' - z \right\|_d \\ & = \left\| \pi_{V_\lambda^\perp}(z - x) \right\|_d + \left\| \pi_{V_\lambda^\perp}(z - x') \right\|_d \\ & < \frac{a}{2} + \frac{a}{2} = a. \end{split}$$

We thus obtain a contradiction.

Let us now consider  $z \in \mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y+\delta) \cap \operatorname{supp}(Y)$ , since  $x \in O \cap \mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y) \subset \overline{O} \cap \mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)$  and given that  $\widehat{z}_{\lambda} = \widehat{x}_{\lambda}$ , we obtain the sequence of equalities

$$\begin{split} Y(z) &= \left(\sum_{i=1}^{m} \pi_{i}(x)\right) \times Y(z) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{m} \pi_{i}(x) \times \mathbb{1}_{\left\{x \in U_{x_{i}}^{\lambda} \cap \mathcal{C}_{X}^{D^{r}}(y)\right\}} \times Y(z) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{m} \pi_{i}(x) \times \mathbb{1}_{\left\{x = \overline{\alpha_{\lambda, x_{i}}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})\right\}} \times \mathbb{1}_{\left\{\widehat{x}_{\lambda} \in R_{x_{i}}^{\lambda}\right\}} \times Y(z) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{m} \pi_{i}(\overline{\alpha_{\lambda, x_{i}}}(\widehat{z}_{\lambda})) \times \mathbb{1}_{\left\{x = \overline{\alpha_{\lambda, x_{i}}}(\widehat{z}_{\lambda})\right\}} \times \mathbb{1}_{\left\{\widehat{z}_{\lambda} \in R_{x_{i}}^{\lambda}\right\}} \times Y(z) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{m} \pi_{i}(\overline{\alpha_{\lambda, x_{i}}}(\widehat{z}_{\lambda})) \times \mathbb{1}_{\left\{z = \overline{\alpha_{\lambda, x_{i}}}, \widehat{\delta}(\widehat{z}_{\lambda})\right\}} \times Y(\overline{\alpha_{\lambda, x_{i}}}, \widehat{\delta}(\widehat{z}_{\lambda})) \times \mathbb{1}_{\left\{\widehat{z}_{\lambda} \in R_{x_{i}}^{\lambda}\right\}}. \end{split}$$

The last equality coming from the construction of the vector x from the vector z and from the uniqueness of the decomposition of z on the set  $(\bigcup_{i=0}^m U_{x_i}^{\lambda}) \cap \mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)$ .

We have the following equality and convergence as  $\delta$  tends towards zero

$$\int_{\mathcal{C}_{X}^{D^{r}}(y+\delta)} Y(z) \, d\sigma_{d-j}(z) 
= \sum_{i=1}^{m} \int_{\{z = \overline{\alpha_{\lambda, x_{i}}}, \delta(\widehat{z}_{\lambda}), \widehat{z}_{\lambda} \in R_{x_{i}}^{\lambda}\}} \pi_{i}(\overline{\alpha_{\lambda, x_{i}}}(\widehat{z}_{\lambda})) \times Y(\overline{\alpha_{\lambda, x_{i}}}, \delta(\widehat{z}_{\lambda})) \, d\sigma_{d-j}(z) 
= \sum_{i=1}^{m} \int_{R_{x_{i}}^{\lambda}} \pi_{i}(\overline{\alpha_{\lambda, x_{i}}}(\widehat{z}_{\lambda})) Y(\overline{\alpha_{\lambda, x_{i}}}, \delta(\widehat{z}_{\lambda})) (\det(\nabla \overline{\alpha_{\lambda, x_{i}}}, \delta(\widehat{z}_{\lambda}) \nabla \overline{\alpha_{\lambda, x_{i}}}, \delta(\widehat{z}_{\lambda})^{T}))^{1/2} \, d\widehat{z}_{\lambda} 
\xrightarrow{\delta \to 0} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \int_{R_{x_{i}}^{\lambda}} \pi_{i}(\overline{\alpha_{\lambda, x_{i}}}(\widehat{z}_{\lambda})) Y(\overline{\alpha_{\lambda, x_{i}}}(\widehat{z}_{\lambda})) (\det(\nabla \overline{\alpha_{\lambda, x_{i}}}(\widehat{z}_{\lambda}) \nabla \overline{\alpha_{\lambda, x_{i}}}(\widehat{z}_{\lambda})^{T}))^{1/2} \, d\widehat{z}_{\lambda}.$$

The last convergence comes from the uniform convergence of  $\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_i,\delta}}$  to  $\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_i}}$  on  $\overrightarrow{R_{x_i}^{\lambda}}$  and of that of  $\nabla \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_i,\delta}}$  to  $\nabla \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_i}}$  on  $\overrightarrow{R_{x_i}^{\lambda}}$ .

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \int_{R_{x_{i}}^{\lambda}} \pi_{i}(\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_{i}}}(\widehat{z}_{\lambda})) Y(\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_{i}}}(\widehat{z}_{\lambda})) (\det(\nabla \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_{i}}}(\widehat{z}_{\lambda}) \nabla \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_{i}}}(\widehat{z}_{\lambda})^{T}))^{1/2} d\widehat{z}_{\lambda}$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{m} \int_{U_{x_{i}}^{\lambda} \cap \mathcal{C}_{X}^{D^{r}}(y)} \pi_{i}(x) Y(x) d\sigma_{d-j}(x)$$

$$= \int_{\overline{O} \cap \mathcal{C}_{X}^{D^{r}}(y)} Y(x) d\sigma_{d-j}(x)$$

$$= \int_{\mathcal{C}_{X}^{D^{r}}(y)} Y(x) d\sigma_{d-j}(x),$$

because  $supp(Y) \subset \overline{O}$ .

In summary, we have proved the continuity of the function

$$y \mapsto \int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} Y(x) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_{d-j}(x),$$

under the hypothesis that  $Y: D_X^r \subset \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  is a continuous function satisfying  $\mathrm{supp}(Y) \subset \Gamma(\lambda)$ .

Finally, we no longer assume that  $\operatorname{supp}(Y) \subset \Gamma(\lambda)$ , just that  $\operatorname{supp}(Y) \subset D_X^r$ . Let us introduce two new functions. For  $\lambda \in B_j$  and  $t \in D$ , let

(32) 
$$\phi_{\lambda}(t) := \inf_{\gamma \in V_{\lambda}^{\perp}, \|\gamma\|_{d} = 1} \left\| \nabla X(t) |_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}}(\gamma) \right\|_{j},$$

and

$$\phi(t) := \sup_{\lambda \in B_j} \phi_{\lambda}(t).$$

These two functions are Lipschitz and therefore continuous, with the same constant L, as  $\nabla X$ . Indeed, let us consider the first function. Considering two points t and  $t^*$ , we have for any  $\gamma \in V_{\lambda}^{\perp}$  satisfying  $\|\gamma\|_d = 1$ ,

$$\begin{split} \left\| \nabla X(t) |_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}}(\gamma) \right\|_{j} &= \left\| \nabla X(t)(\gamma) \right\|_{j} \\ & \leqslant \left\| \nabla X(t)(\gamma) - \nabla X(t^{\star})(\gamma) \right\|_{j} + \left\| \nabla X(t^{\star}) |_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}}(\gamma) \right\|_{j}. \end{split}$$

Using that  $\nabla X$  is Lipschitz, we obtain

$$\left\| \nabla X(t) |_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}}(\gamma) \right\|_{i} \leqslant L \left\| t - t^{\star} \right\|_{d} + \left\| \nabla X(t^{\star}) |_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}}(\gamma) \right\|_{i},$$

then

(33) 
$$\phi_{\lambda}(t) \leqslant L \|t - t^{\star}\|_{d} + \phi_{\lambda}(t^{\star}).$$

Since a symmetric inequality can be proved, we obtain finally

$$|\phi_{\lambda}(t) - \phi_{\lambda}(t^{\star})| \leqslant L \|t - t^{\star}\|_{d}.$$

Let us now study the second function,  $\phi$ .

By (33) we can write

$$\phi(t) \leqslant L \|t - t^{\star}\|_d + \phi(t^{\star}),$$

and as before

$$|\phi(t) - \phi(t^*)| \leqslant L \|t - t^*\|_d.$$

Let us prove that

(34) 
$$(\lambda \in B_i \text{ and } t \in \Gamma(\lambda)) \iff (\phi_{\lambda}(t) > 0).$$

Let us consider  $t \in \Gamma(\lambda)$  for  $\lambda \in B_j$ . By Remark 3.1.5 that means that  $\nabla X(t)|_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}}$  has an inverse and moreover that  $\ker(\nabla X(t)|_{V^{\perp}}) = \vec{0}|_{V^{\perp}}$ . But there exists  $\gamma_0 \in V_{\lambda}^{\perp}$ ,  $\|\gamma_0\|_d = 1$  such that  $\phi_{\lambda}(t) = \|\nabla X(t)|_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}}(\gamma_0)\|_j$ , and this implies that  $\phi_{\lambda}(t) > 0$ .

To prove the other implication, let us suppose that for a  $\lambda \in B_j$ ,  $t \notin \Gamma(\lambda)$ , i.e.  $\nabla X(t)|_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}}$  has no inverse. Then there exists  $\gamma \in V_{\lambda}^{\perp}$ ,  $\|\gamma\|_d = 1$  such that  $\nabla X(t)|_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}}(\gamma) = 0$ , and this implies  $\phi_{\lambda}(t) = 0$ . Now let us prove that

$$(35) (t \in D_X^r) \iff (\phi(t) > 0).$$

Indeed, by (34), we have the following equivalences

$$(t \in D_X^r) \iff (\exists \lambda \in B_j, t \in \Gamma(\lambda)) \iff (\exists \lambda \in B_j, \phi_\lambda(t) > 0) \iff (\phi(t) > 0)$$

We will construct a partition of unity of  $D_X^r$  whose support intersected by  $D_X^r$  will be included in  $\Gamma(\lambda)$ ,  $\forall \lambda \in B_j$ . We will denote this partition by  $\eta_{\lambda}$ . Let us first consider the function  $\chi_{\lambda}(t) := (2\phi_{\lambda}(t) - \phi(t))^+$ . Since  $\phi_{\lambda}$  and  $\phi$  are Lipschitz functions, it follows that  $2\phi_{\lambda} - \phi$  remains Lipschitz. So, the function  $\chi_{\lambda}$  is also Lipschitz and a fortiori continuous.

Let us show that

(36) 
$$(t \in D_X^r) \Longrightarrow \left(\sum_{\lambda \in B_j} \chi_{\lambda}(t) > 0\right).$$

Consider  $t \in D_X^r$ . Let us suppose that  $\sum_{\lambda \in B_j} \chi_{\lambda}(t) = 0$  and deduce a contradiction. Since  $\sum_{\lambda \in B_j} \chi_{\lambda}(t) = 0$ , then  $\forall \lambda \in B_j$  we have  $\chi_{\lambda}(t) = 0$ , i.e.  $\phi_{\lambda}(t) \leqslant \frac{1}{2}\phi(t)$ . It is indeed a consequence since this inequality is true  $\forall \lambda \in B_j$ , that  $\phi(t) \leqslant \frac{1}{2}\phi(t)$  and  $\phi(t) = 0$ , which is in contradiction with (35). Let  $\forall t \in D_X^r$ ,

(37) 
$$\eta_{\lambda}(t) := \chi_{\lambda}(t) / \sum_{\lambda \in B_i} \chi_{\lambda}(t) ,$$

which is possible from (36). It is now easy to see that  $\eta_{\lambda}$  is continuous on  $D_X^r$  since  $\chi_{\lambda}$  is also continuous on  $D_X^r$ .

It only remains to prove that the intersection of the support of this function with  $D_X^r$  is included in  $\Gamma(\lambda)$ .

For all C > 0, let us construct an open set  $O_C$  including

$$(\Gamma(\lambda))^{c_1} \cap \{t \in D, \phi(t) > C\},\$$

contained in the set

$$\{t \in D, \chi_{\lambda}(t) = 0\}.$$

More precisely, let us prove that for a given C > 0, if  $\delta \leqslant \frac{C}{2L}$  (with L being the Lipschitz constant of the function  $\nabla X$ ), then

$$((\Gamma(\lambda))^{c_1})_{\delta} \cap \{t \in D : \phi(t) > C\} \subset \{t \in D : \chi_{\lambda}(t) = 0\}$$

where for any set A we have defined the open set  $A_{\delta} := \{x \in \mathbb{R}^d : d(x, A) < \delta\}$ . Thus, let C > 0 be fixed and  $t \in ((\Gamma(\lambda))^{c_1})_{\delta} \cap \{t \in D : \phi(t) > C\}$ . Since  $t \in ((\Gamma(\lambda))^{c_1})_{\delta}$ , there exists  $t' \in B(t, \delta)$  such that  $t' \in (\Gamma(\lambda))^{c_1}$  (and also such that  $\phi_{\lambda}(t') = 0$  as a consequence of (34)). Then we have, since  $\phi_{\lambda}$  is Lipschitz with Lipschitz constant L that

$$\phi_{\lambda}(t) \leqslant |\phi_{\lambda}(t) - \phi_{\lambda}(t')| + \phi_{\lambda}(t')$$
$$\leqslant L ||t - t'||_{d} \leqslant L\delta \leqslant \frac{C}{2}.$$

Therefore,  $2\phi_{\lambda}(t) \leqslant C < \phi(t)$ , and this leads that  $\chi_{\lambda}(t) = 0$ . We have proved that for all C > 0 and  $\forall \delta \leqslant \frac{C}{2L}$ , we have the inclusion

$$\begin{aligned} \{t \in D_X^r : \chi_{\lambda}(t) \neq 0\} &= \{t \in D_X^r : \eta_{\lambda}(t) \neq 0\} \\ &\subset \left( \left( \left( (\Gamma(\lambda))^{c_1} \right)_{\delta} \right)^c \cap D_X^r \right) \cup \{t \in D_X^r : \phi(t) \leqslant C\}, \end{aligned}$$

where we recall that the symbol c denotes the complementary set with respect to  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

Noting that  $(((\Gamma(\lambda))^{c_1})_{\delta})^c$  is a closed set contained in  $\Gamma(\lambda) \cup D^c$ , we have

$$\operatorname{supp}(\eta_{\lambda}) \subset [(\Gamma(\lambda) \cup D^c) \cap \overline{D_X^r}] \cup (\cap_{C>0} \overline{\{t \in D_X^r : \phi(t) \leqslant C\}}),$$

that is

$$\operatorname{supp}(\eta_{\lambda}) \cap D_X^r \subset \Gamma(\lambda) \cup (\cap_{C>0} \overline{\{t \in D_X^r : \phi(t) \leqslant C\}} \cap D_X^r).$$

To complete the proof, it is enough to show that  $\cap_{C>0} \overline{\{t \in D_X^r : \phi(t) \leqslant C\}} \cap D_X^r = \emptyset$ . Indeed, consider  $z \in \cap_{C>0} \overline{\{t \in D_X^r : \phi(t) \leqslant C\}} \cap D_X^r$ . Then  $z \in D_X^r$  and for all C > 0, there exists a sequence of points  $z_{n,C}$  of  $D_X^r$ , satisfying  $\phi(z_{n,C}) \leqslant C$  which converges to  $z \in D_X^r$ . Since the function  $\phi$  is continuous on D and also on  $D_X^r$ , it holds that  $\phi(z) \leqslant C$ . This last inequality is true for all C > 0, then we get that  $\phi(z) = 0$ . From (35) we easily obtain that  $z \in (D_X^r)^{c_1}$ . But  $z \in D_X^r$ .

We have proven that

(38) 
$$\operatorname{supp}(\eta_{\lambda}) \cap D_X^r \subset \Gamma(\lambda).$$

In this form, for  $t \in D_X^r$  we have

$$Y(t) = \sum_{\lambda \in B_i} \eta_{\lambda}(t) Y(t) = \sum_{\lambda \in B_i} Y_{\lambda}(t),$$

where we set for  $t \in D_X^r, Y_{\lambda}(t) := \eta_{\lambda}(t)Y(t)$ .

The function  $Y_{\lambda}$  is a continuous function on  $D_X^r$  with compact support included in  $\Gamma(\lambda)$ , since  $\operatorname{supp}(Y) \subset D_X^r$  by hypothesis and from the inclusion (38).

We have  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ 

$$\int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} Y(z) \, d\sigma_{d-j}(z) = \sum_{\lambda \in B_j} \int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} Y_{\lambda}(z) \, d\sigma_{d-j}(z).$$

The continuity of the left-hand side integral as a function of the variable y is a consequence of the continuity of each of the terms of the right sum. This last fact is an application of the above procedure. This completes the proof of Theorem 3.1.3 in the case where we have chosen the bounded open set  $D_1$  of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  equal to D convex (bounded).

Now suppose that D is a convex open set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , which can be unbounded. The function  $X:D\subset\mathbb{R}^d\to\mathbb{R}^j$  is a function of class  $C^1(D,\mathbb{R}^j)$  such that  $\nabla X$  is Lipschitz and the function  $Y:D_1\subset\mathbb{R}^d\to\mathbb{R}$  is a continuous function defined on  $D_1$ , an open and bounded subset of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  included in D such that  $\operatorname{supp}(Y)\subset$ 

 $D_{X_{\mid D_1}}^r$ .

In this case, the function X restricted to the bounded open set  $D_1$  i.e.  $X_{|D_1}$ , is such that  $X_{|D_1}: D_1 \subset \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j$  is  $C^1(D_1, \mathbb{R}^j)$  and such that  $\nabla X_{|D_1}$  is Lipschitz.

One can apply the previous procedure to these two functions  $X_{|D_1}$  and Y and also to the open set  $D_1$ . It is possible that  $D_1$  is not a convex set, but this is not a real problem. Indeed, if we refer to page 35, the only place where we used the convexity of the open set, we realize that the important thing is to be able to apply Rolle's theorem to the function h which is defined there and to use the fact that the function  $\nabla X$  is Lipschitz. Since  $D_1$  could not be convex, we were not sure if we could do it, but this is not the case if we work on D which is convex.

The proof of the theorem is finished.

Now we are able to exhibit a class of processes X and Y satisfying the hypotheses  $H_2$  and  $H_4$  through the following assumption  $A_0$  and the following proposition whose proof is based on the one given by Cabaña [21]. In what follows, we will give a new proof slightly more general that the original one.

-  $A_0$ :  $X: \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j$   $(j \leq d)$  is a random field that belongs to  $C^1(D, \mathbb{R}^j)$ , where D is a bounded open convex set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , such that for almost all  $\omega \in \Omega$ , the process  $\nabla X(\omega)$  is Lipschitz with Lipschitz constant  $L_X(\omega)$  satisfying  $\mathbb{E}\left[L_X^d(\cdot)\right] < \infty$ . Also,  $Y: \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  is a continuous process such  $\exists \lambda \in B_j$  such that  $\sup(Y) \subset \Gamma(\lambda)$ . Moreover,  $\|(\nabla X(\cdot)|_{V_\lambda^\perp})^{-1}\|_{d,j}$ ,  $Y(\cdot)$  and  $\|\nabla X(\cdot)\|_{j,d}$  are assumed uniformly bounded on the support of Y, the bounds not depending on  $\omega \in \Omega$ .

**Proposition 3.1.8.** — If X and Y satisfy the assumption  $A_0$ , then the hypotheses  $H_2$  and  $H_4$  are satisfied.

Proof of Proposition 3.1.8. For almost all  $\omega \in \Omega$  the field  $X(\omega): D \subset \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j$   $(j \leqslant d)$  is  $C^1(D, \mathbb{R}^j)$  and such that  $\nabla X(\omega)$  is Lipschitz. The process  $Y(\omega): D \subset \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  is a continuous function such that  $\operatorname{supp}(Y(\omega)) \subset \Gamma(\lambda)(\omega) \subset D^r_{X(\omega)}$ . The set D is an open and convex bounded set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . According to Theorem 3.1.3 the function

$$y \longmapsto \int_{\mathcal{C}_{X(\omega)}^{D^r}(y)} Y(\omega)(x) d\sigma_{d-j}(x)$$

is a continuous function of the variable y. The same is true for

$$\int_{\mathcal{C}_{X(\omega)}^{D^r}(y)} |Y(\omega)(x)| \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x).$$

Let us find an upper bound for  $\int_{\mathcal{C}_{v}^{D^{r}}(y)} |Y(x)| d\sigma_{d-j}(x)$  which would be an integrable random variable that does not depend on y. Then, according to the dominated convergence theorem, hypotheses  $H_2$  and  $H_4$  will be fullfilled. Since  $\operatorname{supp}(Y) \subset \Gamma(\lambda)$ , we can construct a partition of unity of  $\operatorname{supp}(Y)$ . As on page 30 getting as in (25)

$$\int_{\mathcal{C}_{X}^{D^{r}}(y)} Y(x) d\sigma_{d-j}(x) 
= \sum_{i=1}^{m} \int_{R_{x_{i}}^{\lambda}} \pi_{i}(\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_{i}}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})) Y(\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_{i}}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})) \left(\det\left(\nabla \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_{i}}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})\nabla \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_{i}}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})^{T}\right)\right)^{1/2} d\widehat{x}_{\lambda}.$$

Consider  $\widehat{x}_{\lambda}$  fixed in  $R_{x_i}^{\lambda}$  such that  $\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_i}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}) \in \operatorname{supp}(Y)$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, m$ . We have  $\left(\det\left(\nabla \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_i}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})\nabla \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_i}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})^T\right)\right)^{1/2} \leqslant \|\nabla \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_i}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})\|_{d\times(d-j)}^d$ .

Let us uniformly bound  $\|\nabla \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_i}}(\widehat{x_{\lambda}})\|_{d,d-j}$ , for all  $\widehat{x_{\lambda}}$  in  $R_{x_i}^{\lambda}$  such that  $\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_i}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}) \in \operatorname{supp}(Y).$ 

For any  $\widehat{x}_{\lambda} \in R_{x_i}^{\lambda}$ , we have  $X(\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_i}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})) = y$ . Taking derivatives in this equality on the open set  $R_{x_i}^{\lambda}$ , we obtain

$$\nabla X(\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_i}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})) \times \nabla \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_i}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}) = 0.$$

Using (24) and that  $\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_i}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}) \in \Gamma(\lambda), \forall u \in \mathbb{R}^{d-j}, u := (u_1,\ldots,u_{d-j})$  we get

$$\nabla \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_i}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})(u)$$

$$= - \left[ \nabla \! X(\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_i}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})) \,|_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}} \right]^{-1} \! \left( \nabla \! X(\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_i}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})) \,|_{V_{\lambda}} \! \left( \sum_{k=1}^{d-j} u_k e_{i_k} \right) \right) + \sum_{k=1}^{d-j} u_k e_{i_k}.$$

Since  $\|(\nabla X(\cdot)|_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}})^{-1}\|_{d,j}$ ,  $Y(\cdot)$  and  $\|\nabla X(\cdot)\|_{j,d}$  are uniformly bounded on supp(Y), and the bound does not depend on  $\omega$ , then we have

$$\int_{\mathcal{C}_{X}^{D^{r}}(y)} |Y(x)| \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x) 
\leqslant C \int_{\pi_{V_{\lambda}}(D)} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \pi_{i}(\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_{i}}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})) \, \mathbb{1}_{\{\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_{i}}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}) \in \operatorname{supp}(Y)\}} \, \mathbb{1}_{\{\widehat{x}_{\lambda} \in R_{x_{i}}^{\lambda}\}} \, d\widehat{x}_{\lambda}.$$

For  $\omega \in \Omega$  and  $\widehat{x}_{\lambda} \in \pi_{V_{\lambda}}(D)$ , we consider the set A defined by

$$A := \left\{ \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda, x_i}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})(\omega), \widehat{x}_{\lambda} \in R_{x_i}^{\lambda}(\omega) \right.$$

$$\text{and } \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda, x_i}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})(\omega) \in \text{supp}(Y)(\omega), i = 1, \dots, m \right\}.$$

We partition the set A into equivalence classes. An equivalence class  $A_{i_0}$  for  $i_0 = 1, ..., m$ , is

$$A_{i_0} := \left\{ \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda, x_i}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})(\omega), \widehat{x}_{\lambda} \in R_{x_i}^{\lambda}(\omega) \cap R_{x_{i_0}}^{\lambda}(\omega) \right.$$
  
and  $\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda, x_i}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})(\omega) = \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda, x_{i_0}}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})(\omega) \in \operatorname{supp}(Y)(\omega), \ i = 1, \dots, m \right\}.$ 

By (3), page 30, we have  $\sum_{i=1}^{m} \pi_i(x) = 1$ ,  $x \in \text{supp}(Y)$ . Moreover, in each class we bound the corresponding sum by one. It only remains to count the maximal number of equivalence classes.

For counting the classes let us take two elements belonging to two different classes. To fix the ideas, we will take for example

$$t := \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_i}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})(\omega), \widehat{x}_{\lambda} \in R_{x_i}^{\lambda}(\omega) \text{ and } \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_i}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda})(\omega) \in \text{supp}(Y)(\omega)$$

and

$$s:=\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_j}}(\widehat{x}_\lambda)(\omega), \widehat{x}_\lambda \in R_{x_j}^\lambda(\omega) \text{ and } \overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_j}}(\widehat{x}_\lambda)(\omega) \in \operatorname{supp}(Y)(\omega),$$

 $i, j = 1, \dots, m$  with  $t \neq s$ .

It is clear that t and s are two different elements of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , they have the same projection on  $V_{\lambda}$  and belong to the level curve  $C_X^{D^r}(y)$ . Repeating the proof given on page 35 since  $t \in \text{supp}(Y)(\omega)$  and that  $\left\| (\nabla X(\cdot)|_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}})^{-1} \right\|_{d,j}$  is uniformly bounded on supp(Y) by a constant C, we get the following bound

$$1 \leqslant C^2 \sum_{\ell=1}^{j} \|\nabla X_{\ell}(\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_i}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}) + \sigma_{\ell}\gamma)(\omega) - \nabla X_{\ell}(\overrightarrow{\alpha_{\lambda,x_i}}(\widehat{x}_{\lambda}))(\omega)\|_{1,d}^2.$$

But for almost all  $\omega \in \Omega$ ,  $\nabla X(\omega)$  is Lipschitz with Lipschitz constant  $L_X(\omega)$ , we get

$$1 \leqslant j\mathbf{C}^2 L_X^2(\omega)\sigma^2(\omega),$$

where  $\sigma := \max_{\ell=1,\dots,j} \sigma_{\ell}$ .

As in (31), we finally obtain the following bound

$$\|s - t\|_d = \sigma_0(\omega) \geqslant \sigma(\omega) \geqslant \frac{1}{\sqrt{j}CL_X(\omega)} := a(\omega).$$

The open balls of center t and s and diameter  $a(\omega)$  do not intersect. We have at most  $(\dim(D)/a(\omega))^d$  balls of diameter  $a(\omega)$  and thus at most  $(\dim(D)/a(\omega))^d$  equivalence classes.

Finally, for almost all  $\omega \in \Omega$ :

$$\int_{\mathcal{C}_{X(\omega)}^{D^r}(y)} |Y(\omega)(x)| \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x) \leqslant \mathbf{C} \int_{\pi_{V_{\lambda}}(D)} (\operatorname{diam}(D)/a(\omega))^d \, d\widehat{x}_{\lambda}$$

$$\leq C \sigma_{d-j}(\pi_{V_{\lambda}}(D)) \left( \operatorname{diam}(D) \sqrt{j} C \right)^{d} L_{X}^{d}(\omega)$$
  
 $\leq C L_{X}^{d}(\omega).$ 

Since  $\mathbb{E}\left[L_X^d(\cdot)\right] < \infty$ ,  $y \longmapsto \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} Y(x) \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right]$  is continuous. The same is true for  $\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} |Y(x)| \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right]$ .

Then the hypotheses  $H_2$  and  $H_4$  have been verified. This completes the proof of the proposition.

**Remark 3.1.9.** — In  $A_0$ , we can replace the condition  $\mathbb{E}\left[L_X^d(\cdot)\right] < \infty$  by the following one:  $\exists L > 0 \ni$  for almost all  $\omega \in \Omega$ ,  $\operatorname{supp}(Y(\omega)) \neq \emptyset \Longrightarrow L_X(\omega) \leqslant L$ . In this case, the hypotheses  $H_2$  and  $H_4$  hold.

Proof of Remark 3.1.9. It suffices to replace in the proof of the previous proposition  $L_X(\omega)$  by L and  $a(\omega)$  by  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{jCL}}$ . In this case, for almost all  $\omega \in \Omega$ , we have

$$\int_{\mathcal{C}_{X(\omega)}^{D^r}(y)} |Y(\omega)(x)| \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x) \leqslant C.$$

and this implies the integrability.

Remark 3.1.10. — We can generalize Proposition 3.1.8 (resp. Remark 3.1.9) by assuming that D is an open and convex set possibly unbounded by maintaining the same hypotheses on X. That is, assuming that  $X: \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j$  ( $j \leq d$ ) is a random field which belongs to  $C^1(D, \mathbb{R}^j)$ , such that for almost all  $\omega \in \Omega$ , the process  $\nabla X(\omega)$  is Lipschitz with Lipschitz constant  $L_X(\omega)$  satisfying  $\mathbb{E}\left[L_X^d(\cdot)\right] < \infty$  (resp. there exists L > 0 such that for almost all  $\omega \in \Omega$ , the assumption  $\sup(Y(\omega)) \neq \emptyset$  implies that  $L_X(\omega) \leq L$ ). In this case, we will assume that Y is defined on  $D_1$ , a bounded and open set included in D. Moreover, we will have to adapt the assumptions for Y to the open set  $D_1$  instead of D and to  $X_{|D_1}$ . In this way, the assumptions  $H_2$  and  $H_4$  will still hold for  $X_{|D_1}$  and Y defined on  $D_1$ .

Proof of Remark 3.1.10. We prove this remark in the same way as Proposition 3.1.8. As in the proof of Theorem 3.1.3, we use that the open set  $D_1$  is contained in D which is convex. This allows us to apply, as on page 35, Rolle's theorem and that  $\nabla X$  is Lipschitz on D.

In the following, we will study the hypotheses  $H_1$ ,  $H_3$  and  $H_5$ . The last two hypothesis deal with the continuity of the right-hand side term in the Kac-Rice

formula. We will show the following proposition which is also deeply inspired by Cabaña [21].

We will exhibit a class of processes X and Y satisfying these assumptions. We will therefore state some hypotheses concerning the processes X and Y.

To the first three assumptions  $A_1$ ,  $A_2$  and  $A_3$ , we will add the assumption that Y can be written as a function G of X,  $\nabla X$  and  $W: \Omega \times D \subset \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^k$ ,  $k \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , a continuous random field, where D is still an open set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . That is,  $\forall x \in D$ 

$$(39) Y(x) := G(x, W(x), X(x), \nabla X(x)),$$

where

$$G: D \times \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathfrak{L}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^j) \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$$
$$(x, z, u, A) \longmapsto G(x, z, u, A),$$

is a continuous function of its variables on  $D \times \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathfrak{L}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^j)$  such that  $\forall (x, z, u, A) \in D \times \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathfrak{L}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^j)$ ,

$$|G(x, z, u, A)| \le P(f(x), ||z||_k, h(u), ||A||_{i,d}),$$

where P is a polynomial with positive coefficients and  $f: D \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^+$  and  $h: \mathbb{R}^j \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^+$  are continuous functions.

-  $A_1$ : The process  $X: \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j$   $(j \leq d)$  is Gaussian and belongs to  $C^1(D, \mathbb{R}^j)$ , such that  $\exists a \in \mathbb{R}, \ 0 < a$ , such that for almost all  $x \in D$ ,  $0 < a \leq \inf_{\|z\|_j = 1} \|\mathbb{V}(X(x)) \times z\|_j$ . Moreover, the first order partial derivatives of its covariance  $\Gamma_X$  are bounded almost surely on the diagonal contained in  $D \times D$ . Therefore, for almost all  $x \in D$ , the random field W(x) is independent of the vector  $(X(x), \nabla X(x))$ , and  $\forall p \in \mathbb{N}, \forall n \in \mathbb{N}, \forall \ell \in \mathbb{N} \text{ and } \forall m \in \mathbb{N}$ 

$$\int_D f^p(x) \mathbb{E}[\|W(x)\|_k^n] \, \mathbb{E}\Big[\|\nabla\! X(x)\|_{j,d}^\ell\Big] \, \mathbb{E}\Big[\|X(x)\|_j^m\Big] \, \, \mathrm{d}x < \infty.$$

-  $A_2$ : For all  $x \in D$ , X(x) = F(Z(x)), where  $F : \mathbb{R}^j \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^j$  is a bijection belonging to  $C^1(\mathbb{R}^j, \mathbb{R}^j)$ , such that  $\forall z \in \mathbb{R}^j$ , the Jacobian of F at z,  $J_F(z)$  satisfies  $J_F(z) \neq 0$  and the function  $F^{-1}$  is continuous. The process  $Z : \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j$   $(j \leq d)$  is Gaussian and belongs to  $C^1(D, \mathbb{R}^j)$  such that  $\exists a \in \mathbb{R}, a > 0$ , such that for almost all  $x \in D$ ,  $0 < a \leq \inf_{\|z\|_j = 1} \|V(Z(x)) \times z\|_j$ ; the first order partial derivatives of its covariance  $\Gamma_Z$  are bounded almost surely on the diagonal contained in  $D \times D$ . Moreover, for almost any  $x \in D$ , W(x) is independent of the

vector  $(Z(x), \nabla Z(x))$ , and  $\forall p \in \mathbb{N}, \forall n \in \mathbb{N}, \forall \ell \in \mathbb{N} \text{ and } \forall m \in \mathbb{N}$ 

$$\int_D f^p(x) \mathbb{E}[\|W(x)\|_k^n] \, \mathbb{E}\Big[\|\nabla\!Z(x)\|_{j,d}^\ell\Big] \, \mathbb{E}\Big[\|Z(x)\|_j^m\Big] \, \, \mathrm{d}x < \infty.$$

-  $A_3$ : For all  $x \in D$ , X(x) = F(Z(x)), where  $Z : \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^{j'}$ (j < j') is Gaussian and belongs to  $C^1(D, \mathbb{R}^{j'})$ , with mean  $m_Z(\cdot) = \mathbb{E}[Z(\cdot)]$  bounded on D, and such that there exist real numbers a and b,  $0 < a \le b$ , such that for almost all  $x \in D$ ,

$$0 < a \leqslant \inf_{\|z\|_j = 1} \left\| \mathbb{V}(Z(x)) \times z \right\|_j \leqslant \sup_{\|z\|_j = 1} \left\| \mathbb{V}(Z(x)) \times z \right\|_j \leqslant b;$$

the first order partial derivatives of its covariance  $\Gamma_Z$  are bounded almost surely on the diagonal contained in  $D \times D$ . Moreover, for almost all  $x \in D$ , W(x) is independent of the vector  $(Z(x), \nabla Z(x))$  and it is assumed that the latter has a density denoted by  $p_{Z(x), \nabla Z(x)}(\cdot, \cdot)$ . Finally,  $\forall p \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\forall \ell \in \mathbb{N}$ 

(40) 
$$\int_{D} f^{p}(x) \mathbb{E}[\|W(x)\|_{k}^{n}] \mathbb{E}\left[\|\nabla Z(x)\|_{j',d}^{\ell}\right] dx < \infty.$$

The function F must satisfy the hypothesis F which is

• (F)  $F: \mathbb{R}^{j'} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^{j}$  (j < j') is  $C^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{j'}, \mathbb{R}^{j})$ . In addition, defining  $A_{j'} := \{1, 2, \dots, j'\}$ , there exists  $\lambda := (\ell_{1}, \ell_{2}, \dots, \ell_{j}) \in A^{j}_{j'}, \ \ell_{1} < \ell_{2} < \dots < \ell_{j}$ , such that  $\forall z \in \mathbb{R}^{j'}$ ,

$$J_F^{(\lambda)}(z) := \det\left(\frac{\partial(F_1, \dots, F_j)}{\partial(z_{\ell_1}, z_{\ell_2}, \dots, z_{\ell_j})}(z)\right) \neq 0.$$

For simplicity, let us assume that  $\lambda = (1, 2, ..., j)$  and denote  $J_F(z)$  instead of  $J_F^{(\lambda)}(z)$ .

Furthermore,  $\forall v \in \mathbb{R}^{j'-j}$ , the function  $F_v$  defined by

$$F_v : \mathbb{R}^j \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^j$$
  
 $u \longmapsto F_v(u) := F(u, v),$ 

is an invertible function whose inverse  ${\cal F}_v^{-1}$  is assumed to be continuous at u.

Moreover,  $\forall \ell \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\forall \mu > 0$ , the function

(41) 
$$T_{\ell}: \mathbb{R}^{j} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^{+}$$

$$u \longmapsto T_{\ell}(u)$$

$$:= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j'-j}} \frac{1}{|J_{F}(F_{z}^{-1}(u), z)|} e^{-\mu \|z\|_{j'-j}^{2}} \left\| \nabla F(F_{z}^{-1}(u), z) \right\|_{j,j'}^{\ell} dz,$$

is continuous.

-  $A_4$ : For almost all  $(x, y, \dot{x}) \in D \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{dj}$  and  $\forall u \in \mathbb{R}^j$ , the density  $p_{Y(x),X(x),\nabla X(x)}(y,u,\dot{x})$  of the joint distribution of  $(Y(x),X(x),\nabla X(x))$  exists and is continuous at u.

Moreover

$$u \longmapsto \int_D \int_{\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{dj}} |y| \, \|\dot{x}\|_{dj}^j \, p_{Y(x),X(x),\nabla X(x)}(y,u,\dot{x}) \, \mathrm{d}\dot{x} \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}x,$$

is continuous.

**Remark 3.1.11.** — It is interesting to note that hypothesis  $A_1$  (resp.  $A_2$ , resp.  $A_3$ ) contains the case where the processes X and Y satisfy  $\forall x \in D, Y(x) = G(x, X(x), \nabla X(x))$  and also the case where Y(x) is independent of  $(X(x), \nabla X(x))$  (resp. Y(x) independent of  $(Z(x), \nabla Z(x))$ ).

- Note also that hypothesis  $A_4$  is satisfied for example in the case where,  $\forall u \in \mathbb{R}^j$ , there exists a neighborhood  $V_u$  of u and a function  $h_u$  such that

$$\int_{D} \int_{\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{dj}} |y| \, \|\dot{x}\|_{dj}^{j} \, h_{u}(x, y, \dot{x}) \, \mathrm{d}\dot{x} \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}x < \infty,$$

and such that  $\forall z \in V_u$  and for almost all  $(x, y, \dot{x}) \in D \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{dj}$ ,  $p_{Y(x),X(x),\nabla X(x)}(y,z,\dot{x}) \leq h_u(x,y,\dot{x})$ . In fact, these hypotheses are the required ones to apply Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem which allows us to obtain the continuity of the function

$$u \longmapsto \int_D \int_{\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{dj}} |y| \, \|\dot{x}\|_{dj}^j \, p_{Y(x),X(x),\nabla X(x)}(y,u,\dot{x}) \, \mathrm{d}\dot{x} \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

We are now able to exhibit a class of processes X and Y satisfying the hypotheses  $\mathbf{H}_1$ ,  $\mathbf{H}_3$  and  $\mathbf{H}_5$  through the following proposition.

**Proposition 3.1.12.** — If Y satisfies (39) and if X and Y satisfy one of the three assumptions  $A_1$ ,  $A_2$ ,  $A_3$  or if X and Y satisfy assumption  $A_4$ , then the hypotheses  $H_1$ ,  $H_3$  and  $H_5$  are verified.

Proof of Proposition 3.1.12.

1. Let us first assume that the processes X and Y satisfy assumption  $A_1$ . Let us show that the hypotheses  $H_1$  and  $H_5$  are satisfied. Since X is Gaussian and that for almost all  $x \in D$ ,

$$\inf_{\|z\|_{i}=1} \|\mathbb{V}(X(x)) \times z\|_{j} \geqslant a > 0,$$

\_

the distribution of the vector X(x) is not singular with density  $p_{X(x)}(\cdot)$ . Moreover,  $u \mapsto p_{X(x)}(u)$  is continuous and it is bounded above, i.e. there exists a real M such that for almost all  $x \in D$  and  $\forall u \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

$$(42) p_{X(x)}(u) \leqslant M.$$

The hypothesis  $H_1$  is verified.

Let us show that the hypothesis  $H_5$  is satisfied.

Since for almost all  $x \in D$ ,

$$Y(x) = G(x, W(x), X(x), \nabla X(x)),$$

using the assumptions on G and since for all  $A \in \mathfrak{L}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^j)$ ,  $H(A) \leq C \|A\|_{i,d}^j$ ,  $\forall u \in \mathbb{R}^j$  we have

$$\mathbb{E}[Y(x)H(\nabla X(x)) \mid X(x) = u] = \mathbb{E}[L(x, W(x), X(x), \nabla X(x)) \mid X(x) = u],$$

where L is a continuous function of all its variables belonging to  $D \times \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathfrak{L}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^j)$  and such that  $\forall (x, z, u, A) \in D \times \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathfrak{L}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^j)$ ,

$$(43) |L(x, z, u, A)| \leq Q(f(x), ||z||_k, h(u), ||A||_{i,d}),$$

where Q is a polynomial with positive coefficients and  $f: D \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^+$  and  $h: \mathbb{R}^j \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^+$  are continuous functions.

For almost all x fixed in D, let us consider the regression equations: for  $s \in D$ 

(44) 
$$X(s) = \alpha(s)X(x) + \xi(s),$$

$$\nabla X(s) = \sum_{i=1}^{j} \nabla \alpha_i(s)X_i(x) + \nabla \xi(s),$$

where  $(\xi(s), \nabla \xi(s))$  is a Gaussian vector independent of X(x). In particular,  $\alpha(x) = Id_j$ .

A covariance computation gives

$$\alpha(s) = \Gamma_X(s, x) \times \Gamma_X^{-1}(x, x),$$

where  $\Gamma_X$  is the covariance matrix of X.

Thus for all  $i, m = 1, \ldots, j$  and  $\ell = 1, \ldots, d$ ,

$$(\nabla \alpha_i(s))_{\ell,m} = \left(\frac{\partial \Gamma_X}{\partial s_\ell}(s,x) \times \Gamma_X^{-1}(x,x)\right)_{m,i}.$$

In particular for almost all  $x \in D$ , i, m = 1, ..., j and  $\ell = 1, ..., d$ ,

$$(\nabla \alpha_i(x))_{m,\ell} = \left(\frac{\partial \Gamma_X}{\partial s_\ell}(x,x) \times \Gamma_X^{-1}(x,x)\right)_{mi}.$$

Since for almost all  $x \in D$ ,  $\inf_{\|z\|_j=1} \|V(X(x)) \times z\|_j \geqslant a > 0$  and that the first order partial derivatives of the covariance  $\Gamma_X$  are almost surely bounded above on the diagonal contained in  $D \times D$ ,  $\exists M \in \mathbb{R}$  such that for all  $i = 1, \ldots, j$  and for almost all  $x \in D$  we have

For  $u \in \mathbb{R}^j$ , let

$$G_{X,L}(u) := \int_D \mathbb{E}\big[Y(x)H(\nabla X(x)) \,\big|\, X(x) = u\big]\, p_{X(x)}(u) \,\mathrm{d}x.$$

With the above notations, we obtain

$$G_{X,L}(u) = \int_D \mathbb{E}\left[L(x, W(x), X(x), \nabla X(x)) \mid X(x) = u\right] p_{X(x)}(u) dx.$$

Since for almost all  $x \in D$  the random variable W(x) is independent of the vector  $(X(x), \nabla X(x))$ , using (44), this yields that

$$G_{X,L}(u)$$

$$= \int_D \mathbb{E} \left[ L\left(x, W(x), u, \sum_{i=1}^j \nabla \alpha_i(x) (u_i - X_i(x)) + \nabla X(x) \right) \right] p_{X(x)}(u) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

We have therefore eliminated the conditioning appearing in the integrand. Now since for almost all  $x \in D$ , the function  $u \mapsto p_{X(x)}(u)$  is continuous and the function L is also continuous then for almost all  $x \in D$ , the function

$$u \mapsto L\left(x, W(x), u, \sum_{i=1}^{j} \nabla \alpha_i(x)(u_i - X_i(x)) + \nabla X(x)\right) p_{X(x)}(u),$$

is continuous.

Moreover, using the bounds (42), (43) and (45), we get that for almost all  $x \in D$ .

$$\left| L\left(x, W(x), u, \sum_{i=1}^{j} \nabla \alpha_i(x) (u_i - X_i(x)) + \nabla X(x)\right) \right| p_{X(x)}(u)$$

$$\leqslant S\left(f(x), \|W(x)\|_k, \ell(u), \|X(x)\|_j, \|\nabla X(x)\|_{j,d}\right),$$

where S is also a polynomial with positive coefficients and  $\ell : \mathbb{R}^j \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^+$  is a continuous function.

It is clear that for almost all  $x \in D$ , the function

$$u \mapsto S\Big(f(x), \|W(x)\|_k, \ell(u), \|X(x)\|_j, \|\nabla X(x)\|_{j,d}\Big),$$

is continuous. Furthermore, we know that for  $\forall p \in \mathbb{N}, \ \forall n \in \mathbb{N}, \ \forall \ell \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\forall m \in \mathbb{N},$ 

$$\int_D f^p(x) \mathbb{E}(\|W(x)\|_k^n) \, \mathbb{E}\Big(\|\nabla\! X(x)\|_{j,d}^\ell\Big) \, \mathbb{E}\Big(\|X(x)\|_j^m\Big) \, \, \mathrm{d} x < \infty.$$

Thus, and since the function  $u \mapsto \ell(u)$  is continuous we obtain that the function

$$u \mapsto \int_D \mathbb{E}\left[S\left(f(x), \|W(x)\|_k, \ell(u), \|X(x)\|_j, \|\nabla X(x)\|_{j,d}\right)\right] \, \mathrm{d}x,$$

is continuous

A weak application of Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem allows to conclude that the hypothesis  $H_5$  is true.

A similar proof can be made to show that the hypothesis  $\mathbf{H}_3$  is also satisfied. This completes the first part of the proof.

2. Suppose now that the processes X and Y satisfy assumption  $A_2$ . Let us prove that hypothesis  $H_1$  is satisfied.

In the same way as in part 1 of the proof, since Z is Gaussian and given that for almost all  $x \in D$ ,

$$\inf_{\|z\|_j=1} \|\mathbb{V}(Z(x)) \times z\|_j \geqslant a > 0,$$

the distribution of the vector Z(x) is non singular with density  $p_{Z(x)}(\cdot)$ .

The assumptions on the function F imply that for almost all  $x \in D$  the vector X(x) has a density  $p_{X(x)}(\cdot)$  given by  $\forall u \in \mathbb{R}^j$ :

$$p_{X(x)}(u) = \frac{1}{|J_F(F^{-1}(u))|} p_{Z(x)}(F^{-1}(u)).$$

Let us show that the hypotheses  $H_3$  and  $H_5$  are satisfied.

Using the same notations of part 1, for almost all  $x \in D$  and  $\forall u \in \mathbb{R}^j$  we have

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}\left[L(x,W(x),X(x),\nabla X(x))\,\big|\,X(x) &= u\right]p_{X(x)}(u) \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[L(x,W(x),F(Z(x)),\nabla F(Z(x))\times \nabla Z(x))\,\big|\,Z(x) = F^{-1}(u)\right] \\ &\qquad \times p_{Z(x)}(F^{-1}(u))\times \frac{1}{|J_F(F^{-1}(u))|} \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[\widetilde{L}(x,W(x),Z(x),\nabla Z(x))\,\big|\,Z(x) = F^{-1}(u)\right] \\ &\qquad \times p_{Z(x)}(F^{-1}(u))\times \frac{1}{|J_F(F^{-1}(u))|}, \end{split}$$

where the function  $\widetilde{L}$ ,  $\forall (x, z, u, A) \in D \times \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathfrak{L}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^j)$  is defined by

$$\widetilde{L}(x, z, u, A) := L(x, z, F(u), \nabla F(F^{-1}(u)) \times A).$$

It is clear, since F belongs to  $C^1(\mathbb{R}^j, \mathbb{R}^j)$  and  $F^{-1}$  is continuous, that  $\widetilde{L}$  has the properties of L, i.e.  $\widetilde{L}$  is a continuous function of its variables in  $D \times \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathfrak{L}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^j)$  and that

$$\left|\widetilde{L}(x,z,u,A)\right|\leqslant \widetilde{Q}(f(x),\left\|z\right\|_{k},\widetilde{h}(u),\left\|A\right\|_{j,d}),$$

where  $\widetilde{Q}$  is a polynomial with positive coefficients and  $\widetilde{h}: \mathbb{R}^j \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^+$  is a continuous function.

We have shown using the notations of 1) that  $\forall u \in \mathbb{R}^j$ 

$$G_{X,L}(u) = G_{Z,\widetilde{L}}(F^{-1}(u)) \times \frac{1}{|J_F(F^{-1}(u))|}.$$

This leads us to the case considered in 1) where the process X is replaced by the process Z. The continuity of the function  $u \mapsto G_{X,L}(u)$  is a consequence of the continuity of  $G_{Z,\tilde{L}}$  and the fact that the function  $F^{-1}$  is continuous and that F is  $C^1(\mathbb{R}^j,\mathbb{R}^j)$ . This ends the second part of the proof.

3. Suppose that the processes X and Y satisfy the assumption  $A_3$ . We need to prove that hypotheses  $H_1$ ,  $H_3$  and  $H_5$  are satisfied.

Let us first prove that for almost all  $x \in D$ , the distribution of the vector  $(X(x), \nabla X(x))$  has a density  $p_{X(x), \nabla X(x)}(\cdot, \cdot)$ , and let us compute this density.

Consider the following notations.

The matrix  $s_{v,u} = (s_{ik})_{\substack{1 \leq i \leq v \\ 1 \leq k \leq u}} \in \mathfrak{L}(\mathbb{R}^u, \mathbb{R}^v)$ , defined by its generic element  $s_{ik}$ , will be identified with the matrix  $s_{v,u}$  with row vector  $s_{(v,u)} \in \mathbb{R}^{vu}$ , defined by

$$s_{(v,u)} := (s_{11}, s_{21}, \dots, s_{v1}, s_{12}, s_{22}, \dots, s_{v2}, \dots, s_{1u}, s_{2u}, \dots, s_{vu}).$$

Using this notation, we can introduce the following function

$$K: \mathbb{R}^{j} \times \mathbb{R}^{j'-j} \times \mathbb{R}^{jd} \times \mathbb{R}^{(j'-j)d} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^{j} \times \mathbb{R}^{j'-j} \times \mathbb{R}^{jd} \times \mathbb{R}^{(j'-j)d}$$

$$\left(t = t_{(j',1)} = \begin{pmatrix} t_{j,1} \\ t_{j'-j,1} \end{pmatrix}, s = s_{(j',d)} = \begin{pmatrix} s_{j,d} \\ s_{j'-j,d} \end{pmatrix}\right)$$

$$\longmapsto K(t,s) := \left((F(t))_{(j,1)}, t_{(j'-j,1)}, (\nabla F(t) \times s)_{(j,d)}, s_{(j'-j,d)}\right).$$

The Jacobian matrix  $J_K$  of this transformation satisfies:  $\forall (t,s) \in \mathbb{R}^{j'} \times \mathbb{R}^{j'd}$ :

$$J_K(t,s) = (J_F(t))^{d+1} \neq 0,$$

by hypothesis.

Furthermore, since F is  $C^2(\mathbb{R}^{j'}, \mathbb{R}^j)$  then K is  $C^1(\mathbb{R}^{j'} \times \mathbb{R}^{j'd}, \mathbb{R}^{j'} \times \mathbb{R}^{j'd})$ . Moreover, K is one-to-one and has an inverse  $K^{-1}$  given by

$$K^{-1}: \mathbb{R}^{j} \times \mathbb{R}^{j'-j} \times \mathbb{R}^{jd} \times \mathbb{R}^{(j'-j)d} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^{j} \times \mathbb{R}^{j'-j} \times \mathbb{R}^{jd} \times \mathbb{R}^{(j'-j)d}$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} t = \begin{pmatrix} t_{j,1} \\ t_{j'-j,1} \end{pmatrix}, s = \begin{pmatrix} s_{j,d} \\ s_{j'-j,d} \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix} 
\longmapsto \left( F_{t_{j'-j,1}}^{-1}(t_{j,1}), t_{j'-j,1}, \left[ \nabla F(F_{t_{j'-j,1}}^{-1}(t_{j,1}), t_{j'-j,1}) \right]_{jj}^{-1} \right. 
\times \left. \left( s_{j,d} - \left[ \nabla F(F_{t_{j'-j,1}}^{-1}(t_{j,1}), t_{j'-j,1}) \right]_{jj'-j} \times s_{j'-j,d} \right), s_{j'-j,d} \right),$$

where for  $A \in \mathfrak{L}(\mathbb{R}^{j'}, \mathbb{R}^{j})$ , we denote, by  $[A]_{jj}$  the matrix A for which we keep only the j first columns and by  $[A]_{jj'-j}$  the matrix A for which we retain the (j'-j) last columns.

Since  $\forall x \in D$ 

$$X(x) = F(Z(x))$$
 and  $\nabla X(x) = \nabla F(Z(x)) \times \nabla Z(x)$ ,

we have

$$K(Z(x), \nabla Z(x)) = (X(x), (Z(x))_{i'-i,1}, \nabla X(x), (\nabla Z(x))_{i'-i,d}).$$

We deduce that if for almost all  $x \in D$ ,

$$p_{X(x),(Z(x))_{j'-j,1},\nabla X(x),(\nabla Z(x))_{j'-j,d}}(\cdot,\cdot,\cdot,\cdot)$$

denotes the density of the vector

$$(X(x), (Z(x))_{j'-j,1}, \nabla X(x), (\nabla Z(x))_{j'-j,d}),$$

and  $p_{Z(x),\nabla Z(x)}(\cdot, \cdot)$  that of  $(Z(x), \nabla Z(x))$  then

$$\forall (u, z_{j'-j,1}, s_{j,d}, s_{j'-j,d}) \in \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathbb{R}^{j'-j} \times \mathbb{R}^{jd} \times \mathbb{R}^{(j'-j)d},$$

we have

$$\begin{split} p_{X(x),(Z(x))_{j'-j,1},\nabla X(x),(\nabla Z(x))_{j'-j,d}}(u,z_{j'-j,1},s_{j,d},s_{j'-j,d}) \\ &= p_{Z(x),\nabla Z(x)}(K^{-1}(u,z_{j'-j,1},s_{j,d},s_{j'-j,d})) \times \frac{1}{\left|J_F(F_{z_{j'-j,1}}^{-1}(u),z_{j'-j,1})\right|^{d+1}}. \end{split}$$

Finally, we get the density of the vector  $(X(x), \nabla X(x))$  by integrating this last expression. Hence for almost all  $x \in D$  and  $\forall (u, s_{j,d}) \in \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathbb{R}^{jd}$  we have

$$(46) \quad p_{X(x),\nabla X(x)}(u,s_{j,d}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j'-j} \times \mathbb{R}^{(j'-j)d}} \frac{1}{\left|J_F(F_z^{-1}(u),z)\right|^{d+1}}$$

$$\times p_{Z(x),\nabla Z(x)} \left( (F_z^{-1}(u),z), \left( \left[\nabla F(F_z^{-1}(u),z)\right]_{jj}^{-1} \right.$$

$$\times \left( s_{j,d} - \left[\nabla F(F_z^{-1}(u),z)\right]_{jj'-j} s_{j'-j,d} \right), s_{j'-j,d} \right) ds_{j'-j,d} dz.$$

Remark 3.1.13. — It is important to note that the results presented above could be obtained using the coarea formula. We referred the reader to Corollary 4.18 of [60, p. 68]. However, we preferred explicit computations in order to obtain the exact expression of this density and also to introduce some useful notations in what follows.

Now, for  $u \in \mathbb{R}^j$ , we define as in the part 1

$$G_{X,L}(u) := \int_D \mathbb{E}[Y(x)H(\nabla X(x)) \mid X(x) = u] p_{X(x)}(u) \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$= \int_D \mathbb{E}[L(x, W(x), X(x), \nabla X(x)) \mid X(x) = u] p_{X(x)}(u) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Since for almost all  $x \in D$ , W(x) is independent of  $(X(x), \nabla X(x))$ , we get  $\forall u \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

$$G_{X,L}(u) = \int_{D \times \mathbb{R}^{jd}} \mathbb{E}[L(x, W(x), u, s_{j,d})] p_{X(x), \nabla X(x)}(u, s_{j,d}) \, ds_{j,d} \, dx$$

$$= \int_{D} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j'-j} \times \mathbb{R}^{(j'-j)d} \times \mathbb{R}^{jd}} \frac{1}{\left| J_{F}(F_{z}^{-1}(u), z) \right|^{d+1}} \times \mathbb{E}[L(x, W(x), u, s_{j,d})]$$

$$\times p_{Z(x), \nabla Z(x)} \left( \left( F_{z}^{-1}(u), z \right), \left( \left[ \nabla F(F_{z}^{-1}(u), z) \right]_{jj}^{-1} \right.$$

$$\times \left( s_{j,d} - \left[ \nabla F(F_{z}^{-1}(u), z) \right]_{jj'-j} s_{j'-j,d} \right), s_{j'-j,d} \right) ds_{j,d} \, ds_{j'-j,d} \, dz \, dx.$$

In the last integral where the integration domain is  $\mathbb{R}^{jd}$ , holding fixed  $(s_{j'-j,d}, z, x) \in \mathbb{R}^{(j'-j)d} \times \mathbb{R}^{j'-j} \times D$ , let us make the following change of variable

$$v_{j,d} := \left[ \nabla F(F_z^{-1}(u), z) \right]_{ij}^{-1} \times \left( s_{j,d} - \left[ \nabla F(F_z^{-1}(u), z) \right]_{ij'-j} \times s_{j'-j,d} \right).$$

We get

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{jd}} \mathbb{E}[L(x,W(x),u,s_{j,d})] p_{Z(x),\nabla Z(x)}((F_z^{-1}(u),z),([\nabla F(F_z^{-1}(u),z)]_{jj}^{-1} \\ & (s_{j,d} - \left[\nabla F(F_z^{-1}(u),z)\right]_{jj'-j} s_{j'-j,d}), s_{j'-j,d})) \, \mathrm{d}s_{j,d} \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{jd}} \mathbb{E}[L(x,W(x),u,[\nabla F(F_z^{-1}(u),z)]_{jj} \times v_{j,d} \\ & + [\nabla F(F_z^{-1}(u),z)]_{jj'-j} \times s_{j'-j,d})] \\ & \times p_{Z(x),\nabla Z(x)}((F_z^{-1}(u),z),(v_{j,d},s_{j'-j,d})) \times \left|J_F(F_z^{-1}(u),z)\right|^d \, \mathrm{d}v_{j,d} \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{jd}} \mathbb{E}\left[L\left(x,W(x),u,\nabla F(F_z^{-1}(u),z)\left(v_{j,d},s_{j'-j,d}\right)\right)\right] \\ & \times p_{Z(x),\nabla Z(x)}\big((F_z^{-1}(u),z),(v_{j,d},s_{j'-j,d})\big) \times \left|J_F(F_z^{-1}(u),z)\right|^d \, \mathrm{d}v_{j,d}. \end{split}$$

Finally,  $\forall u \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

$$G_{X,L}(u) = \int_{D} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j'-j}} \frac{1}{\left|J_{F}(F_{z}^{-1}(u), z)\right|} \times \int_{\mathbb{R}^{(j'-j)d} \times \mathbb{R}^{jd}} \mathbb{E}\left[L\left(x, W(x), u, \nabla F(F_{z}^{-1}(u), z) \times \begin{pmatrix} v_{j,d} \\ s_{j'-j,d} \end{pmatrix}\right)\right] \times p_{Z(x), \nabla Z(x)} \left((F_{z}^{-1}(u), z), \begin{pmatrix} v_{j,d} \\ s_{j'-j,d} \end{pmatrix}\right) dv_{j,d} ds_{j'-j,d} dz dx$$

$$= \int_{D} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j'-j}} \frac{1}{\left|J_{F}(F_{z}^{-1}(u), z)\right|} \times \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j'd}} \mathbb{E}\left[L\left(x, W(x), u, \nabla F(F_{z}^{-1}(u), z) \times s_{j',d}\right)\right] \times p_{Z(x), \nabla Z(x)} \left((F_{z}^{-1}(u), z), s_{j',d}\right) ds_{j',d} dz dx.$$

$$(47)$$

A slight modification of the beginning of the proof or the use of the coarea formula given in [60, Corollary 4.18, p. 68], shows that for almost all  $x \in D$  the vector X(x) has a density  $p_{X(x)}(\cdot)$ , for all  $u \in \mathbb{R}^j$ , given by:

$$p_{X(x)}(u) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j'-j}} \frac{1}{|J_F(F_z^{-1}(u), z)|} \times p_{Z(x)}(F_z^{-1}(u), z) \, \mathrm{d}z.$$

This implies the hypothesis  $H_1$ . Moreover, this density is a continuous function of the variable u.

Indeed, using the assumptions on Z,  $\exists \lambda > 0$  such that for almost all

 $x \in D$  and for all  $(z, u) \in \mathbb{R}^{j'-j} \times \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

$$p_{Z(x)}(F_z^{-1}(u), z) \leqslant C e^{-2\lambda \|(F_z^{-1}(u), z) - m_Z(x)\|_{j'}^2}$$

$$\leqslant C e^{-\lambda \|(F_z^{-1}(u), z)\|_{j'}^2}$$

$$\leqslant C e^{-\lambda \|z\|_{j'-j}^2},$$

$$(48)$$

since the function  $m_Z(\cdot)$  is bounded on D.

Moreover, using the assumptions satisfied by the function F and the process Z, for almost all  $z \in \mathbb{R}^{j'-j}$  and  $x \in D$ , the functions

$$u \mapsto \frac{1}{\left|J_F(F_z^{-1}(u),z)\right|} \times p_{Z(x)}(F_z^{-1}(u),z),$$

and

$$u \mapsto \frac{1}{|J_F(F_z^{-1}(u), z)|} e^{-\lambda ||z||_{j'-j}^2}$$

are continuous.

Using that the function  $u \mapsto T_{\ell}(u)$  is continuous for  $\ell = 0$  (see (41) in the hypothesis  $A_3$ ), Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem allows to state that for almost all  $x \in D$ , the function  $u \mapsto p_{X(x)}(u)$  is continuous. Let us now return to the definition of  $G_{X,L}(u)$  given by (47). Since for almost all  $x \in D$ , W(x) is independent of  $(Z(x), \nabla Z(x)), G_{X,L}(u)$  can be written as follows

$$\begin{split} G_{X,L}(u) &= \int_{D} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j'-j}} \frac{1}{\left| J_{F}(F_{z}^{-1}(u),z) \right|} \times p_{Z(x)}(F_{z}^{-1}(u),z) \\ &\times \mathbb{E} \left[ L(x,W(x),u,\nabla F(F_{z}^{-1}(u),z) \times \nabla Z(x)) \, \big| \, Z\left(x\right) = (F_{z}^{-1}(u),z) \right] \, \mathrm{d}z \, \mathrm{d}x. \end{split}$$

In the same way as in the part 1 of this proof, for any  $s \in D$  we regress Z(s) on Z(x) for almost all  $x \in D$  so

$$Z(s) = \alpha(s)Z(x) + \xi(s),$$
 
$$\nabla Z(s) = \sum_{i=1}^{j'} \nabla \alpha_i(s)Z_i(x) + \nabla \xi(s),$$

where  $(\xi(s), \nabla \xi(s))$  is a Gaussian vector independent of Z(x).

Using the assumptions on the process Z, we obtain as in the part 1 of this proof the following inequality:  $\exists M \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $\forall i \in \{1, ..., j'\}$  and for almost all  $x \in D$  we have

(49) 
$$\|\nabla \alpha_i(x)\|_{j',d} \leqslant M.$$

Moreover, for almost all  $x \in D$  and since W(x) is independent of  $(Z(x), \nabla Z(x))$ , we get

$$G_{X,L}(u) = \int_D \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j'-j}} \frac{1}{\left|J_F(F_z^{-1}(u), z)\right|} \times p_{Z(x)}\left(F_z^{-1}(u), z\right)$$

$$\times \mathbb{E}\left[L\left(x, W(x), u, \nabla F(F_z^{-1}(u), z)\right)\right]$$

$$\times \left\{\sum_{i=1}^{j'} \nabla \alpha_i(x) \left[\left((F_z^{-1}(u), z))_i - Z_i(x)\right] + \nabla Z(x)\right\}\right)\right] dz dx.$$

As in part 1, we have thus eliminated the conditioning appearing in the integrand and

$$G_{X,L}(u) = \int_{D} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j'-j}} \int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{\left|J_{F}(F_{z}^{-1}(u), z)\right|} \times p_{Z(x)}(F_{z}^{-1}(u), z)$$

$$\times L\left(x, W(x)(\omega), u, \nabla F(F_{z}^{-1}(u), z)\right)$$

$$\times \left\{\sum_{i=1}^{j'} \nabla \alpha_{i}(x) \left[\left((F_{z}^{-1}(u), z)\right)_{i} - Z_{i}(x)(\omega)\right] + \nabla Z(x)(\omega)\right\}\right) d\mathbb{P}(\omega) dz dx$$

$$= \int_{D} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j'-j}} \int_{\Omega} f(u, \omega, z, x) d\mathbb{P}(\omega) dz dx.$$

By the hypotheses satisfied by Z and F and since L is a continuous function, we obtain for almost all  $(\omega, z, x) \in \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{j'-j} \times D$ , that the function  $u \mapsto f(u, \omega, z, x)$  is continuous. Now let's bound the expression  $f(u, \omega, z, x)$ .

By using the bounds (43), (48) and (49) we get that for almost all  $(\omega, z, x) \in \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{j'-j} \times D$ ,

$$|f(u,\omega,z,x)| \leq \frac{C}{|J_F(F_z^{-1}(u),z)|} e^{-\lambda \|(F_z^{-1}(u),z)\|_{j'}^2}$$

$$\times R\Big(f(x), \|W(x)(\omega)\|_k, h(u), \|\nabla F(F_z^{-1}(u),z)\|_{j,j'},$$

$$\|(F_z^{-1}(u),z)\|_{j'}, \|\nabla Z(x)(\omega)\|_{j',d}, \|Z(x)(\omega)\|_{j'}\Big),$$

where R is a polynomial with positive coefficients and  $h: \mathbb{R}^j \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^+$  is a continuous function.

Using the fact that  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}, \exists M_n > 0 \text{ such that } \forall y \in \mathbb{R}^{j'},$ 

$$e^{-\lambda/2||y||_{j'}^2} \times ||y||_{j'}^n \leqslant M_n,$$

we get that for almost all  $(\omega, z, x) \in \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{j'-j} \times D$ ,

$$|f(u,\omega,z,x)| \leqslant \frac{C}{|J_F(F_z^{-1}(u),z)|} e^{-\mu ||z||_{j'-j}^2} \times S\Big(f(x), ||W(x)(\omega)||_k, h(u), ||\nabla F(F_z^{-1}(u),z)||_{j,j'}, ||\nabla Z(x)(\omega)||_{j',d}, ||Z(x)(\omega)||_{j'}\Big) := g(u,\omega,z,x),$$

where S is again a polynomial with positive coefficients and  $\mu = \lambda/2 > 0$ . It is clear that g is a continuous function of the variable u for almost all  $(\omega, z, x) \in \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{j'-j} \times D$ .

On the one hand, using the hypotheses on Z and the hypothesis (40) we have that  $\forall p \in \mathbb{N}, \forall n \in \mathbb{N}, \forall \ell \in \mathbb{N} \text{ and } \forall m \in \mathbb{N},$ 

$$\int_{D} f^{p}(x) \mathbb{E}[\|W(x)\|_{k}^{n}] \mathbb{E}\left[\|\nabla Z(x)\|_{j',d}^{\ell}\right] \mathbb{E}\left[\|Z(x)\|_{j'}^{m}\right] dx$$

$$\leq C \int_{D} f^{p}(x) \mathbb{E}[\|W(x)\|_{k}^{n}] \mathbb{E}\left[\|\nabla Z(x)\|_{j',d}^{\ell}\right] dx < \infty.$$

In addition, it should be noted that

$$\begin{split} \int_D \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j'-j}} \int_\Omega g(u,\omega,z,x) \, \mathrm{d}\mathbb{P}(\omega) \, \mathrm{d}z \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j'-j}} \frac{C}{\left|J_F(F_z^{-1}(u),z)\right|} e^{-\mu \|z\|_{j'-j}^2} \\ &\quad \times \int_D \mathbb{E}\Big[S\Big(f(x),\|W(x)\|_k\,,h(u),\left\|\nabla F(F_z^{-1}(u),z)\right\|_{j,j'}\,, \\ &\quad \|\nabla Z(x)\|_{j',d}\,,\,\|Z(x)\|_{j'}\Big)\Big] \, \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}z. \end{split}$$

On the other hand, since for all  $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$  the functions h and  $T_{\ell}$  are continuous at u, the same is true for

$$u \mapsto \int_{D} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j'-j}} \int_{\Omega} g(u, \omega, z, x) d\mathbb{P}(\omega) dz dx.$$

By applying a weak version of Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem, we deduce that the hypothesis  $H_5$  is true.

A similar proof can be done to verify the hypothesis  $\mathbf{H}_3$ . This completes the third part of the proof.

4. Now suppose that the processes X and Y satisfy the assumption  $A_4$ . Let us show that the hypothesis  $H_5$  holds true, since the hypothesis  $H_1$  is clearly satisfied.

For  $u \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

$$\int_{D} \mathbb{E}[Y(x)H(\nabla X(x)) \mid X(x) = u] p_{X(x)}(u) \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$= \int_{D} \int_{\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{dj}} y H(\dot{x}) p_{Y(x),X(x),\nabla X(x)}(y,u,\dot{x}) \, \mathrm{d}\dot{x} \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Using the hypotheses on the density  $p_{Y(x),X(x),\nabla X(x)}(y,u,\dot{x})$ , we obtain that the function appearing into the integral is a continuous function of u for almost all  $(x,y,\dot{x}) \in D \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{dj}$ .

Moreover, since for any  $A \in \mathfrak{L}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^j)$ ,  $H(A) \leqslant C \|A\|_{j,d}^j$ , we easily obtain the following bound:  $\forall u \in \mathbb{R}^j$  and for almost all  $(x, y, \dot{x}) \in D \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{dj}$ ,

$$|y| H(\dot{x}) p_{Y(x), X(x), \nabla X(x)}(y, u, \dot{x})$$

$$\leqslant C |y| ||\dot{x}||_{d, j}^{j} p_{Y(x), X(x), \nabla X(x)}(y, u, \dot{x}) := g(x, y, u, \dot{x}).$$

It is easy to see that for almost all  $(x, y, \dot{x}) \in D \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{dj}$ , the function  $u \longmapsto g(x, y, u, \dot{x})$  remains continuous. Furthermore, we made the hypothesis that the function

$$u \longmapsto \int_D \int_{\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{dj}} g(x, y, u, \dot{x}) \, d\dot{x} \, dy \, dx$$

is continuous. These facts and a weak version of Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem allow to verify hypothesis  $\mathbf{H}_5$ . The same is true for the hypothesis  $\mathbf{H}_3$ .

This ends the proof of Proposition 3.1.12.

## 3.2. Rice's formula for all level

We have previously given conditions for certain classes of processes X and Y satisfying the hypotheses  $(\mathbf{H}_2, \mathbf{H}_4)$ , or  $(\mathbf{H}_1, \mathbf{H}_3, \mathbf{H}_5)$ .

We will now provide a class of processes satisfying the hypotheses  $\mathbf{H}_i$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, 5$  simultaneously and prove Proposition 3.2.3 and Theorem 3.2.5 giving conditions on X and Y allowing the validity of the Rice formula for all level. We should recall that Proposition 3.2.3 was proved in 1985 by Cabaña [21]. Our proof is deeply inspired by this work. The hypothesis  $\mathbf{H}_2$  and  $\mathbf{H}_4$  are difficult to

verify. We will use the tools already developed to prove the required continuity. For this purpose, i.e. in order to exhibit a class of processes verifying hypotheses  $H_2$  and  $H_4$ , we resort to the only tool we have provided before, namely the use of Proposition 3.1.8. Our goal is then to construct a class of processes Y satisfying the hypothesis  $A_0$ , i.e. such that Y is a continuous process for which there exists  $\lambda \in B_j$  such that  $\sup(Y) \subset \Gamma(\lambda)$ ,  $\|(\nabla X(\cdot)|_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}})^{-1}\|_{d,j}$ ,  $Y(\cdot)$  and  $\|\nabla X(\cdot)\|_{j,d}$  being uniformly bounded on the support of Y.

These assumptions being very demanding, the idea is, given a process Y, satisfying assumptions  $\mathbf{A}_i$ ,  $i=1,\ldots,4$ , and thus by Proposition 3.1.12 verifying the hypotheses  $\mathbf{H}_1$ ,  $\mathbf{H}_3$  and  $\mathbf{H}_5$ , approximating the latter for fixed  $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , by a process  $Y^{(n)}$ , defined as  $Y^{(n)} := \sum_{\lambda \in B_j} Y^{(n)}_{\lambda}$ . The process  $Y^{(n)}_{\lambda}$  still verifies hypotheses  $\mathbf{H}_1$ ,  $\mathbf{H}_3$  and  $\mathbf{H}_5$  and above all assumption  $\mathbf{A}_0$ . In this form, by applying Theorem 3.1.1, for  $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$  fixed we will propose a Rice formula for processes X and  $Y^{(n)}$  and for any level  $y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ . Then, we will make n tend to infinity to obtain a Rice formula for X and Y.

For this purpose, let  $X: \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j$   $(j \leq d)$  be a random field in  $C^1(D, \mathbb{R}^j)$  where D is an open set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , and let  $Y: \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  a continuous processes. In the same way as in Section 3.1.1, we define for fixed  $\lambda \in B_j$  and  $x \in D_X^r$ ,  $Y_{\lambda}(x) := \eta_{\lambda}(x)Y(x)$ , where  $\eta_{\lambda}(t)$  has been defined in (37).

For  $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , let  $Y^{(n)}$  be

$$Y^{(n)}(x) := \sum_{\lambda \in B_i} Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}(x),$$

for  $x \in D$ , where  $Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}$  is

$$\begin{split} Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}(x) &:= Y_{\lambda}(x) f_n(x) \Psi(Y(x)/n) \Psi(\|\nabla X(x)\|_{j,d}/n) \\ &\quad \times \Psi\big(1/(n\phi_{\lambda}(x)) \mathbb{1}_{\{\phi_{\lambda}(x) > 0\}} + 2\mathbb{1}_{\{\phi_{\lambda}(x) = 0\}}\big) \, \mathbb{1}_{D_X^r}(x), \end{split}$$

where the function  $\phi_{\lambda}$  has been defined in (32), and  $\Psi$  is a continuous even function on  $\mathbb{R}$ , decreasing on  $\mathbb{R}^+$  such that

$$\Psi(t) := \begin{cases} 1, & 0 \leqslant t \leqslant 1 \\ 0, & 2 \leqslant t \end{cases}$$

and  $(f_n)_{n \in natural^*}$  is the sequence of functions defined from  $\mathbb{R}^d$  to [0,1] as follows

$$f_n(x) := \frac{d(x, D^{2n})}{d(x, D^{2n}) + d(x, D^{(n)})},$$

where the closed sets  $D^{2n}$  and  $D^{(n)}$  are

$$D^{2n} := \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^d, d(x, D^c) \leqslant \frac{1}{2n} \right\} \text{ and } D^{(n)} := \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^d, d(x, D^c) \geqslant \frac{1}{n} \right\}.$$

We will see later in the proof of Lemma 3.2.1 that the functions  $(f_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}^*}$  are well defined, continuous and such that the support of  $f_{n|D}$  is contained in D for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ . In Lemma 3.2.2 we will prove that  $(f_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}^*}$  is a sequence of nondecreasing functions tending to one when n goes to infinity.

Let us explain a little more the choice of the terms composing the expression of  $Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}$ :

- $-Y_{\lambda}(x)f_{n}(x)\Psi(1/(n\phi_{\lambda}(x))\mathbb{1}_{\{\phi_{\lambda}(x)>0\}}+2\mathbb{1}_{\{\phi_{\lambda}(x)=0\}}) \text{ ensures that } Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}(x)$  will tend to  $Y_{\lambda}(x)$  when n tend to infinity for  $x\in D_{X}^{r}$ , as we will show by using the fact that  $f_{n}(x)$  tends to one when n tends to infinity. Then for  $x\in D_{X}^{r},\ Y^{(n)}(x)$  will tend to  $\sum_{\lambda\in B_{j}}Y_{\lambda}(x)=Y(x)$ . Furthermore, this implies since  $\forall n\in\mathbb{N}^{\star},\ \operatorname{supp}(f_{n|D})\subset D$ , that  $\operatorname{supp}(Y_{\lambda}^{(n)})\subset\Gamma(\lambda)$ .
- $-\Psi\left((1/n\phi_{\lambda}(x))\mathbb{1}_{\{\phi_{\lambda}(x)>0\}}+2\mathbb{1}_{\{\phi_{\lambda}(x)=0\}}\right) \text{ ensures that } \forall n \in \mathbb{N}^{\star},$   $\left\|(\nabla X(\cdot)|_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}})^{-1}\right\|_{d,i} \text{ is uniformly bounded on the support of } Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}.$
- $-\Psi(Y(x)/n)f_n(x)$  ensures that  $Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}$  is uniformly bounded on D since  $f_n(x) \leq 1$ .
- $-\Psi(\|\nabla X(x)\|_{j,d}/n) \text{ ensures that } \forall n \in \mathbb{N}^{\star}, \|\nabla X(\cdot)\|_{j,d} \text{ is uniformly bounded}$  on  $\operatorname{supp}(Y_{\lambda}^{(n)})$ .

We can now establish the following lemmas.

Lemma 3.2.1. — Let  $X: \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j$   $(j \leq d)$  be a random field belonging to  $C^1(D, \mathbb{R}^j)$ , where D is an open, convex and bounded set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , such that for almost all  $\omega \in \Omega$ ,  $\nabla X(\omega)$  is Lipschitz with Lipschitz constant  $L_X(\omega)$  satisfying  $\mathbb{E}\left[L_X^d(\cdot)\right] < \infty$ . Let  $Y: \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  be a continuous process. Then, on the one hand, for  $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , X and  $Y^{(n)}$  satisfy the hypotheses  $H_2$  and  $H_4$ . On the other hand, if Y satisfies (39) and if X and Y satisfy one of the three assumptions  $A_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3 or if X and Y satisfy the assumption  $A_4$ , then  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , X and  $Y^{(n)}$  satisfy the hypotheses  $H_1$ ,  $H_3$  and  $H_5$  and a fortior the hypotheses  $H_i$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, 5$ .

In this form we have provided a class of processes X and  $Y^{(n)}$  satisfying simultaneously the hypotheses  $\mathbf{H}_i$ ,  $i=1,\ldots,5$ . Then, by Theorem 3.1.1, we get that  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$  and  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ 

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} Y^{(n)}(x) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right]$$

$$= \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E} \left[ Y^{(n)}(x) H(\nabla X(x)) \, \middle| \, X(x) = y \right] \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

The idea consists to make n tends to infinity. More precisely we can show the following lemma.

**Lemma 3.2.2.** Let  $X: \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j$   $(j \leq d)$  be a random field belonging to  $C^1(D, \mathbb{R}^j)$ , where D is an open, convex and bounded set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , such that for almost all  $\omega \in \Omega$ ,  $\nabla X(\omega)$  is Lipschitz with Lipschitz constant  $L_X(\omega)$  satisfying  $\mathbb{E}\left[L_X^d(\cdot)\right] < \infty$ . Let  $Y: \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  be a continuous process. If Y satisfies (39) and if X and Y satisfy one of the three assumptions  $A_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3 or if X and Y satisfy the assumption  $A_4$ ,  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \mathbb{E}\left[ \int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} Y^{(n)}(x) \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x) \right] = \mathbb{E}\left[ \int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} Y(x) \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x) \right]$$

and

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E} \left[ Y^{(n)}(x) H(\nabla X(x)) \, \big| \, X(x) = y \right] \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$= \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E} \left[ Y(x) H(\nabla X(x)) \, \big| \, X(x) = y \right] \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Finally, we can establish the following proposition.

**Proposition 3.2.3.** — Let  $X : \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j$   $(j \leq d)$  be a random field belonging to  $C^1(D, \mathbb{R}^j)$ , where D is an open, convex and bounded set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , such that for almost all  $\omega \in \Omega$ ,  $\nabla X(\omega)$  is Lipschitz with Lipschitz constant  $L_X(\omega)$  such that  $\mathbb{E}\left[L_X^d(\cdot)\right] < \infty$ . Let  $Y : \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  be a continuous process. If Y satisfies (39) and if X and Y satisfy one of the three assumptions  $A_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3 or if X and Y satisfy the assumption  $A_4$ , then for all  $y \in \mathbb{R}^j$  we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} Y(x) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right] = \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[Y(x) H(\nabla X(x)) \, \middle| \, X(x) = y\right] \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

**Remark 3.2.4.** — In the same way as in Remark 3.1.10 we can generalize this proposition considering D an open and convex set not necessarily bounded.

Proof of the Lemma 3.2.1. Let  $X: \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j$  be a random field in  $C^1(D, \mathbb{R}^j)$  such that for almost all  $\omega \in \Omega$ ,  $\nabla X(\omega)$  is Lipschitz with Lipschitz constant  $L_X(\omega)$  such that  $\mathbb{E}\left[L_X^d(\cdot)\right] < \infty$  and let  $Y: \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  be a continuous process.

•

Let us show that  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , the processes X and  $Y^{(n)}$  satisfy the hypotheses  $H_2$  and  $H_4$ .

Consider for n fixed in  $\mathbb{N}^*$  and for  $\lambda$  fixed in  $B_j$  the process  $Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}$ . We will now prove that the processes X and  $Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}$  satisfy the assumption  $A_0$  (see page 41). Thus, we will deduce by using Proposition 3.1.8 that these processes satisfy the hypotheses  $H_2$  and  $H_4$ .

Let us verify that  $Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}$  is continuous on D, which is a non-trivial fact due to the presence of  $\mathbb{1}_{D_X^r}(x)$  in the definition of this function. Let us first notice that since the sets  $(D^{2n})_{n\in\mathbb{N}^*}$  and  $(D^{(n)})_{n\in\mathbb{N}^*}$  are closed, the functions  $(f_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}^*}$  are well defined and continuous on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and then on D. Consider now  $x\in (D_X^r)^{c_1}$  and a sequence  $(x_p)_{p\in\mathbb{N}^*}$  of points in D which converges to x as p tends to infinity. We have  $Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}(x)=0$ . Suppose that there exists a subsequence  $(x_p)_{k\in\mathbb{N}^*}$  of  $(x_p)_{p\in\mathbb{N}^*}$ , such that  $Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}(x_{p_k})\neq 0$ , for all  $k\in\mathbb{N}^*$ . In this case, necessarily  $\phi_{\lambda}(x_{p_k})\geqslant \frac{1}{2n}$  for all  $k\in\mathbb{N}^*$ , and since the function  $\phi_{\lambda}$  is continuous on D, it turns out that  $\phi_{\lambda}(x)\geqslant \frac{1}{2n}$ . Property (34) implies that  $x\in\Gamma(\lambda)\subset D_X^r$ , which leads to a contradiction. All the points, except perharps a finite number, of the sequence  $(x_p)_{p\in\mathbb{N}^*}$ , are such that  $Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}(x_p)=0$ . The sequence  $(Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}(x_p))_{p\in\mathbb{N}^*}$  then converges to zero. Moreover, using a reasoning similar to the previous one, we can prove that the function

$$x\mapsto \Psi(1/(n\phi_{\lambda}(x))\mathbb{1}_{\{\phi_{\lambda}(x)>0\}}+2\mathbb{1}_{\{\phi_{\lambda}(x)=0\}})$$

is continuous on D and then on  $D_X^r$ . The function  $Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}$  is continuous on  $D_X^r$ , which leads to the continuity of  $Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}$  on D.

Let us now prove that  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , the support of this function is contained in  $\Gamma(\lambda)$ , i.e.  $\operatorname{supp}(Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}) \subset \Gamma(\lambda)$ .

To prove this inclusion, we will first prove that we have  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ ,  $\operatorname{supp}(f_{n|D}) \subset D$ .

Indeed, since  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$  the set  $D^{2n}$  is closed, we have

$$supp(f_{n|D}) = \overline{\{x \in D, d(x, D^c) > 1/(2n)\}} \subset D.$$

The last inclusion is a consequence of the continuity of the distance function and the fact that D is an open set.

Therefore

$$\operatorname{supp}(Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}) \subset \overline{\{x \in D, \phi_{\lambda}(x) \geqslant 1/(2n)\}} \cap D \subset \{x \in D, \phi_{\lambda}(x) \geqslant 1/(2n)\}.$$

The last inclusion comes from the fact that function  $\phi_{\lambda}$  is continuous on D. Finally, from (34) we have  $\operatorname{supp}(Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}) \subset \Gamma(\lambda)$ .

Let us see that  $Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}$  is uniformly bounded on its support.

We only need to prove that  $Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}$  is uniformly bounded on D. Consider  $x \in D$  such that  $Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}(x) \neq 0$ . Then necessarily we have  $|Y(x)| \leq 2n$ . Since we have  $f_n(x) \leq 1$  and  $\eta_{\lambda} x) \mathbb{1}_{\{x \in D_X^r\}} \leq 1$ ,  $|Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}(x)| \leq |Y(x)|$ . It is therefore true that  $|Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}(x)| \leq 2n$  and we get the result.

Let us show that  $\|(\nabla X(\cdot)|_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}})^{-1}\|_{d,j}$  is uniformly bounded on the support of  $Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}$ . We have seen that  $\operatorname{supp}(Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}) \subset \{x \in D, \phi_{\lambda}(x) \geqslant \frac{1}{2n}\}$ . Then for  $x \in \operatorname{supp}(Y_{\lambda}^{(n)})$ , we have  $\|(\nabla X(x)|_{V_{\lambda}^{\perp}})^{-1}\|_{d,j} \leqslant 2n$ . Therefore, the result is true.

Let us finally show that  $\|\nabla X(\cdot)\|_{j,d}$  is uniformly bounded on the support of  $Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}$ . This follows from the following inclusion:

$$\operatorname{supp}(Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}) \subset \overline{\left\{x \in D, \|\nabla\!X(x)\|_{j,d} \leqslant 2n\right\}} \cap D \subset \left\{x \in D, \|\nabla\!X(x)\|_{j,d} \leqslant 2n\right\}.$$

The last inclusion comes from the fact that X is  $C^1(D, \mathbb{R}^j)$ .

Finally the processes X and  $Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}$  satisfy the assumption  $A_0$  and thus the hypotheses  $H_2$  and  $H_4$ .

Using that  $Y^{(n)} = \sum_{\lambda \in B_j} Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}$  and that  $|Y^{(n)}| = \sum_{\lambda \in B_j} |Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}|$ , it is clear that X and  $Y^{(n)}$  satisfy also the hypotheses  $\mathbf{H}_2$  and  $\mathbf{H}_4$ .

Now suppose that Y satisfies (39) and that X and Y satisfy one of the assumptions  $A_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3. Let us then prove that X and  $Y^{(n)}$  satisfy the hypotheses  $H_1$ ,  $H_3$  and  $H_5$ .

For almost all  $x \in D$ , we have

(50) 
$$Y(x) = G(x, W(x), X(x), \nabla X(x)),$$

where G is a continuous function on  $D \times \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathfrak{L}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^j)$  and such that  $\forall (x, z, u, A) \in D \times \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathfrak{L}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^j),$ 

$$|G(x, z, u, A)| \le P(f(x), ||z||_k, h(u), ||A||_{j,d}).$$

 $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^* \text{ and } x \in D$ 

$$Y^{(n)}(x) = \sum_{\lambda \in B_j} \eta_{\lambda}(x) Y(x) f_n(x) \Psi(Y(x)/n) \Psi(\|\nabla X(x)\|_{j,d}/n)$$

$$\times \Psi(1/(n\phi_{\lambda}(x)) \mathbb{1}_{\{\phi_{\lambda}(x) > 0\}} + 2\mathbb{1}_{\{\phi_{\lambda}(x) = 0\}}) \mathbb{1}_{D_{\mathbf{x}}^r}(x).$$

We deduce that  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$  and almost surely  $\forall x \in D$ ,

(51) 
$$Y^{(n)}(x) = M_n(x, Y(x), \nabla X(x)),$$

where  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ ,  $M_n$  is a continuous function defined on  $D \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathfrak{L}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^j)$ . The proof of this last statement can be done in a similar way to that used to prove the continuity of  $Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}$  on D. Moreover,  $\forall (x, y, A) \in D \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathfrak{L}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^j)$ ,

$$|M_n(x, y, A)| \leqslant C |y|$$
.

By (50), we have  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$  and for almost all  $x \in D$ ,

$$Y^{(n)}(x) = M_n(x, G(x, W(x), X(x), \nabla X(x)), \nabla X(x))$$
  
=  $G_n(x, W(x), X(x), \nabla X(x)),$ 

where  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$  and  $\forall (x, z, u, A) \in D \times \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathfrak{L}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^j)$ ,

$$G_n(x, z, u, A) = M_n(x, G(x, z, u, A), A).$$

It is clear that  $G_n$  inherits the properties of G and  $M_n$ ; that is  $G_n$  is a continuous function on  $D \times \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathfrak{L}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^j)$  and is such that

$$\forall (x, z, u, A) \in D \times \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathfrak{L}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^j),$$

$$|G_n(x, z, u, A)| \leq C |G(x, z, u, A)| \leq C P(f(x), ||z||_k, h(u), ||A||_{j,d})$$
  
:=  $Q(f(x), ||z||_k, h(u), ||A||_{j,d}),$ 

where Q and P are polynomials with positive coefficients and the functions

$$f: D \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^+ \text{ and } h: \mathbb{R}^j \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^+$$

are continuous.

Finally  $Y^{(n)}$  satisfies (39) and X and  $Y^{(n)}$  satisfy one of the three assumptions  $A_1$ ,  $A_2$  or  $A_3$ . Using Proposition 3.1.12, we proved that the hypotheses  $H_1$ ,  $H_3$  and  $H_5$  hold for X and  $Y^{(n)}$ . Using the first part of this lemma we can conclude that the hypotheses  $H_i$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, 5$ , are satisfied by X and  $Y^{(n)}$ . Now suppose that X and Y satisfy the assumption  $A_4$ . Let us prove that  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , X and  $Y^{(n)}$  satisfy  $H_1$ ,  $H_3$  and  $H_5$ .

Since for almost all  $(x, y, \dot{x}) \in D \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{dj}$  and  $\forall u \in \mathbb{R}^j$ , the density  $p_{Y(x),X(x),\nabla X(x)}(y,u,\dot{x})$  of the joint distribution

$$(Y(x), X(x), \nabla X(x))$$

exists (and is a continuous function of u) then for almost all  $x \in D$  and  $\forall u \in \mathbb{R}^j$ , the density  $p_{X(x)}(u)$  of X(x) exists and  $\mathbf{H}_1$  is true. Now using (51), we have  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$  and  $\forall u \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

$$L_n(u) := \int_D \mathbb{E}[Y^{(n)}(x)H(\nabla X(x)) \mid X(x) = u] p_{X(x)}(u) dx$$
$$= \int_D \mathbb{E}[M_n(x, Y(x), \nabla X(x))H(\nabla X(x)) \mid X(x) = u] p_{X(x)}(u) dx$$

$$= \int_{D} \mathbb{E}[L_n(x, Y(x), \nabla X(x)) \mid X(x) = u] p_{X(x)}(u) \, \mathrm{d}x,$$

where  $L_n$  is a continuous function on  $D \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{dj}$  and since for all  $A \in \mathfrak{L}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^j)$ ,  $H(A) \leqslant C \|A\|_{j,d}^j$ , we have  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$  et  $\forall (x, y, A) \in D \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathfrak{L}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^j)$ ,

$$|L_n(x,y,A)| \leqslant C |y| ||A||_{j,d}^j$$
.

Finally,  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$  and  $\forall u \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

$$L_n(u) = \int_D \int_{\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{dj}} L_n(x, y, \dot{x}) p_{Y(x), X(x), \nabla X(x)}(y, u, \dot{x}) \, d\dot{x} \, dy \, dx.$$

In the same way as in the proof of Proposition 3.1.12, (item 4, page 58), a weak version of Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem implies that  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , the function  $u \longmapsto L_n(u)$  is continuous. Then the hypothesis  $\mathbf{H}_5$  is true. We can also obtain in the same way the hypothesis  $\mathbf{H}_3$ . This completes the proof of this lemma.

Proof Lemma 3.2.2. Let us first prove that  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

(52) 
$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \mathbb{E} \left[ \int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} Y^{(n)}(x) \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x) \right] = \mathbb{E} \left[ \int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} Y(x) \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x) \right].$$

Recall that  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$  and  $\forall x \in D$  we have

$$Y^{(n)}(x) = \sum_{\lambda \in B_j} \eta_{\lambda}(x) Y(x) f_n(x) \Psi(Y(x)/n) \Psi(\|\nabla X(x)\|_{j,d}/n)$$

$$\times \Psi(1/(n\phi_{\lambda}(x))\mathbb{1}_{\{\phi_{\lambda}(x)>0\}} + 2\mathbb{1}_{\{\phi_{\lambda}(x)=0\}})\mathbb{1}_{D_{X}^{r}}(x).$$

Notice that  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$  and  $\forall x \in D$ ,

$$\bullet \lim_{n \to +\infty} Y^{(n)}(x) \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)}(x) = Y(x) \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)}(x)$$

$$\bullet \ \left| Y^{(n)}(x) \right| \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{C}_{Y}^{D^{r}}(y)}(x) \leqslant \left| Y(x) \right| \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{C}_{Y}^{D^{r}}(y)}(x)$$

$$\bullet \ Y \cdot \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} \in L^1(\,\mathrm{d}\sigma_{d-j} \otimes \,\mathrm{d}P)$$

Let us establish the first statement, by proving first that for  $x \in D$ ,  $\lim_{n\to\infty} f_n(x) = 1$ .

Consider  $x \in D$ . Since  $D^c$  is closed, we have that  $d(x, D^c) > 0$ , and  $\exists n_0 \in \mathbb{N}^*$  such that  $d(x, D^c) \geqslant \frac{1}{n_0}$ . Thus for  $n \geqslant n_0$ , we have  $d(x, D^c) \geqslant \frac{1}{n}$ , which implies for  $n \geqslant n_0$ ,  $x \in D^{(n)}$ . Consequently  $\forall n \geqslant n_0$ ,  $d(x, D^{(n)}) = 0$  and  $f_n(x) = 1 \ \forall n \geqslant n_0$ .

Finally, the first statement is a consequence of the inclusion (38), i.e.  $\forall \lambda \in B_j$  we have  $\operatorname{supp}(\eta_{\lambda}) \cap D_X^r \subset \Gamma(\lambda)$ . Indeed, this last inclusion implies that  $\forall \lambda \in B_j$ ,  $\forall x \in D_X^r \cap \Gamma^{c_1}(\lambda)$ ,  $\eta_{\lambda}(x) = 0$  and then  $\forall \lambda \in B_j$ ,  $\forall x \in D_X^r$ ,  $\lim_{n \to +\infty} Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}(x) = \eta_{\lambda}(x)Y(x)$  so that  $\forall x \in D_X^r$ ,  $\lim_{n \to +\infty} Y^{(n)}(x) = (\sum_{\lambda \in B_j} \eta_{\lambda}(x))Y(x) = Y(x)$ .

The last statement can be proved in the following way. Using Lemma 3.2.1, X and  $Y^{(n)}$  satisfy  $\mathbf{H}_i$ , i = 1, ..., 5 and in particular  $\mathbf{H}_1$ ,  $\mathbf{H}_2$  and  $\mathbf{H}_3$ . Remark 3.1.2 allows us to obtain that  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$  and  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} \left| Y^{(n)}(x) \right| \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x) \right]$$

$$= \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[ \left| Y^{(n)}(x) \right| H(\nabla X(x)) \, \middle| \, X(x) = y \right] \, dx.$$

By noticing that the sets  $(D^{2n})_{n\in\mathbb{N}^*}$  and  $(D^{(n)})_{n\in\mathbb{N}^*}$ , which define the sequence  $(f_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}^*}$ , are respectively decreasing and nondecreasing sequences, we obtain that the sequence  $(f_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}^*}$  is nondecreasing. Since the function  $\Psi$  is an even function on  $\mathbb{R}$  and decreasing on  $\mathbb{R}^+$ , the sequence  $(|Y^{(n)}|)_{n\in\mathbb{N}^*}$  is non-decreasing.

We can apply Beppo Levi's theorem and we have  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ 

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \uparrow \mathbb{E} \left[ \int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} \left| Y^{(n)}(x) \right| \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_{d-j}(x) \right] = \mathbb{E} \left[ \int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} \left| Y(x) \right| \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_{d-j}(x) \right].$$

Similarly,  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

$$\begin{split} \lim_{n \to +\infty} \uparrow \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E} \left[ \left| Y^{(n)}(x) \right| \mathbb{1}_{D_X^r}(x) H(\nabla X(x)) \left| X(x) = y \right] \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &= \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E} \left[ \left| Y(x) \right| \mathbb{1}_{D_X^r}(x) H(\nabla X(x)) \left| X(x) = y \right] \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &= \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E} \left[ \left| Y(x) \right| H(\nabla X(x)) \left| X(x) = y \right] \, \mathrm{d}x. \end{split}$$

The last equality comes from the fact that  $\forall x \in D$  we have

$$\mathbb{1}_{D_X^r}(x)H(\nabla X(x)) = H(\nabla X(x)).$$

We then obtain  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ 

(53) 
$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} |Y(x)| \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right]$$
$$= \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[|Y(x)| \, H(\nabla X(x)) \, \big| \, X(x) = y\right] \, dx < \infty,$$

since X and Y satisfy one of the four assumptions  $A_1$ ,  $A_2$ ,  $A_3$  or  $A_4$  and by Proposition 3.1.12, satisfy the hypothesis  $H_3$ .

We have shown that  $Y \cdot \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} \in L^1(d\sigma_{d-j} \otimes dP)$ . Then using Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem, we can deduce (52). Let us show that  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

(54) 
$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \int_{D} p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E} \left[ Y^{(n)}(x) H(\nabla X(x)) \, \big| \, X(x) = y \right] \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$= \int_{D} p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E} \left[ Y(x) H(\nabla X(x)) \, \big| \, X(x) = y \right] \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

In the same way as before, we notice that  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$  and for almost all  $x \in D$ ,

- $\lim_{n \to +\infty} Y^{(n)}(x)H(\nabla X(x))p_{X(x)}(y) = Y(x)H(\nabla X(x))p_{X(x)}(y)$
- $\bullet \ \left| Y^{(n)}(x) \right| H(\nabla Xx)) p_{X(x)}(y) \leqslant \left| Y(x) \right| H(\nabla X(x)) p_{X(x)}(y)$
- $\mathbb{E}\left[|Y(x)|H(\nabla X(x))p_{X(x)}(y)|X(x)=y\right]<\infty$

and the finiteness of the last expression results from that of the second integral in (53).

Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem allows to write  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$  and for almost all  $x \in D$ ,

$$\bullet \lim_{n \to +\infty} \mathbb{E} \left[ Y^{(n)}(x) H(\nabla X(x)) \mid X(x) = y \right] p_{X(x)}(y) 
= \mathbb{E} \left[ Y(x) H(\nabla X(x)) \mid X(x) = y \right] p_{X(x)}(y).$$

Moreover,  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$  and almost surely  $\forall x \in D$ ,

$$\bullet \left| \mathbb{E} \left[ Y^{(n)}(x) H(\nabla X(x)) \, \middle| \, X(x) = y \right] p_{X(x)}(y) \right|$$

$$\leqslant \mathbb{E} \left[ |Y(x)| \, H(\nabla X(x)) \, \middle| \, X(x) = y \right] p_{X(x)}(y) \in L^1(D, \, \mathrm{d}x).$$

The last statement comes from the fact that the second integral in (53) is finite. Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem allows to obtain (54). This completes the proof of Lemma 3.2.2 and consequently the proof of Proposition 3.2.3.

We can now state Theorem 3.2.5 which follows. It allows us to weaken assumptions  $A_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3. More precisely, we want to avoid assuming the existence of uniform lower (or upper) bounds for the variance of the Z process appearing under these assumptions.

In the first three assumptions  $B_1$ ,  $B_2$  and  $B_3$ , we will assume that Y can be written as in the (39). Let D be an open set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

-  $B_1$ : Let  $X: \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j$   $(j \leq d)$  be a Gaussian random field belonging to  $C^1(D, \mathbb{R}^j)$ , such that  $\forall x \in D$ , the vector X(x) has a density. Moreover, for almost all  $x \in D$ , the field W(x) is independent of the vector  $(X(x), \nabla X(x))$ , and  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\int_D \mathbb{E}[\|W(x)\|_k^n] \, \mathrm{d}x < \infty.$$

-  $\mathbf{B}_2$ :  $\forall x \in D, \ X(x) = F(Z(x))$ , where  $F : \mathbb{R}^j \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^j$  is a bijection belonging to  $C^1(\mathbb{R}^j, \mathbb{R}^j)$ , such that  $\forall z \in \mathbb{R}^j$ , the Jacobian of F in z, that is  $J_F(z)$  satisfies  $J_F(z) \neq 0$  and the function  $F^{-1}$  is continuous. Let  $Z : \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j \ (j \leq d)$  be a Gaussian process belonging to  $C^1(D, \mathbb{R}^j)$  such that  $\forall x \in D$ , the vector Z(x) has a density. Moreover, for almost all  $x \in D$ , W(x) is independent of the vector  $(Z(x), \nabla Z(x))$ , and  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\int_D \mathbb{E}[\|W(x)\|_k^n] \, \mathrm{d}x < \infty.$$

-  $B_3$ : For all  $x \in D$ , X(x) = F(Z(x)), where  $Z : \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^{j'}$ (j < j') is a Gaussian random field belonging to  $C^1(D, \mathbb{R}^{j'})$  such that  $\forall x \in D$ , the vector  $(Z(x), \nabla Z(x))$  has a density. Moreover, for almost all  $x \in D$ , W(x) is independent of the vector  $(Z(x), \nabla Z(x))$ . Finally,  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}$ 

$$\int_{D} \mathbb{E}[\|W(x)\|_{k}^{n}] \, \mathrm{d}x < \infty.$$

The function F verifies assumption (F) given in assumption  $A_3$ .

 $-B_4$ : Is the same assumption  $A_4$ .

Let us now state the hypothesis  $H_6$ .

 $- \mathbf{H}_6: \forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j,$ 

$$\int_{D} p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[ |Y(x)| H(\nabla X(x)) \mid X(x) = y \right] dx < \infty.$$

We are now ready to formulate the following theorem.

**Theorem 3.2.5.** — Let  $X: \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j$   $(j \leq d)$  be a random field belonging to  $C^1(D, \mathbb{R}^j)$ , where D is an open and bounded convex set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , such that for almost all  $\omega \in \Omega$ ,  $\nabla X(\omega)$  is Lipschitz with Lipschitz constant  $L_X(\omega)$  such that  $\mathbb{E}\left[L_X^d(\cdot)\right] < \infty$ . Let  $Y: \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  be a continuous process.

If Y satisfies (39) and if X and Y satisfy one of the three assumptions  $\mathbf{B}_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3 and the hypothesis  $\mathbf{H}_6$  or if X and Y satisfy the assumption  $\mathbf{B}_4$ ,

then  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$  we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} Y(x) \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right] = \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[Y(x) H(\nabla X(x)) \, \middle| \, X(x) = y\right] \, dx.$$

**Remark 3.2.6.** — Under the same hypotheses as in Theorem 3.2.5, eliminating the condition  $\mathbb{E}\left[L_X^d(\cdot)\right] < \infty$  and the hypothesis  $H_6$ , we obtain the following inequality  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ 

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} |Y(x)| \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right] \leqslant \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[|Y(x)| \, H(\nabla X(x)) \, \big| \, X(x) = y\right] \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

**Remark 3.2.7.** — As in Remark 3.1.10, we can generalize the theorem and the Remark 3.2.6 by considering that D is an open and convex possibly unbounded set.

Proof of Theorem 3.2.5. Let us consider  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , the sets

$$D_n := \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^d, d(x, D^c) > \frac{1}{n} \}.$$

 $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ ,  $D_n$  is an open set included in D. Now consider the restrictions  $X_{|D_n}$  and  $Y_{|D_n}$ . It is clear that if Y satisfies (39) and if X and Y satisfy one of the three assumptions  $B_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3 then  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ ,  $Y_{|D_n}$  satisfies (39) and  $X_{|D_n}$  and  $Y_{|D_n}$  satisfy one of the three assumptions  $A_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3, where we have replaced the open set D by the open set  $D_n$ . Indeed, it suffices for this to point out that  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ ,  $D_n \subseteq \{x \in \mathbb{R}^d, d(x, D^c) \geqslant \frac{1}{n}\}$  which is a compact set contained in D.

The set  $D_n$  may not be convex but  $D_n \subset D$ , and the latter set is convex. We apply Remark 3.2.4 which follows Proposition 3.2.3 to  $X_{|D_n}$  and to  $Y_{|D_n}$  (resp.  $|Y|_{|D_n}$ ). We get:  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$  and  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ ,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_{D_n,X}^{D^r}(y)} Y(x) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right] = \int_{D_n} p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[Y(x) H(\nabla X(x)) \, \middle| \, X(x) = y\right] \, \mathrm{d}x,$$

and also  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$  and  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ ,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_{D_n,X}^{D^r}(y)} |Y(x)| \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right]$$

$$= \int_{D_n} p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[|Y(x)| \, H(\nabla X(x)) \, \big| \, X(x) = y\right] \, dx.$$

•

Knowing that D is an open set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $\lim_{n\to+\infty} \uparrow D_n = D$ , Beppo Levi's theorem leads to,  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} |Y(x)| \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right]$$

$$= \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[|Y(x)| \, H(\nabla X(x)) \, \big| \, X(x) = y\right] \, dx < \infty,$$

by using the hypothesis  $H_6$ .

We can apply Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem to get,  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} Y(x) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right] = \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[Y(x) H(\nabla X(x)) \, \middle| \, X(x) = y\right] \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

If X and Y satisfy the assumption  $B_4$  which is nothing else than the assumption  $A_4$ , the above equality is trivial since already settled in Proposition 3.2.3. The proof of Theorem 3.2.5 is finished.

Proof of Remark 3.2.6. In the same way as in the proof of Lemma 3.2.1, let us define  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , the random variable  $Z^{(n)}$  by  $Z^{(n)}(x) := \sum_{\lambda \in B_j} Z_{\lambda}^{(n)}(x)$  for  $x \in D$ , where we have defined for  $\lambda$  fixed in  $B_j$  the random variable  $Z_{\lambda}^{(n)}$  by

$$Z_{\lambda}^{(n)}(x) := Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}(x)\Psi(L_X(\cdot)/n),$$

where we recall that we have defined the random variable  $Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}$  by

$$Y_{\lambda}^{(n)}(x) = Y_{\lambda}(x) f_n(x) \Psi(Y(x)/n) \Psi(\|\nabla X(x)\|_{j,d}/n)$$

$$\times \Psi(1/(n\phi_{\lambda}(x)) \mathbb{1}_{\{\phi_{\lambda}(x)>0\}} + 2\mathbb{1}_{\{\phi_{\lambda}(x)=0\}}) \mathbb{1}_{D_X^r}(x).$$

Note that we cannot work as in Lemma 3.2.1, since we are not able to show that  $Z_{\lambda}^{(n)}$  verifies hypotheses  $\mathbf{H}_3$  and  $\mathbf{H}_5$ . In fact, we cannot apply the results of Proposition 3.1.12, since we cannot verify that  $Z_{\lambda}^{(n)}$  verifies assumptions  $\mathbf{A}_i$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, 4$ . Indeed for  $x \in D$ ,  $Z_{\lambda}^{(n)}(x)$  depends on the whole trajectory of the X process via the term  $\Psi(L_X(\cdot)/n)$ .

The processes X and  $Z_{\lambda}^{(n)}$  satisfy the hypotheses of Remark 3.1.9 and therefore X and  $Z_{\lambda}^{(n)}$  satisfy  $\mathbf{H}_2$ . As in the proof of Lemma 3.2.1, we deduce that X and  $Z^{(n)}$  satisfy  $\mathbf{H}_2$ .

Moreover, assuming for the moment that Y satisfies (39) and that X and Y satisfy one of the three assumptions  $A_1$ ,  $A_2$ ,  $A_3$  or that X and Y satisfy  $A_4$ , Proposition 3.1.12 allows us to deduce that  $H_1$  is satisfied.

By Proposition 2.4.1 we obtain that for almost all  $y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ 

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} \left| Z^{(n)}(x) \right| d\sigma_{d-j}(x) \right]$$
$$= \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[ \left| Z^{(n)}(x) \right| H(\nabla X(x)) \left| X(x) = y \right| dx,$$

thus for almost all  $y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ 

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} \left| Z^{(n)}(x) \right| d\sigma_{d-j}(x) \right]$$

$$\leq \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[ |Y(x)| H(\nabla X(x)) \right| X(x) = y \right] dx.$$

By Proposition 3.1.12, the processes X and Y satisfy  $\mathbf{H}_3$ . Since X and  $Z^{(n)}$  satisfy  $\mathbf{H}_2$ , we deduce that the right and left terms of the last inequality are continuous in terms of the variable y. Then the inequality is true  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ . In the same way as in the proof of Lemma 3.2.2, using Beppo Levi's theorem, we obtain  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ 

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \uparrow \mathbb{E} \left[ \int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} \left| Z^{(n)}(x) \right| \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_{d-j}(x) \right] = \mathbb{E} \left[ \int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} |Y(x)| \, \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_{d-j}(x) \right].$$

We have shown that  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ 

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} |Y(x)| \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right]$$

$$\leqslant \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[|Y(x)| \, H(\nabla X(x)) \, \big| \, X(x) = y\right] \, \mathrm{d}x,$$

this completes the proof of this remark whenever Y satisfies (39) and that X and Y satisfy one of the three assumptions  $A_i$ , for i = 1, ..., 3 or that X and Y satisfy the assumption  $A_4$  and then the assumption  $B_4$ .

In the case where Y satisfies (39) and X and Y satisfy one of the three assumptions  $B_i$ , for i = 1, ..., 3, in the same way as in the proof of Theorem 3.2.5, we apply  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$  the above inequality to  $X_{|D_n}$  and  $Y_{|D_n}$  which satisfy one of the three assumptions  $A_i$ , for i = 1, ..., 3. Letting n tends to infinity and applying Beppo Levi's theorem, we get the desired result. Let us remark that the right-hand side term is not necessary finite because we do not assume the hypothesis  $H_6$ .

Our goal in this step of these notes is to propose a Rice's formula which is true for any level but without the assumption  $\mathbb{E}\left[L_X^d(\cdot)\right]<\infty$  which was given

in Theorem 3.2.5. We will propose in the following a little better than the inequality appearing in Remark 3.2.6. To do this, we will replace in this theorem one of the assumptions  $B_i$ , i = 1, ..., 4 by a slightly stronger assumption  $B_i^{\star}$ . In the first three assumptions  $B_1^{\star}$ ,  $B_2^{\star}$  and  $B_3^{\star}$ , we will assume that Y can be written as in (39).

More precisely, let D be an open set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and consider the following assumptions:

- $-B_1^{\star}$ : It is the assumption  $B_1$ , plus the following hypothesis: for almost all  $(x_1, x_2) \in D \times D$ , the density of the vector  $(X(x_1), X(x_2))$  exists.
- $-B_2^{\star}$ : It is the assumption  $B_2$ , plus the following hypothesis: for almost all  $(x_1, x_2) \in D \times D$ , the density of the vector  $(Z(x_1), Z(x_2))$  exists.
- $B_3^{\star}$ : It is the assumption  $B_3$ , plus the following hypothesis: for almost all  $(x_1, x_2) \in D \times D$ , the density of the vector  $(Z(x_1), Z(x_2))$  exists.
- $B_4^{\star}$ : It is the assumption  $B_4$ , plus the following hypotheses:
  - 1. The function

$$u \longmapsto \int_D \int_{\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{dj}} y^2 \|\dot{x}\|_{dj}^j \, p_{Y(x), X(x), \nabla X(x)}(y, u, \dot{x}) \, \mathrm{d}\dot{x} \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}x$$

is continuous.

2. For almost all  $(x_1, x_2, \dot{x}_1, \dot{x}_2) \in D \times D \times \mathbb{R}^{dj} \times \mathbb{R}^{dj}$  and for all  $(u, v) \in \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathbb{R}^j$ , the density

$$p_{X(x_1),X(x_2),\nabla X(x_1),\nabla X(x_2)}(u,v,\dot{x}_1,\dot{x}_2),$$

of the vector( $X(x_1), X(x_2), \nabla X(x_1), \nabla X(x_2)$ ) exists.

3. Moreover,  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ , the function

$$(u,v) \longmapsto \int_{D \times D} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{dj} \times \mathbb{R}^{dj}} \|\dot{x}_1\|_{dj}^j \|\dot{x}_2\|_{dj}^j p_{X(x_1),X(x_2),\nabla X(x_1),\nabla X(x_2)}(u,v,\dot{x}_1,\dot{x}_2)$$
$$d\dot{x}_1 d\dot{x}_2 dx_1 dx_2$$

is bounded in a neighborhood of (y, y).

Let us express now the hypothesis  $H_6^{\star}$ .

 $- \mathbf{H}_{6}^{\star}$ :  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^{j}$ , the function

$$(u,v) \longmapsto \int_{D \times D} p_{X(x_1),X(x_2)}(u,v)$$

$$\times \mathbb{E} \left[ H(\nabla X(x_1)) H(\nabla X(x_2)) \, \middle| \, X(x_1) = u, X(x_2) = v \, \right] \, \mathrm{d}x_1 \, \mathrm{d}x_2$$

is bounded in a neighborhood of (y, y).

Finally we can state the following theorem.

**Theorem 3.2.8.** — Let  $X: \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j$   $(j \leq d)$  be a random field in  $C^1(D,\mathbb{R}^j)$ , where D is an open and convex bounded set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , such that for almost all  $\omega \in \Omega$ ,  $\nabla X(\omega)$  is Lipschitz. Let  $Y: \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  be a continuous process. If Y satisfies (39) and if X and Y satisfy one of the three assumptions  $\mathbf{B}_i^{\star}$ , i = 1, 2, 3 and the hypotheses  $\mathbf{H}_6$  and  $\mathbf{H}_6^{\star}$  or if X and Y satisfy the assumption  $\mathbf{B}_4^{\star}$ , then for all  $\mathbf{y} \in \mathbb{R}^j$  we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} Y(x) \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right] = \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[Y(x) H(\nabla X(x)) \, \big| \, X(x) = y\right] \, dx.$$

**Remark 3.2.9.** — In the same way as in Remark 3.1.10, this theorem can be generalized to the case where D is an open and convex set not necessarily bounded.

Proof of Theorem 3.2.8. For any  $z \in \mathbb{R}^j$ , with the same notations as in the proof of Lemma 3.2.1 and Remark 3.2.6, we have  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ ,

$$\left| \mathbb{E} \left[ \int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(z)} \left| Z^{(n)}(x) \right| d\sigma_{d-j}(x) \right] - \mathbb{E} \left[ \int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(z)} \left| Y^{(n)}(x) \right| d\sigma_{d-j}(x) \right] \right|$$

$$= \mathbb{E} \left[ \int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(z)} \left| Y^{(n)}(x) \right| (1 - \Psi(L_X(\cdot)/n)) d\sigma_{d-j}(x) \right].$$

Let us assume for the moment that if Y satisfies (39) then X and Y satisfy one of the three assumptions  $A_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3.

By Lemma 3.2.1 and Proposition 3.1.12, since X and Y satisfy one of the four hypotheses  $\mathbf{A}_i$ , i = 1, ..., 4,  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , X and  $Y^{(n)}$  satisfy the hypotheses  $\mathbf{H}_1$  and  $\mathbf{H}_3$  (and also  $\mathbf{H}_5$ ). By Proposition 2.4.1, we then have for almost all  $z \in \mathbb{R}^j$  and  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ 

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(z)} \left| Y^{(n)}(x) \right| d\sigma_{d-j}(x) \right]$$

$$= \int_D p_{X(x)}(z) \mathbb{E}\left[ \left| Y^{(n)}(x) \right| H(\nabla X(x)) \left| X(x) = z \right| dx,$$

and a similar formula is true for the random variable  $Y^{(n)}$ .

For simplicity, let us denote  $\int_{u-\delta}^{y+\delta} f(x) dx$  the following multiple integral

$$\int_{y_1-\delta}^{y_1+\delta} \cdots \int_{y_j-\delta}^{y_j+\delta} f(x) \, \mathrm{d}x,$$

where  $\delta > 0$ ,  $y := (y_1, y_2, \dots, y_j)$  and f is a positive or integrable real valued function defined over  $\prod_{i=1}^{j} [y_i - \delta, y_i + \delta]$ .

With this notation and using the Schwarz inequality we obtain  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*, \forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$  and  $\forall \delta > 0$ :

$$(55) \quad \left(\frac{1}{2\delta}\right)^{j} \cdot \int_{y-\delta}^{y+\delta} \left| \mathbb{E} \left[ \int_{C_{X}^{D^{r}}(z)} \left| Z^{(n)}(x) \right| d\sigma_{d-j}(x) \right] - \int_{D} p_{X(x)}(z) \mathbb{E} \left[ \left| Y^{(n)}(x) \right| H(\nabla X(x)) \left| X(x) = z \right| dx \right| dz$$

$$\leq \left( \mathbb{E} \left[ (1 - \Psi(L_{X}(\cdot)/n))^{4} \right] \right)^{\frac{1}{4}}$$

$$\times \left( \left( \frac{1}{2\delta} \right)^{j} \cdot \int_{y-\delta}^{y+\delta} \mathbb{E} \left[ \int_{C_{X}^{D^{r}}(z)} (Y^{(n)}(x))^{2} d\sigma_{d-j}(x) \right] dz \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$\times \left( \mathbb{E} \left[ \left\{ \left( \frac{1}{2\delta} \right)^{j} \cdot \int_{y-\delta}^{y+\delta} \sigma_{d-j}(C_{X}^{D^{r}}(z)) dz \right\}^{2} \right] \right)^{\frac{1}{4}}.$$

Let us consider the second term of the product in the right-hand side of the last inequality.

For that, let us notice that if Y satisfies (39), and if X and Y satisfy one of the three assumption  $A_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3, or if X and Y satisfy the assumption  $B_4^*$ , it is easy to prove, as in Proposition 3.1.12 that X and  $Y^2$  still satisfy the hypothesis  $H_1$  and  $H_3$ .

By Proposition 2.4.1 and since  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*, \forall x \in D, |Y^{(n)}(x)| \leq |Y(x)|$ , we get the following inequalities,  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*, \forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

$$\begin{split} & \limsup_{\delta \to 0} \left(\frac{1}{2\delta}\right)^{j} \cdot \int_{y-\delta}^{y+\delta} \mathbb{E} \left[ \int_{\mathcal{C}_{X}^{D^{r}}(z)} (Y^{(n)}(x))^{2} \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_{d-j}(x) \right] \, \mathrm{d}z \\ & \leqslant \limsup_{\delta \to 0} \left(\frac{1}{2\delta}\right)^{j} \cdot \int_{y-\delta}^{y+\delta} \mathbb{E} \left[ \int_{\mathcal{C}_{X}^{D^{r}}(z)} Y^{2}(x) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_{d-j}(x) \right] \, \mathrm{d}z \\ & \leqslant \limsup_{\delta \to 0} \left(\frac{1}{2\delta}\right)^{j} \cdot \int_{y-\delta}^{y+\delta} \int_{D} p_{X(x)}(z) \mathbb{E} \left[ Y^{2}(x) H(\nabla X(x)) \, \middle| \, X(x) = z \right] \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}z \\ & \xrightarrow{\delta \to 0} \int_{D} p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E} \left[ Y^{2}(x) H(\nabla X(x)) \, \middle| \, X(x) = y \right] \, \mathrm{d}x < \infty. \end{split}$$

The last convergence comes from the fact that X and  $Y^2$  satisfy the hypothesis  $H_3$ . We will now study the third term of the product on the right-hand side

of (55).

By Remark 2.3.2 following Theorem 2.3.1, if we apply the coarea formula to the functions G := X and  $f := \mathbb{1}_{\{\prod_{i=1}^j [y_i - \delta, y_i + \delta]\}} \geqslant 0$  and to the Borel set  $B := D, \forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ , we obtain

$$\int_{y-\delta}^{y+\delta} \sigma_{d-j}(C_X^{D^r}(z)) dz = \int_D \mathbb{1}_{\{X(x) \in \prod_{i=1}^j [y_i - \delta, y_i + \delta]\}} H(\nabla X(x)) dx.$$

If Y satisfies (39) and if X and Y satisfy one of the three assumptions  $A_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3, the hypothesis in assumption  $B_i^*$ , i = 1, 2, 3, ensures that for almost all  $(x_1, x_2) \in D \times D$ , the density of the vector  $(X(x_1), X(x_2))$  exists. To be convinced of this, it is enough to calculate the density in the same way as in the proof of Proposition 3.1.12 to establish (46). Note that we can also use the formula given in [60, Corollary 4.18, p. 68].

Moreover, if X and Y satisfy the hypothesis  $B_4^*$ , it is clear that the density of the vector  $(X(x_1), X(x_2))$  exists for almost all  $(x_1, x_2) \in D \times D$ .

Finally,  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ , using the hypothesis  $H_6^{\star}$  or using the fourth assumption appearing in  $B_4^{\star}$  and using the same notational conventions as above, we obtain

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \mathbb{E} \left[ \left( \left( \frac{1}{2\delta} \right)^{j} \cdot \int_{y-\delta}^{y+\delta} \sigma_{d-j}(C_{X}^{D^{r}}(z)) \, \mathrm{d}z \right)^{2} \right] \\
= \lim_{\delta \to 0} \sup \left( \frac{1}{2\delta} \right)^{2j} \cdot \int_{y-\delta}^{y+\delta} \cdot \int_{y-\delta}^{y+\delta} \int_{D \times D} p_{X(x_{1}), X(x_{2})}(z_{1}, z_{2}) \\
\times \mathbb{E} \left[ H(\nabla X(x_{1})) H(\nabla X(x_{2})) \, \middle| \, X(x_{1}) = z_{1}, X(x_{2}) = z_{2} \right] \, \mathrm{d}x_{1} \, \mathrm{d}x_{2} \, \mathrm{d}z_{1} \, \mathrm{d}z_{2} \\
\leqslant C.$$

Before taking the limit when  $\delta$  tends to zero in (55), let us observe that as in the proof of Remark 3.2.6, X and  $Z^{(n)}$  satisfy the hypothesis  $\mathbf{H}_2$  (and  $\mathbf{H}_4$ ). Moreover, we saw in the beginning of this proof that  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , X and  $Y^{(n)}$  satisfy the hypothesis  $\mathbf{H}_3$  (and  $\mathbf{H}_5$ ).

Taking the limit when  $\delta$  tends to zero, it turns out that  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$  and  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ 

$$\left| \mathbb{E} \left[ \int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} \left| Z^{(n)}(x) \right| d\sigma_{d-j}(x) \right] - \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E} \left[ \left| Y^{(n)}(x) \right| H(\nabla X(x)) \left| X(x) = y \right| dx \right] \right] dx$$

$$\leq C \left( \mathbb{E} \left[ (1 - \Psi(L_X(\cdot)/n))^4 \right] \right)^{\frac{1}{4}}$$

$$\times \left( \int_{D} p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E} \left[ Y^{2}(x) H(\nabla X(x)) \mid X(x) = y \right] dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

The idea now is to take the limit when n tends to infinity in the last inequality. First, by using Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem,

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \mathbb{E}[(1 - \Psi(L_X(\cdot)/n))^4] = 0.$$

Hence  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ :

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \sup \left| \mathbb{E} \left[ \int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} \left| Z^{(n)}(x) \right| d\sigma_{d-j}(x) \right] - \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E} \left[ \left| Y^{(n)}(x) \right| H(\nabla X(x)) \left| X(x) = y \right| dx \right| = 0.$$

Moreover, using Beppo Levi's theorem,  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \uparrow \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[ \left| Y^{(n)}(x) \right| H(\nabla X(x)) \left| X(x) = y \right| dx \right]$$
$$= \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[ \left| Y(x) \right| H(\nabla X(x)) \left| X(x) = y \right| dx < \infty.$$

Proposition 3.1.12 ensures that the last integral is finite.

Beppo Levi's theorem also implies that,  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \uparrow \mathbb{E} \left[ \int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} \left| Z^{(n)}(x) \right| \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_{d-j}(x) \right] = \mathbb{E} \left[ \int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} |Y(x)| \, \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_{d-j}(x) \right].$$

Then,  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

(56) 
$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} |Y(x)| \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right] < \infty,$$

and also for  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} |Y(x)| \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right]$$

$$= \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[|Y(x)| \, H(\nabla X(x)) \, \big| \, X(x) = y\right] \, dx.$$

In the same way as in the previous proof, replacing  $|Z^{(n)}|$  by  $Z^{(n)}$  and  $|Y^{(n)}|$  by  $Y^{(n)}$ , we obtain  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ :

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \sup \left[ \mathbb{E} \left[ \int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} Z^{(n)}(x) \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x) \right] \right]$$

$$-\int_{D} p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[Y^{(n)}(x) H(\nabla X(x)) \mid X(x) = y\right] dx = 0.$$

By (56), Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem implies,  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ 

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \mathbb{E} \left[ \int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} Z^{(n)}(x) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_{d-j}(x) \right] = \mathbb{E} \left[ \int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} Y(x) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_{d-j}(x) \right].$$

Also  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E} \left[ Y^{(n)}(x) H(\nabla X(x)) \, \big| \, X(x) = y \right] \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$= \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E} \left[ Y(x) H(\nabla X(x)) \, \big| \, X(x) = y \right] \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

This completes the proof of the theorem in the case where Y satisfies (39), and X and Y satisfy one of the three assumptions  $\mathbf{B}_{i}^{\star}$ , i = 1, 2, 3, where we replaced in the assumption  $\mathbf{B}_{i}^{\star}$  the assumption  $\mathbf{B}_{i}$  by  $\mathbf{A}_{i}$ . If X and Y satisfy the assumption  $\mathbf{B}_{4}^{\star}$ , the theorem is true.

Now suppose that Y satisfies (39) and X and Y satisfy one of the three assumptions  $B_i^*$ , i = 1, 2, 3. We will proceed as in the proof of Theorem 3.2.5. Let us consider  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , the sets  $D_n = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^d, d(x, D^c) > \frac{1}{n}\}$ .

For any n in  $\mathbb{N}^*$ ,  $D_n$  is an open set contained in D. We consider the restrictions  $X_{|D_n}$  and  $Y_{|D_n}$ . It is clear that if Y satisfies (39) and if X and Y satisfy one of the assumptions  $\boldsymbol{B}_i^*$ , i=1,2,3, then  $\forall n\in\mathbb{N}^*$ ,  $Y_{|D_n}$  satisfies (39) and  $X_{|D_n}$  and  $Y_{|D_n}$  satisfy one of the assumptions  $\boldsymbol{B}_i^*$ , i=1,2,3. In  $\boldsymbol{B}_i^*$  the assumption  $\boldsymbol{B}_i$  is replaced by  $\boldsymbol{A}_i$ . Also,  $X_{|D_n}$  and  $Y_{|D_n}$  satisfy the hypothesis  $\boldsymbol{H}_6^*$ , where the open set D is replaced by the open set  $D_n$ .

We apply Theorem 3.2.8 to  $X_{|D_n}$  and to  $Y_{|D_n}$  (resp.  $|Y|_{|D_n}$ ) and obtain  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$  and  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ ,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_{D_{n},X}^{D^{r}}(y)} Y(x) d\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right]$$

$$= \int_{D_{n}} p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[Y(x) H(\nabla X(x)) \mid X(x) = y\right] dx,$$

similarly replacing Y by |Y|.

The hypothesis  $H_6$  allows, when  $n \to \infty$ , to apply Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem in the above equality.

This ends the proof of the theorem.

## 3.3. General Rice formulas for all level

**3.3.1. Preliminaries for the general Rice formula.** — The following two propositions proved by Azaïs & Wschebor [10, p. 178-179] will provide the arguments to obtain a general Rice formula for a random field. Our goal is to obtain a Rice formula for any level  $y \in \mathbb{R}$ , the level not necessarily being regular.

**Proposition 3.3.1.** — Let  $Z: \Omega \times W \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{\ell} \to \mathbb{R}^{m+k}$   $(m \in \mathbb{N}, k \in \mathbb{N}^{\star})$ , be a random field in  $C^1(W, \mathbb{R}^{m+k})$ , W an open set of  $\mathbb{R}^{\ell}$ , J a compact subset of W whose Hausdorff dimension is less or equal to m and  $z_0 \in \mathbb{R}^{m+k}$  is fixed. We assume that Z satisfies the following assumption:  $\forall t \in J$ , the random vector Z(t) has a density  $p_{Z(t)}(v)$  such that  $\exists C > 0$ , and a neighborhood  $V_{z_0}$  of  $z_0$  such that  $\forall t \in J$  and for all  $v \in V_{z_0}$ ,  $p_{Z(t)}(v) \leqslant C$ . Then almost surely there is no point  $t \in J$  such that  $Z(t) = z_0$ .

Proof of Proposition 3.3.1. Let  $z_0 \in \mathbb{R}^{m+k}$  fixed. For T, a Borel set of  $\mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  contained in W, let

$$R_{z_0}(T) := \{ \omega \in \Omega : \exists x \in T, \ Z(x)(\omega) = z_0 \}.$$

Let J be a compact set contained in W whose Haussdorff dimension is less than or equal to m. Since  $k \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , the Euclidian Haussdorff measure of Jof dimension m+k is zero, that is  $H_{m+k}(J)=0$  (cf. definition in [60]). By definition of the Haussdorff Euclidian pre-measure of J which defines  $H_{m+k}(J)$ , i.e.  $H_{m+k}^{\delta}(J)$ , we have

$$H_{m+k}(J) = 0 = \lim_{\delta \to 0} H_{m+k}^{\delta}(J).$$

Consider  $\varepsilon > 0$  and  $\eta > 0$  fixed. There exists  $\delta_{\varepsilon} > 0$  such that  $\forall \delta \leqslant \delta_{\varepsilon}$ , there exists a countable set I and  $(r_i)_{i \in I}$ ,  $0 < r_i \leqslant \delta$ ,  $\forall i \in I$  such that

$$J \subset \bigcup_{i \in I} B(x_i, r_i)$$
 and  $\sum_{i \in I} r_i^{m+k} \leqslant \varepsilon$ .

Moreover, since W is open in  $\mathbb{R}^{\ell}$ ,  $\forall y \in J \subset W$ , there exists  $r_y > 0$  such that  $B(y, 2r_y) \subset \overline{B}(y, 2r_y) \subset W$ .

Given that  $J \subset \bigcup_{y \in J} B(y, r_y)$  and that J is compact, there exists a finite covering  $(B(y_j, r_{y_j}))_{j=1,n}$  satisfying  $J \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^n B(y_j, r_{y_j})$ ,  $y_j \in J$  for all  $j = 1, \ldots, n$ . Consider  $r := \inf_{j=1,\ldots,n} r_{y_j}$  and C the compact set defined by  $C := \bigcup_{j=1}^n \overline{B}(y_j, 2r_{y_j}) \subset W$ .

Let  $R_{\varepsilon,\eta} := \inf(\delta_{\varepsilon}, r/2, \mu/(2\eta))$  where  $\mu$  is the constant defining the neighborhood of  $z_0$ , where the density of Z is bounded. This latter neighborhood

satisfies that  $\forall t \in J$  the random vector Z(t) has a density  $p_{Z(t)}(v)$  satisfying  $p_{Z(t)}(v) \leq C$ , for v such that  $||v - z_0||_{m+k} \leq \mu$ .

Thus there exists a countable set I and  $(r_i)_{i \in I}$ ,  $0 < r_i \leqslant R_{\varepsilon,\eta} \ \forall i \in I$  satisfying

$$J \subset \bigcup_{i \in I} B(x_i, r_i)$$
 and  $\sum_{i \in I} r_i^{m+k} \leqslant \varepsilon$ .

We have

$$\mathbb{P}(R_{z_0}(J)) \leqslant \mathbb{P}(\sup_{t \in C} \|\nabla Z(t)\|_{m+k,\ell} > \eta)$$
$$+ \sum_{i \in I} \mathbb{P}\left(\left\{\sup_{t \in C} \|\nabla Z(t)\|_{m+k,\ell} \leqslant \eta\right\} \cap R_{z_0}(B(x_i, r_i) \cap J)\right).$$

Let i fixed in I. If  $B(x_i, r_i) \cap J = \emptyset$ , then  $R_{z_0}(B(x_i, r_i) \cap J) = \emptyset$  and  $\mathbb{P}\left(\left\{\sup_{t \in C} \|\nabla Z(t)\|_{j,d} \leq \eta\right\} \cap R_{z_0}(B(x_i, r_i) \cap J)\right) = 0$ . If  $B(x_i, r_i) \cap J \neq \emptyset$ , let us fix  $z \in B(x_i, r_i) \cap J$ .

For  $\omega \in \left\{ \sup_{t \in C} \|\nabla Z(t)\|_{m+k,\ell} \leq \eta \right\} \cap R_{z_0}(B(x_i, r_i) \cap J)$  there exists  $x \in B(x_i, r_i) \cap J$  such that  $Z(x)(\omega) = z_0$ .

Let us remark that there exists j = 1, ..., n such that x and z belong to the ball  $B(y_j, 2r_{y_j})$ , this entails that for all  $\lambda \in [0, 1]$ ,  $\lambda x + (1 - \lambda)z \in C$ .

Indeed, since  $x \in J$ , there exists  $j \in \{1, ..., n\}$ , such that  $x \in B(y_j, r_{y_j})$ . We have the following inequalities

$$||z - y_j||_{\ell} \le ||z - x_i||_{\ell} + ||x_i - x||_{\ell} + ||x - y_j||_{\ell}$$
  
$$\le 2r_i + r_{y_i} \le 2R_{\varepsilon, \eta} + r_{y_i} \le r + r_{y_i} \le 2r_{y_i}.$$

Furthermore, since Z is  $C^1(W, \mathbb{R}^{m+k})$ , it is also  $C^1(B(y_j, 2r_{y_j}), \mathbb{R}^{m+k})$ . Since the ball  $B(y_j, 2r_{y_j})$  is an open convex set, we have

$$Z(z)(\omega) - Z(x)(\omega) = Z(z)(\omega) - z_0$$
$$= \left[ \int_0^1 \nabla Z(\lambda x + (1 - \lambda)z)(\omega) \, d\lambda \right] (z - x).$$

Consequently, as  $\forall \lambda \in [0, 1]$  we have  $\lambda x + (1 - \lambda)z \in C$  then

$$||Z(z)(\omega) - z_0||_{m+k} \leqslant \eta ||z - x||_{\ell} \leqslant 2\eta r_i \leqslant 2\eta R_{\varepsilon,\eta} \leqslant \mu.$$

Hence

$$\mathbb{P}\left(\left\{\sup_{t\in C}\|\nabla Z(t)\|_{m+k,\ell}\leqslant \eta\right\}\cap R_{z_0}(B(x_i,r_i)\cap J)\right)$$
  
$$\leqslant \mathbb{P}(\omega,\|Z(z)(\omega)-z_0\|_{m+k}\leqslant 2\eta r_i)$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{m+k}} \mathbb{1}_{\{\|v-z_0\|_{m+k} \leqslant 2\eta r_i\}} p_{Z(z)}(v) \, \mathrm{d}v \leqslant C D_{m,k} (\eta r_i)^{m+k}.$$

Finally, we have shown that  $\forall \varepsilon > 0, \forall \eta > 0$ ,

$$\mathbb{P}(R_{z_0}(J)) \leqslant \mathbb{P}\left(\sup_{t \in C} \|\nabla Z(t)\|_{m+k,\ell} > \eta\right) + CD_{m,k}\eta^{m+k} \sum_{i \in I} r_i^{m+k}$$
$$\leqslant \mathbb{P}\left(\sup_{t \in C} \|\nabla Z(t)\|_{m+k,\ell} > \eta\right) + CD_{m,k}\eta^{m+k} \varepsilon.$$

By taking limits when  $\varepsilon$  tends to zero then when  $\eta$  tends to infinity, in this order, we get  $\mathbb{P}(R_{z_0}(J)) = 0$ .

We are now in a position to state the second proposition.

**Proposition 3.3.2.** — Let  $X : \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j$   $(j \leq d)$  be a random field in  $C^2(D, \mathbb{R}^j)$ , where D is an open set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and let  $D_0$  be a compact of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  contained in D. Let  $y \in \mathbb{R}^j$  fixed. We assume that X satisfies the following assumption (S):

$$-(S) \ \forall (x,\lambda) \in D_0 \times S^{j-1} \ the \ random \ vector$$

$$(X(x), \lambda \cdot \nabla X(x)),$$

has a density  $p_{X(x),\lambda\cdot\nabla X(x)}(u,w)$ , such that there exists a constant C>0, a neighborhood  $V_y$  of y and a neighborhood  $V_{\vec{0}_d}$  of  $\vec{0}_{\mathbb{R}^d}$ , such that  $\forall x\in D_0$  and  $\forall \lambda\in S^{j-1}$ ,  $\forall u\in V_y$  and  $\forall w\in V_{\vec{0}_d}$ ,  $p_{X(x),\lambda\cdot\nabla X(x)}(u,w)\leqslant C$ .

Then

$$\mathbb{P}\left\{\omega \in \Omega : \exists x \in D_0, X(x)(\omega) = y, \operatorname{rank} \nabla X(x)(\omega) < j\right\} = 0.$$

Proof of Proposition 3.3.2. Let us define the random field Z by

$$Z:\Omega\times D\times \mathbb{R}^j\subset\Omega\times \mathbb{R}^d\times \mathbb{R}^j\longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^j\times \mathbb{R}^d$$

such that

$$Z(x,\lambda) := (X(x), \lambda \cdot \nabla X(x)).$$

Consider the set  $W := D \times \mathbb{R}^j$  which is an open set of  $\mathbb{R}^\ell$ , where  $\ell := d + j$ . The field Z is  $C^1(W, \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ , since X is  $C^2(D, \mathbb{R}^j)$ , and takes its values in  $\mathbb{R}^{m+k}$  where m := j + d - 1 and k := 1.

Consider  $J := D_0 \times S^{j-1}$  a compact set contained in W. Its Haussdorff measure is less or equal to m. Let  $z_0 := (y, \vec{0}_{\mathbb{R}^d}) \in \mathbb{R}^{m+k}$  be fixed.

Since  $\forall (x,\lambda) \in D_0 \times S^{j-1}$  the random vector  $(X(x), \lambda \cdot \nabla X(x))$  has a bounded density  $p_{X(x),\lambda \cdot \nabla X(x)}(u,w)$ , for u in a neighborhood of y and w in a neighborhood of  $\vec{0}_{\mathbb{R}^d}$  then  $\forall t \in J$  the random vector Z(t) has a density  $p_{Z(t)}(v)$ 

satisfying  $p_{Z(t)}(v) \leq C$ , for v in a neighborhood of  $z_0$ . By Proposition 3.3.1,

$$\mathbb{P}\{\omega \in \Omega : \exists (x,\lambda) \in D_0 \times S^{j-1}, (X(x)(\omega), \lambda \cdot \nabla X(x)(\omega)) = (y, \vec{0}_{\mathbb{R}^d})\} = 0$$
then

$$\mathbb{P}\{\omega \in \Omega : \exists x \in D_0, X(x)(\omega) = y, \operatorname{rank} \nabla X(x)(\omega) < j\} = 0.$$

This completes the proof of the proposition.

We now have all the ingredients to prove Rice's general formula for all levels.

**3.3.2.** The general Rice formula. — In this section Theorem 3.3.3 provides a general Rice formula for any level, not necessarily regular. Note that Theorem 6.10 of [10] gives the same result but in this book, the proofs are only sketched.

The proof of Theorem 3.3.3 will be based on the proof of Theorem 3.2.5. Therefore, its proof will require more general assumptions than those denoted by  $\mathbf{B}_i$ , i = 1, ..., 4, which appear in this last theorem. Let us therefore state the following hypotheses  $\mathbf{C}_i$ , i = 1, ..., 4 with the same previous convention. For the three first assumptions  $\mathbf{C}_i$ , i = 1, ..., 3, the process Y will be expressed using (39).

In what follows we have the assumptions:

- $C_1$ : It is the assumption  $B_1$  plus the following hypothesis:  $\forall x \in D$  the vector  $(X(x), \nabla X(x))$  has a density.
- $C_2$ : It is the assumption  $B_2$  plus the following hypothesis.  $\forall x \in D$ , the vector  $(Z(x), \nabla Z(x))$  has a density.
- $C_3$ : It is the assumption  $B_3$  plus the following hypothesis: the function F verifies assumption (FF), i.e.
  - $(FF) \ \forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j, \ \exists C > 0$ , there exists a neighborhood  $V_y$  of y such that  $\forall \mu > 0$  and  $\forall u \in V_y$  we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{j'-j}} \frac{1}{\left|J_F(F_z^{-1}(u), z)\right|^{d+1}} e^{-\mu \|z\|_{j'-j}^2} \left\|\nabla F(F_z^{-1}(u), z)\right\|_{j, j'}^{(j-1)d} dz \leqslant C.$$

-  $C_4$ : It is the assumption  $B_4$  plus the following hypothesis: the process X verifies the assumption (S) of Proposition 3.3.2.

Theorem 3.3.3 states the general Rice formula for all level.

**Theorem 3.3.3.** — Let  $X : \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j$   $(j \leq d)$  be a random field in  $C^2(D, \mathbb{R}^j)$ , where D is a bounded convex open set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . We assume that for almost all  $\omega \in \Omega$ ,  $\nabla X(\omega)$  is Lipschitz with Lipschitz constant  $L_X(\omega)$  such that  $\mathbb{E}\left[L_X^d(\cdot)\right] < \infty$ . Let  $Y : \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  be a continuous process.

If Y satisfies (39) and if X and Y satisfy one of the three assumptions  $C_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3 and the hypothesis  $H_6$  or if X and Y satisfy hypothesis  $C_4$  then  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$  we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_X(y)} Y(x) \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right] = \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[Y(x) H(\nabla X(x)) \, \big| \, X(x) = y\right] \, dx.$$

**Remark 3.3.4.** — We can replace the hypothesis: "for almost all  $\omega \in \Omega$ ,  $\nabla X(\omega)$  is Lipschitz with Lipschitz constant  $L_X(\omega)$  having a moment of order d", with the assumption:

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\sup_{x\in D}\left\|\nabla^2(X(x))\right\|_{j,d}^{(s)}\right)^d\right]<\infty.$$

Indeed, if X is  $C^2$  on D, the Taylor formula on D convex and open set allows to conclude that, since almost surely

$$L_X := \sup_{x \in D} \|\nabla^2(X(x))\|_{j,d}^{(s)} < \infty,$$

then  $\nabla X$  is almost surely Lipschitz with Lipschitz constant  $L_X$ .

**Remark 3.3.5.** — We can generalize this theorem and the remark to the case where D is an open convex set not necessarily bounded.

Proof of Theorem 3.3.3. By Theorem 3.2.5, we already know that  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ 

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} Y(x) \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right] = \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[Y(x) H(\nabla X(x)) \, \middle| \, X(x) = y\right] \, dx.$$

Let us check that the assumption S holds. That is, let us prove that if  $D_0$  is a compact set contained in D and if X and Y satisfy one of the assumptions  $C_i$ , i = 1, ..., 3 then  $\forall (x, \lambda) \in D_0 \times S^{j-1}$  the random vector  $(X(x), \lambda \cdot \nabla X(x))$  has a density  $p_{X(x),\lambda \cdot \nabla X(x)}(u,w)$  such that  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$  there exists a constant C > 0, there exists a neighborhood  $V_y$  of y and a neighborhood  $V_{\vec{0}_d}$  of  $\vec{0}_{\mathbb{R}^d}$  such that  $\forall x \in D_0$  and  $\forall \lambda \in S^{j-1}$ ,  $\forall u \in V_y$  and  $\forall w \in V_{\vec{0}_d}$  it is true that  $p_{X(x),\lambda \cdot \nabla X(x)}(u,w) \leq C$ .

Note that the last conclusion is true when the processes X and Y satisfy the assumption  $C_4$ .

In this case, using Proposition 3.3.2, we will deduce that for any compact set  $D_0$  contained in D and  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

$$\mathbb{P}\left\{\omega \in \Omega : \exists x \in D_0, X(x)(\omega) = y, \operatorname{rank} \nabla X(x)(\omega) < j\right\} = 0.$$

By choosing the compact  $D_0 := D^{(n)} = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^d, d(x, D^c) \ge \frac{1}{n}\} \subseteq D$  we will deduce, since  $D^{(n)}$  tends in a nondecreasing way towards D, when  $n \to \infty$ , that  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

$$\mathbb{P}\{\omega \in \Omega : \exists x \in D, X(x)(\omega) = y, \operatorname{rank} \nabla X(x)(\omega) < j\} = 0.$$

We will then have shown that  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_X(y)} Y(x) \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)} Y(x) \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right]$$
$$= \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[Y(x) H(\nabla X(x)) \, \middle| \, X(x) = y\right] \, \mathrm{d}x,$$

that will end the proof of this theorem.

Let us check that the hypothesis S is verified, in the case where X and Y satisfy one of the conditions  $C_i$ , i = 1, ..., 3.

Let  $D_0$  be a compact set contained in D. For all  $x \in D_0$  and  $\forall \lambda \in S^{j-1}$ , in the case where Y satisfies (39) and X and Y satisfy one of the assumptions  $C_i$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, 3$ , in a first step we will study the density  $p_{X(x), \lambda \cdot \nabla X(x)}$  of the vector  $(X(x), \lambda \cdot \nabla X(x))$ . We will express the latter in terms of the density  $p_{X(x), \nabla X(x)}$  of the vector  $(X(x), \nabla X(x))$  which exists by the proof of Proposition 3.1.12 (cf. (46)). Thus, let us consider  $\lambda \in S^{j-1}$ ,  $\lambda := (\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_j)$ . There exists  $k \in \{1, \ldots, j\}$  such that  $|\lambda_k| \geqslant \frac{1}{\sqrt{j}}$ . We will assume for example k := j and that  $|\lambda_j| \geqslant \frac{1}{\sqrt{j}}$  this will imply  $\frac{1}{|\lambda_j|} \leqslant \sqrt{j}$ .

If 
$$u := (u_1, \dots, u_j) \in \mathbb{R}^j$$
 and

$$s := (s_{11}, s_{21}, \dots, s_{j1}, s_{12}, s_{22}, \dots, s_{j2}, \dots, s_{1d}, s_{2d}, \dots, s_{jd}) \in \mathbb{R}^{jd},$$

let us do as in the proof of Proposition 3.1.12 (third part) the following change of variables. Let K be the function defined by

$$K: \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathbb{R}^{jd} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^{(j-1)d}$$

$$(u,s) \longmapsto K(u,s) := \left( u, \sum_{i=1}^{j} \lambda_{i} s_{i1}, \sum_{i=1}^{j} \lambda_{i} s_{i2}, \dots, \sum_{i=1}^{j} \lambda_{i} s_{id}, \right.$$

$$s_{11}, s_{21}, \dots, s_{j-11}, s_{12}, s_{22}, \dots, s_{j-12}, \dots, s_{1d}, s_{2d}, \dots, s_{j-1d} \right).$$

The Jacobian  $J_K$  of this transformation is such that  $\forall (u,s) \in \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathbb{R}^{jd}$ 

$$|J_K(u,s)| = |\lambda_j|^d \neq 0,$$

by hypothesis.

Thus, K is a  $C^1(\mathbb{R}^j \times \mathbb{R}^{jd}, \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^{(j-1)d})$  one-to-one mapping, as well as

its inverse  $K^{-1}$  given by

$$K^{-1}: \mathbb{R}^{j} \times \mathbb{R}^{d} \times \mathbb{R}^{(j-1)d} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^{j} \times \mathbb{R}^{jd}$$

$$(u, s_{j1}, s_{j2}, \dots, s_{jd}; s_{11}, s_{21}, \dots, s_{j-11}, s_{12}, s_{22}, \dots, s_{j-12}, \dots, s_{1d}, s_{2d}, \dots, s_{j-1d})$$

$$\longmapsto \left(u, s_{11}, s_{21}, \dots, s_{j-11}, \frac{1}{\lambda_{j}} \left[-\sum_{i=1}^{j-1} \lambda_{i} s_{i1} + s_{j1}\right], s_{12}, s_{22}, \dots, s_{j-12}, s_{$$

For any  $\lambda \in S^{j-1}$ ,  $\forall x \in D_0$  we have

$$K(X(x), \nabla X(x)) = (X(x), \lambda \cdot \nabla X(x), (\nabla X(x))_{(i-1)d}),$$

where if  $s \in \mathbb{R}^{jd}$  we denoted  $s_{(i-1)d}$  by

$$s_{(i-1)d} := (s_{11}, s_{21}, \dots, s_{j-11}, s_{12}, s_{22}, \dots, s_{j-12}, \dots, s_{1d}, s_{2d}, \dots, s_{j-1d}).$$

With these notations, if  $p_{X(x),\lambda\cdot\nabla X(x),(\nabla X(x))_{(j-1)d}}$  denotes the density of the vector  $(X(x),\lambda\cdot\nabla X(x),(\nabla X(x))_{(j-1)d})$ , we have:  $\forall \lambda\in S^{j-1},\ \forall x\in D_0,\ \forall (u,s)\in\mathbb{R}^j\times\mathbb{R}^{jd}$ ,

$$p_{X(x),\lambda\cdot\nabla X(x),(\nabla X(x))_{(j-1)d}}(u,s) = \frac{1}{|\lambda_j|^d} p_{X(x),\nabla X(x)} \left(K^{-1}(u,s)\right).$$

We deduce that

$$\forall \lambda \in S^{j-1}, \forall x \in D_0, \forall (u, w) \in \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathbb{R}^d, w := (w_1, w_2, \dots, w_d),$$

$$(57) \quad p_{X(x),\lambda\cdot\nabla X(x)}(u,w) = \frac{1}{|\lambda_{j}|^{d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{(j-1)d}} p_{X(x),\nabla X(x)} \left(u, s_{11}, s_{21}, \dots, s_{j-11}, \frac{1}{\lambda_{j}} \left[-\sum_{i=1}^{j-1} \lambda_{i} s_{i1} + w_{1}\right], s_{12}, s_{22}, \dots, s_{j-12}, \frac{1}{\lambda_{j}} \left[-\sum_{i=1}^{j-1} \lambda_{i} s_{i2} + w_{2}\right], \dots, s_{1d}, s_{2d}, \dots, s_{j-1d}, \frac{1}{\lambda_{j}} \left[-\sum_{i=1}^{j-1} \lambda_{i} s_{id} + w_{d}\right]\right) ds_{(j-1)d}.$$

We now need find an upper bound for this density. For this purpose, let us consider each of  $C_i$ , i = 1, ..., 3 assumptions.

– If X and Y satisfy the assumption  $C_1$ , then  $\forall x \in D_0$  the vector  $(X(x), \nabla X(x))$  has a non singular density and since X is a process of class  $C^2$  the covariance matrix of this vector is strictly positive on the

compact set  $D_0$ . Then there exist real numbers a, b > 0 such that  $\forall x \in D_0$ ,  $0 < a \le \inf_{\|z\|_{j(d+1)} = 1} \| \mathbb{V}(X(x), \nabla X(x)) \times z \|_{j(d+1)} \le b$ . In the same way as we obtained the equality (48), and with the same notations, we prove the existence of a number  $\mu > 0$  and a number C > 0, such that  $\forall (x, u, s) \in D_0 \times \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathbb{R}^{dj}$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} p_{X(x),\nabla X(x)}(u,s) &\leqslant C e^{-\mu \|(u,s)\|_{j(d+1)}^2} \\ &\leqslant C e^{-\mu \|s\|_{jd}^2} \\ &\leqslant C e^{-\mu \|s_{(j-1)d}\|_{(j-1)d}^2}. \end{aligned}$$

Using the equality (57), we obtain the following bound:  $\forall \lambda \in S^{j-1}$ ,  $\forall \boldsymbol{x} \in D_0, \forall (u, w) \in \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathbb{R}^d$ ,

$$p_{X(x),\lambda\cdot\nabla X(x)}(u,w) \leqslant \frac{C}{|\lambda_j|^d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{(j-1)d}} e^{-\mu \|s_{(j-1)d}\|_{(j-1)d}^2} \,\mathrm{d}s_{(j-1)d}$$
  
$$\leqslant C.$$

the last inequality comes from the fact that  $1/|\lambda_j|^d \leq (\sqrt{j})^d$ . The assumption (S) is satisfied.

- If X and Y satisfy the assumption  $C_2$ , then  $\forall x \in D_0$  the vector  $(Z(x), \nabla Z(x))$  has a non-degenerate density. In the same way as in the first part, we show the existence of a number  $\mu > 0$  and of a number C > 0 such that  $\forall (x, u, s) \in D_0 \times \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathbb{R}^{dj}$ ,

$$p_{Z(x),\nabla Z(x)}(u,s) \leqslant \mathbf{C}e^{-\mu||s||_{jd}^2}$$

Moreover, the equality (46) proved in the third part of the proof of Proposition 3.1.12 and applied to j := j' shows that the density of the vector  $(X(x), \nabla X(x))$ , for all  $(x, u, s) \in D_0 \times \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathbb{R}^{dj}$ , is given by:

$$p_{X(x),\nabla X(x)}(u,s) = \frac{1}{|J_F(F^{-1}(u))|^{d+1}} \times p_{Z(x),\nabla Z(x)} (F^{-1}(u), (\nabla F(F^{-1}(u)))^{-1} \times s).$$

We deduce that there exists a constant  $\mu > 0$  such that  $\forall (x, u, s) \in D_0 \times \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathbb{R}^{dj}$ ,

$$p_{X(x),\nabla X(x)}(u,s) \leqslant \frac{C}{|J_F(F^{-1}(u))|^{d+1}} \times e^{-\mu \left\| (\nabla F(F^{-1}(u)))^{-1} \times s \right\|_{jd}^2}.$$

Let y now be a fixed vector in  $\mathbb{R}^j$ . Since the function F is  $C^1(\mathbb{R}^j, \mathbb{R}^j)$  and  $F^{-1}$  is continuous, the Jacobian  $J_F(F^{-1})$  is continuous on  $\mathbb{R}^j$  and nonzero everywhere. Let  $V_y$  a compact neighborhood of y, then  $\exists C >$ 

0 such that  $\forall u \in V_y$  we have  $\frac{1}{|J_F(F^{-1}(u))|^{d+1}} \leq C$ . Moreover,  $\forall u \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,  $(\nabla F(F^{-1}(u)))^{-1} \in \mathfrak{L}(\mathbb{R}^j, \mathbb{R}^j)$  and thus for all  $s \in$  $\mathbb{R}^{jd}$ ,

(58) 
$$\|(\nabla F(F^{-1}(u)))^{-1} \times s\|_{jd} \geqslant \frac{\|s\|_{jd}}{\|\nabla F(F^{-1}(u))\|_{j,j}}.$$

Since F is  $C^1(\mathbb{R}^j, \mathbb{R}^j)$  and  $F^{-1}$  is continuous, the  $\nabla F(F^{-1}(\cdot))$  is a continuous function of  $\mathbb{R}^j$  into  $\mathfrak{L}(\mathbb{R}^j,\mathbb{R}^j)$ . exists a constant C > 0 such that  $\forall u \in V_y$ , we have

$$\|\nabla F(F^{-1}(u))\|_{i,j} \leqslant C.$$

We deduce that  $\forall s \in \mathbb{R}^{jd}$  and  $\forall u \in V_u$ ,

$$\left\| (\nabla F(F^{-1}(u)))^{-1} \times s \right\|_{id} \geqslant C \left\| s \right\|_{jd}.$$

Finally, we conclude that  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ , there exists a constant C > 0, a neighborhood  $V_y$  of y and a constant  $\mu > 0$  such that  $\forall x \in D_0, \forall u \in V_y$ and for all  $s \in \mathbb{R}^{jd}$  we have

$$p_{X(x),\nabla X(x)}(u,s) \leqslant Ce^{-\mu||s||_{jd}^2}$$
.

Then in the same way as in the first part of the proof of this theorem, we deduce that  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ , there exists a constant C > 0, a neighborhood of y, (let say  $V_y$ ), such that  $\forall x \in D_0$  and  $\forall \lambda \in S^{j-1}$ ,  $\forall u \in V_y$  and  $\forall w \in \mathbb{R}^d$ ,

$$p_{X(x),\lambda\cdot\nabla X(x)}(u,w) \leqslant C.$$

Assumption (S) is satisfied.

- If X and Y satisfy the assumption  $C_3$ , in the same way as before and since  $D_0$  is a compact set, there exist constants  $\mu > 0$  and C > 0 such that  $\forall (x, u, s) \in D_0 \times \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathbb{R}^{dj'}$ ,

$$p_{Z(x),\nabla Z(x)}(u,s) \leqslant Ce^{-\mu||u||_{j'}^2}e^{-\mu||s||_{j'd}^2}.$$

The equality (46) proved in the third part of the proof of Proposition 3.1.12, shows that the density of the random vector  $(X(x), \nabla X(x))$  exists. Using the same notations and (58), we can prove that the latter density is bounded in the following form, for all  $(x, u, s_{(i,d)}) \in D_0 \times \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathbb{R}^{dj}$ ,

$$p_{X(x),\nabla X(x)}(u,s_{(j,d)}) \leqslant C \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j'-j}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{(j'-j)d}} \frac{1}{\left| J_F(F_z^{-1}(u),z) \right|^{d+1}} \times e^{-\mu \|z\|_{j'-j}^2} \times e^{-\mu \|s_{(j'-j,d)}\|_{(j'-j)d}^2}$$

$$\times e^{-\mu \left\| \left[\nabla F(F_z^{-1}(u),z)\right]_{jj} \right\|_{jj}^{-2} \times \left\| s_{j,d} - \left[\nabla F(F_z^{-1}(u),z)\right]_{jj'-j} s_{j'-j,d} \right\|_{jd}^2 \mathrm{d} s_{(j'-j,d)} \, \mathrm{d} z.}$$

We deduce that  $\forall (x, u, s_{(j,d)}) \in D_0 \times \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathbb{R}^{dj}$ ,

$$p_{X(x),\nabla X(x)}(u,s_{(j,d)}) \leqslant C \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j'-j}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{(j'-j)d}} \frac{1}{\left|J_F(F_z^{-1}(u),z)\right|^{d+1}} \times e^{-\mu \|z\|_{j'-j}^2} \times e^{-\mu \|s_{(j'-j,d)}\|_{(j'-j)d}^2} \times e^{-\mu \|[\nabla F(F_z^{-1}(u),z)]_{jj}\|_{jj}^{-2} \times \|s_{j-1,d} - [\nabla F(F_z^{-1}(u),z)]_{j-1j'-j} s_{j'-j,d}\|_{(j-1)d}^2} \times e^{-\mu \|[\nabla F(F_z^{-1}(u),z)]_{jj}\|_{jj}^{-2} \times \|s_{j-1,d} - [\nabla F(F_z^{-1}(u),z)]_{j-1j'-j} s_{j'-j,d}\|_{(j-1)d}^2} ds_{(j'-j,d)} dz,$$

where the matrix  $s_{j-1,d}$  is the matrix  $s_{j,d}$  from which we deleted the j-th row and  $\left[\nabla F(F_z^{-1}(u),z)\right]_{j-1j'-j}$  is the matrix  $\left[\nabla F(F_z^{-1}(u),z)\right]_{jj'-j}$  from which we deleted the j-th row.

Using (57), we get:

$$\exists C > 0, \exists \mu > 0, \forall x \in D_0, \forall \lambda \in S^{j-1}, \forall (u, w) \in \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathbb{R}^d,$$

$$p_{X(x),\lambda \cdot \nabla X(x)}(u,w) \leqslant C \int_{\mathbb{R}^{(j-1)d} \times \mathbb{R}^{j'-j} \times \mathbb{R}^{(j'-j)d}} \frac{1}{\left| J_F(F_z^{-1}(u),z) \right|^{d+1}}$$

$$\times e^{-\mu \|z\|_{j'-j}^2} \times e^{-\mu \|s_{(j'-j,d)}\|_{(j'-j)d}^2}$$

$$\times e^{-\mu \|[\nabla F(F_z^{-1}(u),z)]_{jj}\|_{jj}^{-2} \|s_{j-1,d} - [\nabla F(F_z^{-1}(u),z)]_{j-1j'-j} s_{j'-j,d}\|_{(j-1)d}^2}$$

$$ds_{(j'-j,d)} dz ds_{(j-1,d)}.$$

We perform the following change of variables in the integral on  $\mathbb{R}^{(j-1)d}$ :

$$s_{j-1,d} - \left[\nabla F(F_z^{-1}(u), z)\right]_{j-1j'-j} s_{j'-j,d} = \left\| \left[\nabla F(F_z^{-1}(u), z)\right]_{jj} \right\|_{jj} \cdot v_{j-1,d}.$$

We get:  $\exists C > 0, \exists \mu > 0, \forall x \in D_0, \forall \lambda \in S^{j-1}, \forall (u, w) \in \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathbb{R}^d,$ 

$$p_{X(x),\lambda \cdot \nabla X(x)}(u,w) \leqslant C \int_{\mathbb{R}^{(j-1)d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j'-j}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{(j'-j)d}} \frac{1}{\left| J_F(F_z^{-1}(u),z) \right|^{d+1}}$$

$$\times e^{-\mu \|z\|_{j'-j}^2} \times e^{-\mu \|s_{(j'-j,d)}\|_{(j'-j)d}^2}$$

$$\times e^{-\mu \left\| (v_{j-1,d}) \right\|_{(j-1)d}^{2}} \times \left\| \left[ \nabla F(F_{z}^{-1}(u), z) \right]_{jj} \right\|_{jj}^{(j-1)d} \, \mathrm{d}s_{(j'-j,d)} \, \mathrm{d}z \, \mathrm{d}v_{(j-1,d)}$$

$$\leq C \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j'-j}} \frac{1}{\left| J_{F}(F_{z}^{-1}(u), z) \right|^{d+1}} e^{-\mu \left\| z \right\|_{j'-j}^{2}} \left\| \left[ \nabla F(F_{z}^{-1}(u), z) \right]_{jj} \right\|_{jj}^{(j-1)d} \, \mathrm{d}z$$

$$\leq C \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j'-j}} \frac{1}{\left| J_{F}(F_{z}^{-1}(u), z) \right|^{d+1}} e^{-\mu \left\| z \right\|_{j'-j}^{2}} \left\| \nabla F(F_{z}^{-1}(u), z) \right\|_{jj'}^{(j-1)d} \, \mathrm{d}z .$$

The  $C_3$  assumption allows to obtain that  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ , there exists C > 0, a neighborhood  $V_y$  of y, such that  $\forall x \in D_0$ ,  $\forall \lambda \in S^{j-1}$ ,  $\forall u \in V_y$  and  $\forall w \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , we have

$$p_{X(x),\lambda\cdot\nabla X(x)}(u,w) \leqslant C.$$

The hypothesis (S) is then verified. This ends the proof of the theorem.

In the same way as in Theorem 3.2.8, we can get rid of the assumption that  $\mathbb{E}\left[L_X^d(\cdot)\right] < \infty$  in Theorem 3.3.3. If one of the assumptions  $C_1$ ,  $C_2$ ,  $C_3$  or  $C_4$  is replaced by  $C_1^{\star}$ ,  $C_2^{\star}$ ,  $C_3^{\star}$  or  $C_4^{\star}$ , the Rice's formula is still true. In the first three assumptions  $C_1^{\star}$ ,  $C_2^{\star}$  and  $C_3^{\star}$ , we make the hypothesis that Y can be written as in (39).

More precisely

- $C_1^*$ : It is the assumption  $C_1$ , plus the following hypothesis: for almost all  $(x_1, x_2) \in D \times D$  the density of the vector  $(X(x_1), X(x_2))$  exists.
- $-C_2^*$ : It is the assumption  $C_2$  plus the following hypothesis: for almost all  $(x_1, x_2) \in D \times D$  the density of the vector  $(Z(x_1), Z(x_2))$  exists.
- $C_3^*$ : It is the assumption  $C_3$  plus the following hypothesis: for almost all  $(x_1, x_2) \in D \times D$  the density of the vector  $(Z(x_1), Z(x_2))$  exists.
- $C_4^{\star}$ : It is the assumption  $B_4^{\star}$  plus the following hypothesis: the process X verifies assumption (S).

Theorem 3.3.6 summarizes all the results obtained previously. This is a new result.

**Theorem 3.3.6.** — Let  $X: \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j$   $(j \leq d)$  be a random field in  $C^2(D, \mathbb{R}^j)$ , where D is a convex open bounded set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , such that for almost all  $\omega \in \Omega$ ,  $\nabla X(\omega)$  is Lipschitz. Let  $Y: \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  be a continuous process. If Y satisfies (39) and if X and Y satisfy one of the three assumptions  $C_i^*$ , i = 1, 2, 3 and the hypotheses  $H_6$  and  $H_6^*$  or if X and Y satisfy the assumption  $C_4^*$ , then  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$  we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_X(y)} Y(x) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right] = \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[Y(x) H(\nabla X(x)) \, \big| \, X(x) = y\right] \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Remark 3.3.7. — In the same way as in Remark 3.3.4, one can replace in the theorem the hypothesis "for almost all  $\omega \in \Omega$ ,  $\nabla X(\omega)$  is Lipschitz", by the hypothesis "almost surely  $L_X := \sup_{x \in D} \|\nabla^2 X(x)\|_{j,d}^{(s)} < \infty$ ", since almost surely the process  $\nabla X$  will be Lipschitz with Lipschitz constant  $L_X$ .

Г

**Remark 3.3.8.** — We can generalized this theorem in the case where D is a convex open not necessarily bounded. In what follows, we discuss only the second moment, but see Remark 3.3.12 for the k-th moment.

**3.3.3.** Rice formula for the k-th moment. — Theorem 3.3.3 will allow to state a general Rice formula for the second moment.

Let us assume  $D_i$ , i = 1, ..., 4, where in the first three  $D_1$ ,  $D_2$  and  $D_3$ , we also assume that Y can be written as in (39).

We denote  $\Delta := \{(x_1, x_2) \in D \times D, x_1 = x_2\} \subset \mathbb{R}^{2d}$ , where D is an open set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . Let us state the following hypotheses  $\mathbf{D}_i$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, 4$ .

- $D_1$ : It is the assumption  $E_1$ , plus the following hypothesis:  $\forall x \in D$ , the vector  $(X(x), \nabla X(x))$  has a density.
- $\mathbf{D}_2$ : It is the assumption  $\mathbf{E}_2$ , plus the following hypothesis:  $\forall x \in D$ , the vector  $(Z(x), \nabla Z(x))$  has a density.
- $D_3$ : It is the assumption  $E_3$ , plus the following hypothesis: the function F verifies assumption (FF) appearing in assumption  $C_3$ .
- $-D_4$ : It is the assumption  $E_4$ , plus the following hypothesis: the process X satisfies the assumption (S).

The assumptions  $E_i$ , i = 1, ..., 4, are the following:

-  $E_1$ : The process  $X: \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j$   $(j \leq d)$  is Gaussian and is  $C^2(D, \mathbb{R}^j)$  on D, such that for all  $(x_1, x_2) \in D \times D - \Delta$ , the vector  $(X(x_1), X(x_2))$  has a density.

Moreover, for almost all  $(x_1, x_2) \in D \times D$ , the vector  $(W(x_1), W(x_2))$  is independent of the vector  $(X(x_1), X(x_2), \nabla X(x_1), \nabla X(x_2))$ , and  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\int_D \mathbb{E}[\|W(x)\|_k^n] \, \mathrm{d}x < \infty.$$

-  $\mathbf{E}_2$ :  $\forall x \in D$ , X(x) = F(Z(x)), where  $F : \mathbb{R}^j \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^j$  is a bijective function in  $C^2(\mathbb{R}^j, \mathbb{R}^j)$ , such that  $\forall z \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,  $J_F(z)$ , the Jacobian of F in z, is such that  $J_F(z) \neq 0$  and the function  $F^{-1}$  is continuous. The process  $Z : \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j$  ( $j \leq d$ ) is Gaussian and is  $C^2(D, \mathbb{R}^j)$ , such that for all  $(x_1, x_2) \in D \times D - \Delta$ , the vector  $(Z(x_1), Z(x_2))$  has a density. Moreover, for almost all  $(x_1, x_2) \in D \times D$ , the vector  $(W(x_1), W(x_2))$  is independent of the vector  $(Z(x_1), Z(x_2), \nabla Z(x_1), \nabla Z(x_2))$ , and  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\int_D \mathbb{E}[\|W(x)\|_k^n] \, \mathrm{d}x < \infty.$$

-  $\mathbf{E}_3$ :  $\forall x \in D, X(x) = F(Z(x))$ , where the process  $Z : \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^{j'}$  (j < j') is Gaussian and is  $C^2(D, \mathbb{R}^{j'})$ , such that  $\forall (x_1, x_2) \in D \times D - \mathbb{R}^{j'}$ 

 $\Delta$ , the vector  $(Z(x_1), Z(x_2), \nabla Z(x_1), \nabla Z(x_2))$  has a density. Moreover, for almost all  $(x_1, x_2) \in D \times D$ , the vector  $(W(x_1), W(x_2))$  is independent of the vector  $(Z(x_1), Z(x_2), \nabla Z(x_1), \nabla Z(x_2))$ . Also,  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\int_D \mathbb{E}[\|W(x)\|_k^n] \, \mathrm{d}x < \infty.$$

The function F verifies assumption  $(\mathbf{F})$  appearing in assumption  $\mathbf{A}_3$ .  $-\mathbf{E}_4$ : For almost all  $(x_1, x_2, y_1, y_2, \dot{x}_1, \dot{x}_2) \in D \times D \times \mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{dj} \times \mathbb{R}^{dj}$  and  $\forall u \in \mathbb{R}^j$ , the density

$$p_{Y(x_1),Y(x_2),X(x_1),X(x_2),\nabla X(x_1),\nabla X(x_2)}(y_1,y_2,u,u,\dot{x}_1,\dot{x}_2),$$

of the joint distribution of  $(Y(x_1), Y(x_2), X(x_1), X(x_2), \nabla X(x_1), \nabla X(x_2))$ , exists and is continuous in the variable u.

Furthermore

$$u \longmapsto \int_{D \times D} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{2dj}} |y_1| |y_2| \|\dot{x}_1\|_{dj}^j \|\dot{x}_2\|_{dj}^j$$
$$\times p_{Y(x_1),Y(x_2),X(x_1),X(x_2),\nabla X(x_1),\nabla X(x_2)}(y_1, y_2, u, u, \dot{x}_1, \dot{x}_2)$$
$$\times d\dot{x}_1 d\dot{x}_2 dy_1 dy_2 dx_1 dx_2,$$

is continuous.

Let us state the hypothesis  $H_7$ .

$$- \mathbf{H}_7$$
:  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

$$\int_{D \times D} \mathbb{E} [|Y(x_1)| | Y(x_2) | H(\nabla X(x_1)) H(\nabla X(x_2)) | X(x_1) = X(x_2) = y]$$

$$\times p_{X(x_1), X(x_2)}(y, y) \, \mathrm{d}x_1 \, \mathrm{d}x_2 < \infty.$$

We are ready to prove Theorem 3.3.9.

**Theorem 3.3.9.** — Let  $X: \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^j$  (j < d) be a random field in  $C^2(D, \mathbb{R}^j)$ , where D is a bounded, convex open set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , such that for almost all  $\omega \in \Omega$ ,  $\nabla X(\omega)$  is Lipschitz with Lipschitz constant  $L_X(\omega)$  such that  $\mathbb{E}\left[L_X^{2d}(\cdot)\right] < \infty$ . Let  $Y: \Omega \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  a continuous process. If Y satisfies (39) and if X and Y satisfy one of the three assumptions  $D_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3 and the hypothesis  $H_7$  or if X and Y satisfy the assumption  $D_4$ , then  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$  we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_{\mathcal{C}_X(y)} Y(x) \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right)^2\right]$$

(59) 
$$= \int_{D \times D} \mathbb{E} \big[ Y(x_1) Y(x_2) H(\nabla X(x_1)) H(\nabla X(x_2)) \, \big| \, X(x_1) = X(x_2) = y \big]$$
$$\times p_{X(x_1), X(x_2)}(y, y) \, \mathrm{d}x_1 \, \mathrm{d}x_2.$$

**Remark 3.3.10.** — As in Remark 3.3.4, we can replace in the theorem the hypothesis that for almost all  $\omega \in \Omega$ ,  $\nabla X(\omega)$  is Lipschitz with Lipschitz constant  $L_X(\omega)$  such that  $\mathbb{E}\left[L_X^{2d}(\cdot)\right] < \infty$  by the hypothesis that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\sup_{x\in D}\left\|\nabla^2 X(x)\right\|_{j,d}^{(s)}\right)^{2d}\right] < \infty.$$

**Remark 3.3.11.** — Under the same assumptions as in the theorem or those of Remark 3.3.14 formulated later, for j = d, one obtains a result similar to that given in (59). We just have to replace

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_{\mathcal{C}_X(y)} Y(x) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right)^2\right]$$

by

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_{\mathcal{C}_X(y)} Y(x) \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right)^2 - \int_{\mathcal{C}_X(y)} Y^2(x) \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right]$$

in (59). The right-hand side remains unchanged. However, it should be noted that in this particular case,  $\sigma_0$  is the counting measure.

**Remark 3.3.12.** — Under the same type of hypotheses as those given in the theorem, or later in Remark 3.3.14, one can propose a general Rice formula for the moments of order k of the process Y integrated on the level set of the random field X, and this  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ .

**Remark 3.3.13.** — Theorem 3.3.9 and also Remarks 3.3.11, 3.3.12 and 3.3.14 can be generalized to D, a convex open set  $\mathbb{R}^d$  not necessarily bounded. Remark 3.1.10 arguments can be followed *mutatis mutandis*.

Proof of Theorem 3.3.9. The idea is to apply Remark 3.2.7 according to Theorem 3.2.5 for the convex and open set  $D \times D$  and the bounded open set  $D_1 = D \times D - \Delta$ , to the processes  $\widetilde{X}$  and  $\widetilde{Y}$  as

$$\widetilde{X}: \Omega \times D \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{2d} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^{2j}$$

$$x = (x_1, x_2) \longmapsto \widetilde{X}(x) := (X(x_1), X(x_2)),$$

and

$$\widetilde{Y}: \Omega \times D \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{2d} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$$

$$x = (x_1, x_2) \longmapsto \widetilde{Y}(x) := Y(x_1) \times Y(x_2).$$

Since X is a random field in  $C^2(D,\mathbb{R}^j)$ , then  $\widetilde{X}$  is a random field in  $C^2(D\times D,\mathbb{R}^{2j})$  and  $D\times D$  is a convex open set of  $\mathbb{R}^{2d}$ . Also  $\widetilde{Y}_{|D\times D-\Delta}$  is still continuous on  $D\times D-\Delta$ , an open bounded set of  $\mathbb{R}^{2d}$  contained in  $D\times D$ . Since for almost all  $\omega\in\Omega$ ,  $\nabla X(\omega)$  is Lipschitz with Lipschitz constant  $L_X(\omega)$  such that  $\mathbb{E}\big[L_X^{2d}(\cdot)\big]<\infty$ , then for almost all  $\omega\in\Omega$ ,  $\nabla\widetilde{X}(\omega)$  is Lipschitz with Lipschitz constant  $L_{\widetilde{X}}(\omega)=L_X(\omega)$ , such that  $\mathbb{E}\big[L_{\widetilde{X}}^{2d}(\cdot)\big]<\infty$ . Then under one of the assumptions  $\mathbf{C}_i$ ,  $i=1,\ldots,3$ , since Y is written as a function G of X and of  $\nabla X$  and of the variable  $W:\Omega\times D\subset\mathbb{R}^d\to\mathbb{R}^k$ ,  $k\in\mathbb{N}^*$ , in the following form, for almost all  $x\in D$ :

$$Y(x) = G(x, W(x), X(x), \nabla X(x)),$$

where

$$G: D \times \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathfrak{L}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^j) \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$$
  
 $(x, z, u, A) \longmapsto G(x, z, u, A),$ 

is a continuous function of its variables on  $D \times \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathfrak{L}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^j)$  and such that  $\forall (x, z, u, A) \in D \times \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{R}^j \times \mathfrak{L}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^j)$ ,

$$|G(x, z, u, A)| \le P(f(x), ||z||_k, h(u), ||A||_{j,d}),$$

where P is a polynomial with positive coefficients and  $f: D \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^+$  and  $h: \mathbb{R}^j \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^+$  are continuous functions, it is the same for  $\widetilde{Y}$ . More precisely, for almost all  $x := (x_1, x_2) \in D \times D$ ,

$$\widetilde{Y}(x) := \widetilde{G}(x, \widetilde{W}(x), \widetilde{X}(x), \nabla \widetilde{X}(x)),$$

where

$$\widetilde{W}: \Omega \times D \times D \subset \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{2d} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^{2k}$$

$$x = (x_1, x_2) \longmapsto \widetilde{W}(x) := (W(x_1), W(x_2)),$$

$$\widetilde{G}: D^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{2k} \times \mathbb{R}^{2j} \times \mathfrak{B}(\mathbb{R}^{2d}, \mathbb{R}^{2j}) \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$$

$$\left(x = (x_1, x_2), z = (z_1, z_2), u = (u_1, u_2), \begin{pmatrix} A & 0 \\ 0 & B \end{pmatrix}\right)$$

$$\longmapsto \widetilde{G}\left(x, z, u, \begin{pmatrix} A & 0 \\ 0 & B \end{pmatrix}\right) := G(x_1, z_1, u_1, A) \times G(x_2, z_2, u_2, B),$$

where  $\mathfrak{B}(\mathbb{R}^{2d}, \mathbb{R}^{2j})$  is the vector subspace of  $\mathfrak{L}(\mathbb{R}^{2d}, \mathbb{R}^{2j})$  of the matrices of the form  $C := \begin{pmatrix} A & 0 \\ 0 & B \end{pmatrix}$  where  $A, B \in \mathfrak{L}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^j)$ .

It is clear that  $\widetilde{G}$  remains a continuous function defined on

$$D^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{2k} \times \mathbb{R}^{2j} \times \mathfrak{B}(\mathbb{R}^{2d}, \mathbb{R}^{2j}).$$

and such that  $\forall (x, z, u, C) \in D^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{2k} \times \mathbb{R}^{2j} \times \mathfrak{B}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^j)$ ,

$$\begin{split} \left| \widetilde{G}(x,z,u,C) \right| &\leqslant P(f(x_1), \|z_1\|_k \,, h(u_1), \|A\|_{j,d}) \\ &\qquad \times P(f(x_2), \|z_2\|_k \,, h(u_2), \|B\|_{j,d}) \\ &\leqslant \widetilde{P}(\widetilde{f}(x), \|z\|_{2k} \,, \widetilde{h}(u), \|C\|_{2j,2d}), \end{split}$$

where  $\widetilde{f}$  is

$$\widetilde{f}: D^2 \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^+$$

$$x = (x_1, x_2) \longmapsto \widetilde{f}(x) := f(x_1) + f(x_2),$$

while  $\widetilde{h}$  is

$$\widetilde{h}: \mathbb{R}^{2j} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^+$$

$$u = (u_1, u_2) \longmapsto \widetilde{h}(u) := h(u_1) + h(u_2).$$

They are continuous functions and  $\widetilde{P}$  is a polynomial with positive coefficients.

It is easy to verify that  $\widetilde{X}$  and  $\widetilde{Y}_{|D\times D-\Delta}$  satisfy the hypotheses  $B_i$ ,  $i=1,\ldots,4$ , of Remark 3.2.7 following Theorem 3.2.5, respectively for the convex open set  $D\times D$  and for the open and bounded set  $D\times D-\Delta$  contained in  $D\times D$ .

Moreover, if X and Y satisfy the hypothesis  $\mathbf{H}_7$  then  $\widetilde{X}$  et  $\widetilde{Y}_{|D \times D - \Delta}$  satisfy the hypothesis  $\mathbf{H}_6$ , since  $\forall x \in D \times D$ ,

(60) 
$$H(\nabla \widetilde{X}(x)) = H(\nabla X(x_1)) \times H(\nabla X(x_2)).$$

It turns out that  $\widetilde{X}$  and  $\widetilde{Y}_{|D\times D-\Delta}$  satisfy the hypotheses of Remark 3.2.7 following Theorem 3.2.5.

Now the hypotheses satisfied by X and Y make these two processes verify the hypotheses  $\mathbf{C}_i$ , i = 1, ..., 4, contained in Theorem 3.3.3 and those of Proposition 3.3.2. Therefore, in the same way as in this theorem, we obtain that  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

(61) 
$$\mathbb{P}\{\omega \in \Omega : \exists x \in D, X(x)(\omega) = y, \operatorname{rank} \nabla X(x)(\omega) < j\} = 0.$$

One can deduce  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

(62) 
$$\mathbb{P}\{\omega \in \Omega : \exists x \in D \times D, \widetilde{X}(x)(\omega) = (y, y), \operatorname{rank} \nabla \widetilde{X}(x)(\omega) < 2j\} = 0.$$

Indeed, using (60),  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

$$\mathbb{P}\{\omega \in \Omega : \exists x \in D \times D, \widetilde{X}(x)(\omega) = (y, y), \operatorname{rank} \nabla \widetilde{X}(x)(\omega) < 2j\}$$

$$\leq \mathbb{P}\{\omega \in \Omega : \exists x \in D, X(x)(\omega) = y, \operatorname{rank} \nabla X(x)(\omega) < j\} = 0.$$

Remark 3.2.7 applied to  $\widetilde{X}$  and  $\widetilde{Y}_{|D\times D-\Delta}$  with (62) and (60) allow to write  $\forall y\in\mathbb{R}^j$ ,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_{D\times D-\Delta,\widetilde{X}}^{Dr}(y,y)} \widetilde{Y}(x) d\sigma_{2(d-j)}(x)\right]$$

$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_{D\times D-\Delta,\widetilde{X}}(y,y)} \widetilde{Y}(x) d\sigma_{2(d-j)}(x)\right]$$

$$= \int_{D\times D-\Delta} p_{\widetilde{X}(x)}(y,y) \mathbb{E}\left[\widetilde{Y}(x)H(\nabla \widetilde{X}(x)) \middle| \widetilde{X}(x) = (y,y)\right] dx$$

$$= \int_{D\times D} \mathbb{E}[Y(x_1)Y(x_2)H(\nabla X(x_1))H(\nabla X(x_2)) \middle| X(x_1) = X(x_2) = y]$$

$$\times p_{X(x_1),X(x_2)}(y,y) dx_1 dx_2.$$

The last equality is justified by the fact that  $\sigma_{2d}(\Delta) = 0$ .

Moreover, we know, using Remark 3.1.4 and (61) that  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ , almost surely  $\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y) = \mathcal{C}_X(y)$  and  $\mathcal{C}_X^{D^r}(y)$  is a differentiable manifold of dimension (d-j). Thus  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ , almost surely the set  $A = \{(x,x) \in D \times D, X(x) = y\}$  is a differentiable manifold of dimension (d-j). Thus, since j < d, almost surely  $\sigma_{2(d-j)}(A) = 0$ . So,  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_{D\times D-\Delta,\widetilde{X}}(y,y)} \widetilde{Y}(x) \, d\sigma_{2(d-j)}(x)\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_{D\times D,\widetilde{X}}(y,y)} \widetilde{Y}(x) \, d\sigma_{2(d-j)}(x)\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_{\mathcal{C}_{X}(y)} Y(x) \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right)^{2}\right].$$

The last equality comes from the fact that  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

$$C_{D \times D, \widetilde{X}}(y, y) = C_X(y) \times C_X(y).$$

This completes the proof of this theorem.

Proof of Remark 3.3.11. Under the same hypotheses as in Theorem 3.3.9, but for j = d, we do the same proof as before. We obtain  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ ,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_{D\times D-\Delta,\widetilde{X}}(y,y)} \widetilde{Y}(x) \,d\sigma_{2(d-j)}(x)\right]$$

$$= \int_{D\times D} \mathbb{E}\left[Y(x_1)Y(x_2)H(\nabla X(x_1))H(\nabla X(x_2)) \,\middle|\, X(x_1) = X(x_2) = y\right]$$

$$\times p_{X(x_1),X(x_2)}(y,y) \,dx_1 \,dx_2.$$

In the same way, the set A is still almost surely a differentiable manifold and since  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ 

$$C_{D\times D.\widetilde{X}}(y,y) = C_X(y) \times C_X(y),$$

we can write, recalling that in this case  $\sigma_{d-j}$  is the counting measure,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_{D\times D-\Delta,\widetilde{X}}(y,y)} \widetilde{Y}(x) \, d\sigma_{2(d-j)}(x)\right]$$

$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_{D\times D,\widetilde{X}}(y,y)} \widetilde{Y}(x) \, d\sigma_{2(d-j)}(x) - \int_{\mathcal{C}_{X}(y)} Y^{2}(x) \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right]$$

$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_{\mathcal{C}_{X}(y)} Y(x) \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right)^{2} - \int_{\mathcal{C}_{X}(y)} Y^{2}(x) \, d\sigma_{d-j}(x)\right].$$

This completes the proof of this remark.

Remark 3.3.14. — In the same manner as in Theorems 3.2.8 and 3.3.6, we can weaken the hypothesis  $\mathbb{E}\left[L_X^{2d}(\cdot)\right] < \infty$  in Theorem 3.3.9. More precisely, we can make the hypothesis that for almost all  $\omega \in \Omega$ ,  $\nabla X(\omega)$  is Lipschitz or as in Remark 3.3.10, demander la quasi finitude de  $\sup_{x \in D} \|\nabla^2 X(x)\|_{j,d}^{(s)}$ . It will suffice to replace in Theorem 3.3.9 the hypotheses  $D_i$  by the following  $D_i^*$  assumptions,  $i = 1, \ldots, 4$ , keeping the hypothesis  $H_7$  and adding the following hypothesis  $H_7^*$ .

- $D_1^{\star}$ : It is the assumption  $D_1$ , plus the following hypothesis: for almost all  $(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4) \in D^4$ , the density of the vector  $(X(x_1), X(x_2), X(x_3), X(x_4))$  exists.
- $-D_2^{\star}$ : It is the assumption  $D_2$ , plus the following hypothesis: for almost all  $(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4) \in D^4$ , the density of the vector  $(Z(x_1), Z(x_2), Z(x_3), Z(x_4))$  exists.
- $-D_3^{\star}$ : It is the assumption  $D_3$ , plus the following hypothesis: for almost all  $(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4) \in D^4$ , the density of the vector  $(Z(x_1), Z(x_2), Z(x_3), Z(x_4))$  exists.
- $-D_4^{\star}$ : It is the assumption  $D_4$ , plus the following hypothesis: the function

$$(u_1, u_2) \longmapsto \int_{D \times D} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{2dj}} y_1^2 y_2^2 \|\dot{x}_1\|_{dj}^j \|\dot{x}_2\|_{dj}^j$$

$$\times p_{Y(x_1), Y(x_2), X(x_1), X(x_2), \nabla X(x_1), \nabla X(x_2)} (y_1, y_2, u_1, u_2, \dot{x}_1, \dot{x}_2)$$

$$d\dot{x}_1 d\dot{x}_2 dy_1 dy_2 dx_1 dx_2$$

is a continuous function.

For almost all  $(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4, \dot{x}_1, \dot{x}_2, \dot{x}_3, \dot{x}_4) \in D^4 \times \mathbb{R}^{4dj}$  and for all  $q := (u_1, u_2, v_1, v_2) \in \mathbb{R}^{4j}$ , the density

 $p_{X(x_1),X(x_2),X(x_3),X(x_4),\nabla X(x_1),\nabla X(x_2),\nabla X(x_3),\nabla X(x_4)}(q,\dot{x}_1,\dot{x}_2,\dot{x}_3,\dot{x}_4),$  of the vector

$$(X(x_1), X(x_2), X(x_3), X(x_4), \nabla X(x_1), \nabla X(x_2), \nabla X(x_3), \nabla X(x_4))$$
 exists. Moreover,  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^j$ , the function

is bounded in a neighborhood of q := (y, y, y, y). Let us state the hypothesis  $\mathbf{H}_7^{\star}$ .

 $- \mathbf{H}_{7}^{\star}$ :  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^{j}$ , the function

$$q \longmapsto \int_{D^4} p_{X(x_1), X(x_2), X(x_3), X(x_4)}(q) \mathbb{E} \left[ H(\nabla X(x_1)) H(\nabla X(x_2)) \right] \\ \times H(\nabla X(x_3)) H(\nabla X(x_4)) \left| (X(x_1), X(x_2), X(x_3), X(x_4)) = q \right] \\ + dx_1 dx_2 dx_3 dx_4,$$

is a bounded function in a neighborhood of q := (y, y, y, y).

•

## CHAPTER 4

## **APPLICATIONS**

The main reason for having well-fitting Kac-Rice formulas is that they provide tools for explicitly doing calculations that involve roots of functions as well as functionals of other levels. Below we will present some of these applications.

Let us first mention the possibility for getting conditions in which the level functional has some moments. This is a non-trivial task that has only been completely solved in some special cases. Furthermore, Rice's formulas have been also applied in physical oceanography and in the theory of dislocations of random waves propagation. Two other applications deserve to be studied: first the theory of random gravitational microlensings and second the study of the zero sets of random algebraic systems invariant under the orthogonal group, known in the literature as Kotlan-Shub-Smale systems. In the following, the reader will find a brief description of each of them.

## 4.1. Dimensions d = j = 1

Classically, the study of the Rice formula began with the seminal papers by Kac [35] and Rice [54]. The first considered the number of roots of a random polynomial with standard and independent Gaussian coefficients and the second developed formulas to study the crossovers of stationary Gaussian processes. In this subsection, we will revisit these two old problems. First, we will give, using the formulas obtained earlier, the necessary and sufficient conditions for the existence of the first and second moment of the number of crossings of a stationary Gaussian process. Second, Kac's research will be extended to consider random trigonometric polynomials.

**4.1.1.** Necessary and sufficient conditions for the first two moments of the number of crossings. — Let  $X: \Omega \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  be a real and stationary Gaussian process with zero mean. Let us denote its covariance function by r and its spectral measure by  $\mu$  which is assumed not to be purely discrete. We have

$$r(t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{it\lambda} d\mu(\lambda).$$

The spectral moment of order p is defined as follows

$$\lambda_p := \int_{\mathbb{R}} \lambda^p \, \mathrm{d}\mu(\lambda).$$

For  $y \in \mathbb{R}$  and t > 0, let  $N_{[0,t]}^X(y)$  the number of crossings of the level y by the process X on the interval [0, t]. We have the following theorem.

**Theorem 4.1.1.** — The Rice formula of the first order holds if and only if  $\lambda_2 < \infty$ , and  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}$  and t > 0 we have

$$\mathbb{E}\Big[N^X_{[0,t]}(y)\Big] = \frac{t}{\pi} \sqrt{\frac{\lambda_2}{\lambda_0}} e^{-\frac{y^2}{2\lambda_0}}.$$

– Moreover, in this case,  $\mathbb{E}\left[(N_{[0,t]}^X(y))^2\right] < \infty$  if and only if for some  $\delta > 0$  we have

$$\frac{r''(\tau) - r''(0)}{\tau} \in \mathbb{L}^1([0, \delta], d\tau).$$

**Remark 4.1.2.** — The first result was proved by K. Itô in [34]. In this work, the author generalizes the previous proofs providing a definitive result. The second is the famous result of Geman [28]. He considers only the case y = 0. In [38] the result has been extended for all y.

Proof of Theorem 4.1.1. Remark 3.3.4 following Theorem 3.3.3 gives the validity of the first formula whenever X is  $C^2([0,t],\mathbb{R})$ . However, the result is valid with great generality as shown by Itô in [34]. For the sake of completeness, we will outline his proof. It is first proved in [34] that if  $\lambda_2 < \infty$  the process has absolutely continuous trajectories. And besides, it is true that

$$N^X_{[0,t]}(y) \leqslant \liminf_{\delta \to 0} \frac{1}{2\delta} \int_0^t \mathbbm{1}_{\{|X(s)-y|<\delta\}} \left| X'(s) \right| \, \mathrm{d} s.$$

Using Fatou's lemma and the fact that X is Gaussian and stationary, we get by denoting  $\varphi$  for the standard Gaussian density on  $\mathbb{R}$ 

$$\mathbb{E}[N_{[0,t]}^X(y)] \leqslant \liminf_{\delta \to 0} \frac{t}{2\delta} \mathbb{E}[\mathbb{1}_{\{|X(0)-y|<\delta\}} |X'(0)|]$$

$$= \liminf_{\delta \to 0} \frac{t}{2\delta\sqrt{\lambda_0\lambda_2}} \int_{y-\delta}^{y+\delta} \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\dot{z}| \, \varphi\left(\frac{z}{\sqrt{\lambda_0}}\right) \varphi\left(\frac{\dot{z}}{\sqrt{\lambda_2}}\right) \, \mathrm{d}z \, \mathrm{d}\dot{z}$$

$$= \liminf_{\delta \to 0} \frac{t}{2\delta\sqrt{\lambda_0}} \int_{y-\delta}^{y+\delta} \varphi\left(\frac{z}{\sqrt{\lambda_0}}\right) \, \mathrm{d}z \sqrt{\frac{2\lambda_2}{\pi}}$$

$$= \frac{t}{\pi} \sqrt{\frac{\lambda_2}{\lambda_0}} e^{-\frac{y^2}{2\lambda_0}}.$$

Concerning the other inequality, in [34], it is proved that the following inequality (monotonic limit) is true

$$N_{[0,t]}^X(y) \geqslant \lim_{n \to +\infty} \sum_{k=1}^{2^n} \mathbb{1}_{\{[X((k-1)t/2^n) - y][X(kt/2^n) - y] < 0\}}.$$

Therefore, using the monotone convergence theorem, we obtain

$$\mathbb{E}[N_{[0,t]}^X(y)] \geqslant \lim_{n \to +\infty} 2^n \mathbb{E}[\mathbb{1}_{\{[X(0)-y][X(t/2^n)-y] < 0\}}].$$

The expectation on the righthand side can be written as follows

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E} \big[ \mathbb{1}_{\{(X(0)-y)(X(t/2^n)-y)<0\}} \big] \\ &= \mathbb{E} \Big[ \mathbb{1}_{\left(y/\sqrt{\lambda_0},+\infty\right)} \Big( X(0)/\sqrt{\lambda_0} \Big) \, \mathbb{1}_{\left(-\infty,y/\sqrt{\lambda_0}\right)} \Big( X(t/2^n)/\sqrt{\lambda_0} \Big) \Big] \\ &+ \mathbb{E} \Big[ \mathbb{1}_{\left(y/\sqrt{\lambda_0},+\infty\right)} \Big( X(t/2^n)/\sqrt{\lambda_0} \Big) \, \mathbb{1}_{\left(-\infty,y/\sqrt{\lambda_0}\right)} (X(0)/\sqrt{\lambda_0}) \Big] \, . \end{split}$$

For ease of notation, let  $\lambda_0 = 1$ . Thus if  $Z_n$  stands for a standard Gaussian random variable independent of  $(X(0), X(t/2^n))$  we have

$$\mathbb{E} \left[ \mathbb{1}_{(y,+\infty)}(X(0)) \, \mathbb{1}_{(-\infty,y)}(X(t/2^n)) \right]$$

$$= \mathbb{E} \left[ \mathbb{1}_{(y,+\infty)}(X(0)) \, \mathbb{1}_{(-\infty,y)} \left( r(t/2^n) X(0) + \sqrt{1 - r^2(t/2^n)} Z_n \right) \right]$$

$$= \int_{-\infty}^{0} \varphi(z) \, \mathrm{d}z \int_{y}^{\left( y - \sqrt{1 - r^2(t/2^n)} z \right) / r(t/2^n)} \varphi(x) \, \mathrm{d}x,$$

thus

$$2^n \int_{-\infty}^0 \varphi(z) \, \mathrm{d}z \int_y^{\left(y - \sqrt{1 - r^2(t/2^n)}z\right)/r(t/2^n)} \varphi(x) \, \mathrm{d}x \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} t \frac{\sqrt{\lambda_2}}{2\pi} e^{-\frac{1}{2}y^2}.$$

We can proceed in the same way for the second term. Finally obtaining for all  $\lambda_0$ 

$$\mathbb{E}\Big[N_{[0,t]}^X(y)\Big] \geqslant \frac{t}{\pi} \sqrt{\frac{\lambda_2}{\lambda_0}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}y^2/\lambda_0}.$$

The above procedure can also be used to prove that if  $\lambda_2 = +\infty$  then  $\mathbb{E}\left[N_{[0,t]}^X(y)\right] = +\infty$ . And all results are valid.

To prove the second statement of the theorem, one can use Remarks 3.3.10 and 3.3.11 following Theorem 3.3.9 for the case d = j = 1, thus assuming that X is  $C^2([0,t],\mathbb{R})$ . Thus the formula for the second factorial moment holds provided that the integral appearing in the equation (63) is finite. Note that the assumption that X has  $C^2$  trajectories implies that the covariance r is  $C^4$  and then  $\lambda_4 < \infty$ . However the case  $\lambda_4 = +\infty$  remains an interesting case. This is the reason why we will follow the more general way given by [23] and [28]. In [23] it is shown that

(63) 
$$M_2(y,t) := \mathbb{E}\left[N_{[0,t]}^X(y)(N_{[0,t]}^X(y) - 1)\right]$$
$$= 2\int_0^t (t - \tau) \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |\dot{x}_1| |\dot{x}_2| p_\tau(y, \dot{x}_1, y, \dot{x}_2) \, \mathrm{d}\dot{x}_1 \, \mathrm{d}\dot{x}_2 \, \mathrm{d}\tau,$$

where  $p_{\tau}(x_1, \dot{x}_1, x_2, \dot{x}_2)$  is the density of the vector

$$(X(0), X'(0), X(\tau), X'(\tau)),$$

which is non-singular for  $\tau > 0$ , since the spectral measure  $\mu$  is not purely discrete. Moreover, we show that if one of the terms in 63 is infinite, so is the other one. In this way, we give a necessary and sufficient condition for the right-hand side of the formula to be finite. Without loss of generality we can assume that r(0) = 1 and since  $\lambda_2 < \infty$  that r is twice differentiable.

We will start by showing the result for the y=0 level which is the original Geman result. Let us write  $M_2(y,t)$  in another way using a regression model. We have

(64) 
$$M_2(y,t) = 2 \int_0^t (t-\tau) p_{\tau}(y,y) \mathbb{E}[|X'(0)X'(\tau)| | X(0) = X(\tau) = y] d\tau,$$

where  $p_{\tau}(x_1, x_2)$  stands for the density of the vector  $(X(0), X(\tau))$ . The following model will be useful

$$X'(0) = \xi + \alpha_1(\tau)X(0) + \alpha_2(\tau)X(\tau)$$
  
 
$$X'(\tau) = \xi^* + \beta_1(\tau)X(0) + \beta_2(\tau)X(\tau),$$

where  $(\xi, \xi^*)$  is a Gaussian centered vector independent of  $(X(0), X(\tau))$ , and

$$\operatorname{Var}(\xi) = \operatorname{Var}(\xi^*) := \sigma^2(\tau) = -r''(0) - \frac{(r'(\tau))^2}{1 - r^2(\tau)},$$
$$\rho(\tau) := \frac{\operatorname{Cov}(\xi, \xi^*)}{\sigma^2(\tau)} = \frac{-r''(\tau)(1 - r^2(\tau)) - (r'(\tau))^2 r(\tau)}{-r''(0)(1 - r^2(\tau)) - (r'(\tau))^2}.$$

Moreover

$$\alpha_1(\tau) = \frac{r'(\tau)r(\tau)}{1 - r^2(\tau)}; \quad \alpha_2(\tau) = -\frac{r'(\tau)}{1 - r^2(\tau)}$$
$$\beta_1(\tau) = -\alpha_2(\tau); \qquad \beta_2(\tau) = -\alpha_1(\tau).$$

In this form, we have

$$M_2(0,t) = 2 \int_0^t (t-\tau) p_\tau(0,0) \mathbb{E}[|\xi| |\xi^*|] d\tau$$
$$= \frac{1}{\pi} \int_0^t (t-\tau) \frac{\sigma^2(\tau)}{(1-r^2(\tau))^{1/2}} \mathbb{E}\left[\left|\frac{\xi}{\sigma(\tau)}\right| \left|\frac{\xi^*}{\sigma(\tau)}\right|\right] d\tau.$$

Using the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, we get

$$M_2(0,t) \leqslant \frac{t}{\pi} \int_0^t \frac{\sigma^2(\tau)}{(1-r^2(\tau))^{1/2}} d\tau.$$

So if the integral on the righthand side is finite then  $M_2(0,t) < \infty$ . But the integral converges if for  $\delta > 0$  we have

$$\int_0^\delta \frac{\sigma^2(\tau)}{(1 - r^2(\tau))^{1/2}} \,\mathrm{d}\tau < \infty,$$

because the integrand is continuous in  $[\delta, t]$ . Denoting reciprocally by  $a_{2k}$  the coefficients of the function |x| in the orthogonal Hermite basis  $(H_k(x))_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$  of  $\mathbb{L}^2(\mathbb{R}, \varphi(x) dx)$ , i.e.

$$H_k(x) := (-1)^k \varphi^{-1}(x) \frac{\mathrm{d}^k}{\mathrm{d}x^k} (\varphi(x)),$$

Mehler's formula gives (see [20])

$$+\infty > M_2(0,t) = \frac{2}{\pi} \int_0^t (t-\tau) \frac{\sigma^2(\tau)}{(1-r^2(\tau))^{1/2}} \left( \sum_{k=0}^\infty a_{2k}^2(2k)! \rho(\tau)^{2k} \right) d\tau$$

$$\geqslant \frac{2}{\pi} a_0^2 \int_0^t (t-\tau) \frac{\sigma^2(\tau)}{(1-r^2(\tau))^{1/2}} d\tau$$

$$\geqslant \frac{2}{\pi} a_0^2 (t-\delta) \int_0^\delta \frac{\sigma^2(\tau)}{(1-r^2(\tau))^{1/2}} d\tau.$$

The proof is complete in this case if we can prove that

$$\frac{r''(\tau)-r''(0)}{\tau}\in\mathbb{L}^1([0,\delta],\,\mathrm{d}\tau)\Longleftrightarrow\int_0^\delta\frac{\sigma^2(\tau)}{(1-r^2(\tau))^{1/2}}\,\mathrm{d}\tau<\infty.$$

But this is the purpose of Lemma 4.1.3 proved below.

We will now consider the case where y is any real number. Let us define

$$m(\tau) := \frac{y}{1 + r(\tau)} \frac{r'(\tau)}{\sigma(\tau)},$$

and introduce the expression

$$A(m, \rho, \tau) := \mathbb{E}\left[\left|\frac{\xi}{\sigma(\tau)} - m(\tau)\right| \left|\frac{\xi^{\star}}{\sigma(\tau)} + m(\tau)\right|\right].$$

Using (64) and regression, it turns out that

$$M_2(y,t) = 2 \int_0^t (t-\tau) p_{\tau}(y,y) \sigma^2(\tau) A(m,\rho,\tau) d\tau.$$

By applying the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, we obtain

$$A(m, \rho, \tau) \leqslant \left( \mathbb{E} \left[ \left( \frac{\xi}{\sigma(\tau)} - m(\tau) \right)^2 \right] \mathbb{E} \left[ \left( \frac{\xi^*}{\sigma(\tau)} + m(\tau) \right)^2 \right] \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$= 1 + m^2(\tau).$$
(65)

Let us now prove that the function  $m(\tau)$  is bounded in a neighborhood of  $\tau=0$ . For this purpose, let us consider the asymptotic behavior of  $r'(\tau)/\sigma(\tau)$ . Two cases must be considered depending on whether  $\lambda_4$  is finite or not. In the first case, a Taylor expansion of order 4 of  $(r')^2(\tau)/\sigma^2(\tau)$  easily gives that  $r'(\tau)/\sigma(\tau) \to -2\lambda_2/\sqrt{\lambda_4-\lambda_2^2}$ . Now suppose that  $\lambda_4=+\infty$ . Given that

$$r''(\tau) - r''(0) = 2 \int_0^\infty [1 - \cos(\tau \lambda)] \lambda^2 d\mu(\lambda),$$

we have by Fatou's lemma

$$\lim_{\tau \to 0} \inf \frac{r''(\tau) - r''(0)}{\tau^2} \geqslant \int_0^{+\infty} \liminf_{\tau \to 0} \frac{1 - \cos(\tau \lambda)}{(\tau \lambda)^2 / 2} \lambda^4 \, \mathrm{d}\mu(\lambda)$$

$$= \int_0^{\infty} \lambda^4 \, \mathrm{d}\mu(\lambda) = +\infty.$$

Moreover

$$\frac{(r')^2(\tau)}{\sigma^2(\tau)} \simeq \frac{\lambda_2^3}{\underbrace{\lambda_2(1 - r^2(\tau)) - (r')^2(\tau)}_{\tau^4}},$$

and

$$\lambda_2(1 - r^2(\tau)) - r'^2(\tau) = 2\lambda_2(1 - r(\tau)) - (r')^2(\tau) + O(\tau^4).$$

Moreover, using L'Hôpital's rule, we obtain

$$\lim_{\tau \to 0} \frac{2\lambda_2(1 - r(\tau)) - (r')^2(\tau)}{\tau^4} = \lim_{\tau \to 0} \left(\frac{-r'(\tau)}{2\tau}\right) \left(\frac{r''(\tau) - r''(0)}{\tau^2}\right) = +\infty,$$

since we know that  $-r'(\tau)/(2\tau) \to \lambda_2/2$ . Thus  $r'(\tau)/\sigma(\tau) \to 0$ . Theses calculations lead us to conclude that

$$m(\tau) \xrightarrow[\tau \to 0]{} \begin{cases} \frac{-\lambda_2 y}{\sqrt{\lambda_4 - \lambda_2^2}} & \text{if } \lambda_4 < \infty; \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

In both cases, we have then shown that the function  $m(\tau)$  is bounded. In this form, by using (65), we easily obtain

$$M_2(y,t) \leqslant Ct \int_0^t p_{\tau}(y,y)\sigma^2(\tau) d\tau,$$

and by Lemma 4.1.3 this integral is finite under Geman condition.

To prove the other implication assume that  $M_2(y,t) < \infty$ . Thus

$$M_2(y,t) \geqslant 2 \int_0^{\delta} (t-\tau) p_{\tau}(y,y) \sigma^2(\tau) A(m,\rho,\tau) d\tau.$$

We will study  $A(m, \rho, \tau)$ .

Since the function  $m(\tau)$  is bounded the following expansion is valid

$$|x - m(\tau)| = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k(m(\tau)) H_k(x),$$

where deleting the variable  $\tau$  in m, the coefficients are

$$a_0(m) = m[2\Phi(m) - 1] + 2\varphi(m)$$

$$a_1(m) = 1 - 2\Phi(m)$$

$$a_{\ell}(m) = \frac{2}{\ell!} H_{\ell-2}(m)\varphi(m), \ell \geqslant 2,$$

where  $\Phi$  represents the Gaussian distribution of  $\varphi$ .

Using that function  $a_k(m)$  is even if k is even and odd otherwise, the Mehler's formula gives

$$A(m, \rho, \tau) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k(m(\tau)) a_k(-m(\tau)) k! \rho^k(\tau)$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_{2k}^2(m(\tau)) (2k)! (\rho(\tau))^{2k} - \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_{2k+1}^2(m(\tau)) (2k+1)! (\rho(\tau))^{2k+1}.$$

But by defining the odd projection as  $M_{\text{odd}}(x,m) := \frac{1}{2}(|x-m|-|x+m|)$ , we have

$$M_{\text{odd}}(x,m) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_{2k+1}(m) H_{2k+1}(x).$$

104

Then

$$\begin{split} & \left| \mathbb{E} \left[ M_{\text{odd}} \left( \frac{\xi}{\sigma(\tau)}, m(\tau) \right) M_{\text{odd}} \left( \frac{\xi^*}{\sigma(\tau)}, m(\tau) \right) \right] \right| \\ & = \left| \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_{2k+1}^2(m(\tau)) (2k+1)! (\rho(\tau))^{2k+1} \right| \\ & \leqslant \mathbb{E} \left[ M_{\text{odd}}^2 \left( \frac{\xi}{\sigma(\tau)}, m(\tau) \right) \right] \\ & = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left( \frac{1}{2} (|x - m(\tau)| - |x + m(\tau)|) \right)^2 \varphi(x) \, \mathrm{d}x \\ & \leqslant m^2(\tau). \end{split}$$

Thus

$$A(m, \rho, \tau) \geqslant a_0^2(m(\tau)) - m^2(\tau).$$

Now it is easy to see that if  $-m_0 \le m \le m_0$  then  $a_0^2(m) - m^2 \ge \sqrt{2/\pi}(a_0(m_0) - m_0) > 0$ .

Since the function  $m(\tau)$  is bounded in a neighborhood of zero, this implies that  $A(m, \rho, \tau) \ge C$  for  $\tau$  sufficiently small. Then

$$+\infty > M_2(y,t) \ge C \int_0^{\delta} (t-\tau) p_{\tau}(y,y) \sigma^2(\tau) d\tau \ge C \int_0^{\delta} \frac{\sigma^2(\tau)}{(1-r^2(\tau))^{1/2}} d\tau,$$

and we end up evoking again Lemma 4.1.3.

**Lemma 4.1.3.** — There exists  $\delta > 0$  such that

$$\frac{r''(\tau)-r''(0)}{\tau}\in\mathbb{L}^1([0,\delta],\,\mathrm{d}\tau)\Longleftrightarrow\int_0^\delta\frac{\sigma^2(\tau)}{(1-r^2(\tau))^{1/2}}\,\mathrm{d}\tau<\infty.$$

Proof of Lemma 4.1.3. Let us consider the integral

$$\int_0^\delta \frac{\sigma^2(\tau)}{(1 - r^2(\tau))^{1/2}} \,\mathrm{d}\tau.$$

For  $\tau$  small enough, we have

$$\frac{\sigma^2(\tau)}{(1-r^2(\tau))^{1/2}} \simeq \left(\frac{1}{\lambda_2^{3/2}}\right) \frac{-r''(0)(1-r^2(\tau)) - (r'(\tau))^2}{\tau^3},$$

thus integrating by part

$$\int_0^{\delta} \frac{-r''(0)(1-r^2(\tau)) - (r'(\tau))^2}{\tau^3} d\tau$$

$$\begin{split} &= \left. \frac{r''(0)(1-r^2(\tau)) + (r'(\tau))^2}{2\tau^2} \right|_0^\delta + \int_0^\delta \frac{r'(\tau)}{\tau} \left( \frac{r''(0)r(\tau) - r''(\tau)}{\tau} \right) \, \mathrm{d}\tau \\ &= \frac{r''(0)(1-r^2(\delta)) + (r'(\delta))^2}{2\delta^2} + \int_0^\delta \frac{r'(\tau)}{\tau} r''(0) \left( \frac{r(\tau) - 1}{\tau} \right) \, \mathrm{d}\tau \\ &\quad + \int_0^\delta \frac{-r'(\tau)}{\tau} \left( \frac{r''(\tau) - r''(0)}{\tau} \right) \, \mathrm{d}\tau. \end{split}$$

Finally, since

$$\frac{r'(\tau)}{\tau} \left( \frac{r(\tau) - 1}{\tau} \right) \simeq \lambda_2^2 \frac{\tau}{2} \in L^1([0, \delta], d\tau),$$

and  $-r'(\tau)/\tau \to \lambda_2$ , the above integral is finite if and only if

$$\int_0^\delta \frac{r''(\tau) - r''(0)}{\tau} \, \mathrm{d}\tau < \infty.$$

4.1.2. Numbers of roots of random trigonometric polynomials. —

In the following, we will study the asymptotic behavior of random Gaussian trigonometric polynomials. For any  $N \in \mathbb{N}^*$  and for two independent sequences of i.i.d. standard Gaussian random variables  $\{a_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  and  $\{b_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  these functions are defined as

$$X_N(t) := \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \sum_{n=1}^N (a_n \sin nt + b_n \cos nt).$$

The number of zeros of such a process has been extensively studied lately (see [32] for example). The process  $X_N$  is an infinitely differentiable stationary Gaussian process of mean zero. We can define as before  $N_{[0,2\pi[}^{X_N}(y))$  as the number y-level crossings of these trigonometric polynomials on the time interval  $[0, 2\pi[$ . The smoothness of these polynomials implies that the Rice's formula holds. The necessary ingredients for its application are

$$\mathbb{E}[X_N^2(0)] = 1;$$
  $\mathbb{E}[(X_N'(0))^2] = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^N n^2 = \frac{(N+1)(2N+1)}{6}.$ 

Hence

$$\mathbb{E}[N_{[0,2\pi[}^{X_N}(y)] = 2\pi\sqrt{E[(X_N'(0))^2]}\sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}}\frac{e^{-y^2/2}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} = \frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}\sqrt{\frac{(N+1)(2N+1)}{2}}e^{-\frac{y^2}{2}}.$$

Yielding

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{\mathbb{E}[N^{X_N}_{[0,2\pi[}(y)]}{N} = \frac{2}{\sqrt{3}} e^{-\frac{y^2}{2}}.$$

To calculate the variance and its asymptotic value we need to consider the rescaled process:  $Y_N(t) := X_N(\frac{t}{N})$ . Since the covariance function of  $X_N$  is

$$r_{X_N}(t) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \cos nt = \frac{1}{N} \cos \left( \frac{(N+1)t}{2} \right) \frac{\sin(\frac{1}{2}Nt)}{\sin \frac{1}{2}t},$$

we get

$$r_{Y_N}(t) \to r_X(t) := \frac{\sin t}{t}.$$

Similar results can be obtained for the first and second derivative of  $r_{Y_N}$ . The above result leads us to consider the sine cardinal process which has as covariance the function  $r_X$ . In [8] was proved that by constructing the processes  $Y_N$  and X in the same probability space and if we define

$$B_N := \mathbb{E}\bigg[ \Big\{ \Big( N_{[0,2\pi[}^{X_N}(0) - \mathbb{E}[N_{[0,2\pi[}^{X_N}(0)]] \Big) - \Big( N_{[0,2\pi N[}^{X}(0) - \mathbb{E}[N_{[0,2\pi N[}^{X}(0)]] \Big) \Big\}^2 \bigg]$$

it turns out that  $B_N/N \xrightarrow[N\to\infty]{} 0$ . This result entails that

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N} \operatorname{Var} \left( N_{[0, 2\pi[}^{X_N}(0) \right) = \lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N} \operatorname{Var} \left( N_{[0, 2\pi N[}^X(0) \right), \right)$$

and the last quantity is

$$\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}} + 2 \int_0^\infty \left( \frac{\mathbb{E}[|X'(0)X'(\tau)| | X(0) = X(\tau) = 0]}{\sqrt{1 - (\sin \tau/\tau)^2}} - \frac{1}{3\pi} \right) d\tau.$$

# 4.2. Sea modeling applications

In this section, we give some theoretical justifications to the work of Podgórski & Rychlik [51]. This paper presents several applications to random sea waves. Like these authors, let us consider two random fields

$$X: \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$$
 (with  $d > j = 1$ ) and  $V: \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^{d+1}$ .

The latter is defined as  $V(x) := (X(x), \nabla X(x))$ . This is the argument of the function G in (39) but removing the explicit dependence on x and also on the field W, i.e.  $Y(x) := G(X(x), \nabla X(x))$ .

Moreover, for sea applications either the X field is Gaussian and models the sea surface or it is the envelope field (defined below).

We will first discuss the case where the stationary Gaussian field of zero mean X is  $C^2(D,\mathbb{R})$  with  $\sigma^2 := \text{Var}[X(0)] = \mathbb{E}[X^2(0)] > 0$ . Then Remark

3.3.4 applies and we have for all  $y \in \mathbb{R}$ 

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_X(y)} Y(x) \, d\sigma_{d-1}(x)\right] = \int_D p_{X(x)}(y) \mathbb{E}\left[Y(x) \|\nabla X(x)\|_d \, \big| \, X(x) = y\right] \, dx$$
$$= \sigma_d(D) \mathbb{E}\left[Y(0) \|\nabla X(0)\|_d \, \big| \, X(0) = y\right] \frac{e^{-\frac{1}{2\sigma^2}y^2}}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma}.$$

The following notion is also introduced in [51]. We define the distribution of V over the level set by first taking  $G(z) := \mathbb{1}_A(z)$  for  $z \in \mathbb{R}^{d+1}$  and A a Borel set of  $\mathbb{R}^{d+1}$ . We have  $Y(x) = \mathbb{1}_A(V(x))$  and setting

$$\mathbb{P}\{V(x) \in A \, | \, X(x) = y\} := \frac{\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_{X}(y)} \mathbb{1}_{A}(V(x)) \, d\sigma_{d-1}(x)\right]}{\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_{X}(y)} \, d\sigma_{d-1}(x)\right]} \\
= \frac{\mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{1}_{A}(V(0)) \, || \nabla X(0) ||_{d} \, | \, X(0) = y\right]}{\mathbb{E}\left[|| \nabla X(0) ||_{d}\right]} \\
= \frac{\mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{1}_{A}(y, \nabla X(0)) \, || \nabla X(0) ||_{d}\right]}{\mathbb{E}\left[|| \nabla X(0) ||_{d}\right]}.$$
(66)

To apply the formula to sea wave modeling, we set d=3. Let us use the sea modeling notation from [51]. We have a zero-mean stationary Gaussian field  $X(t,p):=\zeta(t,x,y), p:=(x,y)$ , which models the sea surface. To introduce it, let  $M(\lambda_1,\lambda_2,\omega)$  be a random spectral Gaussian measure, restricted to the airy manifold  $\Lambda:=\{\|\overrightarrow{k}\|_2^2=\omega^4/g^2\}$  where  $\overrightarrow{k}:=(\lambda_1,\lambda_2)$ . We define

$$\zeta(t, x, y) := \int_{\Lambda} e^{i(\lambda_1 x + \lambda_2 y + \omega t)} dM(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \omega).$$

In this way, by restricting the stochastic integral to the set

$$\Lambda^+ := \{ (\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \omega) : \omega \geqslant 0, \|\overrightarrow{k}\|_2 = \omega^2 / g \},\,$$

using polar coordinates, we can write

$$\zeta(t, x, y) = 2 \int_0^\infty \int_{-\pi}^\pi \cos(\|\overrightarrow{k}\|_2 \cos(\theta) x + \|\overrightarrow{k}\|_2 \sin(\theta) y + \omega t) \, dc(\omega, \theta),$$

where c is a random measure with independent Gaussian increments. The covariance function results

$$\begin{split} \Gamma(t,p) &:= \mathbb{E}[\zeta(0,0,0)\zeta(t,x,y)] \\ &= 2\int_0^\infty \int_{-\pi}^\pi \cos(\|\overrightarrow{k}\|_2\cos(\theta)x + \|\overrightarrow{k}\|_2\sin(\theta)y + \omega t)\,S(\omega,\theta)\,\mathrm{d}\omega\,\mathrm{d}\theta, \end{split}$$

where  $2S(\cdot, \cdot)$  is the physical spectral density.

To establish the following results, it will be necessary to digress on the ergodic theory. The following text has been taken from [9]. For a given subset  $D \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  and for each t > 0, let us define  $\mathcal{A}_t := \sigma\{X(\tau, p) : \tau > t, p \in D\}$  and consider the  $\sigma$ -algebra of t-invariant sets  $\mathcal{A} := \bigcap_t \mathcal{A}_t$ . Moreover, assume that  $\Gamma(t, p) \xrightarrow[t \to \infty]{} 0$ , for all  $p \in D$ . It is well known that under this condition, the  $\sigma$ -algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  is trivial, that is, it only contains events having probability zero or one (see e.g. [23] Chapter 7).

Now for each t > 0 and  $y \in \mathbb{R}$  we define the level set

$$\mathcal{C}_D^{\zeta}(t,y) := \{ p \in D : \zeta(t,p) = y \}$$

and the following functional

$$\mathcal{Z}(t) := \int_{\mathcal{C}_D^{\zeta}(t,y)} Y(t,p) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_1(p).$$

Furthermore, in the following, we assume that

$$Y(t,p) := G(\zeta(t,p), \nabla_p \zeta(t,p)),$$

where  $\nabla_p$  is the gradient operator with respect to the space variables x, y. The process  $\{\mathcal{Z}(t): t \in \mathbb{R}^+\}$  is strictly stationary, of finite mean and Riemann-integrable. The ergodic theorem gives

$$\frac{1}{T} \int_0^T \mathcal{Z}(t) \, \mathrm{d}t \xrightarrow[T \to \infty]{\text{a.s.}} \mathbb{E}_{\mathcal{B}}[Z(0)],$$

where  $\mathcal{B}$  is the  $\sigma$ -algebra of t-invariant events associated with the process  $\mathcal{Z}(t)$ . Since for each t,  $\mathcal{Z}(t)$  is  $\mathcal{A}_t$ -measurable, it follows that  $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{A}$  so that  $\mathbb{E}_{\mathcal{B}}[\mathcal{Z}(0)] = \mathbb{E}[\mathcal{Z}(0)]$ . Thus

$$\mathbb{E}_{\mathcal{B}}[\mathcal{Z}(0)] = \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{C}_{D}^{\zeta}(0,y)} Y(0,p) \, d\sigma_{1}(p)\right]$$
$$= \sigma_{2}(D) \mathbb{E}\left[Y(0,0) \|\nabla_{p}\zeta(0,0)\|_{2} \, |\zeta(0,0) = y\right] \frac{e^{-\frac{1}{2}y^{2}/\lambda_{000}}}{\sqrt{2\pi\lambda_{000}}},$$

where  $\lambda_{000} := \mathbb{E}[\zeta^2(0,0)]$ . The above formula can be used to obtain the velocity distribution as defined in (66) (cf. [9]).

Next, we will consider the case where the observed field, denoted E(t,p), is the envelope field of X(t,p). First, let us define the Hilbert transform of  $\zeta$  as the Gaussian field

$$\hat{\zeta}(t,x,y) := 2 \int_0^\infty \int_{-\pi}^\pi \sin(\|\overrightarrow{k}\|_2 \cos(\theta) x + \|\overrightarrow{k}\|_2 \sin(\theta) y + \omega t) \, \mathrm{d}c(\omega,\theta).$$

The real envelope E(t, x, y) is

$$E(t,p) := \sqrt{\zeta^2(t,x,y) + \hat{\zeta}^2(t,x,y)}.$$

We can write the process E in the following form. Let

$$Z(t,p) := (\zeta(t,x,y), \hat{\zeta}(t,x,y)).$$

Then, if  $F(z) := ||z||_2$  then E(t,p) = F(Z(t,p)). The function F satisfies condition  $\mathbf{B}_3$  except for z = 0, but this does not matter because  $\mathbb{P}\{Z(0,0) = 0\} = 0$ . Furthermore, a straightforward calculation shows that the process X verifies assumption  $(\mathbf{S})$  in Proposition 3.3.2. Then we can apply Remark 3.3.4 with condition  $\mathbf{B}_3$  and hypothesis  $(\mathbf{S})$  replacing condition  $\mathbf{C}_3$ .

Moreover, the density of E(0,0), at the point y>0, is the Rayleigh density  $(y/\sigma_{\zeta}^2)e^{-\frac{1}{2}y^2/\sigma_{\zeta}^2}$ , that exists and is continuous if  $\sigma_{\zeta}^2:=\operatorname{Var}(\zeta(0,0))>0$ .

For each t > 0 and y > 0 we define the level set

$$C_D^E(t, y) := \{ p \in D : E(t, p) = y \}$$

and the functional

$$\mathcal{Z}_E^Y(t) := \int_{\mathcal{C}_D^E(t,y)} Y(t,p) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_1(p).$$

Invoking again the ergodic theorem, we obtain

(67) 
$$\frac{\int_0^T Z_E^Y(t) \, \mathrm{d}t}{\int_0^T Z_E^1(t) \, \mathrm{d}t} \xrightarrow[T \to \infty]{\text{a.s.}} \frac{\mathbb{E}[Y(0,0) \, \|\nabla_p E(0,0)\|_2 \, |E(0,0) = y]}{\mathbb{E}[\|\nabla_p E(0,0)\|_2 \, |E(0,0) = y]}.$$

But

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}[\|\nabla_{p}E(0,0)\|_{2} \, \big| \, E(0,0) &= y \, ] \\ &= \frac{1}{y} \mathbb{E}\left[ \left\| \zeta(0,0) \nabla_{p} \zeta(0,0) + \hat{\zeta}(0,0) \nabla_{p} \hat{\zeta}(0,0) \right\|_{2} \, \big| \, E(0,0) = y \, \right]. \end{split}$$

Thus conditioning and defining

$$f_{\pm}(y, z_1) := \mathbb{E}\left[\left\|z_1 \nabla_p \zeta(0, 0) \pm \sqrt{y^2 - z_1^2} \nabla_p \hat{\zeta}(0, 0)\right\|_2\right],$$

we get

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left\|\nabla_{p}E(0,0)\right\|_{2} \mid E(0,0) = y\right] = \frac{1}{y} \int_{-y}^{y} (f_{+}(y,z_{1}) + f_{-}(y,z_{1})) p_{\zeta(0,0)}(z_{1}) dz_{1}$$

where  $p_{\zeta(0,0)}(z_1)$  is the density of  $\zeta(0,0)$  at  $z_1$ .

Given that  $\hat{\zeta}$  has the same distribution as  $-\hat{\zeta}$  we finally have

$$\mathbb{E}\big[\|\nabla_p E(0,0)\|_2 \, \big| \, E(0,0) = y \, \big] = \frac{2}{y} \int_{-y}^y f_+(y,z_1) p_{\zeta(0,0)}(z_1) \, \mathrm{d}z_1.$$

Consider the numerator in the right-hand side of the expression (67),

$$\begin{split} &\mathbb{E}\left[Y(0,0) \left\| \nabla_{p} E(0,0) \right\|_{2} \left| E(0,0) = y \right.\right] \\ &= \frac{1}{y} \mathbb{E}\left[G\left(y, \frac{1}{y} \left(\zeta(0,0) \nabla_{p} \zeta(0,0) + \hat{\zeta}(0,0) \nabla_{p} \hat{\zeta}(0,0)\right)\right) \right. \\ &\times \left\| \zeta(0,0) \nabla_{p} \zeta(0,0) + \hat{\zeta}(0,0) \nabla_{p} \hat{\zeta}(0,0) \right\|_{2} \left| E(0,0) = y \right.\right]. \end{split}$$

The same argument as above gives

$$\mathbb{E}[Y(0,0) \|\nabla_p E(0,0)\|_2 | E(0,0) = y] = \frac{2}{y} \int_{-y}^{y} \mathcal{F}_+(y,z_1) p_{\zeta(0,0)}(z_1) dz_1,$$

where

$$\mathcal{F}_{+}(y, z_{1}) := \mathbb{E}\left[G\left(y, \frac{1}{y}\left(z_{1}\nabla_{p}\zeta(0, 0) + \sqrt{y^{2} - z_{1}^{2}}\nabla_{p}\hat{\zeta}(0, 0)\right)\right) \times \left\|z_{1}\nabla_{p}\zeta(0, 0) + \sqrt{y^{2} - z_{1}^{2}}\nabla_{p}\hat{\zeta}(0, 0)\right\|_{2}\right].$$

Therefore, the right-hand side term of (67) becomes equal to

$$\int_{-y}^{y} \mathcal{F}_{+}(y, z_{1}) p_{\zeta(0,0)}(z_{1}) dz_{1} / \int_{-y}^{y} f_{+}(y, z_{1}) p_{\zeta(0,0)}(z_{1}) dz_{1}.$$

In some important cases, this term can be calculated explicitly using only the spectral moments of the processes  $\zeta, \hat{\zeta}, \nabla_p \zeta, \nabla_p \hat{\zeta}$ .

### 4.3. Berry and Dennis dislocations

In this part of the work, we will give an overview of the applications of the Rice formula to some physics notions known as random wave dislocations. This study is motivated by the seminal paper by Berry and Dennis, [15], several new concepts were introduced on physical grounds.

We consider two independent isotropic Gaussian random fields of mean zero belonging to  $C^2(D,\mathbb{R})$ . Let  $\xi, \eta: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ , defined trough their spectral representation

$$\begin{split} \xi(\boldsymbol{x}) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \cos(\langle \boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{k} \rangle) \, (\Pi(k)/k)^{\frac{1}{2}} \, \, \mathrm{d}W_1(\boldsymbol{k}) \\ - \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \sin(\langle \boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{k} \rangle) \, (\Pi(k)/k)^{\frac{1}{2}} \, \, \mathrm{d}W_2(\boldsymbol{k}) \end{split}$$

and

$$\eta(\boldsymbol{x}) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \cos(\langle \boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{k} \rangle) (\Pi(k)/k)^{\frac{1}{2}} dW_2(\boldsymbol{k})$$

+ 
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \sin(\langle \boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{k} \rangle) (\Pi(k)/k)^{\frac{1}{2}} dW_1(\boldsymbol{k}),$$

where  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  stands for the scalar product in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  and  $\mathbf{k} := (k_1, k_2)$ ,  $k := \|\mathbf{k}\|_2$ ,  $\Pi(k)$  is the isotropic spectral density and  $W := W_1 + iW_2$  is a standard complex orthogonal Gaussian measure on  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . Without loss of generality, we can assume that  $E\left[\xi^2(\mathbf{0})\right] = E[\eta^2(\mathbf{0})] = 1$ .

Defining the complex wave  $\psi(\mathbf{x}) := \xi(\mathbf{x}) + i\eta(\mathbf{x})$ , the dislocations is the set of zeros of  $\psi$ , i.e.

$$N_D^{\psi}(0) := \#\{x : \psi(x) = 0\} = \#\{x : \xi(x) = \eta(x) = 0\}.$$

In [15] (see formulas (2.7) and (4.6)), the expected number of dislocation points by unit of area is defined by

$$d_2 := \frac{\mathbb{E}[\#\{\boldsymbol{x} \in D : \psi(\boldsymbol{x}) = 0\}]}{\sigma_2(D)}$$

$$= \frac{\lambda_2}{(2\pi)^2} \mathbb{E}\left[\left|\frac{\xi_x(\mathbf{0})}{\sqrt{\lambda_2}} \frac{\eta_y(\mathbf{0})}{\sqrt{\lambda_2}} - \frac{\xi_y(\mathbf{0})}{\sqrt{\lambda_2}} \frac{\eta_x(\mathbf{0})}{\sqrt{\lambda_2}}\right|\right] = \frac{\lambda_2}{2\pi},$$

where  $\xi_x$ ,  $\xi_y$ ,  $\eta_x$  and  $\eta_y$  stand for the derivatives of first order of  $\xi$  and  $\eta$  and  $\lambda_2 := \mathbb{E}[\xi_x^2(\mathbf{0})] = \mathbb{E}[\xi_y^2(\mathbf{0})] = \mathbb{E}[\eta_x^2(\mathbf{0})] = \mathbb{E}[\eta_y^2(\mathbf{0})]$ .

Here, we will also study the length of the set of zeros of each coordinate process (length of nodal curves)

$$\sigma_1(C_{\varepsilon}(0)) \stackrel{\mathcal{L}}{=} \sigma_1(C_n(0)).$$

We thus have the definition of the length of the nodal curves for the surface unit:

$$\mathcal{L} := \frac{\mathbb{E}[\sigma_1(C_{\xi}(0))]}{\sigma_2(D)} = \frac{\mathbb{E}[\sigma_1(C_{\eta}(0))]}{\sigma_2(D)}.$$

In [15], other notions have been defined related to the following two integrals

For the first one, we must recall that  $\sigma_0$  is the counting measure. For instance in [15] the dislocation curvature is introduced. In what follows, we will consider instead the curvature of one of the nodal curves, defined using for example  $\xi$ . The curvature of the nodal curve  $\xi(x) = \xi(x, y) = 0$ , is

$$\kappa(\boldsymbol{x}) := \frac{\left| \xi_{xx}(\boldsymbol{x}) \xi_x^2(\boldsymbol{x}) - 2 \xi_{xy}(\boldsymbol{x}) \xi_x(\boldsymbol{x}) \xi_y(\boldsymbol{x}) + \xi_{yy}(\boldsymbol{x}) \xi_y^2(\boldsymbol{x}) \right|}{\left\| \nabla \xi(\boldsymbol{x}) \right\|_2^3}.$$

For the interval  $[0, \kappa_1]$  defining  $Y(\boldsymbol{x}) := \mathbb{1}_{[0,\kappa_1]}(\kappa(\boldsymbol{x}))$ , one obtains a particular case of the function  $Y(\boldsymbol{x}) = G(\nabla \xi(\boldsymbol{x}), \nabla^2 \xi(\boldsymbol{x}))$ , where the operator  $\nabla^2$  denotes the second order differential. For these functions, in a manner similar to that of Theorem 3.3.3, we can prove a Rice formula obtaining

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{C_{\xi}(0)} \mathbb{1}_{[0,\kappa_{1}]}(\kappa(\boldsymbol{x})) d\sigma_{1}(\boldsymbol{x})\right]$$

$$= \sigma_{2}(D)\mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{1}_{[0,\kappa_{1}]}(\kappa(\mathbf{0})) \|\nabla \xi(\mathbf{0})\|_{2} | \xi(\mathbf{0}) = 0\right] p_{\xi(\mathbf{0})}(0)$$

$$= \frac{\sigma_{2}(D)}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{1}_{[0,\kappa_{1}]}(\kappa(\mathbf{0})) \|\nabla \xi(\mathbf{0})\|_{2} | \xi(\mathbf{0}) = 0\right].$$

The independence between  $\nabla \xi(\mathbf{0})$  and  $(\xi(\mathbf{0}), \nabla^2 \xi(\mathbf{0}))$  allows writing a regression model that simplifies the last expression. Moreover,

$$\mathbb{E}[\sigma_1(C_{\xi}(0))] = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda_2}\sigma_2(D)}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \mathbb{E}\left[\sqrt{\frac{\xi_x^2(\mathbf{0})}{\lambda_2} + \frac{\xi_y^2(\mathbf{0})}{\lambda_2}}\right]$$
$$= \frac{\sqrt{\lambda_2}\sigma_2(D)}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^\infty \int_0^{2\pi} \rho^2 e^{-\frac{1}{2}\rho^2} d\theta d\rho = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda_2}\sigma_2(D)}{2}.$$

As a bonus, we get  $\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{\lambda_2}/2$ .

Furthermore, in order to obtain an interpretation for the distribution of  $\kappa$  over the level set of  $\xi$ , we take the ratio of the two last expectations obtaining

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{C_{\xi}(0)} \mathbb{1}_{[0,\kappa_{1}]}(\kappa(\boldsymbol{x})) d\sigma_{1}(\boldsymbol{x})\right] / \mathbb{E}[\sigma_{1}(C_{\xi}(0))]$$

$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda_{2}}} \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{1}_{[0,\kappa_{1}]}(\kappa(\mathbf{0})) \|\nabla \xi(\mathbf{0})\|_{2} |\xi(\mathbf{0}) = 0\right].$$

Using independence, we can write it as

(68) 
$$\sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{1}_{[0,\rho\sqrt{\lambda_{2}\kappa_{1}}]}\left(\left|\xi_{xx}(\mathbf{0})\cos^{2}\theta - 2\xi_{xy}(\mathbf{0})\cos\theta\sin\theta + \xi_{yy}(\mathbf{0})\sin^{2}\theta\right|\right)\left|\xi(\mathbf{0}) = 0\right.\right] \times \rho^{2} \frac{e^{-\frac{\rho^{2}}{2}}}{2\pi} \,\mathrm{d}\rho\,\mathrm{d}\theta.$$

A regression model shows that the following relationship is true

$$[\xi_{xx}(\mathbf{0})\cos^2\theta - 2\xi_{xy}(\mathbf{0})\cos\theta\sin\theta + \xi_{yy}(\mathbf{0})\sin^2\theta \,|\, \xi(\mathbf{0}) = 0]$$

$$\stackrel{\mathcal{L}}{=} \mathcal{N}(0, \sigma^2(\theta, \lambda_4, \lambda_{22}, \lambda_2)),$$

where

$$\lambda_4 := \mathbb{E}[\xi_{xx}^2(\mathbf{0})] = \mathbb{E}[\xi_{yy}^2(\mathbf{0})]$$
$$\lambda_{22} := \mathbb{E}[\xi_{xy}^2(\mathbf{0})]$$

and

$$-\lambda_2 = \mathbb{E}[\xi(\mathbf{0})\xi_{xx}(\mathbf{0})] = \mathbb{E}[\xi(\mathbf{0})\xi_{yy}(\mathbf{0})].$$

Then

Eqn. (68) 
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi^2} \int_0^\infty \int_0^{2\pi} \int_{-\kappa_1\sqrt{\lambda_2}\rho/\sigma(\theta,\lambda_4,\lambda_{22},\lambda_2)}^{\kappa_1\sqrt{\lambda_2}\rho/\sigma(\theta,\lambda_4,\lambda_{22},\lambda_2)} \rho^2 e^{-\rho^2/2} e^{-u^2/2} \, \mathrm{d}\rho \, \mathrm{d}\theta \, \mathrm{d}u$$

$$= \frac{1}{\pi^2} \int_0^\infty \int_0^{2\pi} \int_0^{\kappa_1\sqrt{\lambda_2}\rho/\sigma(\theta,\lambda_4,\lambda_{22},\lambda_2)} \rho^2 e^{-\rho^2/2} e^{-u^2/2} \, \mathrm{d}\rho \, \mathrm{d}\theta \, \mathrm{d}u$$

$$:= \mathcal{K}(\kappa_1).$$

The density of this distribution is

$$\frac{d}{d\kappa_1} \mathcal{K}(\kappa_1) = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda_2}}{\pi^2} \int_0^\infty \int_0^{2\pi} \rho^3 / \sigma(\theta, \lambda_4, \lambda_{22}, \lambda_2) e^{-\rho^2/2} \\ \times e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\kappa_1 \sqrt{\lambda_2} \rho / \sigma(\theta, \lambda_4, \lambda_{22}, \lambda_2))^2} \, \mathrm{d}\rho \, \mathrm{d}\theta \\ = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda_2}}{\pi^2} \int_0^\infty \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{\sigma^3(\theta, \lambda_4, \lambda_{22}, \lambda_2)}{(\sigma^2(\theta, \lambda_4, \lambda_{22}, \lambda_2) + \kappa_1^2 \lambda_2)^2} v^3 e^{-v^2/2} \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}\theta \\ = \frac{2\sqrt{\lambda_2}}{\pi^2} \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{\sigma^3(\theta, \lambda_4, \lambda_{22}, \lambda_2)}{(\sigma^2(\theta, \lambda_4, \lambda_{22}, \lambda_2) + \kappa_1^2 \lambda_2)^2} \, \mathrm{d}\theta.$$

The last part of this subsection aims at computing some second-order Rice formulas. Let us first introduce the correlation of dislocations at distance R defined as g(R) in [15]. To define this quantity, we first consider the second factorial moment of the random variable  $N_D^{\psi}(0)$  that is

$$\mathbb{E}[\#\{\boldsymbol{x} \in D : \psi(\boldsymbol{x}) = 0\}(\#\{\boldsymbol{x} \in D : \psi(\boldsymbol{x}) = 0\} - 1)]$$

$$= \int \int_{D \times D} A(\boldsymbol{x}_1, \boldsymbol{x}_2) p_{\psi(\boldsymbol{x}_1), \psi(\boldsymbol{x}_2)}(0, 0) \, d\boldsymbol{x}_1 \, d\boldsymbol{x}_2,$$

where using Rice's formula, we get

$$A(\boldsymbol{x}_1, \boldsymbol{x}_2) := \mathbb{E}[|\det \nabla \psi(\boldsymbol{x}_1)| |\det \nabla \psi(\boldsymbol{x}_2)| | \psi(\boldsymbol{x}_1) = \psi(\boldsymbol{x}_2) = 0].$$

Using invariance with respect to rotations and translations, it turns out that

$$A(\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2) = A((0,0), (\|\mathbf{x}_1 - \mathbf{x}_2\|_2, 0)) = A((0,0), (R,0)) := g(R).$$

In the last equality we have set  $R := \|\boldsymbol{x}_1 - \boldsymbol{x}_2\|_2$ .

Moreover, by dropping the absolute value of the determinant of the Jacobian of  $\psi$  we can introduce

$$B(\boldsymbol{x}_1, \boldsymbol{x}_2) := \mathbb{E}[\det \nabla \psi(\boldsymbol{x}_1) \det \nabla \psi(\boldsymbol{x}_2) \, | \, \psi(\boldsymbol{x}_1) = \psi(\boldsymbol{x}_2) = 0].$$

Thus, the charge correlation function (cf. [15]) is defined as

$$g_Q(R) := B((0,0),(R,0)).$$

A elementary closed expression for g(R) was obtained in [9, 15] using an expression for the absolute value function as a Fourier integral. Nevertheless, the computation is not trivial. The interested reader can consult these references. Also, the function  $g_Q(R)$  can be written as the conditional expectation of a sum of products of four standard Gaussian random variables. Consider for example the first term, i.e.

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\xi_x(0,0)\eta_y(0,0)\xi_x(R,0)\eta_y(R,0)\,|\,\psi(0,0)=\psi(R,0)\right].$$

Then, the random variables representing the derivatives are regressed on the vector  $(\psi(0,0),\psi(R,0))$ . An elementary Gaussian calculation gives the result.

#### 4.4. Gravitational stochastic microlensing

In this section, we only sketch an application to gravitational cosmology. The main reason to present it is that the Rice formula used is shown for a non-Gaussian process. However, it is more an illustration than a real formal mathematical development.

It should be noted that all of the material corresponding to this subsection comes from the article by Peters et al. [49]. In addition, for background, this work had to be supplemented by the book [50].

Let  $\{\xi_i\}$  be g independent random variables identically distributed on the disk of radius R in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . They are considered as the positions of the stars. We can define the following random field

$$\psi_g(x) := \frac{1}{2}\kappa_c \|x\|_2^2 - \frac{1}{2}\gamma(x_1^2 - x_2^2) + m\sum_{i=1}^g \ln \|x - \xi_i\|_2^2,$$

where  $x := (x_1, x_2)$  and  $\kappa_c$ ,  $\gamma$  are physical constants and m represents the mass of the stars. Outside of the random points  $\{\xi_i\}_{=1}^g$  the potential  $\psi_g$  is  $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{R})$ . The following random function is known as the delay function for the gravitational lens systems

$$T_y(x) := \frac{1}{2} ||x - y||_2^2 - \psi_g(x).$$

The lensing map is defined as

$$\eta(x) := \nabla T_y(x) + y = x - \nabla \psi_g(x).$$

Given the definitions, we easily obtain

$$\eta(x) = ((1 - \kappa_c + \gamma)x_1, (1 - \kappa_c - \gamma)x_2) - 2m \sum_{j=1}^g \frac{x - \xi_j}{\|x - \xi_j\|_2^2}.$$

A lensed image is a solution  $x^*$  of the equation  $\nabla T_y(x) = 0$ . That is

$$\eta(x^{\star}) = y.$$

These images correspond to the stationary points of the function  $T_y$  and are classified as local maximum, local minimum and saddle point whenever the image is not degenerated. Otherwise, we say that they are degenerate. We are interested in computing the number of non-degenerate images with positive parity  $N_+$  which are defined as  $N_+ := N_{\text{max}} + N_{\text{min}}$ . It is easy to show that in these images, the Jacobian of  $\eta$ , i.e.  $\det(\nabla \eta(x))$ , is always positive.

It is interesting, for gravitational studies, to calculate the expected number of  $N_+$  generated for a point source y. The number of such images on a set  $D \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  is

$$N_{+}(y) := \#\{x \in D : \eta(x) = y, \det(\nabla \eta(x)) > 0\}.$$

Consider  $f: \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$  a continuous function with bounded support, then by the area formula we obtain

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f(y) \mathbb{E}[N_+(y)] \, \, \mathrm{d}y = \int_D \mathbb{E}\big[ f(\eta(x)) \det(\nabla \eta(x)) \mathbb{1}_{]0, \, +\infty[} (\det(\nabla \eta(x))) \big] \, \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f(y) \int_D \mathbb{E}\big[ \det(\nabla \eta(x)) \mathbb{1}_{]0, \, +\infty[} (\det \nabla \eta(x)) \, \big| \, \eta(x) = y \, \big] \, p_{\eta(x)}(y) \, \, \mathrm{d}x \, \, \mathrm{d}y. \end{split}$$

Although the function  $\eta$  has singularities in the positions of the stars  $\xi_i$  these are infinite singularities. That is  $\lim_{x\to\xi_i} \|\eta(x)\|_2 = +\infty$ . Therefore, if we observe only those y that are in the bounded support of f, we have that the domain of  $\eta$  for each  $\omega$  is restricted to an open set that does not contain the points  $\xi_i$ . This implies that the function  $\eta$  restricted to this set is a  $C^{\infty}$  function. Then the hypothesis for applying the area formula holds.

Moreover, we get for almost all y

$$\mathbb{E}[N_{+}(y)] = \int_{D} \mathbb{E}\left[\det(\nabla \eta(x))\mathbb{1}_{]0, +\infty[}(\det(\nabla \eta(x))) \,|\, \eta(x) = y\right] p_{\eta(x)}(y) \,\mathrm{d}x.$$

Using the definitions and some non-trivial work, it can be shown that the above formula holds for all y. Moreover, in [49] the formula is used to obtain

its asymptotic when the number of stars g tends to infinity. An interesting but still open problem is to get the same asymptotic for the variance of  $N_{+}(y)$ .

# 4.5. Kostlan-Shub-Smale systems

Consider a rectangular system P = 0 of j homogeneous polynomial equations in d > j variables.

We assume that the equations have the same degree n > 1.

Let  $P := (X_1, \dots, X_j)$ , we can write each polynomial  $X_\ell$  in the form

$$X_{\ell}(\boldsymbol{t}) := \sum_{|\boldsymbol{z}|=n} a_{\boldsymbol{z}}^{(\ell)} \boldsymbol{t}^{\boldsymbol{z}},$$

where

- 1.  $\mathbf{z} := (z_1, \dots, z_d) \in \mathbb{N}^d$  and  $|\mathbf{z}| := \sum_{k=1}^d z_k$ ; 2.  $a_{\mathbf{z}}^{(\ell)} := a_{z_1 \dots z_d}^{(\ell)} \in \mathbb{R}, \ \ell = 1, \dots, j, \ |\mathbf{z}| = n$ ; 3.  $\mathbf{t} := (t_1, \dots, t_d)$  and  $t^{\mathbf{z}} := \prod_{k=1}^d t_k^{z_k}$ .

We say that P has the Kostlan-Shub-Smale (KSS for short) distribution if the coefficients  $a_{\boldsymbol{z}}^{(\ell)}$  are independent random variables of zero mean normally distributed with variances

$$\operatorname{Var}(a_{\boldsymbol{z}}^{(\ell)}) := \binom{n}{\boldsymbol{z}} := \frac{n!}{z_1! \dots z_d!}.$$

**4.5.1.** Expectation of the volume. — We are interested in the set of zeros of **P** and we denote this set by  $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{P}}(\mathbf{0})$  and its volume by  $\mathcal{L}_n(\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{P}}(\mathbf{0}))$  if d-1>j. Its cardinality is  $N_n^{\mathbf{P}}$  if d-1=j. Shub and Smale [57] showed that if d-1=j then  $\mathbb{E}[N_n^{\mathbf{P}}]=2n^{(d-1)/2}$ . In [10, Chapter 12], this result was obtained by using the Kac-Rice formula. Letendre in [40] tackled the case d-1 > j, i.e. the case of homogenous polynomials of degree n in d variables, obtaining the following result first shown by Kostlan in [37]

$$\mathbb{E}[\mathcal{L}_n(\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{P}}(\mathbf{0}))] = 2n^{j/2} \pi^{(d-j)/2} / \Gamma[\frac{1}{2}(d-j)],$$

where  $\Gamma$  is the Gamma function.

Following Letendre's method and making some simplifications, we will obtain this result using the Kac-Rice formula.

Each  $X_{\ell}$  is homogeneous, and the zero set of  $\boldsymbol{P}$  is the intersection of the zero sets of  $X_{\ell}$ . Then the set  $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{P}}(\mathbf{0})$  is a subset of the real projective space  $\mathbb{RP}^{d-1-j}$ .

Standard multinomial formula shows that for all  $s, t \in \mathbb{R}^d$  we have

$$r_n(\mathbf{s}, \mathbf{t}) := \mathbb{E}[X_{\ell}(\mathbf{s})X_{\ell}(\mathbf{t})] = \langle \mathbf{s}, \mathbf{t} \rangle^n,$$

where  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  is the usual inner product in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

Consequently, we see that the distribution of the system P is invariant under the action of the orthogonal group in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . We also see that the distribution depends of course on n and this will be omitted for P for ease of notation. Let us observe that the parameter t can be considered in the unit sphere of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , that is  $\mathbb{S}^{d-1}$ .

In the following, we must consider the derivative of  $X_{\ell}$ ,  $\ell = 1, \ldots, j$ .

Since the parameter space is the unit sphere  $\mathbb{S}^{d-1}$ , the derivative is taken in the sense of the sphere, that is, the spherical derivative  $X'_{\ell}(t)$  of  $X_{\ell}(t)$  is the orthogonal projection of the free gradient on the tangent space  $t^{\perp}$  of  $\mathbb{S}^{d-1}$  at t.

The k-th component of  $X'_{\ell}(t)$  with respect to a given basis of the tangent space is denoted by  $X'_{\ell k}(t)$ .

We will use Rice's formula slightly modified to make it valid on  $\mathbb{S}^{d-1}$ . As the process P satisfies the hypotheses of Remark 3.3.4 according to Theorem 3.3.3 we obtain

$$\mathbb{E}[\mathcal{L}_n(\mathcal{C}_{\boldsymbol{P}}(\boldsymbol{0}))]$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1}} \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\det(\nabla \boldsymbol{P}(\boldsymbol{t})\nabla \boldsymbol{P}(\boldsymbol{t})^T)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \,\middle|\, \boldsymbol{P}(\boldsymbol{t}) = \boldsymbol{0}\right] p_{\boldsymbol{P}(\boldsymbol{t})}(\boldsymbol{0}) \sigma_{d-1}(\,\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{t}),$$

where  $p_{P(t)}(\mathbf{0})$  represents the density of P(t) in  $\mathbf{0}$ .

Since  $\mathbb{E}[X_{\ell}^{2}(t)] = 1$ , P(t) and  $\nabla P(t)$  are independent, which allows to release the conditioning into the expectation. Moreover, since  $p_{P(t)}(\mathbf{0}) = 1/\sqrt{(2\pi)^{j}}$ , if  $\nabla P(e_0)$  represents the generic element matrix  $X_{\ell k}'(\mathbf{0})$ , we finally obtain

$$\mathbb{E}[\mathcal{L}_n(\mathcal{C}_{\boldsymbol{P}}(\boldsymbol{0}))] = \frac{\sigma_{d-1}(\mathbb{S}^{d-1})}{(2\pi)^{\frac{j}{2}}} \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\det(\nabla \boldsymbol{P}(\boldsymbol{e}_0)\nabla \boldsymbol{P}(\boldsymbol{e}_0)^T)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\right]$$
$$= n^{\frac{j}{2}} \frac{\sigma_{d-1}(\mathbb{S}^{d-1})}{(2\pi)^{\frac{j}{2}}} \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\det(\nabla \boldsymbol{z}(\boldsymbol{e}_0)\nabla \boldsymbol{z}(\boldsymbol{e}_0)^T)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\right],$$

where  $\nabla z(e_0)$  is  $\mathcal{N}(0, I_{(d-1)j})$  and  $I_{(d-1)j}$  represents the  $(d-1)j \times (d-1)j$  identity matrix.

A Gaussian calculation [40, Lemma 5.4. p. 3077]) gives

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\det(\nabla \boldsymbol{z}(\boldsymbol{e}_0)\nabla \boldsymbol{z}(\boldsymbol{e}_0)^T)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\right] = (2\pi)^{j/2} \frac{\sigma_{d-1-j}(\mathbb{S}^{d-1-j})}{\sigma_{d-1}(\mathbb{S}^{d-1})},$$

yielding

$$\mathbb{E}[\mathcal{L}_n(\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{P}}(\mathbf{0}))] = n^{j/2} \sigma_{d-1-j}(\mathbb{S}^{d-1-j}) = 2n^{j/2} \pi^{(d-j)/2} / \Gamma[\frac{1}{2}(d-j)].$$

We now calculate the variance of this random variable. Note that it has also been computed by Letendre in [41] and Letendre and Puchol in [42].

**4.5.2.** Asymptotic of the volume variance. — Letendre in [41] p.4 and Letendre and Puchol in [42, p. 3] studied the asymptotic variance of the volume of the zero set when the degree n goes to infinity and in the case where d-1 > j. This result is sketched in [6]. We will consider this problem using a different method, the case where d-1 = j being treated in [5].

Let us start with some remarks on notation. Recall that we denote by  $\mathbb{S}^{d-1}$  the unit sphere in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . Let us denote by  $\kappa_d$  the hypervolume of the (d-1)-dimensional unit sphere.

The variables s and t denote points on  $\mathbb{S}^{d-1}$  and ds and dt denote the corresponding geometric measure.

Hyperspherical coordinates: For  $\theta := (\theta_1, \dots, \theta_{d-2}, \theta_{d-1}) \in [0, \pi[^{d-2} \times [0, 2\pi[$  we write  $x^{(d-1)}(\theta) := (x_1^{(d-1)}(\theta), \dots, x_d^{(d-1)}(\theta)) \in \mathbb{S}^{d-1}$  in the following way

$$x_k^{(d-1)}(\theta) := \begin{cases} \prod_{j=1}^{k-1} \sin(\theta_j) \cdot \cos(\theta_k), & k \le d-1 \\ \prod_{j=1}^{d-1} \sin(\theta_j), & k = d \end{cases}$$

with the convention that  $\prod_{1}^{0} = 1$ .

We will use several times in the following that for  $h: [-1, 1] \to \mathbb{R}$  a continuous function, it turns out that

(69) 
$$\int_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1} \times \mathbb{S}^{d-1}} h(\langle \boldsymbol{s}, \boldsymbol{t} \rangle) \, d\boldsymbol{s} \, d\boldsymbol{t} = \kappa_d \kappa_{d-1} \int_0^{\pi} \sin^{d-2}(\theta) h(\cos(\theta)) \, d\theta.$$

The proof consists in the use of a reference system with hyperspherical coordinates.

For  $\ell = 1, \dots, j$ , we define the standardized derivative as

(70) 
$$\overline{X}'_{\ell}(t) := \frac{X'_{\ell}(t)}{\sqrt{n}} \text{ and } \overline{P}'(t) := (\overline{X}'_{1}(t), \dots, \overline{X}'_{j}(t)),$$

where  $\overline{X}'_{\ell}(t)$  is a row vector. For  $t \in \mathbb{S}^{d-1}$ , we also define

$$\overline{Z}(t) := (Z_1(t), \dots, Z_{jd}(t)) := (P(t), \overline{P}'(t)).$$

The covariances

$$\rho_{k\ell}(\boldsymbol{s}, \boldsymbol{t}) := \mathbb{E}(Z_k(\boldsymbol{s})Z_\ell(\boldsymbol{t})), \quad k, \ell = 1, \dots, jd,$$

are obtained by routine calculations. They are simplified using the invariance under isometries. For instance, if  $k=\ell \leq j$ 

$$\rho_{k\ell}(\boldsymbol{s}, \boldsymbol{t}) = \langle \boldsymbol{s}, \boldsymbol{t} \rangle^n := \cos^n(\theta), \quad \theta \in [0, \pi[,$$

where  $\theta$  is the angle between s and t.

When the indices k or  $\ell$  are larger than j, the covariances involve derivatives of  $r_n$ .

In fact, we can prove that  $\overline{Z}$  is a vector of jd standard normal random variables whose covariances depend upon the quantities

(71) 
$$\mathcal{A}(\theta) := -\sqrt{n}\cos^{n-1}(\theta)\sin(\theta),$$

$$\mathcal{B}(\theta) := \cos^{n}(\theta) - (n-1)\cos^{n-2}(\theta)\sin^{2}(\theta),$$

$$\mathcal{C}(\theta) := \cos^{n}(\theta),$$

$$\mathcal{D}(\theta) := \cos^{n-1}(\theta).$$

Thus, we can write the variance-covariance matrix of the vector

$$\left(X_{\ell}(s), X_{\ell}(t), \frac{X_{\ell}'(s)}{\sqrt{n}}, \frac{X_{\ell}'(t)}{\sqrt{n}}\right),\,$$

in the following form

$$\left[ egin{array}{c|cccc} A_{11} & A_{12} & A_{13} \\ \hline A_{12}^T & I_{d-1} & A_{23} \\ \hline A_{13}^T & A_{23} & I_{d-1} \end{array} 
ight],$$

where,

$$A_{11} := \left[\begin{array}{ccc} 1 & \mathcal{C} \\ \mathcal{C} & 1 \end{array}\right], \ A_{12} := \left[\begin{array}{cccc} 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ -\mathcal{A} & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{array}\right], \ A_{13} := \left[\begin{array}{cccc} \mathcal{A} & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{array}\right],$$

and  $A_{23} := \operatorname{diag}([\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{D}, \dots, \mathcal{D}])_{(d-1)\times(d-1)}$ , where  $\operatorname{diag}([a_1, a_2, \dots, a_k])_{k\times k}$  stands for the k-square diagonal matrix with the generic element  $a_i$  on its diagonal.

Moreover, when dealing with the conditional distribution of  $(\overline{P}'(s), \overline{P}'(t))$  given that P(s) = P(t) = 0 the following expressions appear for the common variance  $\sigma^2$  and the correlation  $\rho$  depending on  $\theta$ 

(72) 
$$\sigma^2(\theta) := 1 - \frac{\mathcal{A}^2(\theta)}{1 - \mathcal{C}^2(\theta)}; \quad \rho(\theta) := \frac{\mathcal{B}(\theta)(1 - \mathcal{C}^2(\theta)) - \mathcal{A}^2(\theta)\mathcal{C}(\theta)}{1 - \mathcal{C}^2(\theta) - \mathcal{A}^2(\theta)}.$$

After scaling  $\theta := z/\sqrt{n}$ , we obtain the following bounds using the definitions given above. The proof is elementary and the reader can consult the article [5] for details.

**Lemma 4.5.1.** — [5]. There exists  $0 < \alpha < \frac{1}{2}$  such that for n sufficiently large and  $z/\sqrt{n} < \pi/2$  it holds that

$$|\mathcal{A}| \le z \exp(-\alpha z^2),$$
  

$$|\mathcal{B}| \le (1 + z^2) \exp(-\alpha z^2),$$
  

$$|\mathcal{C}| \le |\mathcal{D}| \le \exp(-\alpha z^2),$$

and for  $z \geqslant z_0$ ,

$$0 \le 1 - \sigma^2 \le Cz^2 \exp(-2\alpha z^2),$$
$$|\rho| \le C(1 + z^2) \exp(-\alpha z^2).$$

All functions on the left-hand side are evaluated at  $\theta = z/\sqrt{n}$ .

Lemma 4.5.2. — [5]. It is easy to show using the definitions that the following limits hold

$$\cos^{2n}(z/\sqrt{n}) \xrightarrow[n\to\infty]{} \exp(-z^2)$$

$$\mathcal{A} \xrightarrow[n\to\infty]{} -z\exp(-z^2/2)$$

$$\mathcal{B} \xrightarrow[n\to\infty]{} (1-z^2)\exp(-z^2/2)$$

$$\mathcal{C} \text{ and } \mathcal{D} \xrightarrow[n\to\infty]{} \exp(-z^2/2)$$

$$\sigma^2(z/\sqrt{n}) \xrightarrow[n\to\infty]{} \frac{1-(1+z^2)\exp(-z^2)}{1-\exp(-z^2)}$$

$$\rho(z/\sqrt{n}) \xrightarrow[n\to\infty]{} \frac{\exp(-z^2/2)(1-z^2-\exp(-z^2))}{1-(1+z^2)\exp(-z^2)}.$$

Let us apply the Rice formula for the second moment of the zero set volume by writing the variance as

$$\operatorname{Var}\left[\mathcal{L}_n(\mathcal{C}_{\boldsymbol{P}}(\boldsymbol{0}))\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\mathcal{L}_n^2(\mathcal{C}_{\boldsymbol{P}}(\boldsymbol{0}))\right] - (\mathbb{E}\left[\mathcal{L}_n(\mathcal{C}_{\boldsymbol{P}}(\boldsymbol{0}))\right])^2.$$

In the expression above, we have already computed the second term and for the first, we apply Rice's formula for the second moment with a slight modification as before to make it valid on  $\mathbb{S}^{d-1}$  (see [10]).

$$egin{aligned} & \mathbb{E}ig[\mathcal{L}_n^2(\mathcal{C}_{m{P}}(m{0}))ig] \ &= \int_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1} imes\mathbb{S}^{d-1}} \mathbb{E}igg[ig(\det(m{P}'(m{t})m{P}'(m{t})^T)ig)^{rac{1}{2}}ig(\det(m{P}'(m{s})m{P}'(m{s})^T)ig)^{rac{1}{2}}ig|m{P}(m{t}) &= m{P}(m{s}) &= m{0} \end{bmatrix} \end{aligned}$$

$$\times p_{P(t),P(s)}(\mathbf{0},\mathbf{0}) dt ds,$$

where  $p_{P(t),P(s)}(\cdot,\cdot)$  is the density of the vector (P(t),P(s)).

By independence, we can write

$$p_{P(t),P(s)}(\mathbf{0},\mathbf{0}) = \prod_{\ell=1}^{j} p_{X_{\ell}(t),X_{\ell}(s)}(0,0) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{j}(1-\langle t,s\rangle^{2n})^{j/2}}.$$

Moreover, let  $P'(t)P'(t)^T = (a_{ik})$ . Thus, using the homogeneity of the determinant, we have  $n^{-j} \det(P'(t)P'(t)^T) = \det(a_{ik}/n)$ . Obtaining in this form that all the entries of the matrix  $(a_{ik}/n)$  have variance one.

Furthermore, we have

(73) 
$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\det(\boldsymbol{P}'(\boldsymbol{t})\boldsymbol{P}'(\boldsymbol{t})^T)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\left(\det(\boldsymbol{P}'(\boldsymbol{s})\boldsymbol{P}'(\boldsymbol{s})^T\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}|\boldsymbol{P}(\boldsymbol{t})=\boldsymbol{P}(\boldsymbol{s})=\boldsymbol{0}\right]$$
$$=n^{j}\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\det(\overline{\boldsymbol{P}}'(\boldsymbol{t})\overline{\boldsymbol{P}}'(\boldsymbol{t})^T)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\left(\det(\overline{\boldsymbol{P}}'(\boldsymbol{s})\overline{\boldsymbol{P}}'(\boldsymbol{s})^T)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}|\boldsymbol{P}(\boldsymbol{t})=\boldsymbol{P}(\boldsymbol{s})=\boldsymbol{0}\right],$$

where  $\overline{P}'$  is defined by (70).

Let us introduce the following function  $f^j$ 

$$f^{j}(y'_{11},\ldots,y'_{1d-1},\ldots,y'_{j1},\ldots,y'_{jd-1}) := f^{j}(\mathbf{y}') := \sqrt{\det(\mathbf{y}'\mathbf{y}'^{T})},$$

where  $\boldsymbol{y}':=(y'_{11},\ldots,y'_{1d-1},\ldots,y'_{j1},\ldots,y'_{jd-1})\in\mathbb{R}^{j\times(d-1)}$ . Furthermore, for any  $\gamma>0$  let us define

$$f_{\gamma}^{j}(\mathbf{y}') := f^{j}(\gamma y'_{11}, y'_{12}, \dots, y'_{1d-1}, \gamma y'_{21}, \dots, y'_{2d-1}, \dots, \gamma y'_{j1}, \dots, y'_{jd-1}).$$

For  $\gamma = 1$  we have  $f^j = f_1^j$ .

The conditional distribution of  $(\overline{P}'(t), \overline{P}'(s))$  given that P(t) = 0 and P(s) = 0 is a Gaussian distribution of dimension  $2j \times (d-1)$  of mean zero and covariance

$$\left[\begin{array}{c|c} B_{11} & B_{12} \\ B_{12} & B_{22} \end{array}\right],$$

where

$$B_{11} = B_{22} := \operatorname{diag}([\sigma^2, 1, \dots, 1])_{j(d-1) \times j(d-1)}$$

and

$$B_{12} := \operatorname{diag}([\sigma^2 \rho, \mathcal{D}, \dots, \mathcal{D}])_{j(d-1) \times j(d-1)}$$

where these quantities are defined by (71) and (72).

This result allows us to write the conditional distribution using the joint distribution of the following two  $(j \times (d-1))$ -dimensional vectors

$$(\overline{M}_1, \dots, \overline{M}_j) := (M_{11}, \dots, M_{1d-1}, M_{21}, \dots, M_{2d-1}, \dots, M_{j1}, \dots, M_{jd-1})$$
$$(\overline{W}_1, \dots, \overline{W}_j) := (W_{11}, \dots, W_{1d-1}, W_{21}, \dots, W_{2d-1}, \dots, W_{j1}, \dots, W_{jd-1})$$

where the  $M_{\ell k}$  (resp.  $W_{\ell k}$ ) are independent standard Gaussian random variables and

(74) 
$$\mathbb{E}[M_{\ell_1 k_1} W_{\ell_2 k_2}] := \rho \mathbb{1}_{\{\ell_1 = \ell_2, k_1 = k_2 = 1\}} + \mathcal{D} \mathbb{1}_{\{\ell_1 = \ell_2, k_1 = k_2 > 1\}}.$$

Using these notations we readily obtain that (73) is equal to

$$n^{j}\mathbb{E}\left[f_{\sigma}^{j}(\overline{M}_{1},\ldots,\overline{M}_{j})f_{\sigma}^{j}(\overline{W}_{1},\ldots,\overline{W}_{j})\right].$$

This implies that we can write

(75) 
$$\mathbb{E}\left[\mathcal{L}_{n}^{2}(\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{P}}(\mathbf{0}))\right]$$

$$= n^{j} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1} \times \mathbb{S}^{d-1}} \mathbb{E}\left[f_{\sigma}^{j}(\overline{M}_{1}, \dots, \overline{M}_{j})f_{\sigma}^{j}(\overline{W}_{1}, \dots, \overline{W}_{j})\right] p_{\mathbf{P}(t), \mathbf{P}(s)}(\mathbf{0}, \mathbf{0}) dt ds.$$

As in Section 4.1.1, we denote by  $(H_k(x))_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$  the Hermite polynomials. Moreover, if (Z, W) is a centered Gaussian vector with Var(Z) := Var(W) := 1 and  $\mathbb{E}(ZW) := \omega$ , the following bi-dimensional Mehler's formula holds

$$\mathbb{E}[H_k(Z)H_\ell(W)] = \delta_{k,\ell}\omega^k k!.$$

Moreover, since  $(f_{\gamma}^{j})^{2}$  is a polynomial this fact implies that

$$f_{\gamma}^{j} \in \mathbb{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{j \times (d-1)}, \varphi_{j \times (d-1)}(\boldsymbol{y}') \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{y}'),$$

where  $\varphi_{j\times(d-1)}$  is the Gaussian standard density on  $\mathbb{R}^{j\times(d-1)}$ . Using that the tensor Hermite polynomials form an orthogonal basis for this space we obtain

(76) 
$$f_{\gamma}^{j}(\boldsymbol{y}') = \sum_{\beta} f_{\beta}^{j}(\gamma) \overline{H}_{\beta}(\boldsymbol{y}'),$$

where

$$\boldsymbol{\beta} := (\beta_{11}, \dots, \beta_{1d-1}, \dots, \beta_{j1}, \dots, \beta_{jd-1}),$$

$$\overline{H}_{\boldsymbol{\beta}}(\boldsymbol{y}') := H_{\beta_{11}}(y'_{11}) \dots H_{\beta_{1d-1}}(y'_{1d-1}) \dots H_{\beta_{i1}}(y'_{i1}) \dots H_{\beta_{id-1}}(y'_{id-1}),$$

and

$$\begin{split} f^j_{\pmb{\beta}}(\gamma) &:= \frac{1}{\pmb{\beta}!} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j \times (d-1)}} f^j_{\gamma}(\pmb{y}') \overline{H}_{\pmb{\beta}}(\pmb{y}') \varphi_{j \times (d-1)}(\pmb{y}') \, \mathrm{d} \pmb{y}', \\ \text{with } \pmb{\beta}! &:= \prod_{\ell=1}^j \prod_{k=1}^{d-1} \beta_{\ell k}!. \end{split}$$

By Parseval's equality, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{j\times(d-1)}} \left| f_{\gamma}^{j}(\boldsymbol{y}') \right|^{2} \varphi_{j\times(d-1)}(\boldsymbol{y}') \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{y}' = \sum_{\boldsymbol{\beta}} |f_{\boldsymbol{\beta}}^{j}(\gamma)|^{2} \boldsymbol{\beta}! < \infty.$$

**Remark 4.5.3.** — Note that for j = d - 1,  $f(\mathbf{y}') := f^{d-1}(\mathbf{y}') = |\det \mathbf{y}'|$  is true. Here  $\mathbf{y}'$  is the  $(d-1) \times (d-1)$  matrix whose columns are the vectors  $(y'_{\ell 1}, \ldots, y'_{\ell d-1})$  for  $\ell = 1, \ldots, d-1$ . Furthermore, applying the homogeneity of the determinant we have  $f_{\gamma}^{d-1}(\mathbf{y}') = \gamma f(\mathbf{y}')$ . The lack of this property when j < d-1, implies that we need a different approach to the one of [5] for obtaining the asymptotic variance.

Let us calculate the conditional expectation (73).

The expansion (76), the two-dimensional Mehler's formula and equality (74) give

$$n^{j}\mathbb{E}\left[f_{\sigma}^{j}(\overline{M}_{1},\ldots,\overline{M}_{j})f_{\sigma}^{j}(\overline{W}_{1},\ldots,\overline{W}_{j})\right]$$

$$= n^{j}\sum_{\beta}(f_{\beta}^{j}(\sigma(\langle \boldsymbol{t},\boldsymbol{s}\rangle))^{2}\beta!(\mathcal{D}(\langle \boldsymbol{t},\boldsymbol{s}\rangle))^{(|\beta|-\sum_{\ell=1}^{j}\beta_{\ell 1})}(\rho(\langle \boldsymbol{t},\boldsymbol{s}\rangle))^{\sum_{\ell=1}^{j}\beta_{\ell 1}}$$

$$:= n^{j}\mathcal{H}(\langle \boldsymbol{t},\boldsymbol{s}\rangle),$$

where 
$$|\beta| := \sum_{\ell=1}^{j} \sum_{k=1}^{d-1} \beta_{\ell k}$$
.

Some conclusions follow from this last expression. The first one is that the expectation in (73) depends on t, s through  $\langle t, s \rangle$  only. Then using (69) we obtain

$$\mathbb{E}[(\mathcal{L}_n(\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{P}}(\mathbf{0})))^2] = \kappa_d \kappa_{d-1} \int_0^{\pi} \mathcal{H}(\cos(\theta)) \frac{n^j}{(2\pi)^j} \frac{1}{(1 - \cos^{2n}(\theta))^{\frac{j}{2}}} \sin^{d-2}(\theta) d\theta$$
$$= \kappa_d \kappa_{d-1} \frac{n^{j-\frac{1}{2}}}{(2\pi)^j} \int_0^{\sqrt{n}\pi} \mathcal{H}(\cos(z/\sqrt{n})) \frac{1}{(1 - \cos^{2n}(z/\sqrt{n}))^{\frac{j}{2}}} \sin^{d-2}(z/\sqrt{n}) dz.$$

The second stems from the form of the integrand. Indeed, we know that

$$\sum_{\beta} \left| f_{\beta}^{j}(\gamma) \right|^{2} \beta! = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j \times (d-1)}} \left| f_{\gamma}^{j}(\boldsymbol{x}) \right|^{2} \varphi_{j \times (d-1)}(\boldsymbol{x}) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}$$

$$\leq (d-1)^{j} (\gamma \vee 1)^{2j} \mathbb{E} \left[ \sup_{1 \leq \ell \leq j, 1 \leq k \leq d-1} \left| \frac{X_{\ell k}'(\boldsymbol{e}_{0})}{\sqrt{n}} \right|^{2j} \right].$$

Since  $\sigma^2 \cos((z/\sqrt{n})) \leq 1$  and  $\rho$  is a correlation (and  $|\rho| \leq 1$ ), then

(77) 
$$\sum_{\beta} \left| f_{\beta}^{j}(\sigma(\cos(z/\sqrt{n}))) \right|^{2} \beta! \leqslant C.$$

Therefore, since d-1 > j, we can interchange the series with the integral obtaining

(78) 
$$\mathbb{E}[(\mathcal{L}_{n}(\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{P}}(\mathbf{0})))^{2}] = \kappa_{d}\kappa_{d-1}\frac{n^{j-\frac{1}{2}}}{(2\pi)^{j}}\sum_{\boldsymbol{\beta}}\int_{0}^{\sqrt{n}\pi}\mathcal{H}_{\boldsymbol{\beta}}(\cos(z/\sqrt{n}))\frac{\sin^{d-2}(z/\sqrt{n})}{(1-\cos^{2n}(z/\sqrt{n}))^{\frac{j}{2}}}\,\mathrm{d}z,$$

where

$$\mathcal{H}_{\beta}(\cos(z/\sqrt{n})) := \left| f_{\beta}^{j}(\sigma(\cos(z/\sqrt{n}))) \right|^{2} \beta! \left( \mathcal{D}(\cos(z/\sqrt{n})) \right)^{(|\beta| - \sum_{\ell=1}^{j} \beta_{\ell 1})} \times (\rho(\cos(z/\sqrt{n})))^{\sum_{\ell=1}^{j} \beta_{\ell 1}}.$$

First of all, it should be noted that

$$\frac{\left(\mathbb{E}[\mathcal{L}_n(\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{P}}(\mathbf{0}))]\right)^2}{n^{j-(d-1)/2}} = \frac{n^{(d-1)/2}}{(2\pi)^j} \kappa_d^2 \left| f_{\mathbf{0}}^j(1) \right|^2 \\
= \frac{n^{(d-2)/2}}{(2\pi)^j} \kappa_d \kappa_{d-1} \left| f_{\mathbf{0}}^j(1) \right|^2 \int_0^{\sqrt{n}\pi} \sin^{d-2}(z/\sqrt{n}) \, \mathrm{d}z.$$

Thus, using the above results and normalizing we obtain

$$\frac{\operatorname{Var}[\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{P}}(\mathbf{0}))]}{n^{j-(d-1)/2}} = \kappa_{d}\kappa_{d-1} \int_{0}^{\sqrt{n}\pi} \frac{n^{(d-2)/2}}{(2\pi)^{j}} \left( \sum_{|\boldsymbol{\beta}| \geqslant 1} \mathcal{H}_{\boldsymbol{\beta}}(\cos(z/\sqrt{n})) \right) \times \frac{1}{(1-\cos^{2n}(z/\sqrt{n}))^{j/2}} \sin^{d-2}(z/\sqrt{n}) \, dz$$

$$+ \kappa_{d}\kappa_{d-1} \int_{0}^{\sqrt{n}\pi} \frac{n^{(d-2)/2}}{(2\pi)^{j}} \left( \left| f_{\mathbf{0}}^{j}(\sigma(\cos(z/\sqrt{n}))) \right|^{2} - \left| f_{\mathbf{0}}^{j}(1) \right|^{2} \right) \times \frac{\sin^{d-2}(z/\sqrt{n})}{(1-\cos^{2n}(z/\sqrt{n}))^{j/2}} \, dz$$

$$+ \kappa_{d}\kappa_{d-1} \int_{0}^{\sqrt{n}\pi} \frac{n^{(d-2)/2}}{(2\pi)^{j}} \left| f_{\mathbf{0}}^{j}(1) \right|^{2} \left( \frac{1}{(1-\cos^{2n}(z/\sqrt{n}))^{j/2}} - 1 \right) \times \sin^{d-2}(z/\sqrt{n}) \, dz.$$

To apply the dominated convergence theorem, we have to look for a uniform bound. The following lemma gives us the solution. The prove is postponed to the end of this section.

**Lemma 4.5.4.** — Each term appearing in the integrands of the sum (79) is bounded by a Lebesgue integrable function on  $[0, \infty[$  of the variable z.

So we can take the limit under the integral sign. Moreover, let us show that we can interchange limit with the sum sign. We have

$$G(\gamma) := \sum_{\beta} \left| f_{\beta}^{j}(\gamma) \right|^{2} \beta! = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j \times (d-1)}} \left| f_{\gamma}^{j}(x) \right|^{2} \varphi_{j \times (d-1)}(x) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Since the function  $\left|f_{\gamma}^{j}(x)\right|^{2}$  is a polynomial and has  $\gamma$  as a coefficient, we can prove by using the dominated convergence theorem applied to the formula on the right, that G is a continuous function then if  $\gamma_{n} \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} \gamma$  we have  $G(\gamma_{n}) \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} G(\gamma)$ . Thus

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \sum_{\beta} \left| f_{\beta}^{j}(\gamma_{n}) \right|^{2} \beta! = \sum_{\beta} \left| f_{\beta}^{j}(\gamma) \right|^{2} \beta!.$$

The exact expression of the limit is obtained using the results of Lemma 4.5.2. Let us define

(80) 
$$\mathcal{J}_{\beta}(z) := \left| f_{\beta}^{j} \left( \left( \frac{1 - (1 + z^{2}) \exp(-z^{2})}{1 - \exp(-z^{2})} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right) \right|^{2} \beta! \left( \exp(-z^{2}/2) \right)^{|\beta|} \times \left( \frac{(1 - \exp(-z^{2}) - z^{2})}{1 - (1 + z^{2}) \exp(-z^{2})} \right)^{\sum_{\ell=1}^{j} \beta_{\ell 1}}.$$

It yields

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \operatorname{Var} \left[ \frac{\mathcal{L}_{n}(\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{P}}(\mathbf{0}))}{n^{j/2 - (d-1)/4}} \right]$$

$$= \frac{\kappa_{d}\kappa_{d-1}}{(2\pi)^{j}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \left( \sum_{|\beta| \ge 1} \mathcal{J}_{\beta}(z) \right) \frac{1}{(1 - \exp(-z^{2}))^{j/2}} z^{d-2} dz$$

$$+ \frac{\kappa_{d}\kappa_{d-1}}{(2\pi)^{j}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \left[ \left| f_{\mathbf{0}}^{j} \left( \left\{ \frac{1 - (1 + z^{2}) \exp(-z^{2})}{1 - \exp(-z^{2})} \right\}^{\frac{1}{2}} \right) \right|^{2} - \left| f_{\mathbf{0}}^{j}(1) \right|^{2} \right]$$

$$\times \frac{z^{d-2}}{(1 - \exp(-z^{2}))^{j/2}} dz$$

$$+ \frac{\kappa_{d}\kappa_{d-1}}{(2\pi)^{j}} \left| f_{\mathbf{0}}^{j}(1) \right|^{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} \left[ \frac{1}{(1 - \exp(-z^{2}))^{j/2}} - 1 \right] z^{d-2} dz.$$

Finally, we have proved the following theorem.

Theorem 4.5.5. —

(81) 
$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \operatorname{Var} \left[ \frac{\mathcal{L}_n(\mathcal{C}_{\boldsymbol{P}}(\mathbf{0}))}{n^{j/2 - (d-1)/4}} \right]$$
$$= \frac{\kappa_d \kappa_{d-1}}{(2\pi)^j} \int_0^\infty \left[ \sum_{|\boldsymbol{\beta}| \geqslant 0} \mathcal{J}_{\boldsymbol{\beta}}(z) \frac{1}{(1 - \exp(-z^2))^{j/2}} - \left| f_{\mathbf{0}}^j(1) \right|^2 \right] z^{d-2} dz.$$

This is the same result that Letendre [41] obtained before using another method.

Finally, we give the proof of Lemma 4.5.4.

**Remark 4.5.6.** — The symmetrization argument used in step 3 of Section 3.2 of [5] gives that the integral over  $[\sqrt{n}\frac{\pi}{2}, \sqrt{n}\pi]$  of each term in the expansion (78) is equal to the integral of the same term on  $[0, \sqrt{n}\frac{\pi}{2}]$  except for a multiplication by  $(-1)^{(n-1)|\beta|}$ .

In this form, the uniform bound obtained for applying the dominated convergence theorem in the latter interval is also used for the former.

Consider the first term of the sum (79).

Using the lemma 4.5.1, it turns out that there exists  $n_0$  such that for  $z/\sqrt{n} < \frac{\pi}{2}$  with  $n > n_0$  and for  $z \ge z_0$ , which implies

$$|\rho| \leqslant C(1+z^2) \exp(-\alpha z^2)$$
 and  $\mathcal{D} \leqslant \exp(-\alpha z^2)$ .

According to Remark 4.5.6, it is enough to work in the interval  $[0, \sqrt{n\frac{\pi}{2}}]$ . In that way we get, for  $z \ge z_0$ 

$$\left| \sum_{|\beta| \geqslant 1} \left| f_{\beta}^{j} \left( \sigma(\cos(z/\sqrt{n})) \right) \right|^{2} \beta! \left( \mathcal{D}(\cos(z/\sqrt{n})) \right)^{(|\beta| - \sum_{\ell=1}^{j} \beta_{\ell 1})}$$

$$\times \left( \rho(\cos(z/\sqrt{n})) \right)^{\sum_{\ell=1}^{j} \beta_{\ell 1}}$$

$$\leq C \left( \sum_{|\beta| \geqslant 1} \left| f_{\beta}^{j} \left( \sigma(\cos(z/\sqrt{n})) \right) \right|^{2} \beta! \right) (1 + z^{2}) \exp(-\alpha z^{2})$$

$$\leq C (1 + z^{2}) \exp(-\alpha z^{2}).$$

Above, we used (77).

It remains to consider the integral over the interval  $[0, z_0]$ . But now the integrand can be bounded on  $[0, z_0]$  by

$$C\frac{1}{(1-\cos^{2n}(z/\sqrt{n}))^{\frac{j}{2}}}n^{(d-2)/2}\sin^{d-2}(z/\sqrt{n}) \leqslant C\frac{1}{(1-\exp(-2\alpha z^2))^{\frac{j}{2}}}z^{d-2},$$

and the function on the right-hand side is integrable whenever j < d - 1. In this way, applying the dominated convergence theorem, we obtain

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \kappa_d \kappa_{d-1} \frac{n^{(d-2)/2}}{(2\pi)^j} \int_0^{\sqrt{n}\pi} \left( \sum_{|\boldsymbol{\beta}| \geqslant 1} \mathcal{H}_{\boldsymbol{\beta}}(\cos(z/\sqrt{n})) \right) \times \frac{\sin^{d-2}(z/\sqrt{n})}{(1 - \cos^{2n}(z/\sqrt{n}))^{j/2}} \, \mathrm{d}z$$

$$= \kappa_d \kappa_{d-1} \frac{1}{(2\pi)^j} \int_0^{\infty} \left( \sum_{|\boldsymbol{\beta}| \geqslant 1} \mathcal{J}_{\boldsymbol{\beta}}(z) \right) \frac{1}{(1 - \exp(-z^2))^{j/2}} z^{d-2} \, \mathrm{d}z.$$

The exact expression of the function  $\mathcal{J}_{\beta}(z)$  (see (80)) is obtained using Lemma 4.5.2.

To complete the proof of the lemma, we need to consider the remaining terms in (79). First, let us consider

$$\mathcal{I}_{n} := \kappa_{d} \kappa_{d-1} \frac{n^{(d-2)/2}}{(2\pi)^{j}} \int_{0}^{\sqrt{n}\pi} \left[ \left| f_{\mathbf{0}}^{j} (\sigma(\cos(z/\sqrt{n}))) \right|^{2} - \left| f_{\mathbf{0}}^{j}(1) \right|^{2} \right] \times \frac{1}{(1 - \cos^{2n}(z/\sqrt{n}))^{j/2}} \sin^{d-2}(z/\sqrt{n}) \, \mathrm{d}z.$$

But

$$\left| \left| f_{\mathbf{0}}^{j}(\sigma(\cos(z/\sqrt{n}))) \right|^{2} - \left| f_{\mathbf{0}}^{j}(1) \right|^{2} \right|$$

$$= \left| \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j \times (d-1)}} f_{\sigma}^{j}(\boldsymbol{x}) \varphi_{j \times (d-1)}(\boldsymbol{x}) \, d\boldsymbol{x} \right)^{2}$$

$$- \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j \times (d-1)}} f^{j}(\boldsymbol{x}) \varphi_{j \times (d-1)}(\boldsymbol{x}) \, d\boldsymbol{x} \right)^{2}$$

$$\leqslant \boldsymbol{C} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j \times (d-1)}} f_{\sigma}^{j}(\boldsymbol{x}) \varphi_{j \times (d-1)}(\boldsymbol{x}) \, d\boldsymbol{x} - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j \times (d-1)}} f^{j}(\boldsymbol{x}) \varphi_{j \times (d-1)}(\boldsymbol{x}) \, d\boldsymbol{x} \right|$$

$$\leqslant \boldsymbol{C} \mathbb{1}_{\{z \leqslant z_{0}\}} + \boldsymbol{C} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j \times (d-1)}} f_{\sigma}^{j}(\boldsymbol{x}) \varphi_{j \times (d-1)}(\boldsymbol{x}) \, d\boldsymbol{x} - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{j \times (d-1)}} f^{j}(\boldsymbol{x}) \varphi_{j \times (d-1)}(\boldsymbol{x}) \, d\boldsymbol{x} \right| \mathbb{1}_{\{z > z_{0}\}}.$$

$$(82)$$

To find an upper bound for the second term of the last sum, we use the following general result.

Let  $G: \mathbb{R}^M \to \mathbb{R}$  be a function such that  $|G(\boldsymbol{x})| \leq C \|\boldsymbol{x}\|^m$ ,  $m \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , where without loss of generality we take  $\|\boldsymbol{x}\| := \sup_i |x_i|$ . Consider two sequences of positive numbers  $\{\sigma_i\}_{i=1}^M$  and  $\{\gamma_i\}_{i=1}^M$  and denote  $\|\boldsymbol{\sigma}\| := \sup_i \sigma_i$  and  $\|\boldsymbol{\gamma}\| := \sup_i \gamma_i$ . Also consider  $\boldsymbol{W} := (W_1, \dots, W_M) \stackrel{\mathcal{L}}{=} \mathcal{N}(0, I_M)$ . We have

$$\begin{split} |\mathbb{E}[G(\sigma_1 W_1, \sigma_2 W_2, \dots, \sigma_M W_M) - G(\gamma_1 W_1, \gamma_2 W_2, \dots, \gamma_M W_M)]| \\ &\leq C \sqrt{2M} (\|\boldsymbol{\sigma}\| \vee \|\boldsymbol{\gamma}\|) \sum_{i=1}^M \frac{|\sigma_i - \gamma_i|}{\sigma_i \wedge \gamma_i} (\mathbb{E}[\|W\|^{2m}])^{\frac{1}{2}}, \end{split}$$

where the symbols  $\vee$  and  $\wedge$  denote the supremum and infimum respectively.

Applying this result to the second term of the last sum in (82) and using that  $\sigma(\cos(z/\sqrt{n})) \leq 1$  and  $|1 - \sigma| \leq C \exp(-2\alpha z^2)$  for  $z > z_0$ , we obtain

$$\left| \left| f_{\mathbf{0}}^{j}(\sigma(\cos(z\sqrt{n}))) \right|^{2} - \left| f_{\mathbf{0}}^{j}(1) \right|^{2} \right| \leq C \mathbb{1}_{\{z \leq z_{0}\}} + C \exp(-2\alpha z^{2}) \mathbb{1}_{\{z > z_{0}\}}.$$

Now, the dominated convergence theorem can be applied and again by the results of Lemma 4.5.2 we get

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \mathcal{I}_n = \frac{\kappa_d \kappa_{d-1}}{(2\pi)^j} \int_0^\infty \left[ \left| f_0^j \left( \left\{ \frac{1 - (1 + z^2) \exp(-z^2)}{1 - \exp(-z^2)} \right\}^{\frac{1}{2}} \right) \right|^2 - \left| f_0^j (1) \right|^2 \right] \times \frac{1}{(1 - \exp(-z^2))^{j/2}} z^{d-2} \, \mathrm{d}z.$$

Finally we will consider the last term  $\mathcal{J}_n$ .

(83) 
$$\mathcal{J}_{n} := \kappa_{d} \kappa_{d-1} \frac{n^{(d-2)/2}}{(2\pi)^{j}} \int_{0}^{\sqrt{n}\pi} \left| f_{\mathbf{0}}^{j}(1) \right|^{2} \left[ \frac{1}{(1 - \cos^{2n}(z/\sqrt{n}))^{j/2}} - 1 \right] \times \sin^{d-2}(z/\sqrt{n}) \, \mathrm{d}z.$$

By setting  $R := \cos^n(z/\sqrt{n})$ , we have

(84) 
$$\left| \frac{1}{(1 - \cos^{2n}(z/\sqrt{n}))^{j/2}} - 1 \right| \leqslant C \frac{R^2}{(1 - R^2)^{\frac{j}{2}}},$$

with  $|R| \leq \exp(-\alpha z^2) \wedge 1$  if  $z < \frac{\pi}{2}\sqrt{n}$ .

Thus the integrand in (83) can be bounded with the bound computed in (84), depending on  $z < z_0$  or  $z \ge z_0$ . That is, on the interval close to zero or on the

other. In the first case, we use

$$\left| n^{(d-2)/2} \left[ \frac{1}{(1 - \cos^{2n}(z/\sqrt{n}))^{j/2}} - 1 \right] \sin^{d-2}(z/\sqrt{n}) \right| \leqslant C \frac{z^{d-2}}{(1 - \exp(-2\alpha z^2))^{j/2}},$$

the last function above is an integrable function since j < d - 1. On the large interval, we get

$$\left| n^{(d-2)/2} \left[ \frac{1}{(1 - \cos^{2n}(z/\sqrt{n}))^{j/2}} - 1 \right] \sin^{d-2}(z/\sqrt{n}) \right|$$

$$\leq \mathbf{C} \exp(-2\alpha z^2) \frac{z^{d-2}}{(1 - \exp(-2\alpha z_0^2))^{j/2}},$$

the last function above being again an integrable function. Since these two bounds allow applying the dominated convergence theorem, it turns out that

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \mathcal{J}_n = \frac{\kappa_d \kappa_{d-1}}{(2\pi)^j} \left| f_{\mathbf{0}}^j(1) \right|^2 \int_0^\infty \left[ \frac{1}{(1 - \exp(-z^2))^{j/2}} - 1 \right] z^{d-2} \, \mathrm{d}z.$$

That completes the proof of Lemma 4.5.4.

### 4.6. Local time and length of curves of level set

Let  $X: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ ,  $d \ge 2$ , be a stationary centered continuous Gaussian process and F be its spectral measure assumed not to be concentrated in a Borel set of zero Lebesgue measure. Let T be a bounded open set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

We will consider regularizations of the trajectories of X by means of convolutions of the form  $X_{\varepsilon}(t) = \Psi_{\varepsilon} * X(t)$ ,  $\varepsilon > 0$ , where  $\Psi_{\varepsilon}$  is an approximation of unity when  $\varepsilon$  tends to zero and satisfies some regularity conditions.

The aim of this section is to approximate the local time of X over T at a given level u, say  $L_X(u,T)$ , by the length of curves of the u level set of process  $X_{\varepsilon}$ , say  $\sigma_{d-1}(C_{T,X_{\varepsilon}}(u))$ .

Some of the results that will be presented in Sections 4.6.1 and 4.6.2 have been partially discussed in [19]. We can cite some references of papers that have dealt on the same subject in the case where d=1. More precisely if  $N_{X_{\varepsilon}}(u)$  represents the number of crossings of the level u by the process  $X_{\varepsilon}$  on the interval [0, 1], Wschebor [61] has shown that, in the case of Brownian motion, the appropriately normalized random variable  $N_{X_{\varepsilon}}(0)$  tends to  $L_X(0,[0,1])$ , as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ , in  $L^p(\Omega)$  for any  $p \ge 1$ , and a similar result applies to multiparameter Brownian motion. Azaïs and Florens [7] have extended this result to a class of stationary Gaussian processes.

We start with some considerations on the local time of X on T.

**4.6.1. Local time.** — We define the local time as the density of the occupation measure of X. This definition was used for example by Berman ([13]). More precisely, if A denotes a Borel set in  $\mathbb{R}$ , we define the occupation measure  $\mu_T(\omega, A)$  of X by

$$\mu_T(\omega, A) := \sigma_d\{t \in T, X(\omega, t) \in A\}.$$

The local time  $L_X(u,T)$ , when it exists, is any function satisfying

$$\mu_T(\omega, A) = \int_A L_X(\omega, u, T) du,$$

for almost every  $\omega$ .

Another formulation is that the local time, when it exists, is the Radon-Nikodym derivative

$$L_X(u,T) := \frac{\mathrm{d}\mu_T}{\mathrm{d}\sigma_1}(u).$$

By Proposition 1 of [19], the local time of X, denoted by  $L_X(\cdot, T)$ , exists P-almost surely and is  $L^2(\lambda_1 \times P)$ . One can also refer to Theorem 22.1 of [30]. One reason why this result is true is that

$$\int_{T \times T} (r^2(0) - r^2(s-t))^{-1/2} \, \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{d}t < \infty,$$

where r stands for the covariance of process X. The finiteness of the last integral comes from the following lemma whose proof is given in Lemma 1 of [19].

**Lemma 4.6.1.** — There exists C > 0, such that for all  $(s,t) \in \overline{T} \times \overline{T}$ ,  $r^2(0) - r^2(s-t) \ge C \|s-t\|_d^2$ , where  $\overline{T}$  is the closure of the set T.

We now state the identity of the second moment of local time.

**Proposition 4.6.2.** — For all any level  $u \in \mathbb{R}$ , we have

$$\mathbb{E}\big[L_X^2(u,T)\big] = \int_{T \times T} p_{X(s),X(t)}(u,u) \,\mathrm{d}s \,\mathrm{d}t,$$

where  $p_{X(s),X(t)}(\cdot,\cdot)$  is the density of vector (X(s),X(t)).

Proof of Proposition 4.6.2. The proof is given in [30] (see equality (25.5)). However, we give here a sketch of the proof which we will use later. Proposition 4.6.3 ensues from Proposition 1 of [19].

**Proposition 4.6.3.** — There exists a version of  $L(\cdot,T)$  such that  $\forall u \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\eta_{\delta}(u) := \frac{1}{2\delta} \int_{T} \mathbb{1}_{\{t,|X(t)-u|<\delta\}} dt$ ,  $\delta > 0$ , converges in  $L^{2}(\Omega)$  to  $L_{X}(u,T)$ .

Let  $u \in \mathbb{R}$ . By computing  $\mathbb{E}[\eta_{\delta}^2(u)]$ , we obtain:

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\eta_{\delta}^{2}(u)\right] = \left(\frac{1}{2\delta}\right)^{2} \int_{u-\delta}^{u+\delta} \int_{u-\delta}^{u+\delta} \left(\int_{T\times T} p_{X(s),X(t)}(x,y) \,\mathrm{d}s \,\mathrm{d}t\right) \,\mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y.$$

Using Lemma 4.6.1, we easily obtain that the function

$$(x,y) \mapsto \int_{T \times T} p_{X(s),X(t)}(x,y) \,\mathrm{d}s \,\mathrm{d}t$$

is continuous at (x, y) and then using Proposition 4.6.3, we obtain

$$\mathbb{E}[\eta_{\delta}^{2}(u)] \xrightarrow{\delta \to 0} \int_{T \times T} p_{X(s),X(t)}(u,u) \, \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{d}t = \mathbb{E}[L_{X}^{2}(u,T)].$$

Another interesting way to prove Proposition 4.6.2 is to apply Theorem 1 of [24]. Indeed, in this theorem, the authors expand the local time  $L_X(u,T)$  in terms of Hermite polynomials. More precisely, if  $(H_k(x))_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$  is the Hermite orthogonal basis of  $L^2(\mathbb{R}, \varphi(x) dx)$ , i.e.

$$H_k(x) := (-1)^k \varphi^{-1}(x) \frac{\mathrm{d}^k}{\mathrm{d}x^k} (\varphi(x)),$$

where  $\varphi$  denotes the standard Gaussian density on  $\mathbb{R}$ , they show the following theorem.

**Theorem 4.6.4.** — Let  $u \in \mathbb{R}$  a fixed level. The following expansion of the local time  $L_X(u,T)$  holds in  $L^2(\Omega)$ :

$$L_X(u,T) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{r(0)}} \varphi\left(\frac{u}{\sqrt{r(0)}}\right) \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{k!} H_k\left(\frac{u}{\sqrt{r(0)}}\right) \int_T H_k\left(X(s)/\sqrt{r(0)}\right) \, \mathrm{d}s.$$

Using this last expansion and Mehler's formula (see [20]), we obtain

$$\mathbb{E}[L_X^2(u,T)]$$

$$= \frac{1}{r(0)} \varphi^2 \left( \frac{u}{\sqrt{r(0)}} \right) \sum_{q \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{q!} H_q^2 \left( \frac{u}{\sqrt{r(0)}} \right) \int_{T \times T} \left( \frac{r(s-t)}{r(0)} \right)^q ds dt.$$

The following equality can be found in [33, Eq. (39)]. For  $0 \le |w| < 1$  and  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ , we have

$$\sum_{q \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{q!} H_q^2(x) w^q = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - w^2}} \exp\left(\frac{x^2 w}{1 + w}\right).$$

Thus, applying this last equality to  $x := u/\sqrt{r(0)}$  and to w := r(s-t)/r(0), we obtain

$$\mathbb{E}[L_X^2(u,T)] = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{T \times T} \frac{1}{\sqrt{r^2(0) - r^2(s-t)}} \exp\left(-\frac{u^2}{r(0) + r(s-t)}\right) ds dt$$
$$= \int_{T \times T} p_{X(s),X(t)}(u,u) ds dt.$$

This completes the proof of Proposition 4.6.2.

Let  $f:T\to\mathbb{R}$  be a bounded function. More generally that before, we are interested in a canonical renormalization of the ordinary local time, given by,  $\forall u\in\mathbb{R}$ 

$$L_X^f(u,T) := \int_T f(t) L_X(u, dt).$$

Geman and Horowitz proved in [30, Theorem 6.4] the following identity.

**Theorem 4.6.5.** — For any Borel function  $h(t,x) \ge 0$  on  $T \times \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\int_T h(t, X(t)) dt = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_T h(t, x) L_X(x, dt) dx.$$

**Remark 4.6.6.** — This equality is still valid for any Borel function h(t,x), which is not necessarily positive, provided that one of the two integrals is finite. This is for example the case when h is bounded.

**Remark 4.6.7.** — If we take  $h(t,x) := \mathbb{1}_A(x)$ , where A is a Borel set of  $\mathbb{R}$ , we find the usual definition of local time. If we take h(t,x) := g(x), where g is a bounded Borel function, we get the known occupation formula

$$\int_T g(X(t)) dt = \int_{\mathbb{R}} g(x) L_X(x, T) dx.$$

Let us define the measure  $\mu_f$  as

$$\mu_f(A) := \int_A \int_T f(t) L_X(x, dt) dx,$$

where A is any Borel set of  $\mathbb{R}$ . Since f is bounded,  $\mu_f(A) \leq C\sigma_d(T) < \infty$ . The measure  $\mu$  is a finite and its Fourier transform is

$$\widehat{\mu}_f(z) := \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{izx} \, \mathrm{d}\mu_f(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{izx} \int_T f(t) L_X(x, \, \mathrm{d}t) \, \mathrm{d}x, \quad z \in \mathbb{R}.$$

By Theorem 4.6.5 and Remark 4.6.6 applied to  $h(t,x) := e^{izx} f(t)$ , we have  $\widehat{\mu}_f(z) = \int_T e^{izX(t)} f(t) dt$ , so by applying Lemma 4.6.1 and since function f is

a bounded one, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}\Big[|\widehat{\mu}_f(z)|^2\Big] &= \int_{T\times T} f(t)f(s)\mathbb{E}[e^{iz(X(s)-X(t))}]\,\mathrm{d}s\,\mathrm{d}t\\ &= \int_{T\times T} f(t)f(s)e^{-z^2(r(0)-r(s-t))}\,\mathrm{d}s\,\mathrm{d}t\\ &\leqslant \int_{T\times T} |f(s)|\,|f(t)|\,e^{-\mathbf{C}z^2\|s-t\|_d^2}\,\mathrm{d}s\,\mathrm{d}t\\ &\leqslant \frac{\mathbf{C}}{(1+|z|)^d}. \end{split}$$

We deduce from these inequalities that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} |\widehat{\mu}_f(z)|^2 dz\right] \leqslant C,$$

and we conclude that, with probability one,

$$\int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} |\widehat{\mu}_f(z)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}z < \infty.$$

Thus by Plancherel's theorem we proved that

$$\int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \mathbb{E}\left[ (L_X^f(x,T))^2 \right] \, \mathrm{d}x < \infty,$$

and then for almost all  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ .

$$\mathbb{E}\Big[(L_X^f(x,T))^2\Big]<\infty.$$

Then, we aim at giving a generalization of Propositions 4.6.2 and 4.6.3 for the renormalized local time  $L_X^f(\cdot,T)$ .

Let us state the following two propositions.

**Proposition 4.6.8.** — For any level  $u \in \mathbb{R}$ , the random variable  $\eta_{\delta}^{f}(u)$  defined by

$$\eta_{\delta}^f(u) := \frac{1}{2\delta} \int_T f(t) \mathbb{1}_{\{t, |X(t) - u| < \delta\}} dt,$$

 $\delta > 0$ , converges in  $L^2(\Omega)$  towards  $L_X^f(u,T)$ .

Since function f is bounded and  $(x,y) \mapsto \int_{T \times T} p_{X(s),X(t)}(x,y) \, ds \, dt$  is continuous at (x,y), as an immediate consequence we deduce as above the following proposition,

**Proposition 4.6.9.** — For any level  $u \in \mathbb{R}$ , we have

$$\mathbb{E}\Big[(L_X^f(u,T))^2\Big] = \int_{T\times T} f(s)f(t)p_{X(s),X(t)}(u,u)\,\mathrm{d}s\,\mathrm{d}t.$$

*Proof of Proposition 4.6.8.* To prove this proposition, it is sufficient to prove the following lemma.

**Lemma 4.6.10.** — For any  $x, h \in \mathbb{R}$ , we have

$$\mathbb{E}\bigg[\Big(L_X^f(x+h,T)-L_X^f(x,T)\Big)^2\bigg]\leqslant \boldsymbol{C}\theta(h)\leqslant \boldsymbol{C}\left|h\right|,$$

where  $\theta(h) := (h^2 + |h|^{d-1}) \mathbb{1}_{\{d \neq 3\}} + h^2 \ln(1/|h|) \mathbb{1}_{\{d=3\}}$ , for h sufficiently small and where the constante C is locally bounded as function of x.

**Remark 4.6.11.** — This lemma highlights the fact that since  $d \ge 3$ , the renormalized local time  $L_X^f(\cdot,T)$  almost surely admits a continuous version as function of x.

Taking  $h(t,x) := f(t)\mathbb{1}_A(x)$ , with  $A = ]u - \delta, u + \delta[$  in Theorem 4.6.5, we obtain

$$\eta_{\delta}^f(u) = \frac{1}{2\delta} \int_{u-\delta}^{u+\delta} L_X^f(x,T) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

This implies that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\eta_{\delta}^{f}(u) - L_{X}^{f}(u,T)\right)^{2}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\frac{1}{2\delta}\int_{u-\delta}^{u+\delta} \left(L_{X}^{f}(x,T) - L_{X}^{f}(u,T)\right) dx\right)^{2}\right]$$

$$\leqslant \frac{1}{2\delta}\int_{u-\delta}^{u+\delta} \mathbb{E}\left[\left(L_{X}^{f}(x,T) - L_{X}^{f}(u,T)\right)^{2}\right] dx$$

$$\leqslant C\delta \xrightarrow[\delta \to 0]{} 0.$$

That will end the proof of Proposition 4.6.8. Let us prove Lemma 4.6.10.  $\Box$ 

Proof of Lemma 4.6.10. It is sufficient to prove the inequality of the lemma for x, x+h not belonging to a set N, such that  $\sigma_1(N)=0$ . Indeed, if it is possible to do so, then we can define  $L_X^f(x,T)$  for  $x \in N$  as limit in  $L^2(\Omega)$  of  $L_X^f(y,T)$  as  $y \to x$ , with  $y \notin N$  and this version of the canonical renormalization of the ordinary local time will satisfy the required inequality for all  $x, x+h \in \mathbb{R}$ . By Theorem 4.6.5 and Remark 4.6.6 applied to h(t,x):=1, we have

$$\sigma_d(T) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} L_X(x, T) \, \mathrm{d}x < \infty.$$

Now, since f is bounded, we have  $\forall x \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\left|L_X^f(x,T)\right| \leqslant CL_X(x,T)$ . Therefore,  $L_X^f(\cdot,T) \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$ .

Lebesgue's differentiation theorem ensures the existence of a  $\sigma_1$ -null measure set N such that if  $x \notin N$  then

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \eta_{\delta}^f(x) = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{1}{2\delta} \int_{x-\delta}^{x+\delta} L_X^f(y,T) \, \mathrm{d}y = L_X^f(x,T).$$

So, applying Fatou's lemma and the fact that function

$$(x,y) \to \int_{T \times T} f(s)f(t)p_{X(s),X(t)}(x,y) \,\mathrm{d}s \,\mathrm{d}t$$

is continuous at (x, y), we get that for all  $x, x + h \notin N$ ,

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E} \bigg[ \Big( L_X^f(x+h,T) - L_X^f(x,T) \Big)^2 \bigg] \\ &= \mathbb{E} \bigg[ \lim_{\delta \to 0} \Big( \eta_\delta^f(x+h) - \eta_\delta^f(x) \Big)^2 \bigg] \\ &= \mathbb{E} \bigg[ \lim_{\delta \to 0} \bigg( \frac{1}{2\delta} \bigg)^2 \Big( \int_T f(t) \Big( \mathbbm{1}_{\{t:|X(t)-(x+h)|<\delta\}} - \mathbbm{1}_{\{t:|X(t)-x|<\delta\}} \Big) \ \mathrm{d}t \Big)^2 \bigg] \\ &\leqslant \int_{T \times T} f(s) f(t) \left\{ p_{X(s),X(t)}(x+h,x+h) - 2p_{X(s),X(t)}(x+h,x) + p_{X(s),X(t)}(x,x) \right\} \ \mathrm{d}s \ \mathrm{d}t. \end{split}$$

A simple calculation shows that the right-hand side of the last inequality is bounded by

$$C \int_{T \times T} \frac{1}{(r^2(0) - r^2(s-t))^{\frac{1}{2}}} \times \left[ h^2 + \left\{ 1 - \exp(-ah^2(r^2(0) - r^2(s-t))^{-1}) \right\} \right] ds dt,$$

where a>0 is a fixed number and C is locally bounded as function of x. Lemma 4.6.1 gives the required result.

**Remark 4.6.12.** — It is interesting to note that Proposition 4.6.8 implies, without particular effort, that for any level  $u, v \in \mathbb{R}$  and for all bounded functions  $f, g: T \to \mathbb{R}$ , we have

$$\mathbb{E}\Big[L_X^f(u,T)L_X^g(v,T)\Big] = \int_{T\times T} f(s)g(t)p_{X(s),X(t)}(u,v)\,\mathrm{d}s\,\mathrm{d}t.$$

To finish this section on the local time, we complete the statement of Theorem 4.6.4 due to Doukhan and León([24]) to the renormalized local time.

•

**Theorem 4.6.13.** — Let  $u \in \mathbb{R}$ , a fixed level. The following expansion of the local time  $L_X^f(u,T)$  holds in  $L^2(\Omega)$ :

(85) 
$$L_X^f(u,T) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{r(0)}} \varphi\left(\frac{u}{\sqrt{r(0)}}\right) \times \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{k!} H_k\left(\frac{u}{\sqrt{r(0)}}\right) \int_T f(s) H_k\left(X(s)/\sqrt{r(0)}\right) ds.$$

Proof of Theorem 4.6.13. Let us define the random variable  $Z^f(u,T)$  as the right-hand side of (85) that is

$$Z^{f}(u,T) := \frac{1}{\sqrt{r(0)}} \varphi\left(\frac{u}{\sqrt{r(0)}}\right) \times \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{k!} H_{k}\left(\frac{u}{\sqrt{r(0)}}\right) \int_{T} f(s) H_{k}\left(X(s)/\sqrt{r(0)}\right) ds.$$

Let us prove that  $\mathbb{E}\left[\left(L_X^f(u,T)-Z^f(u,T)\right)^2\right]=0.$ 

On the one hand, by Proposition 4.6.9, we already know that

$$\mathbb{E}\Big[(L_X^f(u,T))^2\Big] = \int_{T \times T} f(s)f(t)p_{X(s),X(t)}(u,u) \,\mathrm{d}s \,\mathrm{d}t.$$

On the other hand, using Mehler's formula, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}\left[\left(Z^f(u,T)\right)^2\right] &= \frac{1}{r(0)}\varphi^2\left(\frac{u}{\sqrt{r(0)}}\right) \\ &\times \sum_{q\in\mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{q!} H_q^2\left(\frac{u}{\sqrt{r(0)}}\right) \int_{T\times T} f(s)f(t) \left(\frac{r(s-t)}{r(0)}\right)^q \,\mathrm{d}s\,\mathrm{d}t. \end{split}$$

And as we saw in the second way of proving Proposition 4.6.2, we use [33, Eq. (39)] to obtain

$$\mathbb{E}\bigg[\Big(Z^f(u,T)\Big)^2\bigg] = \mathbb{E}\Big[(L_X^f(u,T))^2\Big].$$

Let us now compute  $\mathbb{E}\Big[L_X^f(u,T)Z^f(u,T)\Big]$ .

First for fixed  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , let us define function  $h_k$  by  $h_k(t, x) := f(t)H_k(x/\sqrt{r(0)})$  in Theorem 4.6.5. We thus obtain the equality

$$\int_T f(t) H_k \Big( X(t) / \sqrt{r(0)} \Big) dt = \int_{\mathbb{R}} L_X^f(x, T) H_k \Big( x / \sqrt{r(0)} \Big) dx,$$

and then

$$\mathbb{E}\Big[L_X^f(u,T)Z^f(u,T)\Big] = \frac{1}{\sqrt{r(0)}}\varphi\left(\frac{u}{\sqrt{r(0)}}\right)\sum_{k\in\mathbb{N}}\frac{1}{k!}H_k\left(\frac{u}{\sqrt{r(0)}}\right) \times \int_{\mathbb{R}}H_k\left(x/\sqrt{r(0)}\right)\mathbb{E}\Big[L_X^f(x,T)L_X^f(u,T)\Big] dx.$$

Applying Remark 4.6.12, we get

$$\begin{split} &\mathbb{E}\Big[L_X^f(u,T)Z^f(u,T)\Big] \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{r(0)}}\varphi^2\Bigg(\frac{u}{\sqrt{r(0)}}\Bigg)\int_{T\times T}f(s)f(t)\times\frac{1}{\sqrt{r^2(0)-r^2(s-t)}} \\ &\times \sum_{k\in\mathbb{N}}\frac{1}{k!}H_k\Bigg(\frac{u}{\sqrt{r(0)}}\Bigg)\frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\int_{\mathbb{R}}H_k\Big(x/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big) \\ &\times \exp\Bigg(-\frac{\Big(x\sqrt{r(0)}-u\,r(s-t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)^2}{2(r^2(0)-r^2(s-t))}\Bigg)\,\mathrm{d}x\,\mathrm{d}s\,\mathrm{d}t. \end{split}$$

The following formula can be found in [31, (8), page 804]. For  $0 \le \alpha < 1$ ,  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $z \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}(x-z)^2\right) H_k(\alpha x) \, \mathrm{d}x = (1-\alpha^2)^{k/2} H_k\left(\frac{\alpha z}{\sqrt{1-\alpha^2}}\right).$$

We make the change of variable  $x = \beta y$  for  $\beta \neq 0$ . For  $0 \leqslant \alpha < 1$ ,  $\beta \neq 0$ ,  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $z \in \mathbb{R}$ , we obtain

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \exp(-\frac{1}{2}(\beta x - z)^2) H_k(\alpha \beta x) \, \mathrm{d}x = \frac{1}{\beta} (1 - \alpha^2)^{k/2} H_k\left(\frac{\alpha z}{\sqrt{1 - \alpha^2}}\right).$$

We apply this last formula to

$$\beta := \frac{\sqrt{r(0)}}{\sqrt{r^2(0) - r^2(s - t)}},$$
 
$$z := \frac{ur(s - t)}{\sqrt{r(0)}\sqrt{r^2(0) - r^2(s - t)}}$$

and to

$$\alpha := \frac{\sqrt{r^2(0) - r^2(s-t)}}{r(0)}.$$

We obtain

$$\mathbb{E}\Big[L_X^f(u,T)Z^f(u,T)\Big] = \frac{1}{r(0)}\varphi^2\left(\frac{u}{\sqrt{r(0)}}\right)\int_{T\times T} f(s)f(t)$$

$$\times \sum_{k\in\mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{k!} H_k\left(\frac{u}{\sqrt{r(0)}}\right) \left|\frac{r(s-t)}{r(0)}\right|^k H_k\left(\frac{ur(s-t)}{\sqrt{r(0)}|r(s-t)|}\right) \,\mathrm{d}s\,\mathrm{d}t.$$

We consider the following equality in [33, (39)]). For  $0 \leq |w| < 1$  and  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\sum_{q \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{q!} H_q(x) H_q(y) w^q = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - w^2}} \exp\left(\frac{-w^2(x^2 + y^2) + 2wxy}{2(1 - w^2)}\right).$$

We apply this last inequality by choosing

$$x := \frac{u}{\sqrt{r(0)}},$$

$$y := \frac{ur(s-t)}{\sqrt{r(0)}|r(s-t)|}$$

and

$$w := \left| \frac{r(s-t)}{r(0)} \right|,$$

getting

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}\Big[L_X^f(u,T)Z^f(u,T)\Big] \\ &= \varphi^2\bigg(\frac{u}{\sqrt{r(0)}}\bigg) \times \int_{T \times T} f(s)f(t) \times \frac{1}{\sqrt{r^2(0)-r^2(s-t)}} \\ &\times \exp\bigg(\frac{u^2r(s-t)}{r(0)(r(0)+r(s-t))}\bigg) \; \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \mathbb{E}\bigg[\Big(L_X^f(u,T)\Big)^2\bigg] \;, \end{split}$$

yielding Theorem 4.6.13.

Now we will approximate the renormalized local time  $L_X^f(u,T)$  over T at u, by an appropriate normalization of functionals of the u-level set of the smoothed process  $X_{\varepsilon}$ .

**4.6.2.** Approximation to the length of curves of level set. — Let  $X : \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ ,  $d \geq 2$ , be a continuous Gaussian isotropic process of zero mean and F its spectral measure. We assume that F is not concentrated in a zero Lebesgue measure Borel set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

We assume that the covariance of process X, say r, is  $C^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$  except at the origin. Note that this implies that  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} ||x||_d^2 dF(x) = +\infty$ .

We consider regularizations of the trajectories of X by means of convolutions of the form  $X_{\varepsilon}(t) := \Psi_{\varepsilon} * X(t)$ ,  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\Psi_{\varepsilon}(t) := \frac{1}{\varepsilon^d} \Psi(\frac{t}{\varepsilon})$ , where  $\Psi$  is  $C^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$  with compact support, nonnegative, depending only on the norm and such that  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Psi(t) \, \mathrm{d}t = 1$ .

Note that  $X_{\varepsilon}: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  is still a centered continuous Gaussian stationary isotropic process and is  $C^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ .

Let T be an open bounded set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and let u be a fixed level. Let also  $f: T \to \mathbb{R}$  be a continuous bounded function.

The objective of this paragraph is to approximate the renormalized local time  $L_X^f(u,T)$ , by functionals of the u level set of the regular approximating process  $X_{\varepsilon}$ . We need some definitions.

Let us define  $\theta_d := \mathbb{E}[\|\xi\|_d]$ , where  $\xi$  is a standard Gaussian vector of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . We will note  $r_{\varepsilon}$  the covariance of  $X_{\varepsilon}$ ,  $\varepsilon > 0$  and by  $r^{(\varepsilon)}$  that of X and  $X_{\varepsilon}$ , that is  $r^{(\varepsilon)}(t) := \mathbb{E}[X_{\varepsilon}(t)X(0)]$ .

Since  $X_{\varepsilon}$  is isotropic,  $\mathbb{E}[\nabla X_{\varepsilon}(0)\nabla X_{\varepsilon}(0)^{t}] = \mu_{\varepsilon}I_{d}$ , where  $\mu_{\varepsilon} := -\frac{\partial^{2}r_{\epsilon}}{\partial t_{i}^{2}}(0)$  for any  $i = 1, \ldots d$  and  $I_{d}$  stands for the identity matrix in  $\mathbb{R}^{d}$ .

**Remark 4.6.14.** — Since  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \|x\|_d^2 dF(x) = +\infty$ , Fatou's lemma implies that  $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mu_{\varepsilon} = +\infty$ . We then deduce that for  $\varepsilon$  small enough and for all  $t \in T$ , the vector  $(X_{\varepsilon}(t), \nabla X_{\varepsilon}(t))$  has a density.

We define the functional

$$\xi_{\varepsilon}^{f}(u) := \frac{\theta_{d}^{-1}}{\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}} \int_{C_{T,X_{\varepsilon}}^{D^{r}}(u)} f(t) \, d\sigma_{d-1}(t), \quad \varepsilon > 0.$$

We will show the following theorem.

**Theorem 4.6.15.** — The random variable  $\xi_{\varepsilon}^{f}(u)$  converge in  $L^{2}(\Omega)$  towards  $L_{X}^{f}(u,T)$  as  $\varepsilon$  tends to zero.

*Proof of Theorem 4.6.15.* Proposition 4.6.8 ensures that it is sufficient to show that

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbb{E} \bigg[ \Big( \xi_\varepsilon^f(u) - \eta_\delta^f(u) \Big)^2 \bigg] = 0.$$

Let

$$\Sigma := \mathbb{E}\bigg[ \Big( \eta^f_\delta(u) \Big)^2 \bigg] + \mathbb{E}\bigg[ \Big( \xi^f_\varepsilon(u) \Big)^2 \bigg] - 2 \mathbb{E}\Big[ \xi^f_\varepsilon(u) \eta^f_\delta(u) \Big] \,.$$

Propositions 4.6.8 and 4.6.9 imply that

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\eta_{\delta}^f(u)\right)^2\right] = \int_{T \times T} f(s)f(t)p_{X(s),X(t)}(u,u) \,\mathrm{d}s \,\mathrm{d}t := \alpha(u).$$

Let us consider  $\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\xi_{\varepsilon}^{f}(u)\right)^{2}\right]$ .

We claim that assumptions of Theorem 3.3.9 are fulfilled.

It remains to show that for any  $(s,t) \in T \times T$  with  $s \neq t$ , the vector  $(X_{\varepsilon}(s), X_{\varepsilon}(t))$  has a density.

This fact follows from Lemma 4.6.16 whose proof is given in [19, Lemma 2].

**Lemma 4.6.16.** —  $\exists C > 0$ ,  $\exists \varepsilon_0 > 0$ ,  $\forall \varepsilon \leqslant \varepsilon_0$ ,  $\forall (s,t) \in \overline{T} \times \overline{T}$ , one has  $r_{\varepsilon}^2(0) - r_{\varepsilon}^2(s-t) \geqslant C \|s-t\|_d^2$ .

To finish the argument, the Borel-Tsirelson-Ibragimov-Sudakov inequality (see in [3, Theorem 2.1.1]) ensures in the one hand that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\sup_{x\in T}\left\|\nabla^2 X_{\varepsilon}(x)\right\|_{1,d}^{(s)}\right)^{2d}\right]<\infty.$$

On the other hand, we use the fact that f is a continuous bounded function on T to verify the hypothesis  $\mathbf{H}_7$ . In this way it is enough to establish that  $\forall u \in \mathbb{R}$ , we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{T\times T} \mathbb{E} \big[ \|\nabla \! X_{\varepsilon}(s)\|_d \, \|\nabla \! X_{\varepsilon}(t)\|_d \, \big| \, X_{\varepsilon}(s) &= X_{\varepsilon}(t) = u \, \big] \\ &\quad \times p_{X_{\varepsilon}(s),X_{\varepsilon}(t)}(u,u) \, \mathrm{d} s \, \mathrm{d} t < \infty, \end{split}$$

where  $p_{X_{\varepsilon}(s),X_{\varepsilon}(t)}(\cdot,\cdot)$  is the density of vector  $(X_{\varepsilon}(s),X_{\varepsilon}(t))$ . The proof of this last fact can be found for example in [19, Proposition 2].

The Rice formula of the second order follows from the application of Theorem 3.3.9. That is, we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\xi_{\varepsilon}^{f}(u)\right)^{2}\right] = \theta_{d}^{-2} \int_{T \times T} f(s) f(t)$$

$$\times \mathbb{E}\left[\left\|\nabla X_{\varepsilon}(s) / \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\right\|_{d} \left\|\nabla X_{\varepsilon}(t) / \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\right\|_{d} \left|X_{\varepsilon}(s) = X_{\varepsilon}(t) = u\right.\right]$$

$$\times p_{X_{\varepsilon}(s), X_{\varepsilon}(t)}(u, u) \, \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{d}t.$$

**Remark 4.6.17.** — Note that  $\forall u \in \mathbb{R}$ , almost surely

$$C_{T,X_{\varepsilon}}^{D^r}(u) = C_{T,X_{\varepsilon}}(u).$$

ullet

To apply the dominated convergence theorem we need an upper bound for the expression within the integral in last equality. Let us quote the following lemma cited as Appendix 1 in [19].

**Lemma 4.6.18.** — Let  $(Y, Z, X_1, X_2)$  be a centered Gaussian vector taking its values into  $\mathbb{R}^{2d+2}$ , while Y and Z take their values in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and  $X_1, X_2$  in  $\mathbb{R}$ . Let us suppose that  $\mathbb{E}[X_1^2] = \mathbb{E}[X_2^2] = \sigma^2$ ,  $\mathbb{E}[X_1 X_2] = \gamma$  with  $\sigma^4 - \gamma^2 \neq 0$ , then  $\forall u \in \mathbb{R}$ 

$$\mathbb{E} [\|Y\|_d \|Z\|_d | X_1 = X_2 = u]$$

$$\leq \left( \mathbb{E} [\|Y\|_d^2] \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left( \mathbb{E} [\|Z\|_d^2] \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left[ 1 + 4\sigma^2 (\sigma^2 + \gamma)^{-2} u^2 \right].$$

In particular if, for all  $s,t \in T$ , with  $s \neq t$ , we choose  $Y := \nabla X_{\varepsilon}(s)$  and  $Z := \nabla X_{\varepsilon}(t)$ ,  $X_1 := X_{\varepsilon}(s)$  and  $X_2 := X_{\varepsilon}(t)$ , thus  $\sigma^2 := r_{\varepsilon}(0)$  and  $\gamma := r_{\varepsilon}(s-t)$ . Lemma 4.6.16 ensures that assumptions of Lemma 4.6.18 are satisfied.

Moreover, note that since for all  $(s,t) \in \overline{T} \times \overline{T}$ ,  $r_{\varepsilon}(0) + r_{\varepsilon}(s-t)$  converges uniformly to r(0) + r(s-t) > 0 when  $\varepsilon$  tends to zero, so for all  $(s,t) \in \overline{T} \times \overline{T}$ ,  $r_{\varepsilon}(0) + r_{\varepsilon}(s-t) \geqslant C > 0$  for  $\varepsilon$  sufficiently small.

We deduce that for all  $s, t \in T$ , with  $s \neq t$  and  $\varepsilon \leqslant \varepsilon_0$ , we have

$$|f(s)||f(t)| \times \mathbb{E}\left[\|\nabla X_{\varepsilon}(s)/\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\|_{d} \|\nabla X_{\varepsilon}(t)/\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\|_{d} |X_{\varepsilon}(s) = X_{\varepsilon}(t) = u\right]$$

$$\times p_{X_{\varepsilon}(s),X_{\varepsilon}(t)}(u,u) \, \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{d}t$$

$$\leqslant C \left[1 + 4 \frac{r_{\varepsilon}(0)u^{2}}{(r_{\varepsilon}(0) + r_{\varepsilon}(s - t))^{2}}\right] \frac{1}{\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}^{2}(0) - r_{\varepsilon}^{2}(s - t)}}$$

$$\times \exp\left(-\frac{u^{2}}{r_{\varepsilon}(0) + r_{\varepsilon}(s - t)}\right)$$

$$\leqslant C \frac{1}{\|s - t\|_{d}} \in L^{1}(T \times T).$$

We deduce that

$$\begin{split} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbb{E} \bigg[ \Big( \xi_{\varepsilon}^f(u) \Big)^2 \bigg] &= \theta_d^{-2} \int_{T \times T} f(s) f(t) \\ &\times \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \big\{ \mathbb{E} \big[ \| \nabla X_{\varepsilon}(s) / \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \|_d \, \| \nabla X_{\varepsilon}(t) / \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \|_d \, \big| \, X_{\varepsilon}(s) = X_{\varepsilon}(t) = u \big] \\ &\times p_{X_{\varepsilon}(s), X_{\varepsilon}(t)}(u, u) \big\} \, \, \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{d}t, \end{split}$$

provided that the limit inside the integral exists.

In pursuit of our goal, we use the decomposition given in [61, p. 60], that is for  $\tau := s - t$ , where  $s, t \in T$  and  $\varepsilon > 0$ 

$$\nabla X_{\varepsilon}(0) = \xi_{\varepsilon} + (X_{\varepsilon}(0)\alpha_{\varepsilon} + X_{\varepsilon}(\tau)\beta_{\varepsilon})$$

$$\nabla X_{\varepsilon}(\tau) = \xi_{\varepsilon}^{\star} - (X_{\varepsilon}(\tau)\alpha_{\varepsilon} + X_{\varepsilon}(0)\beta_{\varepsilon}),$$

where  $\xi_{\varepsilon}$  and  $\xi_{\varepsilon}^{\star}$  are centered Gaussian vectors taking values in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , with joint Gaussian distribution, each of them independent of  $(X_{\varepsilon}(0), X_{\varepsilon}(\tau))$ , such that, if  $\nabla r_{\varepsilon}$  stands for the Jacobian of the  $X_{\varepsilon}$  covariance function,

$$\alpha_{\varepsilon} := \frac{r_{\varepsilon}(\tau)\nabla r_{\varepsilon}(\tau)}{r_{\varepsilon}^{2}(0) - r_{\varepsilon}^{2}(\tau)}$$

$$\beta_{\varepsilon} := -\frac{r_{\varepsilon}(0)\nabla r_{\varepsilon}(\tau)}{r_{\varepsilon}^{2}(0) - r_{\varepsilon}^{2}(\tau)}$$

$$\operatorname{Var}(\xi_{\varepsilon}) = \operatorname{Var}(\xi_{\varepsilon}^{\star}) = -\nabla^{2}r_{\varepsilon}(0) - \frac{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}{r_{\varepsilon}^{2}(0) - r_{\varepsilon}^{2}(\tau)}\nabla r_{\varepsilon}(\tau)\nabla r_{\varepsilon}(\tau)^{t}$$

$$\operatorname{Cov}(\xi_{\varepsilon}, \xi_{\varepsilon}^{\star}) = -\nabla^{2}r_{\varepsilon}(\tau) - \frac{r_{\varepsilon}(\tau)}{r_{\varepsilon}^{2}(0) - r_{\varepsilon}^{2}(\tau)}\nabla r_{\varepsilon}(\tau)\nabla r_{\varepsilon}(\tau)^{t}.$$

With these notations, we obtain

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbb{E} \left[ \left( \xi_{\varepsilon}^{f}(u) \right)^{2} \right] = \theta_{d}^{-2} \int_{T \times T} f(s) f(t)$$

$$\times \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left\{ \mathbb{E} \left[ \left\| \left( \xi_{\varepsilon} - \frac{\nabla r_{\varepsilon}(s-t)u}{r_{\varepsilon}(0) + r_{\varepsilon}(s-t)} \right) \middle/ \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \right\|_{d} \right.$$

$$\times \left\| \left( \xi_{\varepsilon}^{\star} + \frac{\nabla r_{\varepsilon}(s-t)u}{r_{\varepsilon}(0) + r_{\varepsilon}(s-t)} \right) \middle/ \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \right\|_{d} \right.$$

$$\times p_{X_{\varepsilon}(s), X_{\varepsilon}(t)}(u, u) \right\} ds dt.$$

Using Remark 4.6.14, one can show that for all  $s, t \in T$ ,

$$\frac{\nabla r_{\varepsilon}(s-t)}{\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}} \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{\nabla^{2} r_{\varepsilon}(s-t)}{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} 0.$$

Furthermore,

$$r_{\varepsilon}(s-t) \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} r(s-t),$$

so

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbb{E} \left[ \left( \xi_\varepsilon^f(u) \right)^2 \right] = \alpha(u).$$

Now to finish the proof of theorem, we need to compute the term  $\mathbb{E}\left[\xi_{\varepsilon}^{f}(u)\eta_{\delta}^{f}(u)\right]$ . We have

$$\mathbb{E}\Big[\xi_\varepsilon^f(u)\eta_\delta^f(u)\Big] = \frac{1}{2\delta} \int_T f(s) \frac{\theta_d^{-1}}{\sqrt{\mu_\varepsilon}} \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{C^{D^r}_{T,X_\varepsilon}(u)} f(t) \mathbbm{1}_{|X(s)-u|<\delta} \,\mathrm{d}\sigma_{d-1}(t)\right] \,\mathrm{d}s.$$

We are going to use the first order Rice formula given in Theorem 3.3.3. For any fixed  $s \in T$ , the process Y is defined as  $Y(t) := f(t) \mathbb{1}_{|X(s)-u|<\delta}, t \in T$ .

This model is not part of the proposed models but a slight modification allows us to include it in those studied. As before when we applied the Rice formula of the second order, we check that the hypotheses making the formula valid are verified. We obtain

$$\mathbb{E}\Big[\xi_{\varepsilon}^{f}(u)\eta_{\delta}^{f}(u)\Big] = \frac{1}{2\delta} \int_{T} \int_{T} \theta_{d}^{-1} f(s) f(t) \\ \times \mathbb{E}\Big[\|\nabla X_{\varepsilon}(t)/\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\|_{d} \mathbb{1}_{|X(s)-u|<\delta} \, \Big| \, X_{\varepsilon}(t) = u\Big] \times p_{X_{\varepsilon}(t)}(u) \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}s,$$

where  $p_{X_{\varepsilon}(t)}(\cdot)$  stands for the density of the random variable  $X_{\varepsilon}(t)$ . Since function f is bounded,  $\forall \varepsilon \leqslant \varepsilon_0$  and  $\forall s, t \in T$ 

$$\theta_d^{-1} \left| f(s) \right| \left| f(t) \right| \mathbb{E} \left[ \left\| \nabla X_\varepsilon(t) / \sqrt{\mu_\varepsilon} \right\|_d \mathbb{1}_{|X(s) - u| < \delta} \left| X_\varepsilon(t) = u \right. \right] \times p_{X_\varepsilon(t)}(u) \leqslant C.$$

The dominated convergence theorem applies. Using once again Remark 4.6.14, we can show that for  $s, t \in T$ ,

$$\frac{\nabla r^{(\varepsilon)}(s-t)}{\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}} \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} 0.$$

Furthermore  $r^{(\varepsilon)}(s-t) \xrightarrow{\varepsilon \to 0} r(s-t)$ . Thus

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbb{E} \Big[ \xi_{\varepsilon}^{f}(u) \eta_{\delta}^{f}(u) \Big] = \int_{T} \int_{T} \frac{\theta_{d}^{-1}}{2\delta} f(s) f(t)$$

$$\times \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \Big\{ \mathbb{E} \Big[ \|\nabla X_{\varepsilon}(t) / \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \|_{d} \, \mathbb{1}_{|X(s) - u| < \delta} \, \Big| \, X_{\varepsilon}(t) = u \Big] \times p_{X_{\varepsilon}(t)}(u) \Big\} \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}s$$

$$= \int_{T} \int_{T} \frac{\theta_{d}^{-1}}{2\delta} f(s) f(t) \mathbb{E} \Big[ \|\xi\|_{d} \, \mathbb{1}_{|X(s) - u| < \delta} \, \Big| \, X(t) = u \Big] \times p_{X(t)}(u) \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}s,$$

where  $p_{X(t)}(\cdot)$  stands for the density of the random variable X(t), and  $\xi$  is a standard Gaussian vector taking values in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , independent of (X(s), X(t)), for all  $s, t \in T$ . Therefore

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbb{E} \left[ \xi_{\varepsilon}^{f}(u) \eta_{\delta}^{f}(u) \right]$$

$$= \int_{T} \int_{T} \frac{1}{2\delta} f(s) f(t) \mathbb{E} \left[ \mathbb{1}_{|X(s) - u| < \delta} \mid X(t) = u \right] \times p_{X(t)}(u) \, dt \, ds$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\delta} \int_{u - \delta}^{u + \delta} \left( \int_{T} \int_{T} f(s) f(t) \, p_{X(s), X(t)}(u, v) \, ds \, dt \right) \, dv.$$

By using the already mentioned continuity of the function

$$(x,y) \mapsto \int_{T \times T} f(s)f(t)p_{X(s),X(t)}(x,y) \,\mathrm{d}s \,\mathrm{d}t,$$

we finally obtain that

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbb{E} \Big[ \xi_\varepsilon^f(u) \eta_\delta^f(u) \Big] = \alpha(u).$$

This completes the proof of the theorem.

**4.6.3. Rate of convergence.** — In the same context as before, and for technical reasons, we renormalize the functional  $\xi_{\varepsilon}^{f}(u)$  at point u as follows. We consider

$$V_{\varepsilon}^{f}(u) := \frac{\theta_{d}^{-1}}{\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}} \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \int_{C_{T,X_{\varepsilon}/\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}}(u)} f(t) \, d\sigma_{d-1}(t), \varepsilon > 0,$$

where  $f: T \to \mathbb{R}$  is still a continuous and bounded function and T is an open bounded set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

As in the previous section, we can prove that  $V_{\varepsilon}^{f}(u)$  converges in  $L^{2}(\Omega)$  towards the renormalized local time  $L_{X/\sqrt{r(0)}}^{f}(u,T)$ . We are aiming at giving the rate of this convergence.

We will make the following additional hypothesis on the covariance r of process X. It is assumed that the covariance can be written as  $r(t) = r(0) - \|t\|_d^{2\alpha} L(\|t\|_d)$ ,  $0 < \alpha < 1$ , where  $\lim_{x\to 0^+} L(x) = C_L > 0$ , where  $L \ge 0$  is even and has two continuous derivatives except at the origin, which satisfy |x| L'(|x|) = O(1) and  $x^2 L''(|x|) = O(1)$  as  $x \to 0$ .

Moreover, in case where  $\alpha = 1/2$  and d = 2, we further assume that function L has a continuous third derivative except at the origin, which satisfies |x| L'(|x|) = o(1),  $x^2 L''(|x|) = o(1)$  and  $|x^3| L'''(|x|) = O(1)$  as  $x \to 0$ .

The rate will then depend on the value of  $\alpha$ .

We will draw largely on the results achieved in [18], where the framework was the same but in case where d = 1.

We study the convergence of

$$\begin{split} \Xi_{\varepsilon}(f,g) &:= \varepsilon^{-a(\alpha)} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-b(\alpha)} \int_{\mathbb{R}} g(u) \bigg( V_{\varepsilon}^f(u) - L_{X/\sqrt{r(0)}}^f(u,T) \bigg) \; \mathrm{d}u \\ &:= \varepsilon^{-a(\alpha)} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-b(\alpha)} V_{\varepsilon}(f,g), \end{split}$$

where  $g: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  is  $C^2(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$  and also  $L^2(\varphi(x) dx)$ .

We also assume that g' and g'' are  $L^2(\varphi(x) dx)$ .

Furthermore, in case where  $\alpha = 1/2$  and d > 2, we suppose that g'' belongs to  $L^4(\varphi(x) dx)$ .

The Hermite coefficients of function g being denoted by  $c_n$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , we set for

 $x \in \mathbb{R}$ 

$$Hg(x) := xg'(x) - g''(x) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} nc_n H_n(x).$$

Thus the following series is convergent,

(86) 
$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} n^2 n! c_n^2 < \infty.$$

Let us introduce some notations and hypothesis.

We define the constants  $C_{\alpha}$  and  $\ell_{\alpha}$  as

$$C_{\alpha} := C_L \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Psi(v) \Psi(w) \|v - w\|_d^{2\alpha} dv dw$$
$$= C_L \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Phi(w) \|w\|_d^{2\alpha} dw,$$

where  $\Phi = \Psi * \Psi$  is the convolution product of  $\Psi$  with itself and

$$\ell_{\alpha} := \frac{C_{\alpha}}{2r(0)}.$$

The constants  $C_{\Psi}$  and  $K_{1/2}$  are

$$C_{\Psi} := \frac{1}{2d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \|w\|_d^2 \left[ \Phi(w) - 2\Psi(w) \right] dw,$$

and

$$\boldsymbol{K}_{1/2} := \boldsymbol{C}_L \int_{\mathbb{D}^d} \Psi(w) \|w\|_d dw.$$

We denote by  $\varphi_m$  (resp.  $N_m$ ) the standard Gaussian density (resp. random variable) on  $\mathbb{R}^m$ , for  $m \in \mathbb{N} - \{0\}$  with the convention that  $\varphi_1 = \varphi$ .

For  $\mathbf{k} := (k_1, k_2, \dots, k_m) \in \mathbb{N}^m$  and  $\mathbf{x} := (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_m) \in \mathbb{R}^m$ , we set

$$|\mathbf{k}| := k_1 + k_2 + \dots + k_m, \quad \mathbf{k}! := k_1! k_2! \dots k_m! \text{ and } \widetilde{H}_{\mathbf{k}}(x) := \prod_{1 \le j \le m} H_{k_j}(x_j).$$

We define the function  $h: \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ : for  $x = (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_d) \in \mathbb{R}^d$ ,

$$h(x) := \theta_d^{-1} \left\| x \right\|_d - 1 = \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{\boldsymbol{k} \in \mathbb{N}^d \\ |\boldsymbol{k}| = q}} a(\boldsymbol{k}) \widetilde{H}_{\boldsymbol{k}}(x),$$

where for  $k \neq 0$ ,

(87) 
$$a(\mathbf{k}) := \frac{\theta_d^{-1}}{\mathbf{k}!} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \|x\|_d \widetilde{H}_{\mathbf{k}}(x) \varphi_d(x) \, \mathrm{d}x,$$

and  $a(\mathbf{k}) := 0$  for  $\mathbf{k} = \mathbf{0}$ . Note that since the polynomial  $H_n$  is odd when n is odd, the summation on q begins at q = 2 since all the indices  $k_i$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, d$ 

such  $|\mathbf{k}| = q$  have to be even.

Also define

$$\chi_d^2(\alpha) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{\partial^2 \Phi}{\partial x_1^2}(v) \|v\|_d^{2\alpha} \, \mathrm{d}v,$$

and if d=2 (and  $\alpha=1/2$ )

$$\sigma := \frac{2\sqrt{\pi}}{\chi_2^2(1/2)}.$$

When  $\alpha \geqslant \frac{1}{2}$  we suppose that the process X has a spectral density s. In the case where  $\alpha = 1/2$ , we will make the assumption that the open set T is a rectangle.

Asymptotic equivalence symbol  $\equiv$  This symbol will be reserved for the asymptotic equivalence of real deterministic sequences.

Asymptotic equivalence symbol  $\simeq$  For a set of random variables  $X_n$ , the notation  $X_n = o_P(1)$  means that  $X_n \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{\operatorname{Prob.}} 0$ . Furthermore, if  $Y_n$  is a set of random variables such that  $X_n = Y_n + o_P(1)$ , we will note  $X_n \simeq Y_n$ .

Let us state the following two theorems.

**Theorem 4.6.19.** — The random variable  $V_{\varepsilon}(f,g)$  satisfies

$$\mathbb{E}[V_{\varepsilon}^{2}(f,g)] = O(\varepsilon^{4\alpha} + \varepsilon^{2} \ln(1/\varepsilon) + \varepsilon^{4(1-\alpha)}).$$

Morover:

1. If  $\alpha < \frac{1}{2}$ ,  $a(\alpha) = 2\alpha$ ,  $b(\alpha) = 0$  and the limit of the variance divided by  $\varepsilon^{4\alpha}$  is

$$\ell_1 := \ell_\alpha^2 \sum_{n=1}^\infty n^2 n! c_n^2 \int_{T \times T} f(t) f(s) \left( \frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)} \right)^n dt ds.$$

2. If  $\alpha > \frac{1}{2}$ ,  $a(\alpha) = 2(1 - \alpha)$ ,  $b(\alpha) = 0$  and the limit of the variance divided by  $\varepsilon^{4(1-\alpha)}$  is

$$\begin{split} \ell_2 &:= 2 \bigg( \frac{a(2,0,\dots,0)}{C_L \chi_d^2(\alpha)} \bigg)^2 \sum_{q=2}^\infty \sum_{\ell=(q-4)\vee 0}^{q-2} (q-2)! c_{q-2}^2 \binom{q-2}{\ell} \binom{2}{q-2-\ell} \\ &\times \int_{T\times T} f(t) f(s) \bigg( \frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)} \bigg)^\ell \sum_{i,j=1}^d \bigg( -\frac{1}{r(0)} \frac{\partial r}{\partial t_i} (t-s) \frac{\partial r}{\partial t_j} (t-s) \bigg)^{q-2-\ell} \\ & \qquad \qquad \bigg( -\frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_i \partial t_j} (t-s) \bigg)^{\ell-(q-4)} \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}s. \end{split}$$

3. if  $\alpha = 1/2$  and d > 2,  $a(\alpha) = 1$ ,  $b(\alpha) = 0$  and the limit of the variance divided by  $\varepsilon^2$  is  $\ell_1 + \ell_2 + \ell_3 + \ell_4$ , where  $\ell_3$  is

$$\ell_3 := \frac{C_{\Psi}}{r(0)} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} nn! c_n^2 \int_{T \times T} f(t) f(s) \left(\frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)}\right)^{n-1} \left(\sum_{i=1}^d \frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_i^2} (t-s)\right) dt ds,$$
and  $\ell_4$  is

$$\ell_4 := 2 \frac{\ell_{1/2}}{r(0)} \left( \frac{a(2,0,\dots,0)}{C_L \chi_d^2(1/2)} \right) \sum_{q=2}^{\infty} c_{q-2} c_q q q!$$

$$\int_{T \times T} f(t) f(s) \left( \frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)} \right)^{q-2} \left( \sum_{i=1}^d \left( \frac{\partial r}{\partial t_i} (t-s) \right)^2 \right) dt ds.$$

4. if  $\alpha = 1/2$  and d = 2,  $a(\alpha) = 1$ ,  $b(\alpha) = 1/2$  and the limit of the variance divided by  $\varepsilon^2 \ln(1/\varepsilon)$  is

$$\ell_5 := a^2(2,0)\sigma^2\left(\int_T f^2(t) dt\right) \mathbb{E}\left[g^2\left(X(0)/\sqrt{r(0)}\right)\right].$$

Before stating Theorem 4.6.20, let us define the following random variable  $\xi_{\varepsilon}$ . For  $t \in T$ , we let  $\xi_{\varepsilon}(t) := (X_{\varepsilon}(t) - X(t))/\varepsilon$ .

**Theorem 4.6.20.** — 1. If 
$$\alpha < \frac{1}{2}$$
,  $a(\alpha) = 2\alpha$ ,  $b(\alpha) = 0$ , we have 
$$\Xi_{\varepsilon}(f,g) \xrightarrow{L^{2}(\Omega)} X(f,g)$$

where

$$X(f,g) := \ell_{\alpha} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} Hg(x) L_{X/\sqrt{r(0)}}^{f}(x,T) dx$$
$$= \ell_{\alpha} \int_{T} f(t) \left( X(t) / \sqrt{r(0)} g' \left( X(t) / \sqrt{r(0)} \right) - g'' \left( X(t) / \sqrt{r(0)} \right) \right) dt.$$

2. If 
$$\alpha > \frac{1}{2}$$
,  $a(\alpha) = 2(1 - \alpha)$ ,  $b(\alpha) = 0$ , we have 
$$\Xi_{\varepsilon}(f,g) \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{L^{2}(\Omega)} Y(f,g)$$

where

$$Y(f,g) := -\left(\frac{a(2,0,\dots,0)}{C_L \chi_d^2(\alpha)}\right) \sum_{j=1}^d \sum_{k=2}^\infty \frac{c_{k-2}}{k!} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{r(0)}}\right)^{k-2}$$
$$\times \int_{\mathbb{R}^{dk}} K_f(\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 + \dots + \lambda_k)$$

$$\times \sum_{\Pi \in \Pi_k} \lambda_{\Pi(k-1)}^{(j)} \lambda_{\Pi(k)}^{(j)} dZ_X(\lambda_1) dZ_X(\lambda_2) \dots dZ_X(\lambda_k),$$

and where we set for  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $\lambda := (\lambda^{(1)}, \lambda^{(2)}, \dots, \lambda^{(d)})$  and

(88) 
$$K_f(\lambda) := \int_T f(t)e^{i\langle \lambda, t \rangle} dt,$$

and we denoted by  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  the canonical scalar product in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

 $\prod_k$  is the set of permutations of  $\{1, 2, ..., k\}$ ,  $dZ_X$  is the random spectral measure associated with X and the integral is an Itô-Wiener integral (see [45]).

3. If  $\alpha = 1/2$  and d > 2,  $a(\alpha) = 1$ ,  $b(\alpha) = 0$ , the random variable  $\xi_{\varepsilon}$  converges vaguely to  $\xi$  (see the Section 5.1 of Appendix 5 for definition of the vague convergence) and the random variable  $\Xi_{\varepsilon}(f,g)$  converges stably and vaguely to X(f,g) + Y(f,g) + Z(f,g) (see also the Section 5.2 of Appendix 5 for definition of the stable vague convergence), where

$$Z(f,g) := \frac{K_{1/2}}{r(0)} \int_T f(t)g''\Big(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big) dt + \frac{1}{\sqrt{r(0)}} \int_T f(t)g'\Big(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big) \xi(t) dt,$$

with

$$\int_T f(t)g'\Big(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)\,\xi(t)\,\mathrm{d}t := \lim_{\varepsilon\to 0} \frac{1}{\sqrt{r(0)}} \int_T f(t)g'\Big(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)\,\xi_\varepsilon(t)\,\mathrm{d}t,$$

the last convergence being stable vague convergence. Furthermore for all  $x(\cdot)$  belonging to  $L^2(T)$ ,

$$\mathcal{L}\left(\int_{T} f(t)g'\left(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\right)\xi(t) dt \mid X(\cdot) = x(\cdot)\right)$$

$$= \mathcal{N}\left(0; \mathbf{C}_{\Psi} \int_{T \times T} f(t)f(s) \left(\sum_{i=1}^{d} \frac{\partial^{2} r}{\partial t_{i}^{2}}(t-s)\right) g'\left(x(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\right)\right)$$

$$\times g'\left(x(s)/\sqrt{r(0)}\right) dt ds.$$

4. if  $\alpha = 1/2$  and d = 2,  $a(\alpha) = 1$ ,  $b(\alpha) = 1/2$ , the random variable  $\Xi_{\varepsilon}(f,g)$  stably converges when  $\varepsilon \to 0$  to N(f,g) (see the Section 5.2 of Appendix 5 for definition of the stable convergence), where

$$N(f,g) := a(2,0)\sigma\left(\int_T f(t)g\left(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\right) \,\mathrm{d}\widehat{W}(t)\right),$$

and  $\widehat{W}$  is a standard Brownian sheet in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  independent of X.

**Remark 4.6.21.** — Note that in case where  $\alpha > \frac{1}{2}$ , if we assume that f is a constant function whose value is one and that the open set T is a rectangle with the form  $T = \prod_{\ell=1}^{d} |a_{\ell}, b_{\ell}|$ , then the function  $K_f$  can be expressed as follows

$$K_f(\lambda) = \prod_{\ell=1}^d \left[ \exp(i\lambda^{(\ell)}b_\ell) - \exp(i\lambda^{(\ell)}a_\ell) \right] / i\lambda^{(\ell)},$$

for  $\lambda := (\lambda^{(1)}, \lambda^{(2)}, \dots, \lambda^{(d)}) \in \mathbb{R}^d$ .

So that in the very special case where  $T = introo01^d$ , the kernel has the following particular form

$$K_f(\lambda) = \prod_{\ell=1}^d \left[ \exp(i\lambda^{(\ell)}) - 1 \right] / i\lambda^{(\ell)}.$$

Thus, the corresponding result stated in 2. can be linked to [18, Theorem 2 (iii)].

Proof of Theorem 4.6.19. We apply the coarea formula established in Corollary 2.3.4 to the Borel set B := T and to the functions  $h : \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ ,  $G : T \subset \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ , defined by

$$h(t,u) := f(t)g(u); \quad G := \frac{X_{\varepsilon}}{\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}}.$$

We deduce on the one hand that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} g(u) V_{\varepsilon}^{f}(u) du = \frac{\theta_{d}^{-1}}{\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}} \int_{T} f(t) g\left(X_{\varepsilon}(t) / \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\right) \|\nabla X_{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{d} dt.$$

On the other hand, Theorem 4.6.5 applied to the functions h(t, u) := f(t)g(u) and to  $X := X/\sqrt{r(0)}$  yields that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} g(u) L_{X/\sqrt{r(0)}}^f(u, T) du = \int_T f(t) g\left(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\right) dt.$$

By combining the two previous expressions, we finally get

$$V_{\varepsilon}(f,g) = \int_{T} f(t) \left\{ \frac{\theta_{d}^{-1}}{\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}} g\left(X_{\varepsilon}(t) / \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\right) \|\nabla X_{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{d} - g\left(X(t) / \sqrt{r(0)}\right) \right\} dt.$$

Thus

$$V_{\varepsilon}(f,g) = \int_{T} f(t)g\left(X_{\varepsilon}(t)/\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\right)h(\nabla X_{\varepsilon}(t)/\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}) dt + \int_{T} f(t)\left\{g\left(X_{\varepsilon}(t)/\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\right) - g\left(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\right)\right\} dt$$

$$:= S_1 + S_2.$$

Thus, we can split  $\Xi_{\varepsilon}(f,g)$  into two terms

$$\Xi_{\varepsilon}(f,g) = \varepsilon^{-a(\alpha)} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-b(\alpha)} S_1 + \varepsilon^{-a(\alpha)} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-b(\alpha)} S_2$$
  
:=  $T_1 + T_2$ .

The proof will proceed as follows.

We are going to prove that  $\mathbb{E}[S_1^2] = O(\varepsilon^{4(1-\alpha)} + \varepsilon^2 \ln(1/\varepsilon))$  and that  $\mathbb{E}[S_2^2] = O(\varepsilon^{4\alpha} + \varepsilon^2)$ .

So we can already see that in case where  $\alpha \neq \frac{1}{2}$ , the term  $S_1$  only matters when  $\alpha > 1/2$  and we will show in this case that  $\mathbb{E}[T_1^2] \to \ell_2$ . Similarly, the term  $S_2$  will only play a role when  $\alpha < \frac{1}{2}$  and in this case we will prove that  $\mathbb{E}[T_2^2] \to \ell_1$ . The case where  $\alpha = 1/2$  is a little more delicate and we will treat it each time separately.

First let us consider the term  $S_2$ .

Let us prove that if  $\alpha < \frac{1}{2}$ ,

$$\varepsilon^{-4\alpha} \mathbb{E} [S_2^2] \to \ell_1,$$

while if  $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}$ ,

$$\varepsilon^{-2}\mathbb{E}\big[S_2^2\big] \to \ell_1 + \ell_3.$$

Using the Hermite expansion of g, we can write the term  $S_2$  as

$$S_2 = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_n \int_T f(t) \left\{ H_n \left( X_{\varepsilon}(t) / \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \right) - H_n \left( X(t) / \sqrt{r(0)} \right) \right\} dt.$$

We split  $S_2$  into two terms:

$$S_2 = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_n \int_T f(t) \left\{ 1 - \left( \sqrt{\frac{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}{r(0)}} \right)^n \right\} H_n \left( X_{\varepsilon}(t) / \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \right) dt +$$

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_n \int_T f(t) \left\{ \left( \sqrt{\frac{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}{r(0)}} \right)^n H_n \left( X_{\varepsilon}(t) / \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \right) - H_n \left( X(t) / \sqrt{r(0)} \right) \right\} dt$$

$$:= U_2 + V_2.$$

We first study the asymptotic variance of  $U_2$ . Using the Mehler's formula [20], we obtain

$$\mathbb{E}\left[U_2^2\right] = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n! c_n^2 \int_{T \times T} f(t) f(s) \left(1 - \left(\sqrt{\frac{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}{r(0)}}\right)^n\right)^2 \left(\frac{r_{\varepsilon}(t-s)}{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\right)^n \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}s$$
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n! c_n^2 \left(1 - \sqrt{\frac{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}{r(0)}}\right)^2 \left(\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \left(\frac{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}{r(0)}\right)^{\frac{k}{2}}\right)^2$$

$$\times \int_{T \times T} f(t) f(s) \left( \frac{r_{\varepsilon}(t-s)}{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \right)^n dt ds.$$

Let us state and prove a lemma.

**Lemma 4.6.22.** —  $\varepsilon^{-2\alpha}(r(0) - r_{\varepsilon}(0)) \to C_{\alpha}$  as  $\varepsilon$  goes to zero.

Proof of Lemma 4.6.22.

$$r_{\varepsilon}(0) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Phi(w) r(\varepsilon w) \, \mathrm{d}w.$$

Using the form of the covariance r and the fact that  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Phi(t) dt = 1$ , we easily obtain

$$\varepsilon^{-2\alpha}(r(0) - r_{\varepsilon}(0)) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Phi(w) L(\varepsilon \|w\|_d) \|w\|_d^{2\alpha} dw.$$

Convergence follows from that of L, i.e. from the fact that  $\lim_{x\to 0^+} L(x) = C_L > 0$ .

By writing  $1 - \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)/r(0)}$  as

$$1 - \sqrt{\frac{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}{r(0)}} = \frac{r(0) - r_{\varepsilon}(0)}{(\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} + \sqrt{r(0)})\sqrt{r(0)}},$$

and by using Lemma 4.6.22, we get on the one hand that

$$\varepsilon^{-4\alpha} \left( 1 - \sqrt{\frac{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}{r(0)}} \right)^2 \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} \ell_{\alpha}^2.$$

On the other hand,

$$\left(\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \left(\frac{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}{r(0)}\right)^{\frac{k}{2}}\right)^2 \leqslant n^2 \quad \text{and} \quad \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n! n^2 c_n^2 < \infty.$$

These arguments plus the fact that f is a bounded function will be used to apply Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem giving the following convergence:  $\forall \alpha$  in ]0, 1[, we have

(89) 
$$\varepsilon^{-4\alpha} \mathbb{E} \left[ U_2^2 \right] \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} \ell_1.$$

We are now interested in the asymptotic variance of  $V_2$ . According to Mehler's formula

$$\mathbb{E}\big[V_2^2\big] = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n! c_n^2 \int_{T \times T} f(t) f(s)$$

$$\times \left[ \left( \frac{r_{\varepsilon}(t-s)}{r(0)} \right)^n - 2 \left( \frac{r^{(\varepsilon)}(t-s)}{r(0)} \right)^n + \left( \frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)} \right)^n \right] dt ds.$$

We divide the integration domain  $T \times T$  into two parts, namely  $T_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}$  and  $T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}$ , defined by:

$$T_{\varepsilon}^{(1)} := \{ (s, t) \in T \times T; ||t - s||_{d} \leqslant M \varepsilon \}$$

and

$$T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)} := \{ (s, t) \in T \times T; ||t - s||_d > M\varepsilon \}$$

where M will be chosen later (in Lemmas 4.6.23 and 4.6.24).

Let us denote by  $A_{\varepsilon}$  the term corresponding to the domain  $T_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}$ . Our attention is focused on finding an upper bound for this term. Since f is bounded, we have

$$|A_{\varepsilon}| \leqslant C \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n! c_n^2 \int_{T_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}} \left( \left| \left( \frac{r_{\varepsilon}(t-s)}{r(0)} \right)^n - \left( \frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)} \right)^n \right| + \left| \left( \frac{r^{(\varepsilon)}(t-s)}{r(0)} \right)^n - \left( \frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)} \right)^n \right| \right) dt ds.$$

Using the fact that for all s and  $t \in T$ ,

$$\left| \frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)} \right| \leqslant 1, \quad \left| \frac{r_{\varepsilon}(t-s)}{r(0)} \right| \leqslant 1 \quad \text{and} \quad \left| \frac{r^{(\varepsilon)}(t-s)}{r(0)} \right| \leqslant 1,$$

we easily obtain the following bound

$$|A_{\varepsilon}| \leqslant C \left( \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n! n c_n^2 \right) \int_{T_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}} \left( \left| r_{\varepsilon}(t-s) - r(t-s) \right| + \left| r^{(\varepsilon)}(t-s) - r(t-s) \right| \right) dt ds.$$

At this stage of the proof, we need a lemma.

**Lemma 4.6.23.** —  $\exists C > 0$ ,  $\exists \varepsilon_0 > 0$ ,  $\exists M > 0$ ,  $\forall \varepsilon \leqslant \varepsilon_0$ ,  $\forall (s,t) \in T \times T$ , we have

$$\sup \left\{ \left| r^{(\varepsilon)}(s-t) - r(s-t) \right| ; \left| r_{\varepsilon}(s-t) - r(s-t) \right| \right\}$$

$$\leq C \left\{ \varepsilon^{2\alpha} \mathbb{1}_{\left\{ \|s-t\|_{d} \leq M\varepsilon \right\}} \right. \left. + \varepsilon^{2} \left\| s - t \right\|_{d}^{2\alpha - 2} \mathbb{1}_{\left\{ \|s-t\|_{d} > M\varepsilon \right\}} \right\}.$$

Let us suppose for a moment that the lemma is proved. In this vein we obtain

$$|A_{\varepsilon}| \leqslant C\sigma_d(T_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}) \left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n! n c_n^2\right) \varepsilon^{2\alpha}.$$

Using inequality (86), we finally get

$$|A_{\varepsilon}| \leqslant C \varepsilon^{d+2\alpha}.$$

Thus, we have shown that  $A_{\varepsilon} = o(\varepsilon^{4\alpha} + \varepsilon^2)$ . Let us proceed to the proof of Lemma 4.6.23.

Proof of Lemma 4.6.23. For  $\tau := s - t$ , while  $s, t \in T$ , the difference between the two terms  $r^{(\varepsilon)}(\tau)$  and  $r(\tau)$  is expressed and using that function  $\Psi$  is a density, we obtain

$$\begin{split} r^{(\varepsilon)}(\tau) - r(\tau) &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Psi(v) \left[ r(\tau - \varepsilon v) - r(\tau) \right] \, \mathrm{d}v \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Psi(v) \left[ L(\|\tau\|_d) \, \|\tau\|_d^{2\alpha} - L(\|\tau - \varepsilon v\|_d) \, \|\tau - \varepsilon v\|_d^{2\alpha} \right] \, \mathrm{d}v. \end{split}$$

Since  $\Psi$  has compact support in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , it is always possible to choose a number N > 0 such that if  $||v||_d > N$  then  $\Psi(v) = 0$ . Let M = 4N.

Since the function L is bounded on a compact set, obviously, if  $\|\tau\|_d \leq M\varepsilon$ , then  $|r^{(\varepsilon)}(\tau) - r(\tau)| \leq C\varepsilon^{2\alpha}$ .

Let us now choose  $\tau$  such that  $\|\tau\|_d > M\varepsilon$  and v such that  $\|v\|_d \leq N$ , then  $\|\tau - \varepsilon v\|_d \geq 3N\varepsilon$ . Thus we can make a second order expansion of  $r(\tau - \varepsilon v)$  in the neighbourhood of  $\tau$ . Using the fact that  $\Psi$  is a density function and in addition is an even function as depending on the norm, we can express  $r^{(\varepsilon)}(\tau) - r(\tau)$  as

$$(90) \quad r^{(\varepsilon)}(\tau) - r(\tau) =$$

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{\{\|v\|_d \leqslant N\}} \Psi(v) \times \varepsilon^2 \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^d \sum_{j=1}^d v_i v_j \frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial \tau_i \partial \tau_j} (\tau - \theta \varepsilon v) \right\} dv,$$

with  $0 \le \theta < 1$  depending on  $\varepsilon$ ,  $\tau$  and v. Now for  $x \ne 0$ , we can express  $\frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial x_i^2}(x)$ , for  $i = 1, \ldots, d$ , as

$$-\frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial x_i^2}(x) = 2\alpha \|x\|_d^{2\alpha - 4} L(\|x\|_d) \Big( \|x\|_d^2 + 2(\alpha - 1)x_i^2 \Big)$$
$$+ \|x\|_d^{2\alpha - 3} L'(\|x\|_d) \Big( (4\alpha - 1)x_i^2 + \|x\|_d^2 \Big) + x_i^2 \|x\|_d^{2\alpha - 2} L''(\|x\|_d).$$

Since L has two continuous derivatives except at the origin, which satisfies  $|x| \, L'(|x|) = O(1)$  and  $x^2 L''(|x|) = O(1)$  as  $x \to 0$  and  $\lim_{x \to 0^+} L(x) = C_L$ , we can conclude that  $\frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial x_i^2}(x) = O(\|x\|_d^{2\alpha-2})$ , as soon as x lives in a compact set. We have thus proved that, for  $\tau$ , v,  $\theta$  and  $\varepsilon$  such that  $\|\tau\|_d > M\varepsilon$ ,  $\|v\|_d \leq N$ ,  $0 \leq \theta < 1$  and  $\varepsilon \leq \varepsilon_0$ ,

$$\frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial x_i^2} (\tau - \theta \varepsilon v) = O(\|\tau - \theta \varepsilon v\|_d^{2\alpha - 2}) = O(\|\tau\|_d^{2\alpha - 2}),$$

since  $\|\tau\|_d^{2-2\alpha} \leqslant 2^{1-\alpha} \|\tau - \theta \varepsilon v\|_d^{2-2\alpha}$  as soon as  $\|\tau\|_d > 4N\varepsilon = M\varepsilon$ . We can argue in a similar way for the other terms  $\frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial \tau_i \partial \tau_j} (\tau - \theta \varepsilon v)$ , for  $i, j = 1, \ldots, d$  and  $i \neq j$ . Finally, using that  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Psi(v) \|v\|_d^2 \, \mathrm{d} v < \infty$ , we have proved that for  $\|\tau\|_d > M\varepsilon$  and  $\varepsilon \leqslant \varepsilon_0$ ,  $|r^{(\varepsilon)}(\tau) - r(\tau)| \leqslant C\varepsilon^2 \|\tau\|_d^{2\alpha-2}$ . Thus the lemma follows for the term  $r^{(\varepsilon)}(\tau) - r(\tau)$ .

Now to finish the proof of the lemma, we consider the second difference term  $r_{\varepsilon}(\tau) - r(\tau)$ . In the same way as before, we can write this term as

$$r_{\varepsilon}(\tau) - r(\tau) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Phi(v) \left[ r(\tau - \varepsilon v) - r(\tau) \right] dv$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Phi(v) \left[ L(\|\tau\|_d) \|\tau\|_d^{2\alpha} - L(\|\tau - \varepsilon v\|_d) \|\tau - \varepsilon v\|_d^{2\alpha} \right] dv.$$

The same kind of arguments could be considered by replacing the  $\Psi$  function with the  $\Phi$  function and would give the expected result.

This completes the proof of the lemma.

Returning to our proof of the theorem, we consider the second term  $B_{\varepsilon}$  corresponding to the region  $T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}$ .

As for the proof concerning the set  $T_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}$ , we bound  $B_{\varepsilon}$  as follows.

$$|B_{\varepsilon}| \leqslant C\left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n! n c_n^2\right) \int_{T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}} \left( \left| r_{\varepsilon}(t-s) - r(t-s) \right| + \left| r^{(\varepsilon)}(t-s) - r(t-s) \right| \right) dt ds.$$

The second part of Lemma 4.6.23 yields the bound

$$|B_{\varepsilon}| \leqslant C \varepsilon^2 \int_{T \times T} ||t - s||_d^{2\alpha - 2} dt ds.$$

And since  $d-2+2\alpha>0$ , one finally proved that

$$|B_{\varepsilon}| \leqslant C\varepsilon^2$$
.

We have shown that  $\mathbb{E}[S_2^2] = O(\varepsilon^{4\alpha} + \varepsilon^2)$ . Using the convergence established in (89) it turns out that if  $\alpha < \frac{1}{2}$ ,

$$\varepsilon^{-4\alpha}\mathbb{E}[S_2^2] \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} \ell_1.$$

Now consider the case where  $\alpha = 1/2$  and prove that

$$\varepsilon^{-2}\mathbb{E}[S_2^2] \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} \ell_1 + \ell_3.$$

We have already proven that

$$\varepsilon^{-2}\mathbb{E}\big[U_2^2\big] \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} \ell_1.$$

Thus let us show that

$$\varepsilon^{-2}\mathbb{E}\big[V_2^2\big] \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} \ell_3,$$

and that

$$\varepsilon^{-2}\mathbb{E}[U_2V_2] \xrightarrow{\varepsilon \to 0} 0.$$

We first compute  $\mathbb{E}[V_2^2]$ . As in the previous part, we split  $\mathbb{E}[V_2^2]$  into two parts,  $A_{\varepsilon}$  and  $B_{\varepsilon}$ . We saw that  $A_{\varepsilon} = O(\varepsilon^{d+2\alpha}) = o(\varepsilon^2)$ . Let us examine the second term  $B_{\varepsilon}$  and show that  $\varepsilon^{-2}B_{\varepsilon} \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} \ell_3$ . We have

$$B_{\varepsilon} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n! c_n^2 \int_{T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}} f(t) f(s)$$

$$\times \left[ \left( \frac{r_{\varepsilon}(t-s)}{r(0)} \right)^n - 2 \left( \frac{r^{(\varepsilon)}(t-s)}{r(0)} \right)^n + \left( \frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)} \right)^n \right] dt ds.$$

Using equality (90), we obtain

$$\begin{split} B_{\varepsilon} &= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n! c_n^2 \int_{T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}} f(t) f(s) \left(\frac{1}{r(0)}\right)^n \\ &\times \left\{ \left(r(t-s) + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\{\|v\|_d \leqslant N\}} \Phi(v) \times \varepsilon^2 \left(\sum_{i=1}^d \sum_{j=1}^d v_i v_j \frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_i \partial t_j} (t-s-\theta \varepsilon v)\right) \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^n \right. \\ &- 2 \left(r(t-s) + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\{\|v\|_d \leqslant N\}} \Psi(v) \times \varepsilon^2 \left(\sum_{i=1}^d \sum_{j=1}^d v_i v_j \frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_i \partial t_j} (t-s-\theta \varepsilon v)\right) \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^n \\ &+ r^n (t-s) \right\} \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}s. \end{split}$$

We expand the terms into each parenthesis using the binomial expansion. We get

$$\begin{split} B_{\varepsilon} &= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n! c_n^2 \int_{T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}} f(t) f(s) \left(\frac{1}{r(0)}\right)^n \\ &\times \sum_{k=1}^n \binom{n}{k} \left(\frac{\varepsilon^2}{2}\right)^k r^{n-k} (t-s) \left\{ \left(\sum_{i,j=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Phi(v) v_i v_j \frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_i \partial t_j} (t-s-\theta \varepsilon v) \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^k \right. \\ &\left. - 2 \left(\sum_{i,j=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Psi(v) v_i v_j \frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_i \partial t_j} (t-s-\theta \varepsilon v) \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^k \right\} \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &:= B_{\varepsilon}^{(1)} + B_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}, \end{split}$$

where the term  $B_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}$  corresponds to the term obtained for k=1 and the term  $B_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}$  stands for the remaining ones  $(k \ge 2)$ .

Let us deal with the first term  $B_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}$  which will give the limit.

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} B_{\varepsilon}^{(1)} = \frac{1}{2r(0)} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} nn! c_n^2 \int_{T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}} f(t) f(s) \left( \frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)} \right)^{n-1}$$

$$\times \left( \sum_{i,j=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\Phi(v) - 2\Psi(v)) v_i v_j \frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_i \partial t_j} (t-s - \theta \varepsilon v) \, \mathrm{d}v \right) \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}s.$$

Let us see that we can apply Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem. At this point in the proof, we state a lemma whose proof was demonstrated in that of Lemma 4.6.23 and which is valid not only for  $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}$  but also for all ranges of  $0 < \alpha < 1$ .

**Lemma 4.6.24.** —  $\exists C > 0$ ,  $\exists \varepsilon_0 > 0$ ,  $\exists M > 0$ ,  $\forall \varepsilon \leqslant \varepsilon_0$ ,  $\forall (s,t) \in T \times T$ , such that  $||t - s||_d \geqslant M\varepsilon$  and for all  $v \in \mathbb{R}^d$  such that  $||v||_d \leqslant \frac{M}{4}$ , then for all  $i, j = 1, \ldots, d$ , we have

$$\left| \frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_i \partial t_j} (t - s - \theta \varepsilon v) \right| \leqslant \boldsymbol{C} \|t - s\|_d^{2\alpha - 2},$$

for all  $0 \le \theta < 1$ .

Thus, taking  $\alpha = 1/2$  and using (86) knowing that f is bounded, we can bound the integrand appearing in the expression of  $B_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}/\varepsilon^2$  by  $C \|t - s\|_d^{-1}$ .

Moreover, since d-1>0, we have

(91) 
$$\int_{T \times T} \|t - s\|_d^{-1} \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}s < \infty.$$

All the ingredients are gathered to justify the exchange of the limit with the series and the integral, which gives

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} B_{\varepsilon}^{(1)} = \frac{1}{2r(0)} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} nn! c_n^2 \int_{T \times T} f(t) f(s) \left( \frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)} \right)^{n-1}$$

$$\times \left( \sum_{i,j=1}^d \frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_i \partial t_j} (t-s) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\Phi(v) - 2\Psi(v)) v_i v_j \, \mathrm{d}v \right) \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}s.$$

To finish with this term, noting that the functions  $\Phi$  and  $\Psi$  depend only on the norm, we finally express the last convergence as

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} B_{\varepsilon}^{(1)} = \ell_3.$$

Let us show that  $\frac{1}{\varepsilon^2}B_{\varepsilon}^{(2)} \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} 0$ .

Using the previous lemma, we bound the terms

$$\left(\frac{1}{r(0)}\right)^{k} \times \left[\left(\sum_{i,j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \Phi(v)v_{i}v_{j} \frac{\partial^{2} r}{\partial t_{i}\partial t_{j}} (t-s-\theta\varepsilon v) dv\right)^{k} - 2\left(\sum_{i,j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \Psi(v)v_{i}v_{j} \frac{\partial^{2} r}{\partial t_{i}\partial t_{j}} (t-s-\theta\varepsilon v) dv\right)^{k}\right]$$

by  $\left(C \|t - s\|_d^{-1}\right)^k$  which is also bounded by  $\left(C \|t - s\|_d^{-1}\right) \times \left(\frac{C}{M\varepsilon}\right)^{k-1}$ . In that way, we obtain the following bound.

$$\left| B_{\varepsilon}^{(2)} \right| \leqslant C \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} n! c_n^2 \sum_{k=2}^n \binom{n}{k} \left( \frac{\varepsilon^2}{2} \right)^k \left( \frac{C}{M \varepsilon} \right)^{k-1}$$

$$\times \int_{T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}} \|t - s\|_d^{-1} \left| \frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)} \right|^{n-k} dt ds.$$

Thus

$$\left| \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \left| B_{\varepsilon}^{(2)} \right| \leqslant C \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} n! c_n^2 \sum_{k=2}^n \binom{n}{k} \left( \frac{C}{M} \varepsilon \right)^{k-1} \right|$$

$$\times \int_{T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}} \|t - s\|_d^{-1} \left| \frac{r(t - s)}{r(0)} \right|^{n-k} dt ds.$$

By making the change of variable  $k-2=\ell$  we obtain

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \left| B_{\varepsilon}^{(2)} \right| \leqslant C \varepsilon \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} n! c_n^2 \sum_{\ell=0}^{n-2} \binom{n}{\ell+2} \left( \frac{C}{M} \varepsilon \right)^{\ell} \\
\times \int_{T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}} \|t - s\|_d^{-1} \left| \frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)} \right|^{n-2-\ell} dt ds.$$

Now for  $n \ge 2$  we use the bound,

$$\binom{n}{\ell+2} \leqslant n(n-1) \binom{n-2}{\ell}$$

getting

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \left| B_{\varepsilon}^{(2)} \right| &\leqslant C \varepsilon \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} n(n-1) n! c_n^2 \sum_{\ell=0}^{n-2} \binom{n-2}{\ell} \left( \frac{C}{M} \varepsilon \right)^{\ell} \\ &\times \int_{T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}} \|t - s\|_d^{-1} \left| \frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)} \right|^{n-2-\ell} dt ds \\ &= C \varepsilon \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} n(n-1) n! c_n^2 \\ &\times \int_{T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}} \|t - s\|_d^{-1} \left( \left| \frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)} \right| + \frac{C}{M} \varepsilon \right)^{n-2} dt ds. \end{split}$$

At this stage of the demonstration, we have to prove a lemma.

**Lemma 4.6.25.** — For  $\varepsilon$  small enough and M large enough,

$$\left| \frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)} \right| + \frac{C}{M} \varepsilon < 1,$$

for all  $s, t \in T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}$ .

Let us assume for a moment that the lemma is proved. Using (86) and (91), we obtain the bound

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \left| B_{\varepsilon}^{(2)} \right| \leqslant \mathbf{C} \varepsilon.$$

To conclude, we have proved that in case  $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}$ ,

$$\varepsilon^{-2} \mathbb{E} [V_2^2] \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} \ell_3.$$

Before going further in the proof, let us show Lemma 4.6.25.

Proof of Lemma 4.6.25. On the one hand, let us notice that for  $\delta > 0$  small enough and  $s, t \in T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}$ , such that  $||t - s||_d \leq \delta$ , we have

$$\left| \frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)} \right| = \frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)},$$

and

$$1 - \frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)} = \frac{L(\|t-s\|_d)}{r(0)} \|t-s\|_d$$
$$\geqslant \frac{M\widetilde{C}_L}{r(0)} \varepsilon,$$

where we defined  $\widetilde{C}_L := \inf_{\{s,t \in T\}} \{L(\|t-s\|_d)\} > 0$ . Thus for  $s,t \in T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}$ , such that  $\|t-s\|_d \leq \delta$ 

$$1 - \frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)} - \frac{\mathbf{C}}{M}\varepsilon \geqslant M\varepsilon \left(\frac{\widetilde{C}_L}{r(0)} - \frac{\mathbf{C}}{M^2}\right) > 0,$$

for M sufficiently large.

On the other hand, one can choose  $\varepsilon$  sufficiently small so that

$$\sup_{\{s,t\in T, \|t-s\|_d\geqslant \delta\}}\left\{\left|\frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)}\right|+\frac{C}{M}\varepsilon\right\}\leqslant \eta<1.$$

This completes the proof of the lemma.

Let us now prove that in the case  $\alpha = 1/2$ ,

$$\varepsilon^{-2}\mathbb{E}[U_2V_2] \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} 0.$$

Using the Mehler's formula once again, we obtain

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \mathbb{E}[U_2 V_2] = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n! c_n^2 \int_{T \times T} f(t) f(s) \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left( 1 - \left( \sqrt{\frac{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}{r(0)}} \right)^n \right) \\
\times \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left[ \left( \frac{r_{\varepsilon}(t-s)}{\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \sqrt{r(0)}} \right)^n - \left( \frac{r^{(\varepsilon)}(t-s)}{\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \sqrt{r(0)}} \right)^n \right] dt ds.$$

Working in the same way as for the terms  $U_2$ ,  $A_{\varepsilon}$  and  $B_{\varepsilon}$ , we easily obtain

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} |\mathbb{E}[U_2 V_2]| \leqslant C \left( \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n^2 n! c_n^2 \right) \left\{ \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left( 1 - \sqrt{\frac{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}{r(0)}} \right) \right\} \\
\times \left( \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{T \times T} \left| r_{\varepsilon}(t-s) - r^{(\varepsilon)}(t-s) \right| dt ds \right).$$

Using Lemmas 4.6.22 and 4.6.23, inequalities (86) and (91), we find the following bound

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} |\mathbb{E}[U_2 V_2]| \leqslant C \int_{T \times T} \left\{ \mathbb{1}_{\{\|s-t\|_d \leqslant M\varepsilon\}} + \varepsilon \|s-t\|_d^{-1} \mathbb{1}_{\{\|s-t\|_d > M\varepsilon\}} \right\} dt ds$$

$$\leqslant C \left\{ \varepsilon^d + \varepsilon \right\} \leqslant C\varepsilon = o(1).$$

For  $\alpha = 1/2$  we have proved that

$$\varepsilon^{-2}\mathbb{E}[S_2^2] \xrightarrow{\varepsilon \to \infty} \ell_1 + \ell_3.$$

Now, consider the term  $S_1$ .

Our goal is to establish that  $\mathbb{E}[S_1^2] = O(\varepsilon^{4(1-\alpha)} + \varepsilon^2 \ln(1/\varepsilon))$ .

For this purpose, let us prove Proposition 4.6.26.

**Proposition 4.6.26.** — 1. If  $d - 4 + 4\alpha > 0$ ,

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon^{4(1-\alpha)}}\mathbb{E}[S_1^2] \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} \ell_2.$$

2. If  $d - 4 + 4\alpha < 0$  or  $(d = 3 \text{ and } \alpha = \frac{1}{4})$ ,

$$\mathbb{E}[S_1^2] = O(\varepsilon^2).$$

3. If d = 2 and  $\alpha = 1/2$ ,

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon^2 \ln(1/\varepsilon)} \mathbb{E}[S_1^2] \xrightarrow{\varepsilon \to 0} \ell_5.$$

**Remark 4.6.27.** — The proposition highlights the fact that the term  $S_1$  will prevail when  $\alpha > 1/2$  or when  $\alpha = 1/2$  and d = 2. In the case where  $\alpha > 1/2$ ,

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon^{4(1-\alpha)}} \mathbb{E}[S_1^2] \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} \ell_2.$$

Parts 1, 2 and 4 of Theorem 4.6.19 will then follow. Furthermore, in case where  $\alpha = 1/2$  and d > 2, this proposition implies that

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \mathbb{E}[S_1^2] \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} \ell_2.$$

Proof of Proposition 4.6.26. Let us calculate  $\mathbb{E}[S_1^2]$ .

$$\mathbb{E}[S_1^2] = \int_{T \times T} f(t) f(s) \mathbb{E}\left[g\left(X_{\varepsilon}(t) / \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\right) g\left(X_{\varepsilon}(s) / \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\right) \times h(\nabla X_{\varepsilon}(t) / \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}) h(\nabla X_{\varepsilon}(s) / \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}})\right] dt ds.$$

As in the previous section, we divide the integration domain  $T \times T$  into two parts  $T_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}$  and  $T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}$ . Let  $\ell_1(\varepsilon)$  be the integral over  $T_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}$ . Making the change of variable  $t - s = \varepsilon w$ , we obtain

$$\ell_{1}(\varepsilon) = \varepsilon^{d} \int_{\{(w,t):(t-\varepsilon w,t)\in T\times T, \|w\|_{d} \leq M\}} f(t)f(t-\varepsilon w)$$

$$\times \mathbb{E}\left[g\left(X_{\varepsilon}(\varepsilon w)/\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\right)g\left(X_{\varepsilon}(0)/\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\right)h(\nabla X_{\varepsilon}(\varepsilon w)/\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}})\right] dt dw.$$

Since the function f is assumed to be bounded, we can bound the following expression. For any (w, t) such that  $(t - \varepsilon w, t) \in T \times T$ ,

$$\begin{split} \left| f(t)f(t-\varepsilon w) \mathbb{E} \Big[ g\Big(X_{\varepsilon}(\varepsilon w)/\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\Big) \, g\Big(X_{\varepsilon}(0)/\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\Big) \\ & \quad h(\nabla X_{\varepsilon}(\varepsilon w)/\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}) \, h(\nabla X_{\varepsilon}(0)/\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}) \Big] \right| \\ & \leq C \mathbb{E} \Big[ g^2\Big(X_{\varepsilon}(0)/\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\Big) \, h^2(\nabla X_{\varepsilon}(0)/\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}) \Big] \\ & = C \mathbb{E} \Big[ g^2\Big(X_{\varepsilon}(0)/\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\Big) \Big] \, \mathbb{E} \Big[ h^2(\nabla X_{\varepsilon}(0)/\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}) \Big] \\ & = C \mathbb{E} \Big[ g^2(N_1) \Big] \, \mathbb{E} \Big[ h^2(N_d) \Big] \\ & < \infty, \end{split}$$

the finiteness is justified by the fact that g is  $L^2(\varphi(x) dx)$ . So we have proved that

$$\ell_1(\varepsilon) = O(\varepsilon^d).$$

We now consider the integral on  $T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}$  denoted by  $\ell_2(\varepsilon)$ . Since the product  $h \cdot g$  is  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^{d+1}, \varphi_{d+1}(x) dx)$ , the following expansion converges in this space. For  $x := (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_d, x_{d+1}) \in \mathbb{R}^{d+1}$ ,

(92) 
$$h(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_d)g(x_{d+1}) = \sum_{\substack{q=2\\|\boldsymbol{k}|=q}}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{\boldsymbol{k} \in \mathbb{N}^{d+1}\\|\boldsymbol{k}|=q}} b(\boldsymbol{k})\widetilde{H}_{\boldsymbol{k}}(x),$$

where for  $\mathbf{k} := (k_1, k_2, \dots, k_d, k_{d+1}) \in \mathbb{N}^{d+1}$ ,  $b(\mathbf{k}) := a(k_1, k_2, \dots, k_d)c_{k_{d+1}}$ . With these notations, we have

$$\ell_{2}(\varepsilon) = \int_{T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}} f(t)f(s) \sum_{q=2}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{q'=2 \ k \in \mathbb{N}^{d+1} \\ |\boldsymbol{k}| = q}} \sum_{\substack{\boldsymbol{m} \in \mathbb{N}^{d+1} \\ |\boldsymbol{m}| = q'}} b(\boldsymbol{k})b(\boldsymbol{m}) \times \mathbb{E}[\widetilde{H}_{\boldsymbol{k}}(U_{\varepsilon}(t))\widetilde{H}_{\boldsymbol{m}}(U_{\varepsilon}(s))] dt ds,$$

where

$$U_{\varepsilon}(t) := \left(\frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{1}}(t) / \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}, \frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{2}}(t) / \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}, \dots, \frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{d}}(t) / \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}, X_{\varepsilon}(t) / \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\right).$$

First of all, let us note that if  $k, m \in \mathbb{N}^{d+1}$  are such that  $|\mathbf{k}| \neq |\mathbf{m}|$ , then for all  $s, t \in T \times T$ ,  $\mathbb{E}[\widetilde{H}_{\mathbf{k}}(U_{\varepsilon}(t))\widetilde{H}_{\mathbf{m}}(U_{\varepsilon}(s))] = 0$  and the expression above turns out to be a sum of orthogonal terms in  $L^2(\Omega)$ .

Indeed, to prove this, we need a generalization of Mehler's formula given in Taqqu ([59], Lemma 3.2) or in Berzin ([16], Lemma 3.9) via the following lemma.

**Lemma 4.6.28.** — Let  $X = (X_i)_{i=1,n}$  and  $Y = (Y_j)_{j=1,n}$  be two standard Gaussian vectors in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  such that for  $1 \leq i, j \leq n$ ,  $\mathbb{E}[X_iY_j] = \rho_{ij}$ , then for  $k, m \in \mathbb{N}^n$ , we have

$$\mathbb{E}[\widetilde{H}_{\boldsymbol{k}}(X)\widetilde{H}_{\boldsymbol{m}}(Y)] = \left(\sum_{\substack{a_{ij}\geqslant 0\\ \sum_{j}a_{ij}=k_{i}\\ \sum_{i}a_{ij}=m_{j}}} \boldsymbol{k}!\boldsymbol{m}! \prod_{1\leqslant i,j\leqslant n} \frac{\rho_{ij}^{a_{ij}}}{a_{ij}!}\right) \mathbb{1}_{|\boldsymbol{k}|=|\boldsymbol{m}|}.$$

The previous lemma allows us to write

$$\ell_{2}(\varepsilon) = \int_{T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}} f(t)f(s) \sum_{q=2}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{\boldsymbol{k}, \boldsymbol{m} \in \mathbb{N}^{d+1} \\ |\boldsymbol{k}| = |\boldsymbol{m}| = q}} b(\boldsymbol{k})b(\boldsymbol{m}) \mathbb{E}[\widetilde{H}_{\boldsymbol{k}}(U_{\varepsilon}(t))\widetilde{H}_{\boldsymbol{m}}(U_{\varepsilon}(s))] dt ds$$

$$= \int_{T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}} \sum_{q=2}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{\boldsymbol{k}, \boldsymbol{m} \in \mathbb{N}^{d+1} \\ |\boldsymbol{k}| = |\boldsymbol{m}| = q}} f(t)f(s)b(\boldsymbol{k})b(\boldsymbol{m})\boldsymbol{k}!\boldsymbol{m}!A_{\varepsilon}^{(q)}(\boldsymbol{k}, \boldsymbol{m}, s, t) dt ds,$$

where for  $q \geqslant 2$  and  $k, m \in \mathbb{N}^{d+1}$  such that |k| = |m| = q and  $(s, t) \in T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}$ ,

$$A_{\varepsilon}^{(q)}(\boldsymbol{k},\boldsymbol{m},s,t) := \sum_{\substack{a_{i,j}\geqslant 0\\ \sum_{j}a_{i,j}=k_{i}\\ \sum_{i}a_{i,j}=m_{j}}} A_{\varepsilon}^{(q)}(\boldsymbol{k},\boldsymbol{m},s,t,\boldsymbol{a}),$$

where for  $a := (a_{i,j})_{1 \le i,j \le d+1}$ ,

$$A_{\varepsilon}^{(q)}(\boldsymbol{k},\boldsymbol{m},s,t,\boldsymbol{a}) := \prod_{1\leqslant i,j\leqslant d} \left[ \left( \frac{-\frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_i \partial t_j}(t-s)}{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \right)^{a_{i,j}} \frac{1}{a_{i,j}!} \right]$$

$$\times \prod_{1 \leqslant i \leqslant d} \left[ \left( \frac{\frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{i}}(t-s)}{\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}} \right)^{a_{i,d+1}} \frac{1}{a_{i,d+1}!} \right]$$

$$\times \prod_{1 \leqslant j \leqslant d} \left[ \left( \frac{-\frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{j}}(t-s)}{\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}} \right)^{a_{d+1,j}} \frac{1}{a_{d+1,j}!} \right]$$

$$\times \left( \frac{r_{\varepsilon}(t-s)}{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \right)^{a_{d+1,d+1}} \frac{1}{a_{d+1,d+1}!} .$$

Let us see that in case where  $d-4+4\alpha>0$ , we can apply Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem and that

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon^{4(1-\alpha)}}\ell_2(\varepsilon) \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} \ell_2.$$

Let us fix  $q \ge 2$ ,  $k, m \in \mathbb{N}^{d+1}$  such that |k| = |m| = q,  $a := (a_{i,j})_{1 \le i,j \le d+1}$  and  $(s,t) \in T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}$ . Recall that all the indices  $k_i$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, d$  are even and that  $(k_1, k_2, \ldots, k_d) \ne (0, 0, \ldots, 0)$ .

We want to find an upper bound for  $\varepsilon^{-4(1-\alpha)}A_{\varepsilon}^{(q)}(\boldsymbol{k},\boldsymbol{m},s,t,\boldsymbol{a})$ .

We have to consider three cases.

## Case 1. $\sum_{i,j=1}^{d} a_{i,j} \ge 2$ .

In this case,  $\exists i_0, j_0 \in \{1, ..., d\}$  such that  $a_{i_0, j_0} \ge 2$  or  $\exists i_0, j_0, i_1, j_1 \in \{1, ..., d\}$  such that  $(i_0, j_0) \ne (i_1, j_1)$  and such that  $a_{i_0, j_0} \ge 1$  and  $a_{i_1, j_1} \ge 1$ .

Since  $\forall i, j = 1, ..., d$ ,  $\left| \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_i \partial t_j} (t - s) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right| \leq 1$ , an upper bound for

$$\varepsilon^{-4(1-\alpha)} \prod_{1 \le i,j \le d} \left| \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_i \partial t_j} (t-s) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right|^{a_{i,j}}$$

is

$$\left(\frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{i_0} \partial t_{j_0}} (t-s) \frac{\varepsilon^{-2(1-\alpha)}}{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\right)^2$$

or

$$\left( \left| \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{i_0} \partial t_{j_0}} (t - s) \right| \frac{\varepsilon^{-2(1 - \alpha)}}{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \right) \times \left( \left| \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{i_1} \partial t_{j_1}} (t - s) \right| \frac{\varepsilon^{-2(1 - \alpha)}}{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \right).$$

Now on the one hand.

(93) 
$$\frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{i_0} \partial t_{j_0}} (t - s) = \int_{\|v\|_{d} \leq \frac{M}{4}} \Phi(v) \frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_{i_0} \partial t_{j_0}} (t - s - \varepsilon v) \, \mathrm{d}v,$$

and by Lemma 4.6.24, we deduce that

(94) 
$$\left| \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{i_0} \partial t_{j_0}} (t - s) \right| \leqslant \mathbf{C} \|t - s\|_d^{2\alpha - 2}.$$

On the other hand, we consider the expression of  $\mu_{\varepsilon}$ .

$$\begin{split} \mu_{\varepsilon} &= -\frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_1^2}(0) \\ &= -\frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{\partial^2 \Phi}{\partial v_1^2}(v) r(-\varepsilon v) \, \mathrm{d}v \\ &= \varepsilon^{-2(1-\alpha)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{\partial^2 \Phi}{\partial v_1^2}(v) L(\varepsilon \|v\|_d) \|v\|_d^{2\alpha} \, \, \mathrm{d}v. \end{split}$$

We deduce that

(95) 
$$\frac{\mu_{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon^{-2(1-\alpha)}} \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} \boldsymbol{C}_L \chi_d^2(\alpha).$$

Finally,

$$\left( \left| \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{i_0} \partial t_{j_0}} (t - s) \right| \frac{\varepsilon^{-2(1 - \alpha)}}{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \right)$$

is bounded by  $C \|t - s\|_d^{2\alpha - 2}$ 

To conclude with this case,

$$\begin{split} \prod_{1\leqslant i\leqslant d} \left| \frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{i}}(t-s)/(\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}) \right|^{a_{i,d+1}} \\ &\times \prod_{1\leqslant i\leqslant d} \left| \frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{j}}(t-s)/(\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}) \right|^{a_{d+1,j}} \times \left| \frac{r_{\varepsilon}(t-s)}{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \right|^{a_{d+1,d+1}} \end{split}$$

is bounded by one.

Wrapping up these inequalities,

$$\varepsilon^{-4(1-\alpha)} \left| A_{\varepsilon}^{(q)}(\boldsymbol{k}, \boldsymbol{m}, s, t, \boldsymbol{a}) \right| \leqslant \boldsymbol{C} \|t - s\|_{d}^{4(\alpha-1)} \prod_{1 \leqslant i, j \leqslant d+1} \frac{1}{a_{i,j}!}.$$

Case 2.  $\sum_{i,j=1}^{d} a_{i,j} = 1$ . Note that we necessarily have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{d} a_{i,d+1} \geqslant 1$$
 and  $\sum_{j=1}^{d} a_{d+1,j} \geqslant 1$ .

Indeed, otherwise we would have  $\sum_{i=1}^{d} k_i = 1$  or  $\sum_{j=1}^{d} m_j = 1$ , which cannot happen since all indices  $k_i$  (resp.  $m_j$ ),  $i = 1, \ldots, d$  are even and there exists at least one index i such that  $k_i \neq 0$  (resp.  $m_i$ ).

Thus  $\exists i_0, j_0 \in \{1, \dots, d\}$  such that  $a_{i_0, j_0} = 1$  and  $\exists i_1, j_1 \in \{1, \dots, d\}$  such that  $a_{i_1, d+1} \ge 1$  and  $a_{d+1, j_1} \ge 1$ .

As previously

$$\varepsilon^{-2(1-\alpha)} \prod_{1 \le i,j \le d} \left| \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_i \partial t_j} (t-s) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right|^{a_{i,j}}$$

in bounded by

$$\left( \left| \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{i_0} \partial t_{j_0}} (t - s) \right| \frac{\varepsilon^{-2(1 - \alpha)}}{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \right)$$

and then by  $C \|t - s\|_d^{2\alpha - 2}$ .

Similarly,

$$\varepsilon^{-2(1-\alpha)} \prod_{1 \leqslant i \leqslant d} \left| \frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{i}}(t-s) / (\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}) \right|^{a_{i,d+1}} \times \prod_{1 \leqslant j \leqslant d} \left| \frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{j}}(t-s) / (\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}) \right|^{a_{d+1,j}} \times \left| \frac{r_{\varepsilon}(t-s)}{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \right|^{a_{d+1,d+1}}$$

is bounded by

$$\left( \left| \frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{i_1}}(t-s)/(\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}) \right| \sqrt{\frac{\varepsilon^{-2(1-\alpha)}}{\mu_{\varepsilon}}} \right) \times \left( \left| \frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{j_1}}(t-s)/(\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}) \right| \sqrt{\frac{\varepsilon^{-2(1-\alpha)}}{\mu_{\varepsilon}}} \right).$$

Arguments similar to those given in the proof of Lemma 4.6.24 lead to

$$\left| \frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{i_1}} (t - s) \right| \leqslant C \|t - s\|_d^{2\alpha - 1}.$$

Moreover, as before, we get the bound  $\sqrt{\frac{\varepsilon^{-2(1-\alpha)}}{\mu_{\varepsilon}}} \leqslant C$ . Finally, we obtain the bound

$$\varepsilon^{-4(1-\alpha)} \left| A_{\varepsilon}^{(q)}(\boldsymbol{k}, \boldsymbol{m}, s, t, \boldsymbol{a}) \right| \leqslant \boldsymbol{C} \|t - s\|_{d}^{6\alpha - 4} \prod_{1 \leqslant i, j \leqslant d+1} \frac{1}{a_{i, j}!}$$

$$\leqslant \boldsymbol{C} \|t - s\|_{d}^{4(\alpha - 1)} \prod_{1 \leqslant i, j \leqslant d+1} \frac{1}{a_{i, j}!}.$$

Case 3.  $\sum_{i,j=1}^{d} a_{i,j} = 0$ .

Note that we necessarily have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{d} a_{i,d+1} \geqslant 2$$
 and  $\sum_{j=1}^{d} a_{d+1,j} \geqslant 2$ .

Indeed, otherwise we would have  $\sum_{i=1}^{d} k_i = 0$  or 1 or  $\sum_{j=1}^{d} m_j = 0$  or 1, which is impossible.

Thus  $\exists i_0 \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$  (resp.  $\exists j_0 \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$ ) such that  $a_{i_0, d+1} \ge 2$  (resp.  $a_{d+1, j_0} \ge 2$ ) or  $\exists i_0, i_1 \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$  (resp.  $\exists j_0, j_1 \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$ ),  $i_0 \ne i_1$  (resp.  $j_0 \ne j_1$ ) such that  $a_{i_0, d+1} \ge 1$  and  $a_{i_1, d+1} \ge 1$  (resp.  $a_{d+1, j_0} \ge 1$  and  $a_{d+1, j_1} \ge 1$ ).

We proceed as for the other two cases to establish the following bound.

$$\varepsilon^{-4(1-\alpha)} \left| A_{\varepsilon}^{(q)}(\boldsymbol{k}, \boldsymbol{m}, s, t, \boldsymbol{a}) \right| \leqslant \boldsymbol{C} \|t - s\|_{d}^{4(2\alpha - 1)} \prod_{1 \leqslant i, j \leqslant d+1} \frac{1}{a_{i,j}!}$$

$$\leqslant \boldsymbol{C} \|t - s\|_{d}^{4(\alpha - 1)} \prod_{1 \leqslant i, j \leqslant d+1} \frac{1}{a_{i,j}!}.$$

Finally, if we gather the three cases, we have shown that for fixed  $q \ge 2$  and  $\mathbf{k}, \mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{N}^{d+1}$  such that  $|\mathbf{k}| = |\mathbf{m}| = q$  and  $(s,t) \in T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}$ ,

$$\varepsilon^{-4(1-\alpha)} \left| A_{\varepsilon}^{(q)}(\boldsymbol{k}, \boldsymbol{m}, s, t) \right| \leqslant \boldsymbol{C} \left\| t - s \right\|_{d}^{4(\alpha-1)} \sum_{\substack{a_{i,j} \geqslant 0 \\ \sum_{j} a_{i,j} = k_{i} \\ \sum_{i} a_{i,j} = m_{j}}} \prod_{1 \leqslant i,j \leqslant d+1} \frac{1}{a_{i,j}!},$$

which provides recalling that f is bounded, the following bound

$$\begin{split} \varepsilon^{-4(1-\alpha)} \left| f(t)f(s)b(\boldsymbol{k})b(\boldsymbol{m})\boldsymbol{k}!\boldsymbol{m}! A_{\varepsilon}^{(q)}(\boldsymbol{k},\boldsymbol{m},s,t) \right| \\ \leqslant \boldsymbol{C} \left\| t - s \right\|_d^{4(\alpha-1)} \left| b(\boldsymbol{k}) \right| \left| b(\boldsymbol{m}) \right| \boldsymbol{k}!\boldsymbol{m}! \sum_{\substack{a_{i,j} \geqslant 0 \\ \sum_j a_{i,j} = k_i \\ \sum_i a_{i,j} = m_j}} \prod_{1 \leqslant i,j \leqslant d+1} \frac{1}{a_{i,j}!}. \end{split}$$

At this stage of the proof let us state a lemma.

**Lemma 4.6.29.** — Let  $X = (X_i)_{i=1,n}$  and  $Y = (Y_j)_{j=1,n}$  be two standard Gaussian vectors in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and  $G \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \varphi_n(x) dx)$ , with the following expansion in this space:

For 
$$x := (x_1, \dots, x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$$
,  $G(x_1, \dots, x_n) = \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{N}^n \\ |\mathbf{k}| = q}} g(\mathbf{k}) \widetilde{H}_{\mathbf{k}}(x)$ .

Then

$$\sum_{q=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{\boldsymbol{k},\boldsymbol{m}\in\mathbb{N}^n\\|\boldsymbol{k}|=|\boldsymbol{m}|=q}} |g(\boldsymbol{k})|\,|g(\boldsymbol{m})|\,\mathbb{E}[\widetilde{H}_{\boldsymbol{k}}(X)\widetilde{H}_{\boldsymbol{m}}(Y)]<\infty.$$

In particular, if for  $1 \leq i, j \leq n$ ,  $\mathbb{E}[X_i Y_j] = 1$ , then

(96) 
$$\sum_{q=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{\boldsymbol{k},\boldsymbol{m}\in\mathbb{N}^n\\|\boldsymbol{k}|=|\boldsymbol{m}|=q}} |g(\boldsymbol{k})| |g(\boldsymbol{m})| \sum_{\substack{a_{i,j}\geqslant 0\\\sum_{j}a_{i,j}=k_i\\\sum_{i}a_{i,j}=m_j}} \boldsymbol{k}!\boldsymbol{m}! \prod_{1\leqslant i,j\leqslant n} \frac{1}{a_{i,j}!} < \infty.$$

Recalling that  $d-4+4\alpha>0$  and applying this lemma to n:=d+1 and to the function hg and thus (96) to coefficients  $b(\mathbf{k})$  defined by (92), we get

$$(97) \quad \left(\int_{T \times T} \|t - s\|_{d}^{4(\alpha - 1)} dt ds\right)$$

$$\times \left(\sum_{\substack{q=2 \ \mathbf{k}, \mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{N}^{d+1} \\ |\mathbf{k}| = |\mathbf{m}| = q}}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k}, \mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{N}^{d+1} \\ \sum_{j} a_{i,j} = k_{i} \\ \sum_{j} a_{i,j} = k_{j}}} \mathbf{k}! \mathbf{m}! \prod_{1 \leqslant i,j \leqslant d+1} \frac{1}{a_{i,j}!}\right) < \infty.$$

We are therefore able to apply Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem.

**Remark 4.6.30.** — Before doing so, notice that we have highlighted the following results: for  $0 < \alpha < 1$ ,

$$\ell_2(\varepsilon) \leqslant C \varepsilon^{4(1-\alpha)} \int_{T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}} \|t - s\|_d^{4(\alpha-1)} dt ds.$$

Thus if  $d-4+4\alpha < 0$ ,  $\ell_2(\varepsilon) = O(\varepsilon^d) = O(\varepsilon^2)$ .

Moreover, if  $d-4+4\alpha=0$ ,  $\ell_2(\varepsilon)=O(\varepsilon^{4(1-\alpha)}\ln(1/\varepsilon))$  and if d=3 (and then  $\alpha=\frac{1}{4}$ ), thus we proved that  $\ell_2(\varepsilon)=O(\varepsilon^3\ln(1/\varepsilon))=O(\varepsilon^2)$ .

Remember that  $\ell_1(\varepsilon) = O(\varepsilon^d) = O(\varepsilon^2)$ . We have finally proved that in the case  $d-4+4\alpha < 0$  or  $(d=3 \text{ and } \alpha = \frac{1}{4})$ ,  $\mathbb{E}[S_1^2] = O(\varepsilon^2)$ . The proof of Proposition 4.6.26-2 is therefore complete.

In case where  $d-4+4\alpha=0$  and d=2 (and then  $\alpha=1/2$ ),  $\ell_2(\varepsilon)=O(\varepsilon^2\ln(1/\varepsilon))$ , so that  $\mathbb{E}[S_1^2]=O(\varepsilon^2\ln(1/\varepsilon))$ . This is the required bound. However, this way does not give the explicit limit, only an upper bound. We will therefore have to examine this case separately in order to prove the Proposition 4.6.26-3.

Let us return to the case  $d-4+4\alpha>0$  and to the proof of Proposition 4.6.26-1. We have proven that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{\varepsilon^{4(1-\alpha)}} \ell_2(\varepsilon) = \int_{T \times T} f(t) f(s) \sum_{q=2}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{\boldsymbol{k}, \boldsymbol{m} \in \mathbb{N}^{d+1} \\ |\boldsymbol{k}| = |\boldsymbol{m}| = q}} b(\boldsymbol{k}) b(\boldsymbol{m}) \boldsymbol{k}! \boldsymbol{m}!$$

$$\times \sum_{\substack{a_{i,j} \geqslant 0 \\ \sum_{j} a_{i,j} = k_i \\ \sum_{i} a_{i,j} = m_j}} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-4(1-\alpha)} A_{\varepsilon}^{(q)}(\boldsymbol{k}, \boldsymbol{m}, s, t, \boldsymbol{a}) \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}s.$$

Before considering the four different cases that will give the limit, let us make some remarks about some covariance limits.

Using the expression for the second derivative of  $r_{\varepsilon}$  given in (93), we easily get that for  $s, t \in T$  with  $s \neq t$  and for i, j = 1, d,

(98) 
$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_i \partial t_j} (t - s) = \frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_i \partial t_j} (t - s),$$

and in the same manner,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{i}}(t - s) = \frac{\partial r}{\partial t_{i}}(t - s).$$

Also for  $s, t \in T$ , we have

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} r_{\varepsilon}(t-s) = r(t-s).$$

In this way and using the convergence given in (95) we obtain

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_i \partial t_j} (t - s) \frac{\varepsilon^{-2(1 - \alpha)}}{\mu_{\varepsilon}} = \left( C_L \chi_d^2(\alpha) \right)^{-1} \frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_i \partial t_j} (t - s)$$

and

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{i}}(t-s) \frac{\varepsilon^{-(1-\alpha)}}{\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{r(0)}} \left( C_{L} \chi_{d}^{2}(\alpha) \right)^{-1/2} \frac{\partial r}{\partial t_{i}}(t-s).$$

Let us fix  $q \ge 2$ ,  $k, m \in \mathbb{N}^{d+1}$  such that |k| = |m| = q,  $a := (a_{i,j})_{1 \le i,j \le d+1}$  and  $(s,t) \in T \times T$ .

From the above, we have to consider four cases.

- Case 1. It corresponds to situations where:

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{d} a_{i,j} \geqslant 3;$$
or 
$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{d} a_{i,j} = 2 \text{ and } \sum_{i=1}^{d} a_{i,d+1} + \sum_{j=1}^{d} a_{d+1,j} \geqslant 1;$$
or 
$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{d} a_{i,j} = 1 \text{ and } \sum_{i=1}^{d} a_{i,d+1} + \sum_{j=1}^{d} a_{d+1,j} \geqslant 3;$$
or 
$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{d} a_{i,j} = 0 \text{ and } \sum_{i=1}^{d} a_{i,d+1} + \sum_{j=1}^{d} a_{d+1,j} \geqslant 5.$$

Using the previous convergence, we have

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-4(1-\alpha)} A_{\varepsilon}^{(q)}(\boldsymbol{k}, \boldsymbol{m}, s, t, \boldsymbol{a}) = 0.$$

- Case 2. For this case,

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{d} a_{i,j} = 2, \ \sum_{i=1}^{d} a_{i,d+1} = 0 \text{ and } \sum_{j=1}^{d} a_{d+1,j} = 0.$$

This configuration is equivalent to the existence of indices  $i_0, j_0 \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$ , such that  $a_{i_0, j_0} = 2$ ,  $a_{d+1, d+1} = q - 2$  and  $a_{i, j} = 0$  otherwise. With this configuration, we have

$$\begin{split} &\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-4(1-\alpha)} A_{\varepsilon}^{(q)}(\boldsymbol{k}, \boldsymbol{m}, s, t, \boldsymbol{a}) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \left( \boldsymbol{C}_L \chi_d^2(\alpha) \right)^{-2} \left( -\frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_{i_0} \partial t_{j_0}} (t-s) \right)^2 \frac{1}{(q-2)!} \left( \frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)} \right)^{q-2}. \end{split}$$

In this case, we have

$${m k} = (0,\dots,0, {2 \atop i_0},0,\dots,0,q-2)$$
 and  ${m m} = (0,\dots,0, {2 \atop j_0},0,\dots,0,q-2)$ 

where "2" means that 2 is in position  $i_0$ .

- Case 3. For this case,

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{d} a_{i,j} = 1; \ \sum_{i=1}^{d} a_{i,d+1} = 1 \text{ and } \sum_{j=1}^{d} a_{d+1,j} = 1.$$

This configuration is equivalent to the existence of indices  $i_0, j_0 \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$ , such that  $a_{i_0, j_0} = 1$ ,  $a_{i_0, d+1} = 1$ ,  $a_{d+1, j_0} = 1$ ,  $a_{d+1, d+1} = q - 3$  and  $a_{i,j} = 0$  otherwise.

With this configuration, we have

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-4(1-\alpha)} A_{\varepsilon}^{(q)}(\boldsymbol{k}, \boldsymbol{m}, s, t, \boldsymbol{a}) 
= \left(\boldsymbol{C}_{L} \chi_{d}^{2}(\alpha)\right)^{-2} \left(-\frac{\partial^{2} r}{\partial t_{i_{0}} \partial t_{j_{0}}} (t-s)\right) \left(-\frac{1}{r(0)} \frac{\partial r}{\partial t_{i_{0}}} (t-s) \frac{\partial r}{\partial t_{j_{0}}} (t-s)\right) 
\times \frac{1}{(q-3)!} \left(\frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)}\right)^{q-3}.$$

So

$${m k} = (0,\ldots,0, \underset{i_0}{2}, 0,\ldots,0, q-2)$$
 and  ${m m} = (0,\ldots,0,\underset{j_0}{2}, 0,\ldots,0, q-2).$ 

- Case 4. Here.

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{d} a_{i,j} = 0; \ \sum_{i=1}^{d} a_{i,d+1} = 2 \text{ and } \sum_{j=1}^{d} a_{d+1,j} = 2.$$

This configuration is equivalent to the existence of indices  $i_0,j_0$   $\in$  $\{1,\ldots,d\}$  such that  $a_{i_0,d+1}=2,\ a_{d+1,j_0}=2,\ a_{d+1,d+1}=q-4$  and  $a_{i,j} = 0$  otherwise.

With this configuration we have

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-4(1-\alpha)} A_{\varepsilon}^{(q)}(\boldsymbol{k}, \boldsymbol{m}, s, t, \boldsymbol{a})$$

$$=\frac{1}{4}\left(C_L\chi_d^2(\alpha)\right)^{-2}\left(-\frac{1}{r(0)}\frac{\partial r}{\partial t_{i_0}}(t-s)\frac{\partial r}{\partial t_{j_0}}(t-s)\right)^2\times\frac{1}{(q-4)!}\left(\frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)}\right)^{q-4}.$$

So we have

$$\mathbf{k} = (0, \dots, 0, \underset{i_0}{2}, 0, \dots, 0, q-2)$$
 and  $\mathbf{m} = (0, \dots, 0, \underset{j_0}{2}, 0, \dots, 0, q-2).$ 

If we combine the four cases, we have proven that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{\varepsilon^{4(1-\alpha)}} \ell_2(\varepsilon) = \int_{T \times T} f(t) f(s) \left( C_L \chi_d^2(\alpha) \right)^{-2}$$

$$\times \sum_{i,j=1}^d a(0, \dots, 0, \frac{2}{i}, 0, \dots, 0) a(0, \dots, 0, \frac{2}{i}, 0, \dots, 0)$$

$$\times \left\{ \sum_{q=2}^\infty 2(q-2)! c_{q-2}^2 \left( -\frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_i \partial t_j} (t-s) \right)^2 \left( \frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)} \right)^{q-2} \right.$$

$$\left. + \sum_{q=3}^\infty 4(q-2)(q-2)! c_{q-2}^2 \left( -\frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_i \partial t_j} (t-s) \right) \left( -\frac{1}{r(0)} \frac{\partial r}{\partial t_i} (t-s) \frac{\partial r}{\partial t_j} (t-s) \right) \right.$$

$$\left. \times \left( \frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)} \right)^{q-3} + \sum_{q=4}^\infty (q-2)(q-3)(q-2)! c_{q-2}^2 \right.$$

$$\times \left( -\frac{1}{r(0)} \frac{\partial r}{\partial t_i} (t-s) \frac{\partial r}{\partial t_j} (t-s) \right)^2 \left( \frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)} \right)^{q-4} dt ds.$$

Now since for all i = 1, ..., d, one has a(0, ..., 0, 2, 0, ..., 0) = a(2, 0, ..., 0),

we finally proved that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{\varepsilon^{4(1-\alpha)}} \ell_2(\varepsilon) = \ell_2,$$

and since  $\ell_1(\varepsilon) = O(\varepsilon^d)$  and  $d-4+4\alpha > 0$ , one can conclude that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{\varepsilon^{4(1-\alpha)}} \mathbb{E}[S_1^2(\varepsilon)] = \ell_2.$$

This gives Proposition 4.6.26-1

To finish the proof it remains to show Proposition 4.6.26–3. So let us suppose that d=2 and that  $\alpha=1/2$ . Our goal is now to prove the following convergence:

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon^2 \ln(1/\varepsilon)} \mathbb{E}[S_1^2] \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} \ell_5.$$

First we look at the term  $\ell_1(\varepsilon)$  which we have seen to be  $O(\varepsilon^2)$ . So  $\ell_1(\varepsilon) = o(\varepsilon^2 \ln(1/\varepsilon))$ .

Consider the second term  $\ell_2(\varepsilon)$ , which, as we saw earlier, is equal to

$$\ell_2(\varepsilon) = \int_{T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}} \sum_{q=2}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k}, \mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{N}^3 \\ |\mathbf{k}| = |\mathbf{m}| = q}} f(t) f(s) b(\mathbf{k}) b(\mathbf{m}) \mathbf{k}! \mathbf{m}! A_{\varepsilon}^{(q)}(\mathbf{k}, \mathbf{m}, s, t) \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}s,$$

where for  $q \geqslant 2$  and  $k, m \in \mathbb{N}^3$  such that |k| = |m| = q and  $(s, t) \in T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}$ 

$$A_{\varepsilon}^{(q)}(\boldsymbol{k},\boldsymbol{m},s,t) := \sum_{\substack{a_{i,j} \geqslant 0 \\ \sum_{j} a_{i,j} = k_i \\ \sum_{i} a_{i,j} = m_j}} A_{\varepsilon}^{(q)}(\boldsymbol{k},\boldsymbol{m},s,t,\boldsymbol{a}),$$

where for  $\boldsymbol{a} := (a_{i,j})_{1 \leqslant i,j \leqslant 3}$ ,

$$\begin{split} A_{\varepsilon}^{(q)}(\boldsymbol{k},\boldsymbol{m},s,t,\boldsymbol{a}) &:= \prod_{1\leqslant i,j\leqslant 2} \left[ \left( \frac{-\frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_i \partial t_j}(t-s)}{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \right)^{a_{i,j}} \frac{1}{a_{i,j}!} \right] \\ &\times \prod_{1\leqslant i\leqslant 2} \left[ \left( \frac{\frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_i}(t-s)}{\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}} \right)^{a_{i,3}} \frac{1}{a_{i,3}!} \right] \times \prod_{1\leqslant j\leqslant 2} \left[ \left( \frac{-\frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_j}(t-s)}{\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}} \right)^{a_{3,j}} \frac{1}{a_{3,j}!} \right] \end{split}$$

$$\times \left(\frac{r_\varepsilon(t-s)}{r_\varepsilon(0)}\right)^{a_{3,3}} \frac{1}{a_{3,3}!}.$$

Let us fix  $q \ge 2$ ,  $k, m \in \mathbb{N}^3$  such that |k| = |m| = q,  $a := (a_{i,j})_{1 \le i,j \le 3}$  and  $(s,t) \in T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}$ .

We want to find an upper bound for  $\varepsilon^{-2}[\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1}A_{\varepsilon}^{(q)}(\boldsymbol{k},\boldsymbol{m},s,t,\boldsymbol{a}).$ 

Applying the same type of reasoning as before, we distinguish four cases.

Case 1. 
$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{2} a_{i,j} \ge 3$$
.

In this case, we obtain

$$\varepsilon^{-2}[\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1}\left|A_{\varepsilon}^{(q)}(\boldsymbol{k},\boldsymbol{m},s,t,\boldsymbol{a})\right|\leqslant \boldsymbol{C}\left\|t-s\right\|_{2}^{-3}\varepsilon[\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1}\prod_{1\leqslant i,j\leqslant 3}\frac{1}{a_{i,j}!},$$

and

(99) 
$$\int_{T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}} \|t - s\|_2^{-3} dt ds \leqslant \mathbf{C}\varepsilon^{-1}.$$

Case 2.  $\sum_{i,j=1}^{2} a_{i,j} = 1$ .

In this case, we get

$$\varepsilon^{-2}[\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1} \left| A_{\varepsilon}^{(q)}(\boldsymbol{k},\boldsymbol{m},s,t,\boldsymbol{a}) \right| \leqslant \boldsymbol{C} \, \|t-s\|_2^{-1} \, [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1} \prod_{1\leqslant i,j\leqslant 3} \frac{1}{a_{i,j}!},$$

and

(100) 
$$\int_{T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}} \|t - s\|_{2}^{-1} dt ds \leqslant C.$$

Case 3.  $\sum_{i,j=1}^{2} a_{i,j} = 0$ .

In this case, we have

$$\varepsilon^{-2}[\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1}\left|A_{\varepsilon}^{(q)}(\boldsymbol{k},\boldsymbol{m},s,t,\boldsymbol{a})\right|\leqslant\boldsymbol{C}[\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1}\prod_{1\leqslant i,j\leqslant 3}\frac{1}{a_{i,j}!},$$

and

(101) 
$$\int_{T_s^{(2)}} 1 \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}s \leqslant \mathbf{C}.$$

Case 4.  $\sum_{i,j=1}^{2} a_{i,j} = 2$  and  $\sum_{i=1}^{2} a_{i,3} + \sum_{j=1}^{2} a_{3,j} \ge 1$ . In this case, we obtain

$$\varepsilon^{-2}[\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1} \left| A_{\varepsilon}^{(q)}(\boldsymbol{k}, \boldsymbol{m}, s, t, \boldsymbol{a}) \right| \leqslant \boldsymbol{C} \|t - s\|_{2}^{-2} \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1} \prod_{1 \leqslant i,j \leqslant 3} \frac{1}{a_{i,j}!},$$

and

(102) 
$$\int_{T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}} \|t - s\|_2^{-2} dt ds \leqslant C \ln(1/\varepsilon).$$

Let us denote by  $B(\mathbf{k}, \mathbf{m})$  the following set:

$$B(\boldsymbol{k}, \boldsymbol{m}) := \left\{ \boldsymbol{a} = (a_{i,j})_{i,j=1,2,3} : \sum_{j=1}^{3} a_{i,j} = k_i, \sum_{i=1}^{3} a_{i,j} = m_j, \sum_{i,j=1}^{2} a_{i,j} \geqslant 3 \text{ or } \right.$$

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{2} a_{i,j} = 1 \text{ or } \sum_{i,j=1}^{2} a_{i,j} = 0 \text{ or } \sum_{i,j=1}^{2} a_{i,j} = 2 \text{ with } \sum_{i=1}^{2} a_{i,3} + \sum_{j=1}^{2} a_{3,j} \geqslant 1 \right\}.$$

Summarizing all the cases and using (99), (100), (101), (102) and (97), it is clear that

$$\varepsilon^{-2}[\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1} \int_{T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}} \sum_{q=2}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k}, \mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{N}^3 \\ |\mathbf{k}| = |\mathbf{m}| = q}} |f(t)| |f(s)| |b(\mathbf{k})| |b(\mathbf{m})| \mathbf{k}! \mathbf{m}!$$

$$\times \sum_{\mathbf{a} \in B(\mathbf{k}, \mathbf{m})} \left| A_{\varepsilon}^{(q)}(\mathbf{k}, \mathbf{m}, s, t, \mathbf{a}) \right| dt ds$$

$$\leqslant \mathbf{C}[\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1} \sum_{q=2}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k}, \mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{N}^3 \\ |\mathbf{k}| = |\mathbf{m}| = q}} |b(\mathbf{k})| |b(\mathbf{m})| \mathbf{k}! \mathbf{m}! \sum_{\substack{a_{i,j} \geqslant 0 \\ \sum_{j} a_{i,j} = k_i \\ \sum_{i} a_{i,j} = m_j}} \prod_{1 \leqslant i,j \leqslant 3} \frac{1}{a_{i,j}!}$$

$$\leqslant \mathbf{C}[\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1} \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} 0.$$

To conclude, we have shown that

$$(103) \quad \varepsilon^{-2} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1} \ell_2(\varepsilon) \equiv \frac{2a^2(2,0)}{\varepsilon^2 \ln(\frac{1}{\varepsilon})} \int_{T_\varepsilon^{(2)}} f(t) f(s) \sum_{q=0}^\infty q! c_q^2 \left(\frac{r_\varepsilon(t-s)}{r_\varepsilon(0)}\right)^q \\ \times \left[ \left(\frac{\partial^2 r_\varepsilon}{\partial t_1^2} (t-s)/\mu_\varepsilon\right)^2 + 2\left(\frac{\partial^2 r_\varepsilon}{\partial t_1 \partial t_2} (t-s)/\mu_\varepsilon\right)^2 + \left(\frac{\partial^2 r_\varepsilon}{\partial t_2^2} (t-s)/\mu_\varepsilon\right)^2 \right] dt ds.$$

Remark 4.6.31. — This last part of the proof highlights the fact that

$$\varepsilon^{-1}[\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1/2}S_1 \simeq \varepsilon^{-1}[\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1/2}a(2,0)\int_T f(t)g\left(X_\varepsilon(t)/\sqrt{r_\varepsilon(0)}\right) \times \left[H_2\left(\frac{\partial X_\varepsilon}{\partial t_1}(t)/\sqrt{\mu_\varepsilon}\right) + H_2\left(\frac{\partial X_\varepsilon}{\partial t_2}(t)/\sqrt{\mu_\varepsilon}\right)\right] dt.$$

•

To obtain the asymptotic variance, we split the set  $T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}$  into two sets,  $U_{\delta}$  and  $V_{\varepsilon,\delta}$ , defined by

$$U_{\delta} := \{(s, t) \in T \times T : ||s - t||_2 > \delta\}$$

and

$$V_{\varepsilon,\delta} := \{ (s,t) \in T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)} : ||s-t||_2 \leqslant \delta \},\,$$

where  $\delta > 0$  is fixed and will eventually tend to zero. The corresponding integrals will be denoted respectively by  $L_{1,\delta}(\varepsilon)$  and  $L_{2,\delta}(\varepsilon)$ .

On the one hand, using the convergence given in (95), we know that

$$\varepsilon\mu_{\varepsilon} \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} C_L\chi_2^2(1/2).$$

On the other hand, using Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem, it is straightforward to prove that

$$\ln(1/\varepsilon)L_{1,\delta}(\varepsilon) \xrightarrow{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{2a^2(2,0)}{(C_L\chi_2^2(1/2))^2} \int_{U_\delta} f(t)f(s) \sum_{q=0}^\infty q! c_q^2 \left(\frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)}\right)^q \times \left[ \left(\frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_1^2}(t-s)\right)^2 + 2\left(\frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_1 \partial t_2}(t-s)\right)^2 + \left(\frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_2^2}(t-s)\right)^2 \right] dt ds.$$

Thus, using once again the convergence given in (95), we get

$$\begin{split} \varepsilon^{-2} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1} \ell_2(\varepsilon) &\equiv L_{2,\delta}(\varepsilon) \\ &\equiv \frac{2a^2(2,0)}{(C_L \chi_2^2(1/2))^2} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1} \\ &\times \int_{V_{\varepsilon,\delta}} f(t) f(s) \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} q! c_q^2 \bigg( \frac{r_{\varepsilon}(t-s)}{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \bigg)^q \\ &\times \left[ \bigg( \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_1^2} (t-s) \bigg)^2 + 2 \bigg( \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_1 \partial t_2} (t-s) \bigg)^2 + \bigg( \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_2^2} (t-s) \bigg)^2 \right] \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}s. \end{split}$$

Inspired by Lemma 4.6.23 and using the additional assumptions made on the function L, we pinpoint that for  $(s,t) \in T \times T$ , such that  $M\varepsilon \leq ||t-s||_2$  and for all i, j = 1, 2,

$$\left| \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_i \partial t_j} (t - s) - \frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_i \partial t_j} (t - s) \right| \leqslant C \frac{\varepsilon}{\|t - s\|_2^2},$$

which implies that

$$\left| \left( \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_i \partial t_j} (t - s) \right)^2 - \left( \frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_i \partial t_j} (t - s) \right)^2 \right| \leqslant C \frac{\varepsilon}{\|t - s\|_2^3}.$$

Moreover, using Lemmas 4.6.23 and 4.6.22, we can prove that, for all  $q \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\left| \left( \frac{r_{\varepsilon}(t-s)}{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \right)^{q} - 1 \right| \leqslant Cq \|t-s\|_{2}.$$

Finally, we also have the following inequality

$$\left(\frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_i \partial t_j} (t - s)\right)^2 \leqslant C \|t - s\|_2^{-2}.$$

Using (99), (100), the fact that  $\sum_{q=1}^{\infty} qq! c_q^2 < \infty$  and Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem, we easily obtain that

$$\begin{split} L_{2,\delta}(\varepsilon) &\equiv \frac{2a^2(2,0)}{(C_L \chi_2^2(1/2))^2} \Biggl( \sum_{q=0}^\infty q! c_q^2 \Biggr) \left[ \ln(1/\varepsilon) \right]^{-1} \int_{V_{\varepsilon,\delta}} f(t) f(s) \\ &\times \left[ \left( \frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_1^2} (t-s) \right)^2 + 2 \left( \frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_1 \partial t_2} (t-s) \right)^2 + \left( \frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_2^2} (t-s) \right)^2 \right] \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}s. \end{split}$$

To conclude this section, we have proven that

$$\varepsilon^{-2}[\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1}\mathbb{E}[S_1^2] \equiv \frac{2a^2(2,0)}{(C_L\chi_2^2(1/2))^2}\mathbb{E}\Big[g^2\Big(X(0)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)\Big]U_\delta(\varepsilon),$$

where

$$\begin{split} U_{\delta}(\varepsilon) &:= [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1} \int_{V_{\varepsilon,\delta}} f(t) f(s) \left[ \left( \frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_1^2} (t-s) \right)^2 \right. \\ &\left. + 2 \left( \frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_1 \partial t_2} (t-s) \right)^2 + \left( \frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_2^2} (t-s) \right)^2 \right] \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}s. \end{split}$$

To carry out this proof, let us focus on the term  $U_{\delta}(\varepsilon)$ .

The hypotheses made on function L, allow us to write the following asymptotic equality, for  $(s,t) \in T \times T$ , and for all i,j=1,2:

$$\left(\frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_i \partial t_j}(t-s)\right)^2 = C_L^2 \frac{(t_i - s_i)^2 (t_j - s_j)^2}{\|t-s\|_2^6} + o\left(\frac{1}{\|t-s\|_2^2}\right).$$

Furthermore,

$$\sup_{\{(s,t)\in T\times T, \|s-t\|_2\leqslant \delta\}} |f(s)-f(t)| \xrightarrow{\delta\to 0} 0.$$

The last convergence and the last asymptotic equality plus the fact that

$$\overline{\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0}} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1} \int_{V_{\varepsilon,\delta}} ||t - s||_2^{-2} dt ds \leqslant (2\pi)\lambda_2(T) < \infty$$

imply that

$$U_{\delta}(\varepsilon) = U_{\delta}^{(1)}(\varepsilon) + U_{\delta}^{(2)}(\varepsilon),$$

where

$$U_{\delta}^{(1)}(\varepsilon) = C_L^2 [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1} \int_{V_{\varepsilon,\delta}} f^2(t) \|t - s\|_2^{-2} dt ds,$$

and

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \overline{\lim}_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left| U_{\delta}^{(2)}(\varepsilon) \right| = 0.$$

Now we consider  $T_{-\delta} := \{t \in \mathbb{R}^2 : \operatorname{dist}(t, T^c) > \delta\}$ . With this notation we have

$$U_{\delta}^{(1)}(\varepsilon) = \mathbf{C}_{L}^{2} \left( \int_{T_{-\delta}} f^{2}(t) dt \right) \left[ \ln(1/\varepsilon) \right]^{-1} \times \left( \int_{\{w \in \mathbb{R}^{2}, M\varepsilon \leqslant ||w||_{2} \leqslant \delta\}} ||w||_{2}^{-2} dw \right) + W_{\delta, \varepsilon},$$

where

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \overline{\lim}_{\varepsilon \to 0} W_{\delta,\varepsilon} = 0.$$

Since

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1} \int_{\{w \in \mathbb{R}^2, M\varepsilon \leqslant ||w||_2 \leqslant \delta\}} ||w||_2^{-2} dw = 2\pi$$

and

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{T_{-\delta}} f^2(t) \, \mathrm{d}t = \int_T f^2(t) \, \mathrm{d}t,$$

we finally proved that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-2} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1} \mathbb{E}[S_1^2] = \frac{4\pi a^2(2,0)}{(\chi_2^2(1/2))^2} \mathbb{E}\Big[g^2\Big(X(0)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)\Big] \left(\int_T f^2(t) \, \mathrm{d}t\right)$$
$$= a^2(2,0)\sigma^2\Big(\int_T f^2(t) \, \mathrm{d}t\Big) \, \mathbb{E}\Big[g^2\Big(X(0)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)\Big] = \ell_5.$$

The proposition ensues.

Let us return to the proof of Theorem 4.6.19. By Remark 4.6.27, we already know that parts 1, 2 and 4 of Theorem 4.6.19 follow from the last proposition. Let us show part 3 of the theorem. Suppose that  $\alpha = 1/2$  and d > 2. We pointed out in Remark 4.6.27, that in this case,  $\frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \mathbb{E}[S_1^2] \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} \ell_2$ . We also proved that in case where  $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \mathbb{E}[S_2^2] \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} \ell_1 + \ell_3$ .

So to finish with part 3 of the theorem it only remains to prove that in the case where  $\alpha = 1/2$  and d > 2, we have

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \mathbb{E}[S_1 S_2] \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} \frac{1}{2} \ell_4.$$

We will prove this result in the more general case where  $\alpha = 1/2$  (and  $d \ge 2$ ). First, we compute  $\frac{1}{\varepsilon^2}\mathbb{E}[S_1S_2]$ .

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \mathbb{E}[S_1 S_2] = \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \int_{T \times T} f(t) f(s) \times \mathbb{E}\left[g\left(X_{\varepsilon}(t) / \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\right) h(\nabla X_{\varepsilon}(t) / \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}})\right] dt ds.$$

$$\left\{g\left(X_{\varepsilon}(s) / \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\right) - g\left(X(s) / \sqrt{r(0)}\right)\right\} dt ds.$$

As we did before, we split the integration domain  $T \times T$  into two parts  $T_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}$  and  $T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}$ . Let us call  $c_1(\varepsilon)$  (resp.  $c_2(\varepsilon)$ ) the integral over  $T_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}$  (resp.  $T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}$ ). Let us focus first on the first term  $c_1(\varepsilon)$ .

$$|c_{1}(\varepsilon)| \leq \boldsymbol{C} \left( \mathbb{E} \left[ g^{2}(N_{1}) \right] \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left( \mathbb{E} \left[ h^{2}(N_{d}) \right] \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$\times \left( \mathbb{E} \left[ \left\{ g \left( X_{\varepsilon}(0) / \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \right) - g \left( X(0) / \sqrt{r(0)} \right) \right\}^{2} \right] \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{1}{\varepsilon^{2}} \sigma_{2d}(T_{\varepsilon}^{(1)})$$

$$\leq \boldsymbol{C} \varepsilon^{d-2} \left( \mathbb{E} \left[ \left\{ g \left( X_{\varepsilon}(0) / \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \right) - g \left( X(0) / \sqrt{r(0)} \right) \right\}^{2} \right] \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

By calculating the last expectation with Mehler's formula (see Lemma 4.6.28), we obtain

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left\{g\left(X_{\varepsilon}(0)/\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\right) - g\left(X(0)/\sqrt{r(0)}\right)\right\}^{2}\right]$$

$$= 2\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_{n}^{2} n! \left(1 - \left(\frac{r^{(\varepsilon)}(0)}{\sqrt{r(0)}\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}}\right)^{n}\right) \xrightarrow{\varepsilon \to 0} 0,$$

since  $\left|r^{(\varepsilon)}(0)/\left(\sqrt{r(0)}\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\right)\right| \leqslant 1$  and  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_n^2 n! < \infty$ . So we have proved that the term  $c_1(\varepsilon) \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} 0$  whether the dimension d is greater than or equal to two or strictly greater than two.

Let us now tackle the second term  $c_2(\varepsilon)$ . We obtain the following decomposi-

$$c_{2}(\varepsilon) = \frac{1}{\varepsilon^{2}} \int_{T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}} f(t) f(s) \mathbb{E} \left[ g \left( X_{\varepsilon}(t) / \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \right) h(\nabla X_{\varepsilon}(t) / \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}) \right] \times \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_{n} \left( 1 - \left( \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0) / r(0)} \right)^{n} \right) H_{n} \left( X_{\varepsilon}(s) / \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \right) dt ds$$

$$+ \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \int_{T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}} f(t) f(s) \mathbb{E} \left[ g \left( X_{\varepsilon}(t) / \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \right) h(\nabla X_{\varepsilon}(t) / \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}) \right] \times \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_n \left\{ \left( \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0) / r(0)} \right)^n H_n \left( X_{\varepsilon}(s) / \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \right) - H_n \left( X(s) / \sqrt{r(0)} \right) \right\} \right] dt ds$$

$$:= d_1(\varepsilon) + d_2(\varepsilon).$$

Let's first look at the first term  $d_1(\varepsilon)$  which will give the limit. With the same notations as in the proof of Proposition 4.6.26 and by applying Mehler's formula (see Lemma 4.6.28), we obtain

$$d_{1}(\varepsilon) = \frac{1}{\varepsilon^{2}} \int_{T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}} f(t)f(s) \sum_{q=2}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{N}^{d+1} \\ |\mathbf{k}| = q}} b(\mathbf{k}) c_{q} \left( 1 - \left( \sqrt{\frac{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}{r(0)}} \right)^{q} \right)$$

$$\times \mathbb{E} \left[ \widetilde{H}_{\mathbf{k}}(U_{\varepsilon}(t)) H_{q} \left( X_{\varepsilon}(s) / \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \right) \right] dt ds$$

$$= \int_{T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}} f(t) f(s) \sum_{q=2}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{N}^{d+1} \\ |\mathbf{k}| = q}} a(k_{1}, k_{2}, \dots, k_{d}) c_{k_{d+1}} c_{q}$$

$$\times \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left( 1 - \left( \sqrt{\frac{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}{r(0)}} \right)^{q} \right) q! \left( \frac{r_{\varepsilon}(t-s)}{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \right)^{k_{d+1}}$$

$$\times \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left( \frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{1}} (t-s)}{\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}} \right)^{k_{1}} \left( \frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{2}} (t-s)}{\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}} \right)^{k_{2}} \dots \left( \frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{d}} (t-s)}{\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}} \right)^{k_{d}} dt ds.$$

Let us justify that we can interchange the limit in  $\varepsilon$  with the integral and the sum.

On the one hand, for  $q \ge 2$ , we first bound the term  $\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left( 1 - \left( \sqrt{\frac{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}{r(0)}} \right)^q \right)$  by  $q \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left( 1 - \sqrt{\frac{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}{r(0)}} \right)$ . Then taking into account that  $\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left( 1 - \sqrt{\frac{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}{r(0)}} \right) \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} \ell_{1/2}$ , we finally see that  $\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left( 1 - \left( \sqrt{\frac{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}{r(0)}} \right)^q \right)$  has an upper bound  $\mathbf{C}q$ , for  $\varepsilon$  small enough. On the other hand, arguing as in the proof of Proposition 4.6.26, we know that for  $q \ge 2$  and  $|\mathbf{k}| = q$ , there exists at least one index  $i_0 \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$  such that

 $k_{i_0} \geqslant 2$ . Thus we have an upper bound for

$$\left| \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left( \frac{\frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{1}}(t-s)}{\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}} \right)^{k_{1}} \left( \frac{\frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{2}}(t-s)}{\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}} \right)^{k_{2}} \cdots \left( \frac{\frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{d}}(t-s)}{\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}} \right)^{k_{d}} \left( \frac{r_{\varepsilon}(t-s)}{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \right)^{k_{d+1}} \right|.$$

To conclude, it is sufficient to justify that the following series is finite

$$\sum_{\substack{q=2\\|\boldsymbol{k}|=q}}^{\infty} \sum_{\boldsymbol{k} \in \mathbb{N}^{d+1} \atop |\boldsymbol{k}|=q} |b(\boldsymbol{k})| |c_q| qq! < \infty.$$

Here again, we refer to the proof of Proposition 4.6.26 and Lemma 4.6.29 which we will adapt to the new situation.

The following function G is  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^{d+1}, \varphi_{d+1}(x) dx)$ , with the following expansion in this space. For  $x := (x_1, \dots, x_{d+1}) \in \mathbb{R}^{d+1}$ ,

$$G(x_1, \dots, x_{d+1}) := h(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_d) g(x_{d+1}) = \sum_{\substack{q=2 \ |k|=q}}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{k \in \mathbb{N}^{d+1} \\ |k|=q}} b(k) \widetilde{H}_k(x).$$

Also the function  $H_g \in L^2(\mathbb{R}, \varphi_1(x) dx)$ . Recall that, for  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$Hg(x) = xg'(x) - g''(x) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_n n H_n(x).$$

Thus

$$\sum_{q=2}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{N}^{d+1} \\ |\mathbf{k}| = q}} |b(\mathbf{k})| |c_q| qq! < \infty.$$

So we proved that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} d_1(\varepsilon) = \frac{\ell_{1/2}}{r(0)} \left( \frac{a(2, 0, \dots, 0)}{C_L \chi_d^2(1/2)} \right) \sum_{q=2}^{\infty} c_{q-2} c_q q q!$$

$$\times \int_{T \times T} f(t) f(s) \left( \frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)} \right)^{q-2} \left( \sum_{i=1}^d \left( \frac{\partial r}{\partial t_i} (t-s) \right)^2 \right) dt ds$$

$$= \frac{\ell_4}{2}.$$

It only remains to show that  $d_2(\varepsilon) \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} 0$ .

$$d_{2}(\varepsilon) = \int_{T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}} f(t)f(s) \sum_{q=2}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{N}^{d+1} \\ |\mathbf{k}| = q}} b(\mathbf{k}) c_{q} q!$$

$$\times \frac{1}{\varepsilon^{2}} \left[ \left( \frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{1}} (t-s) \right) \left( \frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{2}} (t-s) \right) \right]^{k_{2}} \dots \left( \frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{d}} (t-s) \right)^{k_{d}} \dots \left( \frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{d}} (t-s) \right)^{k_{d}} \\
\times \left( \frac{r_{\varepsilon} (t-s)}{\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \sqrt{r(0)}} \right)^{k_{d+1}} \\
- \left( \frac{\partial r^{(\varepsilon)}}{\partial t_{1}} (t-s) \right) \left( \frac{\partial r^{(\varepsilon)}}{\partial t_{2}} (t-s) \right)^{k_{2}} \dots \left( \frac{\partial r^{(\varepsilon)}}{\partial t_{d}} (t-s) \right)^{k_{d}} \\
\times \left( \frac{r^{(\varepsilon)} (t-s)}{\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \sqrt{r(0)}} \right)^{k_{d}} \dots \left( \frac{\partial r^{(\varepsilon)}}{\partial t_{d}} (t-s) \right)^{k_{d}} \\
\times \left( \frac{r^{(\varepsilon)} (t-s)}{\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \sqrt{r(0)}} \right)^{k_{d+1}} dt ds.$$

Still with the same type of arguments as those given previously, and considering the case where the even indices  $k_i$ , for  $i=1,\ldots,d$ , are such that  $\sum_{i=1}^d k_i \geqslant 4$ , we apply Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem and the limit gives zero. So we consider only the remaining terms for which there is an index  $i_0=1,\ldots,d$  such that  $k_{i_0}=2, k_i=0$  for  $i\neq i_0, i=1,\ldots,d$  and  $k_{d+1}=q-2$ . We get

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} d_2(\varepsilon) = a(2, 0, \dots, 0) \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}} f(t) f(s) \sum_{q=2}^{\infty} c_{q-2} c_q q! \sum_{i=1}^{d} \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2}$$

$$\times \left[ \left( \frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_i} (t-s)}{\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \sqrt{r(0)}} \right)^2 \left( \frac{r_{\varepsilon}(t-s)}{\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \sqrt{r(0)}} \right)^{q-2} \right]$$

$$- \left( \frac{\partial r^{(\varepsilon)}}{\partial t_i} (t-s)}{\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \sqrt{r(0)}} \right)^2 \left( \frac{r^{(\varepsilon)}(t-s)}{\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \sqrt{r(0)}} \right)^{q-2} \right] dt ds.$$

Let us justify that this limit is zero.

For  $i = 1, ..., d, s, t \in T_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}$  and  $q \ge 2$ , we bound the following term

$$\begin{split} A_{\varepsilon}(q,t-s) &:= \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \left| \left( \frac{\frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_i}(t-s)}{\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\sqrt{r(0)}} \right)^2 \left( \frac{r_{\varepsilon}(t-s)}{\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\sqrt{r(0)}} \right)^{q-2} \right. \\ & \left. - \left( \frac{\frac{\partial r^{(\varepsilon)}}{\partial t_i}(t-s)}{\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\sqrt{r(0)}} \right)^2 \left( \frac{r^{(\varepsilon)}(t-s)}{\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\sqrt{r(0)}} \right)^{q-2} \right| \\ & \leqslant C \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left\{ (q-2) \left| r_{\varepsilon}(t-s) - r^{(\varepsilon)}(t-s) \right| + \left| \frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_i}(t-s) - \frac{\partial r^{(\varepsilon)}}{\partial t_i}(t-s) \right| \right\}. \end{split}$$

On the one hand, by applying Lemma 4.6.23, we can bound  $|r_{\varepsilon}(t-s) - r^{(\varepsilon)}(t-s)|$  by  $C\varepsilon^2 ||t-s||_d^{-1}$ . On the other hand, using arguments similar to the one given for prove this lemma, one can show that if we let  $\tau := t-s$ ,

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left( \frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{i}}(\tau) - \frac{\partial r^{(\varepsilon)}}{\partial t_{i}}(\tau) \right) \\ &= \int_{\{\|v\|_{d} \leq N\}} (\Phi(v) - \Psi(v)) \times \left\{ \sum_{j=1}^{d} v_{j} \frac{\partial^{2} r}{\partial \tau_{i} \partial \tau_{j}}(\tau - \theta \varepsilon v) \right\} dv, \end{split}$$

with  $0 \le \theta < 1$  depending on  $\varepsilon$ ,  $\tau$  and v.

This equality involves two things. The first is that

$$\left| \frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{i}}(t-s) - \frac{\partial r^{(\varepsilon)}}{\partial t_{i}}(t-s) \right|$$

can be bounded by  $C\varepsilon \|t - s\|_d^{-1}$ 

The second is that  $\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left( \frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_i}(\tau) - \frac{\partial r^{(\varepsilon)}}{\partial t_i}(\tau) \right) \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} 0$ , since the functions  $\Phi$  and

 $\Psi$  are even functions.

Finally, we collect the following facts

$$A_{\varepsilon}(q, t - s) \leqslant Cq \|t - s\|_d^{-1}$$
, and  $A_{\varepsilon}(q, t - s) \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} 0$ .

To conclude, using that  $\sum_{q=2}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{k \in \mathbb{N}^{d+1} \\ |k|=q}} |b(k)| |c_q| qq! < \infty$ , we deduce that

$$\sum_{q=2}^{\infty} |c_{q-2}| |c_q| qq! < \infty.$$

Moreover, since  $d \ge 2$ , we know that  $\int_{T \times T} ||t - s||_d^{-1} dt ds < \infty$ .

All the ingredients are gathered to apply once again Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem, leading to the required limit:

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} d_2(\varepsilon) = 0.$$

That complete the proof of Theorem 4.6.19.

Let us now prove Theorem 4.6.20.

Proof of Theorem 4.6.20. We begin by showing part 1 of the theorem. So let us suppose that  $\alpha < \frac{1}{2}$ . In this case we have seen in the proof of Theorem 4.6.19 that the random variable  $\Xi_{\varepsilon}(f,g)$  is equivalent in  $L^2(\Omega)$  to  $\varepsilon^{-2\alpha}S_2$ , itself equivalent in  $L^2(\Omega)$  to  $\varepsilon^{-2\alpha}U_2$ , where

$$U_2 = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_n \int_T f(t) \left\{ 1 - \left( \sqrt{\frac{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}{r(0)}} \right)^n \right\} H_n \left( X_{\varepsilon}(t) / \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \right) dt.$$

Let us see that the random variable  $\varepsilon^{-2\alpha}U_2$  is in turn equivalent in  $L^2(\Omega)$  to the following random variable X(f,g).

$$X(f,g) := \ell_{\alpha} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n c_n \int_{T} f(t) H_n \left( X(t) / \sqrt{r(0)} \right) dt.$$

The proof is very similar to the one given to prove that  $\varepsilon^{-4\alpha}\mathbb{E}[U_2^2]$  tends to  $\ell_1$ . It consists in using Mehler's formula and the fact that  $\varepsilon^{-2\alpha}\left(1-\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)/r(0)}\right) \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} \ell_{\alpha}$  and that  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n! n^2 c_n^2 < \infty$ .

This being so, let us recall that the function Hg was defined in the introduction by,

$$Hg(x) = xg'(x) - g''(x) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} nc_n H_n(x).$$

Thus the limit random variable X(f,g) can be expressed as

$$X(f,g) = \ell_{\alpha} \int_{T} f(t) Hg\left(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\right) dt.$$

By applying Theorem 4.6.5 to the function h(t,x) := f(t)Hg(x) and to  $X := x/\sqrt{r(0)}$ , this random variable can also be expressed as

$$X(f,g) = \ell_{\alpha} \int_{\mathbb{R}} Hg(x) L_{X/\sqrt{r(0)}}^{f}(x,T) dx,$$

which is the required result. This ends proof of part 1.

We shall now tackle the proof of part 2. Let us suppose that  $\alpha > \frac{1}{2}$ . We have seen in Theorem 4.6.19 that the random variable  $\Xi_{\varepsilon}(f,g)$  is equivalent

in  $L^2(\Omega)$  to  $T_1 = \varepsilon^{-2(1-\alpha)} S_1$ , thus

$$\Xi_{\varepsilon}(f,g) \simeq T_1,$$

where

$$T_1 = \varepsilon^{-2(1-\alpha)} \int_T f(t) g\left(X_{\varepsilon}(t) / \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\right) h(\nabla X_{\varepsilon}(t) / \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}) dt,$$

and recall that for  $x := (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_d) \in \mathbb{R}^d$ ,

$$h(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_d) = \sum_{\substack{q=2\\|\mathbf{k}|=q}}^{\infty} \sum_{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{N}^d} a(\mathbf{k}) \widetilde{H}_{\mathbf{k}}(x),$$

while coefficients  $a(\mathbf{k})$  are defined by (87). Thus, to study the convergence of  $\Xi_{\varepsilon}(f,g)$  it is enough to consider that of  $T_1$ .

Let us define the following random variable:

$$W_{\varepsilon}(g) := \varepsilon^{-2(1-\alpha)} \int_{T} f(t) g\left(X_{\varepsilon}(t) / \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\right) h_{2}\left(\frac{\nabla X_{\varepsilon}(t)}{\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}}\right) dt,$$

where

$$h_{2}(x_{1}, x_{2}, \dots, x_{d}) := \sum_{\substack{k \in \mathbb{N}^{d} \\ |k| = 2}} a(k) \widetilde{H}_{k}(x)$$

$$= \sum_{j=1}^{d} a(0, \dots, 0, 2, 0, \dots, 0) H_{2}(x_{j})$$

$$= a(2, 0, \dots, 0) \sum_{j=1}^{d} H_{2}(x_{j}).$$

It is almost obvious that  $\mathbb{E}\left[\left(T_1-W_{\varepsilon}(g)\right)^2\right] \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} 0$ . Just look at the way we showed that  $\mathbb{E}[T_1^2] \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} \ell_2$ , to see that  $\mathbb{E}[W_{\varepsilon}^2(g)] \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} \ell_2$  and that  $\mathbb{E}[T_1W_{\varepsilon}(g)] \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} \ell_2$ .

Thus to study the convergence of  $T_1$  it is enough to consider that of  $W_{\varepsilon}(g)$ . We have

$$W_{\varepsilon}(g) = a(2, 0, \dots, 0) \sum_{j=1}^{d} \varepsilon^{-2(1-\alpha)}$$

$$\times \int_{T} f(t)g\left(X_{\varepsilon}(t)/\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\right) H_{2}\left(\frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{j}}(t)/\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\right) dt$$

$$:= a(2,0,\ldots,0) \sum_{j=1}^d \widetilde{W}_{\varepsilon}^{(j)}(g).$$

We fix  $j \in \{1, 2, ..., d\}$ . To simplify the notation, we will study the asymptotic behavior of  $\widetilde{W}_{\varepsilon}^{(j)}(g)$ . Given the form of the assumed limit, this will be sufficient since the convergence will take place in  $L^2(\Omega)$ . Using the Hermite coefficients of the function g we obtain

$$\widetilde{W}_{\varepsilon}^{(j)}(g) = \varepsilon^{-2(1-\alpha)} \int_{T} f(t) \times \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} c_{k-2} H_{k-2} \left( X_{\varepsilon}(t) / \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \right) H_{2} \left( \frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{j}}(t) / \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \right) dt.$$

Let us justify the interchange of the sum and the integral. This is a consequence of the following facts. On the one hand, let us define the Cauchy sequence  $(D_N)_N$  in  $L^2(\Omega)$ .

$$D_N := \sum_{k=2}^N c_{k-2} \int_T f(t) H_{k-2} \left( X_{\varepsilon}(t) / \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \right) H_2 \left( \frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_j}(t) / \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \right) dt.$$

On the other hand, defining in  $L^2(\varphi(x) dx)$ ,

$$g_N := g - \sum_{k=2}^{N} c_{k-2} H_{k-2},$$

one has

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left\{\int_{T} f(t)g_{N}\left(X_{\varepsilon}(t)/\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\right) H_{2}\left(\frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{j}}(t)/\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\right) dt\right\}^{2}\right] \\
\leqslant \lambda_{d}(T) \int_{T} f^{2}(t) \mathbb{E}\left[g_{N}^{2}\left(X_{\varepsilon}(t)/\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\right) H_{2}^{2}\left(\frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{j}}(t)/\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\right)\right] dt \\
= \lambda_{d}(T) \left(\int_{T} f^{2}(t) dt\right) \mathbb{E}\left[g_{N}^{2}\left(X_{\varepsilon}(0)/\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\right)\right] \mathbb{E}\left[H_{2}^{2}\left(\frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{j}}(0)/\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\right)\right] \\
= 2! \lambda_{d}(T) \left(\int_{T} f^{2}(t) dt\right) \|g_{N}\|_{2,\varphi}^{2} \xrightarrow[N \to \infty]{} 0,$$

while  $\|\cdot\|_{2,\varphi}$  represents the  $L^2(\mathbb{R}, \varphi(x) dx)$  norm. Finally, we obtain

$$\widetilde{W}_{\varepsilon}^{(j)}(g) = \varepsilon^{-2(1-\alpha)} \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} c_{k-2}$$

$$\times \int_T f(t) H_{k-2} \left( X_{\varepsilon}(t) / \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \right) H_2 \left( \frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_j}(t) / \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \right) dt.$$

Denoting by  $dZ_X(\lambda)$  the random spectral measure corresponding to X,  $\widehat{\Psi}$  the Fourier transform of  $\Psi$  and  $dZ_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) := \widehat{\Psi}(\varepsilon\lambda) dZ_X(\lambda)$ , we have the following representation for  $\widetilde{W}_{\varepsilon}^{(j)}(g)$ .

$$\widetilde{W}_{\varepsilon}^{(j)}(g) = \varepsilon^{-2(1-\alpha)} \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} c_{k-2} \int_{T} f(t) H_{k-2} \left( \frac{1}{\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} e^{i\langle \lambda, t \rangle} \, \mathrm{d}Z_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) \right)$$

$$H_{2} \left( \frac{1}{\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} i\lambda^{(j)} e^{i\langle \lambda, t \rangle} \, \mathrm{d}Z_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) \right) \, \mathrm{d}t,$$

where we noted  $\lambda := (\lambda^{(1)}, \lambda^{(2)}, \dots, \lambda^{(j)}, \dots, \lambda^{(d)}).$ 

For 
$$(\lambda, t) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times T$$
, let  $\omega_1^{(j)}$  and  $\omega_2^{(j)}$  be 
$$\omega_1^{(j)}(\lambda, t) := \frac{1}{\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}} e^{i\langle \lambda, t \rangle}, \quad \omega_2^{(j)}(\lambda, t) := \frac{i\lambda^{(j)}}{\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}} e^{i\langle \lambda, t \rangle}.$$

The functions  $\omega_1^{(j)}(\cdot,t)$  and  $\omega_2^{(j)}(\cdot,t)$  are orthogonal with respect to the measure  $\left|\widehat{\Psi}(\varepsilon\lambda)\right|^2s(\lambda)\,\mathrm{d}\lambda$ , where we recall that s is the spectral density of the process X. Thus we can use the Itô's formula for the Wiener-Itô integral (see [45], Theorem 4.3, p. 37), obtaining

$$\widetilde{W}_{\varepsilon}^{(j)}(g) = \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} T_k^{(j)}(\varepsilon),$$

where

$$T_k^{(j)}(\varepsilon) := \varepsilon^{-2(1-\alpha)} c_{k-2} \int_T f(t) \frac{1}{k!} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{dk}} \sum_{\Pi \in \Pi_k} \omega_{\xi(\Pi(1))}^{(j)}(\lambda_1, t) \omega_{\xi(\Pi(2))}^{(j)}(\lambda_2, t)$$

$$\dots \omega_{\xi(\Pi(k))}^{(j)}(\lambda_k, t) dZ_{\varepsilon}(\lambda_1) dZ_{\varepsilon}(\lambda_2) \dots dZ_{\varepsilon}(\lambda_k) dt,$$

with

$$\xi(n) = \begin{cases} 1 & n \leqslant k - 2 \\ 2 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

and where  $\Pi_k$  is the set of permutations of  $\{1, 2, \dots, k\}$ . Thus

$$T_k^{(j)}(\varepsilon) = -\frac{c_{k-2}}{(\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)})^{k-2}} \frac{\varepsilon^{-2(1-\alpha)}}{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \frac{1}{k!} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{dk}} K_f(\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 + \dots + \lambda_k) \times \sum_{\Pi \in \Pi_k} \lambda_{\Pi(k-1)}^{(j)} \lambda_{\Pi(k)}^{(j)} \, \mathrm{d}Z_{\varepsilon}(\lambda_1) \, \mathrm{d}Z_{\varepsilon}(\lambda_2) \dots \, \mathrm{d}Z_{\varepsilon}(\lambda_k) \text{ almost surely,}$$

where  $K_f$  is given by (88). Since by (95) we know that

$$\frac{\mu_{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon^{-2(1-\alpha)}} \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} C_L \chi_d^2(\alpha),$$

to obtain the asymptotic behavior of  $T_k^{(j)}(\varepsilon)$  it is enough to consider the convergence of the term below. Define

$$M_k^{(j)}(\varepsilon) := -\frac{c_{k-2}}{(\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)})^{k-2}} \frac{1}{k!} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{dk}} K_f(\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 + \dots + \lambda_k) \times \sum_{\Pi \in \Pi_k} \lambda_{\Pi(k-1)}^{(j)} \lambda_{\Pi(k)}^{(j)} \, \mathrm{d}Z_{\varepsilon}(\lambda_1) \, \mathrm{d}Z_{\varepsilon}(\lambda_2) \dots \, \mathrm{d}Z_{\varepsilon}(\lambda_k).$$

The second moment of this random variable is

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(M_{k}^{(j)}(\varepsilon)\right)^{2}\right] = \frac{c_{k-2}^{2}}{(r_{\varepsilon}(0))^{k-2}} \frac{1}{k!} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{dk}} \left|K_{f}(\lambda_{1} + \lambda_{2} + \dots + \lambda_{k})\right|^{2}$$

$$\times \sum_{\Pi \in \Pi_{k}} \sum_{\Upsilon \in \Pi_{k}} \lambda_{\Pi(k-1)}^{(j)} \lambda_{\Pi(k)}^{(j)} \lambda_{\Upsilon(k-1)}^{(j)} \lambda_{\Upsilon(k)}^{(j)} s(\lambda_{1}) s(\lambda_{2}) \dots s(\lambda_{k})$$

$$\times \left|\widehat{\Psi}(\varepsilon\lambda_{1})\right|^{2} \left|\widehat{\Psi}(\varepsilon\lambda_{2})\right|^{2} \dots \left|\widehat{\Psi}(\varepsilon\lambda_{k})\right|^{2} d\lambda_{1} d\lambda_{2} \dots d\lambda_{k}.$$

At this stage of the proof, we must state a lemma whose proof is given just after the proof of the part 2 of the theorem.

**Lemma 4.6.32.** — Let  $(\mu_{\varepsilon})$  be a sequence of finite measures in  $(\mathbb{R}^d)^k$  such that their density  $H_{\varepsilon}^{(j)}$  with respect to the Lebesgue measure in  $(\mathbb{R}^d)^k$  can be written as

$$H_{\varepsilon}^{(j)}(\lambda_{1}, \lambda_{2}, \dots, \lambda_{k}) := |K_{f}(\lambda_{1} + \lambda_{2} + \dots + \lambda_{k})|^{2}$$

$$\times \sum_{\Pi \in \Pi_{k}} \sum_{\Upsilon \in \Pi_{k}} \lambda_{\Pi(k-1)}^{(j)} \lambda_{\Pi(k)}^{(j)} \lambda_{\Upsilon(k-1)}^{(j)} \lambda_{\Upsilon(k)}^{(j)} s(\lambda_{1}) s(\lambda_{2}) \dots s(\lambda_{k})$$

$$\times \left| \widehat{\Psi}(\varepsilon \lambda_{1}) \right|^{2} \left| \widehat{\Psi}(\varepsilon \lambda_{2}) \right|^{2} \dots \left| \widehat{\Psi}(\varepsilon \lambda_{k}) \right|^{2}.$$

Then  $\mu_{\varepsilon} \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{\text{weakly}} \mu$ , where  $\mu$  is a finite measure in  $(\mathbb{R}^d)^k$  with density  $H^{(j)}$  with respect to the Lebesgue measure in  $(\mathbb{R}^d)^k$  given by

$$H^{(j)}(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \dots, \lambda_k) := |K_f(\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 + \dots + \lambda_k)|^2$$
$$\sum_{\Pi \in \Pi_k} \sum_{\Upsilon \in \Pi_k} \lambda_{\Pi(k-1)}^{(j)} \lambda_{\Pi(k)}^{(j)} \lambda_{\Upsilon(k-1)}^{(j)} \lambda_{\Upsilon(k)}^{(j)} s(\lambda_1) s(\lambda_2) \dots s(\lambda_k).$$

It implies that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{(\mathbb{R}^d)^k} H_{\varepsilon}^{(j)}(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \dots, \lambda_k) \, d\lambda_1 \, d\lambda_2 \dots \, d\lambda_k$$

$$= \int_{(\mathbb{R}^d)^k} H^{(j)}(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \dots, \lambda_k) \, d\lambda_1 \, d\lambda_2 \dots \, d\lambda_k.$$

Suppose that this lemma is proved. Let us define

$$M_k^{(j)}(0) := -\frac{c_{k-2}}{\left(\sqrt{r(0)}\right)^{k-2}} \frac{1}{k!} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{dk}} K_f(\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 + \dots + \lambda_k)$$

$$\times \sum_{\Pi \in \Pi_k} \lambda_{\Pi(k-1)}^{(j)} \lambda_{\Pi(k)}^{(j)} \, \mathrm{d}Z_X(\lambda_1) \, \mathrm{d}Z_X(\lambda_2) \dots \, \mathrm{d}Z_X(\lambda_k).$$

This Itô-Wiener integral is well defined since by Lemma 4.6.32 we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(M_k^{(j)}(0)\right)^2\right] = \frac{c_{k-2}^2}{(r(0))^{k-2}} \frac{1}{k!} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{dk}} H^{(j)}(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \dots, \lambda_k) \, \mathrm{d}\lambda_1 \, \mathrm{d}\lambda_2 \dots \, \mathrm{d}\lambda_k < \infty.$$

Furthermore

(104) 
$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbb{E} \left[ \left( M_k^{(j)}(\varepsilon) \right)^2 \right] = \mathbb{E} \left[ \left( M_k^{(j)}(0) \right)^2 \right].$$

Consider now

$$D_{k}^{(j)}(\varepsilon,\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2},\ldots,\lambda_{k}) := -\frac{c_{k-2}}{(\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)})^{k-2}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{k!}} K_{f}(\lambda_{1} + \lambda_{2} + \cdots + \lambda_{k})$$

$$\times \sum_{\Pi \in \Pi_{k}} \lambda_{\Pi(k-1)}^{(j)} \lambda_{\Pi(k)}^{(j)} \sqrt{s(\lambda_{1})} \sqrt{s(\lambda_{2})} \ldots \sqrt{s(\lambda_{k})} \widehat{\Psi}(\varepsilon\lambda_{1}) \widehat{\Psi}(\varepsilon\lambda_{2}) \ldots \widehat{\Psi}(\varepsilon\lambda_{k}),$$

and

$$\begin{split} D_k^{(j)}(0,\lambda_1,\lambda_2,\dots,\lambda_k) := -\frac{c_{k-2}}{(\sqrt{r(0)})^{k-2}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{k!}} K_f(\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 + \dots + \lambda_k) \\ \times \sum_{\Pi \in \Pi_k} \lambda_{\Pi(k-1)}^{(j)} \lambda_{\Pi(k)}^{(j)} \sqrt{s(\lambda_1)} \sqrt{s(\lambda_2)} \dots \sqrt{s(\lambda_k)}. \end{split}$$

On the one hand the convergence appearing in (104) means that  $\left\|D_k^{(j)}(\varepsilon,\cdot)\right\|_2^2$  converges to  $\left\|D_k^{(j)}(0,\cdot)\right\|_2^2$  in  $L^2$  with respect to the Lebesgue measure in  $(\mathbb{R}^d)^k$ . On the other hand, the random variable  $D_k^{(j)}(\varepsilon,\cdot)$  converges pointwise to  $D_k^{(j)}(0,\cdot)$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . Lebesgue theorem implies that  $\left\|D_k^{(j)}(\varepsilon,\cdot) - D_k^{(j)}(0,\cdot)\right\|_2 \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{L^2}$  0 in the  $L^2$ -norm with respect to the Lebesgue measure in  $(\mathbb{R}^d)^k$ . That is

 $M_k^{(j)}(\varepsilon) \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{L^2(\Omega)} M_k^{(j)}(0)$  and finally as  $\varepsilon \to 0$  we proved that

(105) 
$$T_k^{(j)}(\varepsilon) \xrightarrow{\varepsilon \to 0} T_k^{(j)}(0),$$

where

$$T_k^{(j)}(0) := \frac{1}{C_L \chi_J^2(\alpha)} M_k^{(j)}(0).$$

We will now prove that

$$\widetilde{W}_{\varepsilon}^{(j)}(g) = \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} T_k^{(j)}(\varepsilon) \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{L^2(\Omega)} \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} T_k^{(j)}(0).$$

First,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\widetilde{W}_{\varepsilon}^{(j)}(g)\right)^{2}\right] \xrightarrow{\varepsilon \to \mathbf{0}} 2\left(\frac{1}{C_{L}\chi_{d}^{2}(\alpha)}\right)^{2} \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} \sum_{\ell=(k-4)\vee 0}^{k-2} (k-2)! c_{k-2}^{2}$$

$$\times \binom{k-2}{\ell} \binom{k-2-\ell}{2}$$

$$\times \int_{T\times T} f(t)f(s) \left(\frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)}\right)^{\ell} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{r(0)}} \frac{\partial r}{\partial t_{j}}(t-s)\right)^{2(k-2-\ell)} (-1)^{k-2-\ell}$$

$$\times \left(-\frac{\partial^{2} r}{\partial t_{j}^{2}}(t-s)\right)^{\ell-(k-4)} dt ds.$$

A similar argument gives the result when the sum begins with N+1. Using convergence given in (105) this implies that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbb{E} \left[ \left( \sum_{k=N+1}^{\infty} T_k^{(j)}(\varepsilon) \right)^2 \right] = \sum_{k=N+1}^{\infty} \mathbb{E} \left[ \left( T_k^{(j)}(0) \right)^2 \right].$$

And since  $\sum_{k=2}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}\left[\left(T_k^{(j)}(0)\right)^2\right] < \infty$ , then

(106) 
$$\overline{\lim}_{N \to \infty} \overline{\lim}_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbb{E} \left[ \left( \sum_{k=N+1}^{\infty} T_k^{(j)}(\varepsilon) \right)^2 \right] = 0.$$

On the one hand

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\sum_{k=2}^{\infty}\left(T_{k}^{(j)}(\varepsilon)-T_{k}^{(j)}(0)\right)\right)^{2}\right]$$

$$\begin{split} \leqslant C \left\{ \mathbb{E} \left[ \left( \sum_{k=N+1}^{\infty} T_k^{(j)}(\varepsilon) \right)^2 \right] + \mathbb{E} \left[ \left( \sum_{k=2}^{N} \left( T_k^{(j)}(\varepsilon) - T_k^{(j)}(0) \right) \right)^2 \right] \right. \\ \left. + \left. \mathbb{E} \left[ \left( \sum_{k=N+1}^{\infty} T_k^{(j)}(0) \right)^2 \right] \right\}, \end{split}$$

and using once again convergence given in (105) we obtain

$$\begin{split} & \overline{\lim}_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbb{E} \left[ \left( \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} \left( T_k^{(j)}(\varepsilon) - T_k^{(j)}(0) \right) \right)^2 \right] \\ & \leqslant C \left\{ \overline{\lim}_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbb{E} \left[ \left( \sum_{k=N+1}^{\infty} T_k^{(j)}(\varepsilon) \right)^2 \right] + \mathbb{E} \left[ \left( \sum_{k=N+1}^{\infty} T_k^{(j)}(0) \right)^2 \right] \right\}. \end{split}$$

On the other hand, since  $\sum_{k=2}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}\left[\left(T_k^{(j)}(0)\right)^2\right] < \infty$  and  $\mathbb{E}\left[T_{k_1}^{(j)}(0)T_{k_2}^{(j)}(0)\right] = 0$  for  $k_1 \neq k_2$ , we deduce that

(107) 
$$\overline{\lim}_{N \to \infty} \mathbb{E} \left[ \left( \sum_{k=N+1}^{\infty} T_k^{(j)}(0) \right)^2 \right] = 0.$$

Using the convergences given in (106) and (107) we finally obtain

$$\begin{split} & \overline{\lim}_{N \to \infty} \overline{\lim}_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbb{E} \left[ \left( \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} \left( T_k^{(j)}(\varepsilon) - T_k^{(j)}(0) \right) \right)^2 \right] \\ & \leqslant C \left\{ \overline{\lim}_{N \to \infty} \overline{\lim}_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbb{E} \left[ \left( \sum_{k=N+1}^{\infty} T_k^{(j)}(\varepsilon) \right)^2 \right] + \overline{\lim}_{N \to \infty} \mathbb{E} \left[ \left( \sum_{k=N+1}^{\infty} T_k^{(j)}(0) \right)^2 \right] \right\} = 0. \end{split}$$

We thus proved that  $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\sum_{k=2}^{\infty} \left(T_k^{(j)}(\varepsilon) - T_k^{(j)}(0)\right)\right)^2\right] = 0$ . Thus

$$\widetilde{W}_{\varepsilon}^{(j)}(g) \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{L^2(\Omega)} \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} T_k^{(j)}(0)$$

and

$$W_{\varepsilon}(g) = a(2, 0, \dots, 0) \sum_{j=1}^{d} \widetilde{W}_{\varepsilon}^{(j)}(g)$$

$$\xrightarrow{E^2(\Omega)} a(2,0,\ldots,0) \sum_{j=1}^d \sum_{k=2}^\infty T_k^{(j)}(0) = Y(f,g).$$

That yields item 2 of the theorem.

**Remark 4.6.33.** — It is obvious using Proposition 4.6.26-1 that  $T_1$  converges in  $L^2(\Omega)$  to Y(f,g) in the more general case where  $d+4\alpha-4>0$ . Thus, the last convergence prevails in the particular case where  $\alpha=1/2$  and d>2.

Proof of Lemma 4.6.32. Let  $\chi_{\varepsilon}(\gamma_1, \gamma_2, \dots, \gamma_k)$  be the Fourier transform of  $\mu_{\varepsilon}$  in  $(\mathbb{R}^d)^k$ . That is

$$\begin{split} \chi_{\varepsilon}(\gamma_{1},\gamma_{2},\ldots,\gamma_{k}) &:= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{dk}} e^{i\langle\lambda_{1},\gamma_{1}\rangle} e^{i\langle\lambda_{2},\gamma_{2}\rangle} \ldots e^{i\langle\lambda_{k},\gamma_{k}\rangle} \\ &\times |K_{f}(\lambda_{1}+\lambda_{2}+\ldots\lambda_{k})|^{2} \sum_{\Pi \in \Pi_{k}} \sum_{\Upsilon \in \Pi_{k}} \lambda_{\Pi(k-1)}^{(j)} \lambda_{\Pi(k)}^{(j)} \lambda_{\Upsilon(k-1)}^{(j)} \lambda_{\Upsilon(k)}^{(j)} \\ &\times s(\lambda_{1}) s(\lambda_{2}) \ldots s(\lambda_{k}) \left| \widehat{\Psi}(\varepsilon\lambda_{1}) \right|^{2} \left| \widehat{\Psi}(\varepsilon\lambda_{2}) \right|^{2} \ldots \left| \widehat{\Psi}(\varepsilon\lambda_{k}) \right|^{2} d\lambda_{1} d\lambda_{2} \ldots d\lambda_{k} \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{dk}} e^{i\langle\lambda_{1},\gamma_{1}\rangle} e^{i\langle\lambda_{2},\gamma_{2}\rangle} \ldots e^{i\langle\lambda_{k},\gamma_{k}\rangle} \int_{T \times T} f(t) f(s) e^{i\langle\lambda_{1}+\lambda_{2}+\cdots+\lambda_{k},t-s\rangle} dt ds \\ &\times \sum_{\Pi \in \Pi_{k}} \sum_{\Upsilon \in \Pi_{k}} \lambda_{\Pi(k-1)}^{(j)} \lambda_{\Pi(k)}^{(j)} \lambda_{\Upsilon(k-1)}^{(j)} \lambda_{\Upsilon(k)}^{(j)} s(\lambda_{1}) s(\lambda_{2}) \ldots s(\lambda_{k}) \\ &\times \left| \widehat{\Psi}(\varepsilon\lambda_{1}) \right|^{2} \left| \widehat{\Psi}(\varepsilon\lambda_{2}) \right|^{2} \ldots \left| \widehat{\Psi}(\varepsilon\lambda_{k}) \right|^{2} d\lambda_{1} d\lambda_{2} \ldots d\lambda_{k} \\ &= \int_{T \times T} f(t) f(s) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{dk}} e^{i\langle\lambda_{1},\gamma_{1}+t-s\rangle} e^{i\langle\lambda_{2},\gamma_{2}+t-s\rangle} \ldots e^{i\langle\lambda_{k},\gamma_{k}+t-s\rangle} \\ &\times \sum_{\Pi \in \Pi_{k}} \sum_{\Upsilon \in \Pi_{k}} \lambda_{\Pi(k-1)}^{(j)} \lambda_{\Pi(k)}^{(j)} \lambda_{\Upsilon(k-1)}^{(j)} \lambda_{\Upsilon(k)}^{(j)} s(\lambda_{1}) s(\lambda_{2}) \ldots s(\lambda_{k}) \\ &\times \left| \widehat{\Psi}(\varepsilon\lambda_{1}) \right|^{2} \left| \widehat{\Psi}(\varepsilon\lambda_{2}) \right|^{2} \ldots \left| \widehat{\Psi}(\varepsilon\lambda_{k}) \right|^{2} d\lambda_{1} d\lambda_{2} \ldots d\lambda_{k} dt ds. \end{split}$$

We have to consider three cases depending on the permutations that appear in the last expression.

Case 1 For two different integers, the permutations are the same. We can suppose, without loss of generality, that  $\Pi(k) = \Upsilon(k) = 1$  and  $\Pi(k-1) = \Upsilon(k-1) = 2$ . The integral is then

$$\int_{T \times T} f(t)f(s) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{dk}} e^{i\langle \lambda_1, \gamma_1 + t - s \rangle} e^{i\langle \lambda_2, \gamma_2 + t - s \rangle} \dots e^{i\langle \lambda_k, \gamma_k + t - s \rangle} \times \left(\lambda_1^{(j)}\right)^2 \left(\lambda_2^{(j)}\right)^2 s(\lambda_1) s(\lambda_2) \dots s(\lambda_k)$$

$$\times \left| \widehat{\Psi}(\varepsilon \lambda_1) \right|^2 \left| \widehat{\Psi}(\varepsilon \lambda_2) \right|^2 \dots \left| \widehat{\Psi}(\varepsilon \lambda_k) \right|^2 d\lambda_1 d\lambda_2 \dots d\lambda_k dt ds$$

$$= \int_{T \times T} f(t) f(s) \left( \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_j^2} (\gamma_1 + t - s) \right) \left( \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_j^2} (\gamma_2 + t - s) \right)$$

$$\times r_{\varepsilon} (\gamma_3 + t - s) \dots r_{\varepsilon} (\gamma_k + t - s) dt ds.$$

There are 2k!(k-2)! such cases.

Case 2 The permutations coincide for one index and differ for the other two indices. We may assume, again without loss of generality that,  $\Pi(k) = \Upsilon(k) = 1$ ,  $\Pi(k-1) = 2$  and  $\Upsilon(k-1) = 3$ . As before the integral is

$$\int_{T\times T} f(t)f(s) \left(\frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_j^2} (\gamma_1 + t - s)\right) \left(\frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_j} (\gamma_2 + t - s)\right) \times \left(\frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_j} (\gamma_3 + t - s)\right) r_{\varepsilon} (\gamma_4 + t - s) \dots r_{\varepsilon} (\gamma_k + t - s) dt ds.$$

There are 4k!(k-2)!(k-2) such cases.

Case 3 All indices are different. We can suppose that  $\Pi(k) = 1$ ,  $\Pi(k-1) = 2$ ,  $\Upsilon(k) = 3$  and  $\Upsilon(k-1) = 4$ . The integral is

$$\int_{T\times T} f(t)f(s) \left(\frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{j}}(\gamma_{1}+t-s)\right) \left(\frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{j}}(\gamma_{2}+t-s)\right) \left(\frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{j}}(\gamma_{3}+t-s)\right) \times \left(\frac{\partial r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{j}}(\gamma_{4}+t-s)\right) r_{\varepsilon}(\gamma_{5}+t-s) \dots r_{\varepsilon}(\gamma_{k}+t-s) dt ds.$$

There are k!(k-2)!(k-2)(k-3) possible cases.

We will consider in detail only one integral, that corresponding to the first case, that is

$$L_{\varepsilon}(\gamma_{1}, \gamma_{2}, \dots, \gamma_{k}) := \int_{T \times T} f(t) f(s) \left( \frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{j}^{2}} (\gamma_{1} + t - s) \right) \left( \frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{j}^{2}} (\gamma_{2} + t - s) \right) \times r_{\varepsilon}(\gamma_{3} + t - s) \dots r_{\varepsilon}(\gamma_{k} + t - s) dt ds.$$

We will prove that  $L_{\varepsilon}(\cdot)$  converges uniformly on  $\kappa$ , where  $\kappa$  is any compact set in  $(\mathbb{R}^d)^k$ , as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ , to  $L_0(\cdot)$  defined by

$$L_0(\gamma_1, \gamma_2, \dots, \gamma_k) := \int_{T \times T} f(t) f(s) \left( \frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_j^2} (\gamma_1 + t - s) \right) \left( \frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_j^2} (\gamma_2 + t - s) \right) \times r(\gamma_3 + t - s) \dots r(\gamma_k + t - s) \, dt \, ds.$$

Since f is bounded, we have

$$|L_{\varepsilon}(\gamma_{1}, \gamma_{2}, \dots, \gamma_{k}) - L_{0}(\gamma_{1}, \gamma_{2}, \dots, \gamma_{k})|$$

$$\leq C \left\{ \int_{T \times T} |r(0)|^{k-2} \left| \frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{j}^{2}} (\gamma_{1} + t - s) \frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{j}^{2}} (\gamma_{2} + t - s) - \frac{\partial^{2} r}{\partial t_{j}^{2}} (\gamma_{1} + t - s) \frac{\partial^{2} r}{\partial t_{j}^{2}} (\gamma_{2} + t - s) \right| dt ds$$

$$+ \int_{T \times T} \left| \frac{\partial^{2} r}{\partial t_{j}^{2}} (\gamma_{1} + t - s) \right| \left| \frac{\partial^{2} r}{\partial t_{j}^{2}} (\gamma_{2} + t - s) \right| |r_{\varepsilon}(\gamma_{3} + t - s) \dots r_{\varepsilon}(\gamma_{k} + t - s) - r(\gamma_{3} + t - s) \dots r_{\varepsilon}(\gamma_{k} + t - s) |dt ds \right\}$$

The first integral above is bounded by

$$\begin{split} C\left\{\int_{T\times T}\left|\frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_j^2}(\gamma_1+t-s)-\frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_j^2}(\gamma_1+t-s)\right|\left|\frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_j^2}(\gamma_2+t-s)\right|\,\mathrm{d}t\,\mathrm{d}s \right.\\ &+ \int_{T\times T}\left|\frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_j^2}(\gamma_1+t-s)\right|\left|\frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_j^2}(\gamma_2+t-s)-\frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_j^2}(\gamma_2+t-s)\right|\,\mathrm{d}t\,\mathrm{d}s \right\}\\ &\leqslant C\left\{\left(\left[\int_K\left(\frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial v_j^2}(v)\right)^2\,\mathrm{d}v\right]^{\frac{1}{2}}+\left[\int_K\left(\frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial v_j^2}(v)\right)^2\,\mathrm{d}v\right]^{\frac{1}{2}}\right)\right.\\ &\times\left[\int_K\left(\frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial v_j^2}(v)-\frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial v_j^2}(v)\right)^2\,\mathrm{d}v\right]^{\frac{1}{2}}\right\}, \end{split}$$

while the second integral is bounded by

$$C \times \sup_{\{v_3,\dots v_k \in K\}} |r_{\varepsilon}(v_3)\dots r_{\varepsilon}(v_k) - r(v_3)\dots r(v_k)| \times \left[ \int_K \left( \frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial v_j^2}(v) \right)^2 dv \right],$$

where K is a compact in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

We have seen in the proof of Proposition 4.6.26 (see (98)) that for  $v \neq 0$ ,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial v_j^2}(v) = \frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial v_j^2}(v).$$

Moreover, we have emphasized (see (94)) that for  $v \in K$  and for j = 1, ..., d,  $||v||_d > M\varepsilon$ ,

$$\left| \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial v_j^2}(v) \right| \leqslant C \|v\|_d^{2\alpha - 2}.$$

Moreover, a simple calculation shows that when  $||v||_d \leq M\varepsilon$ , we have

$$\left| \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial v_j^2}(v) \right| \leqslant C \varepsilon^{2\alpha - 2}.$$

Furthermore  $\frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial v_i^2}(v) = O(\|v\|_d^{2\alpha-2})$ , for any v in a compact set.

Now, recalling that  $\alpha > \frac{1}{2}$ , we have  $d + 4\alpha - 4 > 0$ .

These arguments justify the use of Lebesgue's theorem which implies that

$$\int_K \left( \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial v_j^2}(v) - \frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial v_j^2}(v) \right)^2 dv \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} 0.$$

Therefore, the two terms tend to zero as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . Thus  $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \chi_{\varepsilon}(\cdot)$  is continuous on  $(\mathbb{R}^d)^k$  and in particular at point  $\mathbf{0}$  of  $(\mathbb{R}^d)^k$ . Therefore, there exists a finite measure  $\mu$  such that  $\widehat{\mu}_{\varepsilon} \to \widehat{\mu}$  and, by Levy's theorem,  $\mu_{\varepsilon} \to \mu$  weakly.

This yields the lemma.

So to finish with the proof of the theorem, it remains to prove items 3 and 4.

Consider the proof of part 3 of the theorem. We suppose that  $\alpha = 1/2$  and d > 2.

Remember that we defined the random variable  $\xi_{\varepsilon}$  as follows: for  $t \in T$ ,  $\xi_{\varepsilon}(t) := [X_{\varepsilon}(t) - X(t)]/\varepsilon$ , T being an open rectangle.

Also remember that g'' belongs to  $L^4(\varphi(x) dx)$ .

Finally, to finish with some notation reminders, we defined the constant  $K_{1/2}$  by:

$$K_{1/2} = C_L \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Psi(w) \|w\|_d dw.$$

As already seen previously, we have split the random variable  $\Xi_{\varepsilon}(f,g)$  into two terms,

$$\Xi_{\varepsilon}(f,g) = T_1 + T_2,$$

where

$$T_1 = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_T f(t) g\left(X_{\varepsilon}(t) / \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\right) h(\nabla X_{\varepsilon}(t) / \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}) dt$$

and

$$T_2 = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_T f(t) \left\{ g\left(X_{\varepsilon}(t) / \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\right) - g\left(X(t) / \sqrt{r(0)}\right) \right\} dt.$$

We know using Remark 4.6.33 that  $T_1 \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{L^2(\Omega)} Y(f,g)$ .

Thus the random variable  $\Xi_{\varepsilon}(f,g)$  is equivalent in  $L^{2}(\Omega)$  to  $Y(f,g)+T_{2}$ , i.e.

$$\Xi_{\varepsilon}(f,g) \simeq Y(f,g) + T_2.$$

Let us look at the term  $T_2$ .

Since g is  $C^2(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{R})$ ,  $\forall t \in T$  we can write

$$g\left(X_{\varepsilon}(t)/\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\right) - g\left(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\right)$$

$$= \left(X_{\varepsilon}(t)/\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} - X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\right)g'\left(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\right)$$

$$+ \left(X_{\varepsilon}(t)/\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} - X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\right)^{2}$$

$$\times \int_{0}^{1} (1 - u)g''\left(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)} + u\left(X_{\varepsilon}(t)/\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} - X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\right)\right) du.$$

We split the random variable  $X_{\varepsilon}(t)/\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}-X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}$  into two terms as follows:

$$X_{\varepsilon}(t)/\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} - X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}} \left(1 - \sqrt{\frac{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}{r(0)}}\right) X(t) + \frac{\varepsilon}{\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}} \xi_{\varepsilon}(t).$$

With this decomposition, we then split  $T_2$  into three terms thus obtaining

$$T_{2} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}} \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left( 1 - \sqrt{\frac{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}{r(0)}} \right) \int_{T} f(t)X(t)g'\left(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\right) dt$$

$$+ \frac{1}{\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}} \int_{T} f(t)g'\left(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\right) \xi_{\varepsilon}(t) dt$$

$$+ \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{T} f(t) \left( \frac{1}{\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}} \left( 1 - \sqrt{\frac{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}{r(0)}} \right) X(t) + \frac{\varepsilon}{\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}} \xi_{\varepsilon}(t) \right)^{2}$$

$$\times \int_{0}^{1} (1 - u)g''\left(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)} + u\left(X_{\varepsilon}(t)/\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} - X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\right)\right) du dt.$$

Let us define the terms below:

$$n_{\varepsilon}^2 := \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\frac{X_{\varepsilon}(t) - X(t)}{\sqrt{\varepsilon}}\right)^2\right] \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} n_{1/2}^2 := 2r(0)\left(\frac{K_{1/2}}{r(0)} - \ell_{1/2}\right),$$

since  $K_{1/2}$  is

$$\mathbf{K}_{1/2} = \mathbf{C}_L \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Psi(w) \|w\|_d dw = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left( \frac{r(0) - r^{(\varepsilon)}(0)}{\varepsilon} \right).$$

With this notation, we introduce the random variables  $Z_{\varepsilon}$  and  $W_{\varepsilon}(t, u)$  setting for all  $t \in T$  and  $\forall u \in [0, 1]$ 

$$Z_{\varepsilon}(t) := \frac{X_{\varepsilon}(t) - X(t)}{n_{\varepsilon}\sqrt{\varepsilon}} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{N}(0; 1),$$

and

$$W_{\varepsilon}(t,u) := X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)} + u\left(X_{\varepsilon}(t)/\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} - X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\right) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{N}(0; v_{\varepsilon}^{2}(u)),$$

with  $v_{\varepsilon}^2(u) := 2u^2c_{\varepsilon} - 2uc_{\varepsilon} + 1$ , where

$$0 < c_{\varepsilon} := 1 - \frac{r^{(\varepsilon)}(0)}{\sqrt{r(0)}\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}} \xrightarrow{\varepsilon \to 0} 0.$$

We obtain

$$\begin{split} T_2 &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}} \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left( 1 - \sqrt{\frac{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}{r(0)}} \right) \int_T f(t) X(t) g' \left( X(t) / \sqrt{r(0)} \right) \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &+ \frac{1}{\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}} \int_T f(t) g' \left( X(t) / \sqrt{r(0)} \right) \xi_{\varepsilon}(t) \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &+ \frac{n_{\varepsilon}^2}{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \int_T f(t) \int_0^1 (1 - u) g''(W_{\varepsilon}(t, u)) \, \mathrm{d}u \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &+ \frac{n_{\varepsilon}^2}{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \int_T f(t) H_2(Z_{\varepsilon}(t)) \int_0^1 (1 - u) g''(W_{\varepsilon}(t, u)) \, \mathrm{d}u \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &+ \frac{1}{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left( 1 - \sqrt{\frac{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}{r(0)}} \right)^2 \int_T f(t) X^2(t) \int_0^1 (1 - u) g''(W_{\varepsilon}(t, u)) \, \mathrm{d}u \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &+ \frac{2}{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \left( 1 - \sqrt{\frac{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}{r(0)}} \right) \int_T f(t) X(t) \xi_{\varepsilon}(t) \int_0^1 (1 - u) g''(W_{\varepsilon}(t, u)) \, \mathrm{d}u \, \mathrm{d}t. \end{split}$$

Let us now show that the last three terms converge in probability to zero and that the third term tends in  $L^2(\Omega)$  to

$$\frac{n_{1/2}^2}{2r(0)} \int_T f(t)g'' \Big( X(t) / \sqrt{r(0)} \Big) dt.$$

Note that this last term is

$$\left(\frac{\mathbf{K}_{1/2}}{r(0)} - \ell_{1/2}\right) \int_T f(t) g'' \left(X(t) / \sqrt{r(0)}\right) dt.$$

Let us start with the last convergence proposition.

Since  $n_{\varepsilon}^2 \to n_{1/2}^2$ , we compute the second order moment of the following random variable minus its supposed limit, getting

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left\{\int_{T} f(t) \int_{0}^{1} (1-u)g''(W_{\varepsilon}(t,u)) \, \mathrm{d}u \, \mathrm{d}t - \frac{1}{2} \int_{T} f(t)g''\Big(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big) \, \mathrm{d}t\right\}^{2}\right]$$

$$= \int_{T \times T} f(t)f(s) \int_{[0,1]^{2}} (1-u)(1-v)$$

$$\times \mathbb{E}\left[\left(g''(W_{\varepsilon}(t,u)) - g''\Big(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)\right)\right]$$

$$\times \left(g''(W_{\varepsilon}(s,v)) - g''\Big(X(s)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)\right] \, \mathrm{d}u \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}s$$

$$\leqslant C\left(\int_{0}^{1} \left(\mathbb{E}\left[\left\{g''(W_{\varepsilon}(0,u)) - g''\Big(X(0)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)\right\}^{2}\right]\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \, \mathrm{d}u\right)^{2}$$

$$\leqslant C\int_{0}^{1} \mathbb{E}\left[\left\{g''(W_{\varepsilon}(0,u)) - g''\Big(X(0)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)\right\}^{2}\right] \, \mathrm{d}u.$$

Let us justify that Lebesgue's theorem can be applied. On the one hand, since g'' is  $L^2(\varphi(x) dx)$ , it trivially follows that  $\mathbb{E}\left[\left\{g''\Big(X(0)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)\right\}^2\right] \leqslant C$ .

On the other hand, using that  $\frac{1}{2} \leqslant 1 - \frac{1}{2}c_{\varepsilon} \leqslant v_{\varepsilon}^{2}(u) \leqslant 1$ ,  $\forall u \in [0, 1]$  and  $\varepsilon \leqslant \varepsilon_{0}$ , we obtain that

(108) 
$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left\{g''(W_{\varepsilon}(0,u))\right\}^{2}\right] \leqslant \mathbf{C}\mathbb{E}\left[\left\{g''(N_{1})\right\}^{2}\right] \leqslant \mathbf{C}.$$

So we can interchange the limit in  $\varepsilon$  and the integral. Therefore it only remains to show that  $\forall u \in [0, 1]$ , one has

(109) 
$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbb{E} \left[ \left\{ g''(W_{\varepsilon}(0, u)) - g''\left(X(0)/\sqrt{r(0)}\right) \right\}^{2} \right] = 0.$$

To do so, we will apply Scheffé's lemma. Let u fixed in [0, 1].

First, note that  $W_{\varepsilon}(0,u)$  almost surely converges to  $X(0)/\sqrt{r(0)}$  and since g is  $C^2(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{R})$ , we get that  $g''(W_{\varepsilon}(0,u))$  almost surely converges to  $g''(X(0)/\sqrt{r(0)})$ .

Using that  $\frac{1}{2} \leqslant v_{\varepsilon}^{2}(u) \leqslant 1$  and that  $v_{\varepsilon}^{2}(u) \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} 1$ , we have

$$\mathbb{E}\Big[\big\{g''(W_\varepsilon(0,u))\big\}^2\Big] \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} \mathbb{E}\Big[\Big\{g''\Big(X(0)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)\Big\}^2\Big] \;.$$

All the ingredients are gathered to apply the Scheffé's lemma. We conclude that  $g''(W_{\varepsilon}(0,u))$  tends in  $L^2(\Omega)$  to  $g''\Big(X(0)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)$  which is the required result.

Let us now show that the last three terms tend in probability towards zero. Consider  $A_{\varepsilon}$ , the first term of the sum.

$$A_{\varepsilon} := \frac{1}{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left( 1 - \sqrt{\frac{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}{r(0)}} \right)^2 \int_T f(t) X^2(t) \int_0^1 (1 - u) g''(W_{\varepsilon}(t, u)) \, \mathrm{d}u \, \mathrm{d}t.$$

Since  $\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left( 1 - \sqrt{\frac{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}{r(0)}} \right) \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} \ell_{1/2}$ , it is only necessary to prove that the random variable

$$\int_T f(t)X^2(t) \int_0^1 (1-u)g''(W_{\varepsilon}(t,u)) du dt$$

is bounded in  $L^1(\Omega)$ .

Therefore we are bounding the following expectation:

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left|\int_{T} f(t)X^{2}(t) \int_{0}^{1} (1-u)g''(W_{\varepsilon}(t,u)) \,\mathrm{d}u \,\mathrm{d}t\right|\right]$$

$$\leqslant C \int_{0}^{1} \mathbb{E}\left[\left|X^{2}(0)g''(W_{\varepsilon}(0,u))\right|\right] \,\mathrm{d}u$$

$$\leqslant C\left(\mathbb{E}\left[X^{4}(0)\right]\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \int_{0}^{1} \left(\mathbb{E}\left[\left\{g''(W_{\varepsilon}(0,u))\right\}^{2}\right]\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \,\mathrm{d}u$$

$$\leqslant C,$$

the last bound is follows from (108).

Consider  $B_{\varepsilon}$ , the second term of the sum.

$$B_{\varepsilon} := \frac{2}{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \left( 1 - \sqrt{\frac{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}{r(0)}} \right) \int_{T} f(t)X(t)\xi_{\varepsilon}(t) \int_{0}^{1} (1 - u)g''(W_{\varepsilon}(t, u)) du dt$$
$$= \frac{2n_{\varepsilon}}{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\varepsilon}} \left( 1 - \sqrt{\frac{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}{r(0)}} \right) \int_{T} f(t)X(t)Z_{\varepsilon}(t) \int_{0}^{1} (1 - u)g''(W_{\varepsilon}(t, u)) du dt.$$

Since

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{\varepsilon}} \left( 1 - \sqrt{\frac{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}{r(0)}} \right) \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} 0 \quad \text{and} \quad n_{\varepsilon} \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} n_{1/2}$$

it is sufficient, as for the previous term  $A_{\varepsilon}$ , to prove that the random variable

$$\int_T f(t)X(t)Z_{\varepsilon}(t)\int_0^1 (1-u)g''(W_{\varepsilon}(t,u))\,\mathrm{d}u\,\mathrm{d}t$$

is bounded in  $L^1(\Omega)$ . As before we bound the following expectation.

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left|\int_{T} f(t)X(t)Z_{\varepsilon}(t) \int_{0}^{1} (1-u)g''(W_{\varepsilon}(t,u)) \,\mathrm{d}u \,\mathrm{d}t\right|\right]$$

$$\leq C\left(\mathbb{E}[X^{4}(0)]\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(\mathbb{E}[Z_{\varepsilon}^{4}(0)]\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \int_{0}^{1} \left(\mathbb{E}\left[\left\{g''(W_{\varepsilon}(0,u))\right\}^{2}\right]\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \,\mathrm{d}u$$

$$\leq C.$$

Let us consider the last and more difficult term. Since  $n_{\varepsilon}^2 \to n_{1/2}^2$ , it suffices to prove the convergence to zero of the following term  $C_{\varepsilon}$ .

$$C_{\varepsilon} := \int_{T} f(t) H_{2}(Z_{\varepsilon}(t)) \int_{0}^{1} (1 - u) g''(W_{\varepsilon}(t, u)) du dt$$
$$= D_{\varepsilon} + F_{\varepsilon},$$

where

$$D_{\varepsilon} := \int_{T} f(t) H_{2}(Z_{\varepsilon}(t)) \int_{0}^{1} (1-u) \Big( g''(W_{\varepsilon}(t,u)) - g''\Big(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big) \Big) du dt,$$

and

$$F_{\varepsilon} := \frac{1}{2} \int_{T} f(t) H_2(Z_{\varepsilon}(t)) g'' \Big( X(t) / \sqrt{r(0)} \Big) \, \mathrm{d}u \, \mathrm{d}t.$$

Let us first consider the term  $D_{\varepsilon}$ .

$$\mathbb{E}[|D_{\varepsilon}|] \leqslant C \left( \mathbb{E}[H_2^2(Z_{\varepsilon}(0))] \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$\times \int_0^1 \left( \mathbb{E}\left[ \left\{ g''(W_{\varepsilon}(0,u)) - g''\left(X(0)/\sqrt{r(0)}\right) \right\}^2 \right] \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} du \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} 0.$$

The last convergence is a consequence of (108) and (109). Finally, it remains to consider the term  $F_{\varepsilon}$  for which we will prove that  $\mathbb{E}[F_{\varepsilon}^2]$  tends to zero with  $\varepsilon$ . So let us compute  $\mathbb{E}[F_{\varepsilon}^2]$ .

$$\mathbb{E}\left[F_{\varepsilon}^{2}\right] = \frac{1}{4} \int_{T \times T} f(t) f(s) \mathbb{E}\left[H_{2}(Z_{\varepsilon}(t)) g''\left(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\right) \times H_{2}(Z_{\varepsilon}(s)) g''\left(X(s)/\sqrt{r(0)}\right)\right] dt ds.$$

We divide the domain of integration  $T \times T$  into two parts, namely  $T_{\delta}^{(1)}$  and  $T_{\delta}^{(2)}$ :

$$T_{\delta}^{(1)} := \{ (s, t) \in T \times T : ||t - s||_d \leq \delta \}$$

and

$$T_{\delta}^{(2)} := \{ (s, t) \in T \times T : ||t - s||_d > \delta \}$$

where  $\delta > 0$  is chosen such that

$$\sup_{\left\{s,t\in T,\|t-s\|_{d}\geqslant\delta\right\}}\left\{|r(t-s)/r(0)|\right\}\leqslant\rho<1.$$

The corresponding integrals are denoted by  $f_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}$  and  $f_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}$ .

First, we bound the term  $f_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}$ .

Using the fact that g'' is  $L^4(\varphi(x) dx)$ , we easily obtain that for all  $s, t \in T$ ,

(110) 
$$\left| \mathbb{E} \left[ H_2(Z_{\varepsilon}(t)) g'' \left( X(t) / \sqrt{r(0)} \right) H_2(Z_{\varepsilon}(s)) g'' \left( X(s) / \sqrt{r(0)} \right) \right] \right|$$

$$\leq \left( \mathbb{E} \left[ H_2^4(Z_{\varepsilon}(0)) \right] \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left( \mathbb{E} \left[ \left\{ g'' \left( X(0) / \sqrt{r(0)} \right) \right\}^4 \right] \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \leq C.$$

In this way, we obtain the following bound

$$\left| f_{\varepsilon}^{(1)} \right| \leqslant C \sigma_{2d}(T_{\delta}^{(1)}) \leqslant C \delta^{d}.$$

We are now interested in the second term  $f_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}$ .

Using the bound given in (110), we can apply Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem and interchange the limit with the integral.

Let us therefore fix a point (s,t) in  $T_{\delta}^{(2)}$  and prove that,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbb{E} \Big[ H_2(Z_{\varepsilon}(t)) g'' \Big( X(t) / \sqrt{r(0)} \Big) H_2(Z_{\varepsilon}(s)) g'' \Big( X(s) / \sqrt{r(0)} \Big) \Big] = 0,$$

thus achieving our goal. We compute the last expectation:

$$\mathbb{E}\Big[H_2(Z_{\varepsilon}(t))g''\Big(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)H_2(Z_{\varepsilon}(s))g''\Big(X(s)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)\Big]$$

$$=\sum_{k=2}^{\infty}\sum_{\ell=2}^{\infty}c_kc_{\ell}k(k-1)\ell(\ell-1)$$

$$\times \mathbb{E}\Big[H_2(Z_{\varepsilon}(t))H_2(Z_{\varepsilon}(s))H_{k-2}\Big(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)H_{\ell-2}\Big(X(s)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)\Big].$$

By writing Mehler's formula [20] and using the bound

$$\left| \mathbb{E} \left[ X(t) / \sqrt{r(0)} \cdot X(s) / \sqrt{r(0)} \right] \right| \leqslant \rho < 1,$$

it is easy to obtain the following upper bound

$$\left| \mathbb{E} \left[ H_2(Z_{\varepsilon}(t)) \, H_2(Z_{\varepsilon}(s)) \, H_{k-2} \left( X(t) / \sqrt{r(0)} \right) H_{\ell-2} \left( X(s) / \sqrt{r(0)} \right) \right] \right| \\ \leqslant C \left\{ (k-2)(k-3)(k-2)! \rho^{k-4} \mathbb{1}_{\{k=\ell\}} + (k-2)! (k-4) \rho^{k-5} \mathbb{1}_{\{k-2=\ell\}} \right\} \right\}$$

$$+ \ (\ell-2)!(\ell-4)\rho^{\ell-5} \mathbb{1}_{\{\ell-2=k\}} \Big\} \, .$$

Thus, using Hölder's inequality we get

$$\begin{split} \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} \sum_{\ell=2}^{\infty} |c_k c_\ell k(k-1)\ell(\ell-1)| \\ & \left| \mathbb{E} \left[ H_2(Z_\varepsilon(t)) \, H_2(Z_\varepsilon(s)) \, H_{k-2} \Big( X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)} \Big) \, H_{\ell-2} \Big( X(s)/\sqrt{r(0)} \Big) \right] \right| \\ \leqslant C \left\{ \sum_{k=4}^{\infty} c_k^2 k! k(k-1)(k-2)(k-3)\rho^{k-4} \right. \\ & \left. + \left( \sum_{k=5}^{\infty} c_k^2 k! (k-2)(k-3)(k-4)\rho^{k-5} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right. \\ & \times \left( \sum_{k=5}^{\infty} c_{k-2}^2 k! (k-2)(k-3)(k-4)\rho^{k-5} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\} \\ \leqslant C \left\{ \sum_{k=4}^{\infty} c_k^2 k! k(k-1)(k-2)(k-3)\rho^{k-4} \right. \\ & \left. + \left( \sum_{k=5}^{\infty} c_k^2 k! (k-2)(k-3)(k-4)\rho^{k-5} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right. \\ & \times \left( \sum_{k=5}^{\infty} c_k^2 k! (k-2)(k-3)(k-4)\rho^{k-5} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\} \\ \leqslant C. \end{split}$$

The last bound comes from the following argument.

First,  $\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} c_k^2 k! < \infty$  (see (86)). Then for all  $0 \le \rho < 1$ ,  $\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} c_k^2 k! \rho^k < \infty$  and this series is indefinitely differentiable.

Furthermore, for all  $m \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , we have

$$\left(\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} c_k^2 k! \rho^k\right)^{(m)} = \sum_{k=m}^{\infty} c_k^2 k! \prod_{i=1}^{m} (k-i+1) \rho^{k-m} < \infty.$$

And in the same way

$$\sum_{k=3}^{\infty} c_k^2 k! \prod_{i=0}^{m+2} (k+i-2) \rho^{k-3} < \infty.$$

So we have proved that we can interchange the limit with the series. It remains to show that for fixed integers  $k, \ell \ge 2$ , we have

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbb{E} \Big[ H_2(Z_\varepsilon(t)) \, H_2(Z_\varepsilon(s)) \, H_{k-2} \Big( X(t) / \sqrt{r(0)} \Big) \, H_{\ell-2} \Big( X(s) / \sqrt{r(0)} \Big) \Big] = 0,$$

and our final goal will be achieved.

On the one hand the distribution of the Gaussian vector

$$\left(Z_{\varepsilon}(t), Z_{\varepsilon}(s), X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}, X(s)/\sqrt{r(0)}\right)$$

converges to that of the Gaussian vector

$$\left(Z(t),Z(s),X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)},X(s)/\sqrt{r(0)}\right)$$

with covariance matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & \frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)} \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)} & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

On the other hand, by Lemma 3.1 of [59]

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}\Big[H_2^2(Z_\varepsilon(t))\,H_2^2(Z_\varepsilon(s))\,H_{k-2}^2\Big(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)\,H_{\ell-2}^2\Big(X(s)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)\Big]\\ &\leqslant 4\cdot 7^{k+\ell}\cdot (k-2)!(\ell-2)!\leqslant \pmb{C}. \end{split}$$

These two facts imply that

$$\begin{split} &\mathbb{E}\Big[H_2(Z_\varepsilon(t))\,H_2(Z_\varepsilon(s))\,H_{k-2}\Big(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)\,H_{\ell-2}\Big(X(s)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)\Big]\\ &\xrightarrow{\varepsilon\to 0} \mathbb{E}\Big[H_2(Z(t))H_2(Z(s))H_{k-2}\Big(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)\,H_{\ell-2}\Big(X(s)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)\Big]\\ &=\mathbb{E}[H_2(Z(t))H_2(Z(s))]\,\mathbb{E}\Big[H_{k-2}\Big(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)\,H_{\ell-2}\Big(X(s)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)\Big]\\ &=\mathbb{E}[H_2(Z(t))]\,\mathbb{E}[H_2(Z(s))]\,\mathbb{E}\Big[H_{k-2}\Big(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)\,H_{\ell-2}\Big(X(s)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)\Big]\\ &=0. \end{split}$$

In short, we proved that  $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} f_{\varepsilon}^{(2)} = 0$ .

Therefore, we obtain the following bound. For any  $\delta > 0$ ,

$$\overline{\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0}} \mathbb{E}[F_{\varepsilon}^2] \leqslant \boldsymbol{C} \delta^d.$$

By taking limit when  $\delta \to 0$ , we obtain the required result, i.e.

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbb{E}[F_{\varepsilon}^2] = 0.$$

To summarize all of this and by using that

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}} \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left( 1 - \sqrt{\frac{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}{r(0)}} \right) \xrightarrow{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{\ell_{1/2}}{\sqrt{r(0)}},$$

we have shown that

$$\begin{split} \Xi_{\varepsilon}(f,g) &\simeq Y(f,g) + T_2 \simeq Y(f,g) + \frac{\ell_{1/2}}{\sqrt{r(0)}} \int_T f(t)X(t)g'\Big(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big) \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &+ \frac{1}{\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}} \int_T f(t)g'\Big(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big) \, \xi_{\varepsilon}(t) \, \mathrm{d}t \\ & \left(\frac{\mathbf{K}_{1/2}}{r(0)} - \ell_{1/2}\right) \int_T f(t)g''\Big(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big) \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &= Y(f,g) + \ell_{1/2} \int_T f(t)\Big(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}g'\Big(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big) \\ &- g''\Big(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)\Big) \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &+ \frac{1}{\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}} \int_T f(t)g'\Big(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big) \, \xi_{\varepsilon}(t) \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &+ \frac{\mathbf{K}_{1/2}}{r(0)} \int_T f(t)g''\Big(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big) \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &= X(f,g) + Y(f,g) + \frac{\mathbf{K}_{1/2}}{r(0)} \int_T f(t)g''\Big(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big) \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &+ \frac{1}{\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}} \int_T f(t)g'\Big(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big) \, \mathrm{d}t \end{split}$$

From now on, the reader is referred to Appendix 5. In the remaining part of this section, we use the same notations and choose  $\mathcal{H} := L^2(T)$  i.e. the set of continuous square-integrable functions on T.

To finish with the proof of the theorem, it remains to show that the random variable

$$Z_{\varepsilon}(f) := \int_{T} f(t)g'(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}) \, \xi_{\varepsilon}(t) \, \mathrm{d}t$$

stably and vaguely converges to

$$Z(f) := \int_T f(t)g'\Big(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)\,\xi(t)\,\mathrm{d}t.$$

Indeed, the stably and vaguely convergence of the random variable  $\Xi_{\varepsilon}(f,g)$  will be ensured by the application of Theorem 1 of [4] (see also the Appendix 5.2 of Appendix 5).

The random vector  $\xi_{\varepsilon}:\Omega\to\mathcal{H}$  is a centered Gaussian vector, since for

all  $\phi \in \mathcal{H}$ , the real random variable  $\langle \phi, \xi_{\varepsilon} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}$  has a Gaussian distribution,  $\mathcal{N}(0; \langle \mathcal{K}_{\xi_{\varepsilon}} \phi, \phi \rangle_{\mathcal{H}})$ , where the linear operator  $\mathcal{K}_{\xi_{\varepsilon}}$  is

$$\mathcal{K}_{\xi_{\varepsilon}}(\phi)(t) := \int_{T} \frac{r_{\varepsilon}(t-s) - 2r^{(\varepsilon)}(t-s) + r(t-s)}{\varepsilon^{2}} \phi(s) \, \mathrm{d}s.$$

Moreover, for any  $\phi \in \mathcal{H}$ , by applying Lemma 4.6.23 we can see

$$\langle \mathcal{K}_{\xi_{\varepsilon}} \phi, \phi \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} \langle \mathcal{K}_{\xi} \phi, \phi \rangle_{\mathcal{H}},$$

where

$$\mathcal{K}_{\xi}(\phi)(t) := \int_{T} \mathbf{C}_{\Psi} \sum_{i=1}^{d} \frac{\partial^{2} r}{\partial t_{i}^{2}} (t - s) \phi(s) \, \mathrm{d}s.$$

We deduce by using Section 5.1 of Appendix 5 that

$$\xi_{\varepsilon} \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{\mathrm{v}} \xi.$$

Returning to our objective, we discretize the random variable  $Z_{\varepsilon}(f)$  in the following way.

The idea is to consider  $\overline{T} = \bigcup_{i \in I_m} \overline{T}_{i,m}$  with  $T_{i,m} \cap T_{j,m} = \phi$ , and  $\operatorname{card}(I_m) = i_m$ . Each  $T_{i,m}$  is an open rectangle such that  $\sigma_d(T_{i,m}) \xrightarrow[m \to \infty]{} 0$ . Let denote  $t_{i,m}$  the center of  $T_{i,m}$  in this manner we can approximated  $Z_{\varepsilon}(f)$  by  $Z_{\varepsilon,m}(f)$  defined as follows

$$Z_{\varepsilon,m}(f) := \sum_{j \in I_m} f(t_{j,m}) g' \Big( X(t_{j,m}) / \sqrt{r(0)} \Big) \int_{T_{j,m}} \xi_{\varepsilon}(t) dt$$

$$= \sum_{j \in I_m} f(t_{j,m}) g' \Big( X(t_{j,m}) / \sqrt{r(0)} \Big) \left\langle \mathbb{1}_{T_{j,m}}, \xi_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}}$$

$$= \left\langle \sum_{j \in I_m} f(t_{j,m}) g' \Big( X(t_{j,m}) / \sqrt{r(0)} \Big) \mathbb{1}_{T_{j,m}}, \xi_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}}$$

$$:= \left\langle F_m(X), \xi_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}}.$$

As a first step let us show that,  $Z_{\varepsilon,m}(f) \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{S_v} Z_m(f) := \langle F_m(X), \xi \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}$ . We will see the convergence of the following characteristic function

$$\mathbb{E}\left[e^{is\langle F_m(X), \xi_{\varepsilon}\rangle_{\mathcal{H}}}\right]$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{i_m}} \mathbb{E}\left[\exp\left(is\langle F_m(X), \xi_{\varepsilon}\rangle_{\mathcal{H}}\right) \mid \cap_{j \in I_m} \{X(t_{j,m}) = x_{j,m}\}\right]$$

$$d\mathbb{P}_{\left(X(t_{j,m}), j \in I_m\right)}(x_{j,m}, j \in I_m)$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{i_m}} \mathbb{E}\left[\exp\left(is\sum_{j\in I_m} f(t_{j,m})g'(x_{j,m}\sqrt{r(0)})\int_{T_{j,m}} \xi_{\varepsilon}(t) dt\right)\right]$$
$$\left|\cap_{j\in I_m} \{X(t_{j,m}) = x_{j,m}\}\right]$$
$$d\mathbb{P}_{(X(t_{j,m}),j\in I_m)}(x_{j,m},j\in I_m).$$

The random variable  $W_{\varepsilon,m}:=\sum_{j\in I_m}f(t_{j,m})g'\Big(x_{j,m}/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)\int_{T_{j,m}}\xi_\varepsilon(t)\,\mathrm{d}t$  has a Gaussian distribution so that

$$\mathcal{L}(W_{\varepsilon,m} \mid \cap_{j \in I_m} \{X(t_{j,m}) = x_{j,m}\})$$

$$= \mathcal{N}((x_{j,m}, j \in I_m) \times V_{22}^{-1} \times V_{21;\varepsilon;m}; V_{11;\varepsilon;m} - V_{21;\varepsilon;m}^T \times V_{22}^{-1} \times V_{21;\varepsilon;m}),$$

where by applying Lemma 4.6.23

$$V_{11;\varepsilon;m} := \sum_{i,j \in I_m} f(t_{i,m}) f(t_{j,m}) g'\Big(x_{i,m}/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big) g'\Big(x_{j,m}/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)$$

$$\times \int_{T_{i,m} \times T_{j,m}} \frac{r_{\varepsilon}(t-s) - 2r^{(\varepsilon)}(t-s) + r(t-s)}{\varepsilon^2} dt ds$$

$$\xrightarrow{\varepsilon \to 0} V_{11;m} := \sum_{i,j \in I_m} f(t_{i,m}) f(t_{j,m}) g'\Big(x_{i,m}/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big) g'\Big(x_{j,m}/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)$$

$$\times \int_{T_{i,m} \times T_{j,m}} C_{\Psi} \sum_{k=1}^{d} \frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_k^2} (t-s) dt ds,$$

and

$$V_{21;\varepsilon;m}^{T} := \sum_{i \in I_m} f(t_{i,m}) g' \left( x_{i,m} / \sqrt{r(0)} \right)$$

$$\times \left( \int_{T_{i,m}} \frac{r^{(\varepsilon)} (t - t_{j,m}) - r(t - t_{j,m})}{\varepsilon} \, \mathrm{d}t \right)_{j \in I_m}$$

$$\xrightarrow{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbf{0}_{\mathbb{R}^{i_m}},$$

and  $V_{22}$  is the variance matrix of  $(X(t_{i,m}), i \in I_m) \in \mathbb{R}^{i_m}$ .

From now on we note  $\mathcal{L}_X$  the distribution of the random variable  $(X(t))_{t \in T}$ . We have therefore shown that

$$\mathbb{E}\Big[e^{is\langle F_m(X),\xi_{\varepsilon}\rangle_{\mathcal{H}}}\Big] \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{i_m}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}s^2V_{11;m}} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbb{P}_{(X(t_{i,m}),i \in I_m)}(x_{i,m},i \in I_m)$$

$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}s^{2}\sum_{i,j\in I_{m}}f(t_{i,m})f(t_{j,m})g'\left(X_{t_{i,m}}/\sqrt{r(0)}\right)g'\left(X_{t_{j,m}}/\sqrt{r(0)}\right)\right.\\ \left.\times\int_{T_{i,m}\times T_{j,m}}C_{\Psi}\sum_{k=1}^{d}\frac{\partial^{2}r}{\partial t_{k}^{2}}(t-s)\,\mathrm{d}t\,\mathrm{d}s\right)\right]\\ = \mathbb{E}\left[e^{-\frac{1}{2}s^{2}\left\langle\mathcal{K}_{\xi}F_{m}(X),F_{m}(X)\right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}}}\right]\\ = \int_{\mathcal{H}}\mathbb{E}\left[e^{-\frac{1}{2}s^{2}\left\langle\mathcal{K}_{\xi}F_{m}(X),F_{m}(X)\right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}}}\left|X=x\right|\,\mathrm{d}\mathcal{L}_{X}(x)\right.\\ = \mathbb{E}\left[e^{is\left\langle F_{m}(X),\xi\right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}}}\right].$$

To summarize, we have shown that  $Z_{\varepsilon,m}(f) \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{S_v} Z_m(f) = \langle F_m(X), \xi \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}$ , such that if  $x \in \mathbb{L}^2(T)$ 

$$\mathcal{L}(Z_m(f) | X = x) = \mathcal{N}(0; \langle \mathcal{K}_{\xi} F_m(X), F_m(X) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}).$$

In a second step, we show that

$$Z_m(f) \xrightarrow[m \to \infty]{\mathcal{S}_v} Z(f) = \left\langle f(\cdot)g'\left(X(\cdot)/\sqrt{r(0)}\right), \xi \right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}}.$$

Since X has continuous trajectories, our study can be restricted to such a type of trajectories. We know that

$$F_m(x) \xrightarrow[m \to \infty]{L^2(T)} F(x) := f(\cdot)g'(x/\sqrt{r(0)})$$

and since  $K_{\xi}$  is a continuous operator, we obtain

$$\langle \mathcal{K}_{\xi} F_m(X), F_m(X) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \to \langle \mathcal{K}_{\xi} F(x), F(x) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}.$$

Then

$$\mathbb{E}\left[e^{isZ_{m}(f)}\right] = \int_{\mathcal{H}} \mathbb{E}\left[e^{isZ_{m}(f)} \mid X = x\right] d\mathcal{L}_{X}(x)$$

$$= \int_{\mathcal{H}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}s^{2}\left\langle \mathcal{K}_{\xi}F_{m}(X), F_{m}(X)\right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}}} d\mathcal{L}_{X}(x)$$

$$\xrightarrow{m \to \infty} \int_{\mathcal{H}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}s^{2}\left\langle \mathcal{K}_{\xi}F(x), F(x)\right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}}} d\mathcal{L}_{X}(x)$$

$$:= \mathbb{E}[e^{isZ(f)}].$$

In conclusion we have shown,

$$Z_m(f) \xrightarrow[m \to \infty]{\mathcal{S}_v} Z(f) = \left\langle f(\cdot)g'\left(X(\cdot)/\sqrt{r(0)}\right), \xi \right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}}$$

such that if  $x \in \mathbb{L}^2(T)$ 

$$\mathcal{L}(Z(f) \mid X = x) = \mathcal{N}\left(0; \left\langle \mathcal{K}_{\xi} f(\cdot) g'\left(x/\sqrt{r(0)}\right), f(\cdot) g'\left(x/\sqrt{r(0)}\right) \right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}}\right).$$

To complete the proof, we apply Lemma 1.1 of [25]. It is then sufficient to prove that

$$\lim_{m \to +\infty} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbb{E} \Big[ \{ Z_{\varepsilon,m}(f) - Z_{\varepsilon}(f) \}^2 \Big] = 0.$$

We compute  $\mathbb{E}\Big[\{Z_{\varepsilon,m}(f)-Z_{\varepsilon}(f)\}^2\Big]$ . Applying the Mehler's formula ([20]), the fact that  $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}n^2n!c_n^2<\infty$  and Lemma 4.6.23, we easily get

$$\begin{split} &\mathbb{E}\Big[\big\{Z_{\varepsilon,m}(f) - Z_{\varepsilon}(f)\big\}^2\Big] \\ &= \sum_{i,j \in I_m} \int_{T_{i,m} \times T_{j,m}} \mathbb{E}\Big[\Big(f(t_{i,m})g'\Big(X(t_{i,m})/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big) - f(t)g'\Big(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)\Big) \\ &\quad \times \Big(f(t_{j,m})g'\Big(X(t_{j,m})/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big) - f(s)g'\Big(X(s)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)\Big) \, \xi_{\varepsilon}(t)\xi_{\varepsilon}(s)\Big] \; \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \sum_{i,j \in I_m} \int_{T_{i,m} \times T_{j,m}} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} c_n c_k nk \\ &\quad \times \mathbb{E}\Big[\Big(f(t_{i,m})H_{n-1}\Big(X(t_{i,m})/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big) - f(t)H_{n-1}\Big(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)\Big) \\ &\quad \times \Big(f(t_{j,m})H_{k-1}\Big(X(t_{j,m})/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big) - f(s)H_{k-1}\Big(X(s)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big)\Big) \, \xi_{\varepsilon}(t)\xi_{\varepsilon}(s)\Big] \; \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &\stackrel{\longrightarrow}{\longrightarrow} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_n^2 nn! \sum_{i,j \in I_m} \int_{T_{i,m} \times T_{j,m}} \left(C_{\Psi} \sum_{k=1}^d \frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_k^2}(t-s)\right) \\ &\quad \times \left[f(t_{i,m})f(t_{j,m})\Big(\frac{r(t_{i,m}-t_{j,m})}{r(0)}\Big)^{n-1} - f(t)f(t_{j,m})\Big(\frac{r(t-t_{j,m})}{r(0)}\Big)^{n-1} \right] \; \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &\stackrel{\longrightarrow}{\longrightarrow} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_n^2 nn! \int_{T \times T} \left(C_{\Psi} \sum_{k=1}^d \frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial t_k^2}(t-s)\right) f(t)f(s) \\ &\quad \times \left[\Big(\frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)}\Big)^{n-1} - \Big(\frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)}\Big)^{n-1} - \Big(\frac{r(s-t)}{r(0)}\Big)^{n-1} + \Big(\frac{r(t-s)}{r(0)}\Big)^{n-1}\Big] \; \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= 0. \end{split}$$

This completes the proof of Theorem 4.6.20–3. Let us tackle the proof of the last part of that theorem.

We suppose that  $\alpha = 1/2$  and d = 2.

By Remark 4.6.27, we already know that the term  $S_1$  will prevail when  $\alpha = 1/2$  and d = 2.

Moreover, Remark 4.6.31 has emphasized the fact that

$$T_{1} = \varepsilon^{-1} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1/2} S_{1}$$

$$\simeq T_{\varepsilon} := \varepsilon^{-1} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1/2} a(2,0) \int_{T} f(t) g\left(X_{\varepsilon}(t) / \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\right)$$

$$\times \left[ H_{2}\left(\frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{1}}(t) / \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\right) + H_{2}\left(\frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{2}}(t) / \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\right) \right] dt.$$

As in [17], the proof will proceed in several steps. Remember that T is an open rectangle. If T has the following form,  $T = ]a, b[\times]c, d[$ , let us define for  $t := (t_1, t_2) \in T$ ,

$$S_{\varepsilon}(t) := \varepsilon^{-1} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1/2} \times \int_{a}^{t_{1}} \int_{c}^{t_{2}} \left[ H_{2} \left( \frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial u_{1}}(u) / \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \right) + H_{2} \left( \frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial u_{2}}(u) / \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \right) \right] du.$$

On the one hand, we prove in forthcoming Proposition 4.6.35 that  $(X_{\varepsilon}, S_{\varepsilon})$  stably converges to  $(X, \widehat{\sigma W})$ .

On the other hand we will consider a discrete version of  $T_{\varepsilon}$ , defining for  $m \in \mathbb{N}^{\star}$ 

$$T_{\varepsilon}^{(m)} := a(2,0) \sum_{i=0}^{m-1} \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} f(a_i^{(m)}, c_j^{(m)}) g\left(X_{\varepsilon}(a_i^{(m)}, c_j^{(m)}) / \sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\right)$$

$$\times \varepsilon^{-1} \left[\ln(1/\varepsilon)\right]^{-1/2} \int_{a_i^{(m)}}^{a_{i+1}^{(m)}} \int_{c_j^{(m)}}^{c_{j+1}^{(m)}} \left[H_2\left(\frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_1}(t) / \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\right) + H_2\left(\frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_2}(t) / \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\right)\right] dt,$$

where for  $i = 0, \ldots, m, a_i^{(m)} := a + ih_m, c_i^{(m)} := c + ih'_m$ , with  $h_m := \frac{b-a}{m}$  and  $h'_m := \frac{d-c}{m}$ .

The stable convergence of  $(X_{\varepsilon}, S_{\varepsilon})$  implies that

$$T_{\varepsilon}^{(m)} \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} T^{(m)} := a(2,0)\sigma \sum_{i=0}^{m-1} \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} f\left(a_i^{(m)}, c_j^{(m)}\right) g\left(X(a_i^{(m)}, c_j^{(m)}) / \sqrt{r(0)}\right) \\ \times \left[\widehat{W}(a_{i+1}^{(m)}, c_{j+1}^{(m)}) - \widehat{W}(a_{i+1}^{(m)}, c_j^{(m)}) - \widehat{W}(a_i^{(m)}, c_{j+1}^{(m)}) + \widehat{W}(a_i^{(m)}, c_j^{(m)})\right].$$

Furthermore, it is easy to show that  $T^{(m)}$  is a Cauchy sequence in  $L^2(\Omega)$ . It follows, using the asymptotic independence between X and  $\widehat{W}$ , that

$$T^{(m)} \xrightarrow[m \to \infty]{L^2(\Omega)} a(2,0)\sigma \int_T f(t)g\Big(X(t)/\sqrt{r(0)}\Big) \ \mathrm{d}\widehat{W}(t).$$

To conclude, i.e. to prove the convergence of  $T_{\varepsilon}$ , it suffices to prove Lemma 4.6.34 for which a proof is given after that of Proposition 5.2.

Lemma 4.6.34. —

$$\lim_{m \to +\infty} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbb{E}[(T_{\varepsilon} - T_{\varepsilon}^{(m)})^{2}] = 0.$$

**Proposition 4.6.35.** — 1.  $S_{\varepsilon} \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{\text{Stable}} \sigma \widehat{W}$ .

2. Furthermore, $(X_{\varepsilon}, S_{\varepsilon}) \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{\text{Stable}} (X, \widehat{W})$ ,

where  $\widehat{W}$  is a standard Brownian sheet in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  independent of X.

Proof of proposition 4.6.35.

1. For  $m \in \mathbb{N}^*$ ,  $a = t_0 < t_1 < \dots < t_m = b$  and  $c = s_0 < s_1 < \dots < s_m = d$ , let

$$S_{\varepsilon}^{(m)}(\boldsymbol{t},\boldsymbol{s}) := \sum_{i=0}^{m-1} \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \alpha_{i,j} \left[ S_{\varepsilon}(t_{i+1},s_{j+1}) - S_{\varepsilon}(t_{i+1},s_{j}) - S_{\varepsilon}(t_{i},s_{j+1}) + S_{\varepsilon}(t_{i},s_{j}) \right]$$

$$= \sum_{i=0}^{m-1} \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \alpha_{i,j} \varepsilon^{-1} \left[ \ln(1/\varepsilon) \right]^{-1/2}$$

$$\times \int_{t_{i}}^{t_{i+1}} \int_{s_{j}}^{s_{j+1}} \left[ H_{2} \left( \frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial u_{1}}(u) / \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \right) + H_{2} \left( \frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial u_{2}}(u) / \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \right) \right] du,$$

where

$$\alpha_{i,j} := d_{i,j} / \sqrt{\sum_{i=0}^{m-1} \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} d_{i,j}^2(t_{i+1} - t_i)(s_{j+1} - s_j)},$$

while  $d_{i,j} \in \mathbb{R}$ , for  $i, j = 0, \ldots, m-1$ .

We want to prove that  $S_{\varepsilon}^{(m)}(t,s)$  converges in law to  $\mathcal{N}(0;\sigma^2)$ .

For this purpose and as in the proof of Theorem 4.6.20–2, we have the following representation for  $S_{\varepsilon}^{(m)}(t, s)$ ,

$$\begin{split} S_{\varepsilon}^{(m)}(\boldsymbol{t},\boldsymbol{s}) &:= \sum_{i=0}^{m-1} \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \alpha_{i,j} \varepsilon^{-1} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1/2} \\ &\times \int_{t_i}^{t_{i+1}} \int_{s_j}^{s_{j+1}} \left[ H_2 \bigg( \frac{1}{\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} i \lambda^{(1)} e^{i\langle \lambda, u \rangle} \, \mathrm{d} Z_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) \bigg) \right] \, \mathrm{d} u, \end{split}$$

where we noted  $\lambda := (\lambda^{(1)}, \lambda^{(2)})$  and  $dZ_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) = \widehat{\Psi}(\varepsilon\lambda)\sqrt{s(\lambda)} dW(\lambda)$ , while W is a Brownian sheet in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . Recall that s is the spectral density of process X. We use notations introduced in Slud [58].

For  $h \in L^2_{\text{sym}}((\mathbb{R}^2)^2)$ , we define

$$I_2(h) := \frac{1}{2!} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f(\lambda) f(\mu) \, dW(\lambda) \, dW(\mu).$$

By using the Itô's formula for the Wiener-Itô integral (see [45, Theorem 4.3 p. 37]), we obtain

$$S_{\varepsilon}^{(m)}(\boldsymbol{t},\boldsymbol{s}) = I_2(h_{\varepsilon}^{(m)}),$$

where  $h_{\varepsilon}^{(m)}$  is

$$\begin{split} h_{\varepsilon}^{(m)}(\lambda,\mu) &:= -2! \sum_{i=0}^{m-1} \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \alpha_{i,j} \varepsilon^{-1} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1/2} \\ &\times \int_{t_i}^{t_{i+1}} \int_{s_i}^{s_{j+1}} \left[ \lambda^{(1)} \mu^{(1)} + \lambda^{(2)} \mu^{(2)} \right] \widehat{\Psi}(\varepsilon \lambda) \widehat{\Psi}(\varepsilon \mu) \sqrt{s(\lambda)} \sqrt{s(\mu)} e^{i\langle \lambda + \mu, u \rangle} \, \mathrm{d}u. \end{split}$$

To obtain convergence of  $S_{\varepsilon}^{(m)}(t,s)$ , we use [47, Theorem 1]. Convergences given in (111) and in (112) in the proof of the forthcoming lemma give the required convergence appearing in part 1 of the later Theorem 1. So we just verify condition (i) in proving the following lemma.

Lemma 4.6.36. —

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbb{E}\left[\left\{S_{\varepsilon}^{(m)}(\boldsymbol{t},\boldsymbol{s})\right\}^{4}\right] = 3\sigma^{4}.$$

*Proof of Lemma 4.6.36.* Let us give some convergence results that will help us to show the lemma.

For all i = 0, ..., m - 1 and j = 0, ..., m - 1,

$$2\varepsilon^{-2}[\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1}\int_{t_i}^{t_{i+1}}\int_{s_j}^{s_{j+1}}\int_{t_i}^{t_{i+1}}\int_{s_j}^{s_{j+1}}\left[\left(\frac{\partial^2 r_\varepsilon}{\partial t_1^2}(u-v)/\mu_\varepsilon\right)^2\right]^{-1}dt$$

$$+2\left(\frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{1} \partial t_{2}} (u-v)/\mu_{\varepsilon}\right)^{2} + \left(\frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{2}^{2}} (u-v)/\mu_{\varepsilon}\right)^{2} du dv$$

$$\xrightarrow{\varepsilon \to 0} \sigma^{2} (t_{i+1} - t_{i})(s_{j+1} - s_{j}).$$

This is an immediate application of Theorem 4.6.19–4, when considering functions f and g identically equal to one.

We also use the following convergence result.

For all indices,  $i_1, i_2, j_1, j_2 = 0, \ldots, m-1$  such that  $(i_1 \neq i_2 \text{ and } i_1 + 1 \neq i_2 \text{ and } i_2 + 1 \neq i_1)$  or such that  $(j_1 \neq j_2 \text{ and } j_1 + 1 \neq j_2 \text{ and } j_2 + 1 \neq j_1)$  or such that  $((i_2 = i_1 + 1 \text{ or } i_2 + 1 = i_1) \text{ and } (j_2 = j_1 + 1 \text{ or } j_2 + 1 = j_1))$  or such that  $(i_1 = i_2 \text{ and } (j_1 + 1 = j_2 \text{ or } j_2 + 1 = j_1))$ , or such that  $((i_1 + 1 = i_2 \text{ or } i_2 + 1 = i_1) \text{ and } j_1 = j_2)$ , we have

$$(112) \quad \varepsilon^{-2} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1} \int_{t_{i_{1}}}^{t_{i_{1}+1}} \int_{s_{j_{1}}}^{s_{j_{1}+1}} \int_{t_{i_{2}}}^{t_{i_{2}+1}} \int_{s_{j_{2}}}^{s_{j_{2}+1}} \left[ \left( \frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{1}^{2}} (u-v)/\mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^{2} + \left( \frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{1} \partial t_{2}} (u-v)/\mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^{2} + \left( \frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{2}^{2}} (u-v)/\mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^{2} \right] du dv \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} 0.$$

Let us give a sketch of the proof of convergence given in (112).

The convergence to zero of the above integral is straightforward in case where  $(i_1 \neq i_2 \text{ and } i_1 + 1 \neq i_2 \text{ and } i_2 + 1 \neq i_1)$  or such that  $(j_1 \neq j_2 \text{ and } j_1 + 1 \neq j_2 \text{ and } j_2 + 1 \neq j_1)$ . Indeed, in such a case, the integration variables u and v appearing in the integral are such that  $||u - v||_2 \geq \delta$  and as indicated in the proof of Theorem 4.6.19–4, the integral converges to zero. Thus let us focus on the indices such that  $((i_2 = i_1 + 1 \text{ or } i_2 + 1 = i_1))$  and  $(j_2 = j_1 + 1 \text{ or } j_2 + 1 = j_1)$ .

To this purpose, let us fix  $t_1 < t_2 < t_3$  and  $s_1 < s_2 < s_3$  and consider

$$\begin{split} A_{\varepsilon} := \varepsilon^{-2} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1} \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \int_{s_1}^{s_2} \int_{t_2}^{t_3} \int_{s_2}^{s_3} \left[ \left( \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_1^2} (u - v) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^2 + \right. \\ \left. 2 \left( \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_1 \partial t_2} (u - v) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^2 + \left( \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_2^2} (u - v) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^2 \right] \, \mathrm{d}u \, \mathrm{d}v. \end{split}$$

For the previous result obtained in Theorem 4.6.19-4, we know that

$$A_{\varepsilon} \equiv [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1} \int_{t_2-\delta}^{t_2} \int_{s_2-\delta}^{s_2} \int_{t_2}^{t_2+\delta} \int_{s_2}^{s_2+\delta} \frac{1}{\|u-v\|_2^2} \mathbb{1}_{\{\|u-v\|_2 \geqslant M\varepsilon\}} \, \mathrm{d}u \, \mathrm{d}v$$
$$= \delta^2 [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1} \int_{-1}^0 \int_{-1}^0 \int_0^1 \int_0^1 \frac{1}{\|u-v\|_2^2} \mathbb{1}_{\{\|u-v\|_2 \geqslant M\varepsilon/\delta\}} \, \mathrm{d}u \, \mathrm{d}v$$

$$\leq C\delta^2[\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1}\left[\ln(\sqrt{2})-\ln(M\varepsilon/(2\delta))\right],$$

thus  $\lim_{\delta \to 0} \overline{\lim}_{\varepsilon \to 0} A_{\varepsilon} = 0$ , and  $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} A_{\varepsilon} = 0$ . Also, the case where  $t_1 < t_2 < t_3$  and  $s_1 < s_2$  and

$$B_{\varepsilon} := \varepsilon^{-2} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1} \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \int_{s_1}^{s_2} \int_{t_2}^{t_3} \int_{s_1}^{s_2} \left[ \left( \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_1^2} (u - v) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^2 + 2 \left( \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_1 \partial t_2} (u - v) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^2 + \left( \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_2^2} (u - v) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^2 \right] du dv,$$

is treated in a same way and gives  $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} B_{\varepsilon} = 0$ .

Finally, all the other cases are treated in the same manner by using the fact that for all i, j = 1, 2, and all  $(u_1, u_2)$ ,

$$(113) \qquad \left(\frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_i \partial t_i}(u_1, u_2)\right)^2 = \left(\frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_i \partial t_i}(-u_1, u_2)\right)^2 = \left(\frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_i \partial t_i}(u_1, -u_2)\right)^2.$$

To finish with the preliminaries, we will use the next convergence result. For all indices,  $i_1, i_2, i_3, i_4, j_1, j_2, j_3, j_4 = 0, \dots, m-1$  and for all  $i = 1, \dots, 4$ and  $k_i = 1, 2$ 

(114)

$$\varepsilon^{-4} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-2} \int_{t_{i_{1}}}^{t_{i_{1}+1}} \int_{s_{j_{1}}}^{s_{j_{1}+1}} \int_{t_{i_{2}}}^{t_{i_{2}+1}} \int_{s_{j_{2}}}^{s_{j_{2}+1}} \int_{t_{i_{3}}}^{t_{i_{3}+1}} \int_{s_{j_{3}}}^{s_{j_{3}+1}} \int_{t_{i_{4}}}^{t_{i_{4}+1}} \int_{s_{j_{4}}}^{s_{j_{4}+1}} \times \left( \frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{1}} \partial t_{k_{2}}} (u_{1} - u_{2}) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right) \left( \frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{1}} \partial t_{k_{3}}} (u_{1} - u_{3}) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right) \left( \frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{2}} \partial t_{k_{4}}} (u_{2} - u_{4}) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right) \times \left( \frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{3}} \partial t_{k_{4}}} (u_{3} - u_{4}) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right) du_{1} du_{2} du_{3} du_{4} \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} 0.$$

To prove this convergence, we first notice that by applying Schwarz's inequality and using the results of convergence (112), we easily obtain the required convergence to zero of the previous integral for most cases. The only case left to consider is the following.

Let us fix  $t_1 < t_2$ ,  $s_1 < s_2$  and  $k_i$  fixed, for i = 1, ..., 4. Let us consider

$$C_{\varepsilon} := \varepsilon^{-4} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-2} \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \int_{s_1}^{s_2} \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \int_{s_1}^{s_2} \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \int_{s_1}^{s_2} \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \int_{s_1}^{s_2} \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \int_{s_1}^{s_2} \left( \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_1} \partial t_{k_2}} (u_1 - u_2) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right) \left( \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_1} \partial t_{k_3}} (u_1 - u_3) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right) \left( \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_2} \partial t_{k_4}} (u_2 - u_4) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right) du_1 du_2 du_3 du_4.$$

As before, applying Schwarz's inequality and working as in the proof of Theorem 4.6.19-4, we point out that this integral is  $O(1/\ln(1/\varepsilon))$  if we integrate on the set  $\{\|u_1-u_2\|_2 \leqslant M\varepsilon \text{ or } \|u_1-u_3\|_2 \leqslant M\varepsilon \text{ or } \|u_2-u_4\|_2 \leqslant$  $M\varepsilon$  or  $\|u_3 - u_4\|_2 \leqslant M\varepsilon$  or  $\|u_1 - u_2\|_2 > \delta$  or  $\|u_1 - u_3\|_2 > \delta$  or  $||u_2 - u_4||_2 > \delta$  or  $||u_3 - u_4||_2 > \delta$ .

Thus, we only have to consider the behavior of the integral on the set

$$\{M\varepsilon \leqslant \|u_1 - u_2\|_2 \leqslant \delta \text{ and } M\varepsilon \leqslant \|u_1 - u_3\|_2 \leqslant \delta$$
  
and  $M\varepsilon \leqslant \|u_2 - u_4\|_2 \leqslant \delta \text{ and } M\varepsilon \leqslant \|u_3 - u_4\|_2 \leqslant \delta \}.$ 

Once again, we apply the Schwarz's inequality and Theorem 4.6.19–4. We obtain  $C_{\varepsilon} \equiv D_{\varepsilon}$ , where

$$D_{\varepsilon} \leqslant \boldsymbol{C} \left( \varepsilon^{-4} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-2} \int_{T^4} \mathbb{1}_{\{M\varepsilon \leqslant \|u_1 - u_2\|_2 \leqslant \delta\}} \times \left( \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_1} \partial t_{k_2}} (u_1 - u_2) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^2 \mathbb{1}_{\{M\varepsilon \leqslant \|u_3 - u_4\|_2 \leqslant \delta\}} \left( \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_3} \partial t_{k_4}} (u_3 - u_4) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^2 \times \mathbb{1}_{\{M\varepsilon \leqslant \|u_1 - u_3\|_2 \leqslant \delta\}} \, \mathrm{d}u_1 \, \mathrm{d}u_2 \, \mathrm{d}u_3 \, \mathrm{d}u_4 \right).$$

We make the change of variables:  $u_1 - u_2 = v_1$  and  $u_3 - u_4 = v_2$ , getting

$$D_{\varepsilon} \leqslant \boldsymbol{C} \left( [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1} \int_{M\varepsilon \leqslant \|v\|_{2} \leqslant \delta} \frac{1}{\|v\|_{2}^{2}} dv \right)^{2} \left( \int_{T \times T} \mathbb{1}_{\{\|u_{1} - u_{3}\|_{2} \leqslant \delta\}} \right).$$

Consequently, we obtain  $\overline{\lim}_{\varepsilon\to 0} D_{\varepsilon} \leqslant C\delta^2$ , and  $\lim_{\varepsilon\to 0} D_{\varepsilon} = 0$ . The ground is now prepared for the proof of the lemma.

We compute the fourth moment of the random variable  $S_{\varepsilon}^{(m)}(\boldsymbol{t},\boldsymbol{s})$ .

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}\left[\left\{S_{\varepsilon}^{(m)}(\boldsymbol{t},\boldsymbol{s})\right\}^{4}\right] &= \sum_{i_{1},i_{2},i_{3},i_{4}=0}^{m-1} \sum_{j_{1},j_{2},j_{3},j_{4}=0}^{m-1} \alpha_{i_{1},j_{1}}\alpha_{i_{2},j_{2}}\alpha_{i_{3},j_{3}}\alpha_{i_{4},j_{4}} \\ &\times \varepsilon^{-4}[\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-2} \int_{t_{i_{1}}}^{t_{i_{1}+1}} \int_{s_{j_{1}}}^{s_{j_{1}+1}} \int_{t_{i_{2}}}^{t_{i_{2}+1}} \int_{s_{j_{2}}}^{s_{j_{2}+1}} \int_{t_{i_{3}}}^{t_{i_{3}+1}} \int_{s_{j_{3}}}^{s_{j_{3}+1}} \int_{t_{i_{4}}}^{t_{i_{4}+1}} \int_{s_{j_{4}}}^{s_{j_{4}+1}} \\ &\sum_{k_{1},k_{2},k_{3},k_{4}=1,2} \mathbb{E}\left[H_{2}\left(\frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{1}}}(u_{1})/\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\right) H_{2}\left(\frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{2}}}(u_{2})/\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\right) \\ &\times H_{2}\left(\frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{3}}}(u_{3})/\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\right) H_{2}\left(\frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{4}}}(u_{4})/\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\right)\right] du_{1} du_{2} du_{3} du_{4}. \end{split}$$

To calculate the expectation, we use the diagram formula (see [20, pp. 431 and 432]):

(115) 
$$\mathbb{E}\left[\prod_{\ell=1}^{4} H_2\left(\frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{\ell}}}(u_{\ell})/\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\right)\right] = \sum_{G \in \Gamma} I_G,$$

where G is an undirected graph with 8 edges and 4 levels (for definitions, see [20, p. 431]),  $\Gamma := \Gamma(2,2,2,2)$  denotes the set of diagrams having theses properties, and

(116) 
$$I_G := \prod_{w \in G(V)} \left( -\frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{d_1(w)}} \partial t_{k_{d_2(w)}}} (u_{d_1(w)} - u_{d_2(w)}) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right),$$

where G(V) denotes the set of edges of G; the edges w are oriented, beginning in  $d_1(w)$  and finishing in  $d_2(w)$ .

The diagrams are called regular (see [20, p. 432]) if their levels can be matched in a such way that no edges pass between levels in different pairs, otherwise they are called *irregular*. Consider all the regular diagrams. Their contribution, say  $R_{\varepsilon}$ , is given by

$$\begin{split} R_{\varepsilon} &:= \sum_{i_{1},i_{2},i_{3},i_{4}=0}^{m-1} \sum_{j_{1},j_{2},j_{3},j_{4}=0}^{m-1} \alpha_{i_{1},j_{1}} \alpha_{i_{2},j_{2}} \alpha_{i_{3},j_{3}} \alpha_{i_{4},j_{4}} \\ &\times \varepsilon^{-4} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-2} \int_{t_{i_{1}}}^{t_{i_{1}+1}} \int_{s_{j_{1}}}^{s_{j_{1}+1}} \int_{t_{i_{2}}}^{t_{i_{2}+1}} \int_{s_{j_{2}}}^{s_{j_{2}+1}} \int_{t_{i_{3}}}^{t_{i_{3}+1}} \int_{s_{j_{3}}}^{s_{j_{3}+1}} \int_{t_{i_{4}}}^{t_{i_{4}+1}} \int_{s_{j_{4}}}^{s_{j_{4}+1}} \\ &\times \sum_{k_{1},k_{2},k_{3},k_{4}=1,2} \left\{ 2 \left( \frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{1}} \partial t_{k_{2}}} (u_{1}-u_{2})/\mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^{2} 2 \left( \frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{2}} \partial t_{k_{4}}} (u_{3}-u_{4})/\mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^{2} \\ &+ 2 \left( \frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{1}} \partial t_{k_{3}}} (u_{1}-u_{3})/\mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^{2} 2 \left( \frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{2}} \partial t_{k_{4}}} (u_{2}-u_{4})/\mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^{2} \\ &+ 2 \left( \frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{1}} \partial t_{k_{3}}} (u_{1}-u_{4})/\mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^{2} 2 \left( \frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{2}} \partial t_{k_{3}}} (u_{2}-u_{3})/\mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^{2} \right\} du_{1} du_{2} du_{3} du_{4} \\ &= 3 \sum_{i_{1},i_{2},i_{3},i_{4}=0}^{m-1} \sum_{j_{1},j_{2},j_{3},j_{4}=0}^{m-1} \alpha_{i_{1},j_{1}} \alpha_{i_{2},j_{2}} \alpha_{i_{3},j_{3}} \alpha_{i_{4},j_{4}} \\ &\times \varepsilon^{-4} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-2} \int_{t_{i_{1}}}^{t_{i_{1}+1}} \int_{s_{j_{1}}}^{s_{j_{1}+1}} \int_{t_{i_{2}}}^{t_{i_{2}+1}} \int_{s_{j_{2}}}^{s_{j_{2}+1}} \int_{t_{i_{3}}}^{t_{i_{3}+1}} \int_{s_{j_{3}}}^{t_{i_{4}+1}} \int_{s_{j_{4}}}^{s_{j_{4}+1}} \int_{s_{j_{4}}}^{s_{j_{4}+1}} \\ &\times \sum_{k_{1},k_{2},k_{3},k_{4}=1,2} 2 \left( \frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{1}} \partial t_{k_{2}}} (u_{1}-u_{2})/\mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^{2} \end{aligned}$$

$$\times 2 \left( \frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{3}} \partial t_{k_{4}}} (u_{3} - u_{4}) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^{2} du_{1} du_{2} du_{3} du_{4}$$

$$= 3 \left( \sum_{i_{1}, i_{2} = 0}^{m-1} \sum_{j_{1}, j_{2} = 0}^{m-1} \alpha_{i_{1}, j_{1}} \alpha_{i_{2}, j_{2}} \varepsilon^{-2} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1} \int_{t_{i_{1}}}^{t_{i_{1}+1}} \int_{s_{j_{1}}}^{s_{j_{1}+1}} \int_{t_{i_{2}}}^{t_{i_{2}+1}} \int_{s_{j_{2}}}^{s_{j_{2}+1}} \right)^{2} du_{1} du_{2} du_{2} du_{3} du_{4} du_{4$$

Now, by applying convergence obtained in (111) and (112), we see that the limit will be held for indices such that  $i_1 = i_2$  and  $i_2 = j_2$ , giving

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} R_{\varepsilon} = 3 \left( \sum_{i=0}^{m-1} \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \alpha_{i,j}^2 \sigma^2(t_{i+1} - t_i)(s_{j+1} - s_j) \right)^2 = 3\sigma^4.$$

To finish with the proof of the lemma, we conclude by noting that the contribution of the irregular diagrams tends to zero with  $\varepsilon$ . Indeed, it is enough to apply the formula of the diagram given in (115) and (116) to those diagrams. Then convergence given in (114) yields the required result.

In conclusion, we have proved the convergence of finite dimensional distributions of  $S_{\varepsilon}$ .

To obtain assertion 1 of Proposition 4.6.35, i.e. the convergence of process  $S_{\varepsilon}$ , it is enough to prove the tightness of the sequence of this process.

Let us prove the following lemma.

**Lemma 4.6.37.** — For any  $(s,t) \in T \times T$  and  $\varepsilon > 0$ , we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left\{S_{\varepsilon}(t) - S_{\varepsilon}(s)\right\}^{6}\right] \leqslant \boldsymbol{C} \|t - s\|_{2}^{3}.$$

Proof of Lemma 4.6.37. Let  $t := (t_1, t_2) \in T$  and  $s := (s_1, s_2) \in T$ . Let us compute  $\mathbb{E}\left[\left\{S_{\varepsilon}(t) - S_{\varepsilon}(s)\right\}^6\right]$ .

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left\{S_{\varepsilon}(t) - S_{\varepsilon}(s)\right\}^{6}\right] = \varepsilon^{-6}\left[\ln(1/\varepsilon)\right]^{-3} \\
\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_{a}^{t_{1}} \int_{c}^{t_{2}} \left\{H_{2}\left(\frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial u_{1}}(u)/\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\right) + H_{2}\left(\frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial u_{2}}(u)/\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\right)\right\} du - \int_{a}^{s_{1}} \int_{c}^{s_{2}} \left\{H_{2}\left(\frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial u_{1}}(u)/\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\right) + H_{2}\left(\frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial u_{2}}(u)/\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\right)\right\} du\right)^{6}\right] \\
\leqslant C\varepsilon^{-6}\left[\ln(1/\varepsilon)\right]^{-3} \\
\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_{s_{1}}^{t_{1}} \int_{c}^{t_{2}} \left\{H_{2}\left(\frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial u_{1}}(u)/\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\right) + H_{2}\left(\frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial u_{2}}(u)/\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\right)\right\} du\right)^{6}\right] \\
+ \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_{a}^{s_{1}} \int_{s_{2}}^{t_{2}} \left\{H_{2}\left(\frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial u_{1}}(u)/\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\right) + H_{2}\left(\frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial u_{2}}(u)/\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\right)\right\} du\right)^{6}\right].$$

We will only work with the first expectation, say  $V_{\varepsilon}(t_1, s_1)$ , the second would be treated in the same way.

Let us suppose that  $s_1 \leq t_1$  and prove that

$$V_{\varepsilon}(t_{1}, s_{1}) := \varepsilon^{-6} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-3} \mathbb{E} \left[ \left( \int_{s_{1}}^{t_{1}} \int_{c}^{t_{2}} \left\{ H_{2} \left( \frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial u_{1}}(u) / \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \right) + H_{2} \left( \frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial u_{2}}(u) / \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \right) \right\} du \right)^{6} \right]$$

$$\leq C(t_{1} - s_{1})^{3},$$

that will be enough to ensure the required result.

$$V_{\varepsilon}(t_{1}, s_{1}) = \varepsilon^{-6} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-3} \int_{s_{1}}^{t_{1}} \int_{c}^{t_{2}} \int_{s_{1}}^{t_{2}} \int_{s_{1}}^{$$

As in the proof of Lemma 4.6.36, we use the diagram formula (see [20, pp. 431 and 432]) to calculate the expectation:

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\prod_{\ell=1}^{6} H_2\left(\frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{\ell}}}(u_{\ell})/\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\right)\right] = \sum_{G \in \Gamma} I_G,$$

where G is an undirected graph with 12 edges and 6 levels (see [20, p. 431], for definitions),  $\Gamma := \Gamma(2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2)$  denotes the set of diagrams having theses properties, and

$$I_G := \prod_{w \in G(V)} \left( -\frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{d_1(w)}} \partial t_{k_{d_2(w)}}} (u_{d_1(w)} - u_{d_2(w)}) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right),$$

where G(V) denotes the set of edges of G; the edges w are oriented, beginning in  $d_1(w)$  and finishing in  $d_2(w)$ .

Thus we will have to deal with four kinds of terms corresponding to four kinds of graphs.

Case 1 This case corresponds to the regular diagrams. There are fifteen such diagrams. They are of the form

$$\begin{split} \left(\frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_1} \partial t_{k_2}} (u_1 - u_2) / \mu_{\varepsilon}\right)^2 \times \left(\frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_3} \partial t_{k_4}} (u_3 - u_4) / \mu_{\varepsilon}\right)^2 \\ \times \left(\frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{\varepsilon}} \partial t_{k_{\varepsilon}}} (u_5 - u_6) / \mu_{\varepsilon}\right)^2. \end{split}$$

The three other cases correspond to the irregular ones.

Case 2 There are thirty diagrams with the form

$$\left(\frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{1}} \partial t_{k_{2}}} (u_{1} - u_{2}) / \mu_{\varepsilon}\right)^{2} \times \left(\frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{3}} \partial t_{k_{4}}} (u_{3} - u_{4}) / \mu_{\varepsilon}\right) \\
\times \left(\frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{4}} \partial t_{k_{5}}} (u_{4} - u_{5}) / \mu_{\varepsilon}\right) \times \left(\frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{5}} \partial t_{k_{6}}} (u_{5} - u_{6}) / \mu_{\varepsilon}\right) \\
\times \left(\frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{3}} \partial t_{k_{6}}} (u_{3} - u_{6}) / \mu_{\varepsilon}\right).$$

Case 3 There are forty diagrams with the following form

$$\begin{split} \left(\frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_1} \partial t_{k_2}} (u_1 - u_2) / \mu_{\varepsilon}\right) \times \left(\frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_2} \partial t_{k_3}} (u_2 - u_3) / \mu_{\varepsilon}\right) \\ \times \left(\frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_1} \partial t_{k_3}} (u_1 - u_3) / \mu_{\varepsilon}\right) \times \left(\frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_4} \partial t_{k_5}} (u_4 - u_5) / \mu_{\varepsilon}\right) \\ \times \left(\frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_5} \partial t_{k_6}} (u_5 - u_6) / \mu_{\varepsilon}\right) \times \left(\frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_4} \partial t_{k_6}} (u_4 - u_6) / \mu_{\varepsilon}\right). \end{split}$$

Case 4 There are 5! diagrams of the form

$$\left(\frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_1} \partial t_{k_2}} (u_1 - u_2) / \mu_{\varepsilon}\right) \times \left(\frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_1} \partial t_{k_3}} (u_1 - u_3) / \mu_{\varepsilon}\right)$$

$$\begin{split} \times \left( \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_2} \partial t_{k_4}} (u_2 - u_4) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right) \times \left( \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_3} \partial t_{k_5}} (u_3 - u_5) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right) \\ \times \left( \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_4} \partial t_{k_6}} (u_4 - u_6) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right) \times \left( \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_5} \partial t_{k_6}} (u_5 - u_6) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right). \end{split}$$

As in the proof of Lemma 4.6.36 let us give and show in the forthcoming lemma two preliminaries results which will help us to treat the previous four cases.

Lemma 4.6.38. —

1. 
$$\varepsilon^{-2}[\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1} \int_{s_1}^{t_1} \int_{c}^{t_2} \int_{s_1}^{t_1} \int_{c}^{t_2} \left( \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_1} \partial t_{k_2}} (u_1 - u_2) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^2 du_1 du_2$$

$$\leqslant \boldsymbol{C}(t_1 - s_1).$$
2. 
$$\varepsilon^{-3}[\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-3/2} \int_{s_1}^{t_1} \int_{c}^{t_2} \int_{s_1}^{t_1} \int_{c}^{t_2} \int_{s_1}^{t_1} \int_{c}^{t_2} \left| \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_1} \partial t_{k_2}} (u_1 - u_2) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right|$$

$$\times \left| \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_2} \partial t_{k_3}} (u_2 - u_3) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right| \left| \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_1} \partial t_{k_3}} (u_1 - u_3) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right| du_1 du_2 du_3$$

$$\leqslant \boldsymbol{C}(t_1 - s_1)^{3/2}.$$

Proof of Lemma 4.6.38. Let us begin with the proof of part 1 of the lemma. By using the parity property of the function  $\frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_1} \partial t_{k_2}}$  described in the formula (113), inequality (94) and convergence given in (95), we get

$$\varepsilon^{-2} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1} \int_{s_{1}}^{t_{1}} \int_{c}^{t_{2}} \int_{s_{1}}^{t_{1}} \int_{c}^{t_{2}} \left( \frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{1}} \partial t_{k_{2}}} (u_{1} - u_{2}) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^{2} du_{1} du_{2} 
= 4\varepsilon^{-2} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1} 
\times \int_{0}^{t_{1} - s_{1}} \int_{0}^{t_{2} - c} \left( \frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{1}} \partial t_{k_{2}}} (u) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^{2} (t_{1} - s_{1} - u_{1}) (t_{2} - c - u_{2}) du 
\leqslant C(t_{1} - s_{1}) [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1} 
\times \int_{0}^{t_{1} - s_{1}} \int_{0}^{t_{2} - c} \left\{ \varepsilon^{-2} \mathbb{I}_{\{\|u\|_{2} \leqslant M\varepsilon\}} + \frac{1}{\|u\|_{2}^{2}} \mathbb{I}_{\{\|u\|_{2} > M\varepsilon\}} \right\} du 
\leqslant C(t_{1} - s_{1}).$$

Let us now turn to the part 2 of the lemma and establish a first result.

(117) 
$$\varepsilon^{-1} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-3/2} \int_{s_1}^{t_1} \int_{c}^{t_2} \int_{s_1}^{t_1} \int_{c}^{t_2} \left| \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_1} \partial t_{k_2}} (u_1 - u_2) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right| du_1 du_2$$

$$\leqslant C(t_1 - s_1)^{3/2}.$$

Indeed, we have

$$\varepsilon^{-1}[\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-3/2} \int_{s_{1}}^{t_{1}} \int_{c}^{t_{2}} \int_{s_{1}}^{t_{1}} \int_{c}^{t_{2}} \left| \frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{1}} \partial t_{k_{2}}} (u_{1} - u_{2}) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right| du_{1} du_{2}$$

$$= 4\varepsilon^{-1}[\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-3/2}$$

$$\times \int_{0}^{t_{1} - s_{1}} \int_{0}^{t_{2} - c} \left| \frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{1}} \partial t_{k_{2}}} (u) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right| (t_{1} - s_{1} - u_{1})(t_{2} - c - u_{2}) du$$

$$\leqslant C(t_{1} - s_{1})[\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-3/2}$$

$$\times \int_{0}^{t_{1} - s_{1}} \int_{0}^{t_{2} - c} \left\{ \varepsilon^{-1} \mathbb{1}_{\{\|u\|_{2} \leqslant M\varepsilon\}} + \frac{1}{\|u\|_{2}} \mathbb{1}_{\{\|u\|_{2} > M\varepsilon\}} \right\} du$$

$$\leqslant C(t_{1} - s_{1})[\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-3/2}$$

$$\times \left\{ (t_{1} - s_{1}) + (t_{1} - s_{1})^{1/2} \left( \int_{0}^{t_{1} - s_{1}} \int_{0}^{t_{2} - c} \frac{1}{\|u\|_{2}^{2}} \mathbb{1}_{\{\|u\|_{2} > M\varepsilon\}} du \right)^{1/2} \right\}$$

$$\leqslant C(t_{1} - s_{1})^{3/2}[\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1}$$

$$\leqslant C(t_{1} - s_{1})^{3/2}.$$

Back to the proof of lemma part 2, we get the following bound

$$\varepsilon^{-3} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-3/2} 
\int_{s_1}^{t_1} \int_{c}^{t_2} \int_{s_1}^{t_1} \int_{c}^{t_2} \int_{s_1}^{t_1} \int_{c}^{t_2} \mathbb{1}_{\{\|u_1 - u_2\|_2 \leqslant M\varepsilon\}} \left| \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_1} \partial t_{k_2}} (u_1 - u_2) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right| 
\times \left| \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_2} \partial t_{k_3}} (u_2 - u_3) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right| \left| \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_1} \partial t_{k_3}} (u_1 - u_3) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right| du_1 du_2 du_3 
\leqslant \varepsilon^{-3} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-3/2} \int_{s_1}^{t_1} \int_{c}^{t_2} \int_{s_1}^{t_1} \int_{c}^{t_2} \int_{s_1}^{t_1} \int_{c}^{t_2} \mathbb{1}_{\{\|u_1 - u_2\|_2 \leqslant M\varepsilon\}} 
\times \left| \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_2} \partial t_{k_3}} (u_2 - u_3) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right| du_1 du_2 du_3 
\leqslant \varepsilon^{-1} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-3/2} 
\times \int_{s_1}^{t_1} \int_{c}^{t_2} \int_{s_1}^{t_1} \int_{c}^{t_2} \left| \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_2} \partial t_{k_3}} (u_2 - u_3) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right| du_2 du_3 
\leqslant C(t_1 - s_1)^{3/2},$$

the last inequality coming from (117).

The same reasoning can be done for the set of integration  $\|u_2 - u_3\|_2 \leq M\varepsilon$ . Thus to conclude the proof of inequality given in part b., we only have to consider the set  $\|u_1 - u_2\|_2 > M\varepsilon$  and  $\|u_2 - u_3\|_2 > M\varepsilon$ . We obtain, by

applying Schwarz's inequality and result obtained in part 1 of this lemma

$$\begin{split} \varepsilon^{-3} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-3/2} \\ &\times \int_{s_{1}}^{t_{1}} \int_{c}^{t_{2}} \int_{s_{1}}^{t_{1}} \int_{c}^{t_{2}} \int_{s_{1}}^{t_{1}} \int_{c}^{t_{2}} \left| \frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{1}} \partial t_{k_{2}}} (u_{1} - u_{2}) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right| \mathbb{1}_{\{\|u_{1} - u_{2}\|_{2} > M\varepsilon\}} \\ &\times \left| \frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{2}} \partial t_{k_{3}}} (u_{2} - u_{3}) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right| \mathbb{1}_{\{\|u_{2} - u_{3}\|_{2} > M\varepsilon\}} \left| \frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{1}} \partial t_{k_{3}}} (u_{1} - u_{3}) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right| du_{1} du_{2} du_{3} \\ &\leq \left( \varepsilon^{-2} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1} \right. \\ &\times \int_{s_{1}}^{t_{1}} \int_{c}^{t_{2}} \int_{s_{1}}^{t_{1}} \int_{c}^{t_{2}} \int_{s_{1}}^{t_{1}} \int_{c}^{t_{2}} \left( \frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{1}} \partial t_{k_{3}}} (u_{1} - u_{3}) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^{2} du_{1} du_{2} du_{3} \right)^{1/2} \\ &\times \left[ \varepsilon^{-4} [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-2} \right. \\ &\times \int_{s_{1}}^{t_{1}} \int_{c}^{t_{2}} \int_{s_{1}}^{t_{1}} \int_{c}^{t_{2}} \int_{s_{1}}^{t_{1}} \int_{c}^{t_{2}} \left( \frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{1}} \partial t_{k_{2}}} (u_{1} - u_{2}) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^{2} \mathbb{1}_{\{\|u_{1} - u_{2}\|_{2} > M\varepsilon\}} \\ &\times \left( \frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{k_{1}} \partial t_{k_{2}}} (u_{2} - u_{3}) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^{2} \mathbb{1}_{\{\|u_{2} - u_{3}\|_{2} > M\varepsilon\}} du_{1} du_{2} du_{3} \right]^{1/2} \\ &\leq C(t_{1} - s_{1}) \left( [\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-2} \right. \\ &\times \int_{s_{1}}^{t_{1}} \int_{c}^{t_{2}} \int_{s_{1}}^{t_{1}} \int_{c}^{t_{2}} \int_{s_{1}}^{t_{1}} \int_{c}^{t_{2}} \frac{1}{\|u_{1} - u_{2}\|_{2}^{2}} \mathbb{1}_{\{\|u_{1} - u_{2}\|_{2} > M\varepsilon\}} du_{1} du_{2} du_{3} \right)^{1/2} \\ &\leq C(t_{1} - s_{1})^{3/2}. \end{split}$$

That ends the proof of Lemma 4.6.38.

We turn back now to the proof of Lemma 4.6.37.

The first case is treated directly by using part 1 of Lemma 4.6.38.

The second cases uses first part 1 of Lemma 4.6.38 and second Schwarz's inequality and again part 1 of Lemma 4.6.38.

The third case is a straightforward application of part 2 of Lemma 4.6.38.

Finally, the last case is solved by applying Schwarz's inequality and again part 1 of Lemma 4.6.38.

That yields Lemma 4.6.37.

The tightness of process  $S_{\varepsilon}$  follows from [22, Theorem 3.1.10].

Thus the convergence in assertion 1 of Proposition 4.6.35 takes place in the sense of processes convergence. Let us now show assertion 2.

Let  $c_{i,j}$ , i, j = 0, ..., m-1, be real constants. As before, it is sufficient to establish the limit distribution of

$$\sum_{i=0}^{m-1} \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} c_{i,j} X_{\varepsilon}(t_i, s_j) + S_{\varepsilon}^{(m)}(\boldsymbol{t}, \boldsymbol{s}).$$

This time, we apply of [48, Theorem 1]. Indeed,

$$\sum_{i=0}^{m-1} \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} c_{i,j} X_{\varepsilon}(t_i, s_j)$$

belongs to the first Wiener chaos as Gaussian random variable with finite variance. Furthermore,  $S_{\varepsilon}^{(m)}(t,s)$  belongs to the two order one. Mehler's formula allows us to verify the hypothesis appearing in (4) of this theorem.

Finally, assumption (iv) is satisfied since, by applying result of the previous part 1, we know that  $S_{\varepsilon}^{(m)}(\boldsymbol{t}, \boldsymbol{s})$  converges in distribution to a Gaussian random variable, as well as  $\sum_{i=0}^{m-1} \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} c_{i,j} X_{\varepsilon}(t_i, s_j)$ .

To summarize, we have proved the convergence of finite dimensional distributions of  $(X_{\varepsilon}, S_{\varepsilon})$ .

To conclude, the tightness of processes  $(X_{\varepsilon}, S_{\varepsilon})$  follows from that of process  $S_{\varepsilon}$  proved in part 1. It implies the convergence of  $(X_{\varepsilon}, S_{\varepsilon})$  as processes and then ensures the stable convergence of  $(X_{\varepsilon}, S_{\varepsilon})$  and of that of  $S_{\varepsilon}$  (see [52, Proposition 1]).

This yields proof of Proposition 4.6.35.

To conclude with the proof of Theorem 4.6.20, let us prove the last lemma.

Proof of Lemma 4.6.34. We can write  $\mathbb{E}[(T_{\varepsilon} - T_{\varepsilon}^{(m)})^2] = \mathbb{E}[T_{\varepsilon}^2] + \mathbb{E}[(T_{\varepsilon}^{(m)})^2] - 2\mathbb{E}[T_{\varepsilon}T_{\varepsilon}^{(m)}]$ . By Theorem 4.6.19–4,

$$\mathbb{E}[T_{\varepsilon}^2] \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} \ell_5.$$

Now, we compute  $\mathbb{E}\left[(T_{\varepsilon}^{(m)})^2\right]$ .

$$\mathbb{E}\Big[(T_{\varepsilon}^{(m)})^{2}\Big] = a^{2}(2,0)\varepsilon^{-2}[\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1}\sum_{i_{1},i_{2}=0}^{m-1}\sum_{j_{1},j_{2}=0}^{m-1}f(a_{i_{1}}^{(m)},c_{j_{1}}^{(m)})f\Big(a_{i_{2}}^{(m)},c_{j_{2}}^{(m)}\Big) \times \sum_{k=0}^{\infty}\sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty}c_{k}c_{\ell}\int_{a_{i_{1}}^{(m)}}^{a_{i_{1}+1}^{(m)}}\int_{c_{i_{1}}^{(m)}}^{c_{j_{1}+1}^{(m)}}\int_{a_{i_{2}}^{(m)}}^{c_{j_{2}+1}^{(m)}}\int_{c_{i_{m}}^{(m)}}^{c_{i_{m}}^{(m)}}$$

$$\times \mathbb{E} \left[ \left( H_2 \left( \frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_1}(t) / \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \right) + H_2 \left( \frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_2}(t) / \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \right) \right) H_k \left( \frac{X_{\varepsilon}(a_{i_1}^{(m)}, c_{j_1}^{(m)})}{\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}} \right) \right. \\ \left. \times \left( H_2 \left( \frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial s_1}(s) / \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \right) + H_2 \left( \frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial s_2}(s) / \sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}} \right) \right) H_{\ell} \left( \frac{X_{\varepsilon}(a_{i_2}^{(m)}, c_{j_2}^{(m)})}{\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}} \right) \right] dt ds.$$

We proceed as in the proof of Proposition 4.6.26–3. It is straightforward, by using the asymptotic equality given in (103), to prove that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[ (T_{\varepsilon}^{(m)})^{2} \right] \equiv 2a^{2}(2,0)\varepsilon^{-2} \left[ \ln(1/\varepsilon) \right]^{-1} \sum_{i_{1},i_{2}=0}^{m-1} \sum_{j_{1},j_{2}=0}^{m-1} f(a_{i_{1}}^{(m)},c_{j_{1}}^{(m)}) f(a_{i_{2}}^{(m)},c_{j_{2}}^{(m)})$$

$$\times \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} q! c_{q}^{2} \int_{a_{i_{1}}^{(m)}}^{a_{i_{1}+1}^{(m)}} \int_{c_{j_{1}}^{(m)}}^{c_{j_{1}+1}^{(m)}} \int_{a_{i_{2}}^{(m)}}^{c_{j_{2}+1}^{(m)}} \int_{c_{j_{2}}^{(m)}}^{c_{j_{2}+1}^{(m)}} \left( \frac{r_{\varepsilon}(a_{i_{1}}^{(m)} - a_{i_{2}}^{(m)},c_{j_{1}}^{(m)} - c_{j_{2}}^{(m)})}{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \right)^{q}$$

$$\times \left[ \left( \frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{1}^{2}} (t-s)/\mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^{2} + 2 \left( \frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{1} \partial t_{2}} (t-s)/\mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^{2} + \left( \frac{\partial^{2} r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{2}^{2}} (t-s)/\mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^{2} \right] dt ds.$$

Using convergence result given by (112), we obtain that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[ (T_{\varepsilon}^{(m)})^2 \right] \equiv 2a^2(2,0)\varepsilon^{-2} \left[ \ln(1/\varepsilon) \right]^{-1} \sum_{i=0}^{m-1} \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} f^2(a_i^{(m)}, c_j^{(m)})$$

$$\times \left( \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} q! c_q^2 \right) \int_{a_i^{(m)}}^{a_{i+1}^{(m)}} \int_{c_j^{(m)}}^{c_{j+1}^{(m)}} \int_{a_i^{(m)}}^{c_{j+1}^{(m)}} \int_{c_j^{(m)}}^{c_{j+1}^{(m)}} \left[ \left( \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_1^2} (t-s)/\mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^2 + \left( \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_1^2} (t-s)/\mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^2 \right] dt ds.$$

Now using the convergence result given by (111), we finally get that

$$\begin{split} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbb{E} \Big[ (T_{\varepsilon}^{(m)})^2 \Big] &= \left( \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} q! c_q^2 \right) a^2(2,0) \sigma^2 \\ &\times \left( \sum_{i=0}^{m-1} \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} f^2 \Big( a_i^{(m)}, c_j^{(m)} \Big) \Big( a_{i+1}^{(m)} - a_i^{(m)} \Big) \Big( c_{j+1}^{(m)} - c_j^{(m)} \Big) \right). \end{split}$$

Thus, we easily obtain that

$$\lim_{m \to +\infty} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbb{E}\left[ (T_{\varepsilon}^{(m)})^2 \right] = \left( \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} q! c_q^2 \right) a^2(2,0) \sigma^2 \left( \int_T f^2(t) \, \mathrm{d}t \right) = \ell_5.$$

To complete the proof of Lemma 4.6.34, it remains to show that

$$\lim_{m \to +\infty} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbb{E}[T_{\varepsilon} T_{\varepsilon}^{(m)}] = \ell_5.$$

Let us compute  $\mathbb{E}[T_{\varepsilon}T_{\varepsilon}^{(m)}]$ .

$$\mathbb{E}[T_{\varepsilon}T_{\varepsilon}^{(m)}] = a^{2}(2,0)\varepsilon^{-2}[\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1} \sum_{i=0}^{m-1} \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} f\left(a_{i}^{(m)}, c_{j}^{(m)}\right)$$

$$\times \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} c_{k}c_{\ell} \int_{T} \int_{a_{i}^{(m)}}^{a_{i+1}^{(m)}} \int_{c_{j}^{(m)}}^{c_{j+1}^{(m)}} f(t)$$

$$\times \mathbb{E}\left[\left(H_{2}\left(\frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{1}}(t)/\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\right) + H_{2}\left(\frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_{2}}(t)/\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\right)\right) H_{k}\left(X_{\varepsilon}(t)/\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\right)\right]$$

$$\times \left(H_{2}\left(\frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial s_{1}}(s)/\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\right) + H_{2}\left(\frac{\partial X_{\varepsilon}}{\partial s_{2}}(s)/\sqrt{\mu_{\varepsilon}}\right)\right) H_{\ell}\left(\frac{X_{\varepsilon}(a_{i}^{(m)}, c_{j}^{(m)})}{\sqrt{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}}\right)\right] dt ds.$$

As for the previous term and using the asymptotic equality (103), we have

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}\Big[T_{\varepsilon}T_{\varepsilon}^{(m)}\Big] &\equiv 2a^2(2,0)\varepsilon^{-2}[\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1}\sum_{i=0}^{m-1}\sum_{j=0}^{m-1}f\Big(a_i^{(m)},c_j^{(m)}\Big) \\ &\times \sum_{q=0}^{\infty}q!c_q^2\int_T\int_{a_i^{(m)}}^{a_{i+1}^{(m)}}\int_{c_j^{(m)}}^{c_{j+1}^{(m)}}\left(\frac{r_{\varepsilon}\Big(t-\Big(a_i^{(m)},c_j^{(m)}\Big)\Big)}{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\right)^qf(t) \\ &\times \left[\left(\frac{\partial^2r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_1^2}(t-s)/\mu_{\varepsilon}\right)^2+2\left(\frac{\partial^2r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_1\partial t_2}(t-s)/\mu_{\varepsilon}\right)^2+\left(\frac{\partial^2r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_2^2}(t-s)/\mu_{\varepsilon}\right)^2\right]\,\mathrm{d}t\,\mathrm{d}s \\ &=2a^2(2,0)\varepsilon^{-2}[\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1}\sum_{i_1,i_2=0}^{m-1}\sum_{j_1,j_2=0}^{m-1}f\left(a_{i_2}^{(m)},c_{j_2}^{(m)}\right) \\ &\times \sum_{q=0}^{\infty}q!c_q^2\int_{a_{i_1}^{(m)}}^{a_{i_1}^{(m)}}\int_{c_{j_1}^{(m)}}^{c_{j_1+1}^{(m)}}\int_{a_{i_2}^{(m)}}^{a_{i_2+1}^{(m)}}\int_{c_{j_2}^{(m)}}^{c_{j_2+1}^{(m)}}\left(\frac{r_{\varepsilon}\Big(t-\Big(a_{i_2}^{(m)},c_{j_2}^{(m)}\Big)\Big)}{r_{\varepsilon}(0)}\right)^qf(t) \\ &\times \left[\left(\frac{\partial^2r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_1^2}(t-s)/\mu_{\varepsilon}\right)^2+2\left(\frac{\partial^2r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_1\partial t_2}(t-s)/\mu_{\varepsilon}\right)^2+\left(\frac{\partial^2r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_2^2}(t-s)/\mu_{\varepsilon}\right)^2\right]\,\mathrm{d}t\,\mathrm{d}s. \end{split}$$

Using the convergence result 112), we obtain that

$$\mathbb{E}[T_{\varepsilon}T_{\varepsilon}^{(m)}] \equiv 2a^{2}(2,0)\varepsilon^{-2}[\ln(1/\varepsilon)]^{-1}\sum_{i=0}^{m-1}\sum_{j=0}^{m-1}f(a_{i}^{(m)},c_{j}^{(m)})$$

$$\begin{split} &\times \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} q! c_q^2 \int_{a_i^{(m)}}^{a_{i+1}^{(m)}} \int_{c_j^{(m)}}^{c_{j+1}^{(m)}} \int_{a_i^{(m)}}^{a_{i+1}^{(m)}} \int_{c_j^{(m)}}^{c_{j+1}^{(m)}} \left( \frac{r_{\varepsilon} \Big( t - \Big( a_i^{(m)}, c_j^{(m)} \Big) \Big)}{r_{\varepsilon}(0)} \right)^q f(t) \\ &\times \left[ \left( \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_1^2} (t-s) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^2 + 2 \left( \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_1 \partial t_2} (t-s) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^2 + \left( \frac{\partial^2 r_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t_2^2} (t-s) / \mu_{\varepsilon} \right)^2 \right] \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}s. \end{split}$$

As for the previous term the convergence result (111) yields that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbb{E}[T_{\varepsilon} T_{\varepsilon}^{(m)}] = \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} q! c_q^2 a^2(2,0) \sigma^2 \times \left( \sum_{i=0}^{m-1} \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} f\left(a_i^{(m)}, c_j^{(m)}\right) \int_{a_i^{(m)}}^{a_{i+1}^{(m)}} \int_{c_j^{(m)}}^{c_{j+1}^{(m)}} \left( \frac{r\left(t - \left(a_i^{(m)}, c_j^{(m)}\right)\right)}{r(0)} \right)^q f(t) dt \right).$$

Finally, by taking the limit on m, we obtain

$$\lim_{m \to +\infty} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbb{E}[T_{\varepsilon} T_{\varepsilon}^{(m)}] = \ell_5.$$

This completes the proof of Lemma 4.6.34 and also ends the proof of Theorem 4.6.20.  $\hfill\Box$ 

### CHAPTER 5

# VAGUE CONVERGENCE AND STABLE CONVERGENCE

#### 5.1. Vague convergence

Let  $\mathcal{H}$  be a separable Hilbert space. We denote by  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}$  the scalar product in  $\mathcal{H}$ . We define the finite dimensional weak convergence of a sequence of probability measures  $\{\mu_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  defined in this space, called *vague convergence*. If for any  $\phi \in \mathcal{H}$  the following functional

$$J_n(\phi) := \int_{\mathcal{H}} e^{i\langle \phi, x \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}} d\mu_n(x),$$

converges when  $n \to \infty$  toward a functional  $J(\phi)$ , we say that the sequence of measures converges vaguely. It is easy to show that J(0) = 1. Moreover, the functional J is positive definite i.e. if  $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_m$  are scalars and if  $\phi_1, \ldots, \phi_m$  in  $\mathcal{H}$  then we have that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{m} J(\phi_i - \phi_j) \alpha_i \alpha_j \geqslant 0.$$

This last property is a consequence of the same property verified by the  $J_n$ . Using Kolmogorov's consistency theorem, we can define a measure  $\mu$  in  $\mathcal{H}$ . Nevertheless, it happens that it is only finitely additive. To explain this last assertion, let  $\{e_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$  be a complete and orthonormal system in  $\mathcal{H}$ . Let us define  $\pi_{e_{i_1},\ldots,e_{i_k}}$  the orthogonal projection on the linear span of the set of vectors  $\{e_{i_1},\ldots,e_{i_k}\}$ , i.e.

$$\pi_{e_{i_1},\dots,e_{i_k}}: \phi \to \sum_{\ell=1}^k \langle \phi, e_{i_\ell} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} e_{i_\ell}.$$

We can define the following sequence of measure in  $\mathbb{R}^k$ 

$$\mu_n^{e_{i_1},\dots,e_{i_k}}(A) := \mu_n(\pi_{e_{i_1},\dots,e_{i_k}}^{-1}(A)), \quad A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^k),$$

 $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^k)$  is the Borel  $\sigma$ -algebra of  $\mathbb{R}^k$ .

In this way, denoting by  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_k$  the canonical scalar product in  $\mathbb{R}^k$ , for all  $\phi \in \mathcal{H}$ 

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^k} e^{\left\langle \pi_{e_{i_1},\dots,e_{i_k}}(\phi),x\right\rangle_k} \,\mathrm{d}\mu_n^{e_{i_1},\dots,e_{i_k}}(x) &= \int_{\mathcal{H}} e^{i\left\langle \pi_{e_{i_1},\dots,e_{i_k}}(\phi),\,\pi_{e_{i_1},\dots,e_{i_k}}(x)\right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}}} \,\mathrm{d}\mu_n(x) \\ &= \int_{\mathcal{H}} e^{i\left\langle \pi_{e_{i_1},\dots,e_{i_k}}(\phi),\,x\right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}}} \,\mathrm{d}\mu_n(x) \\ &= J_n(\pi_{e_{i_1},\dots,e_{i_k}}(\phi)) \to J(\pi_{e_{i_1},\dots,e_{i_k}}(\phi)). \end{split}$$

By Levy-Cramer theorem on the convergence of probability measures in  $\mathbb{R}^k$ , we know that there exits a probability measure in  $\mathbb{R}^k$ , which we denote by  $\mu^{e_{i_1},\dots,e_{i_k}}$ , such that

$$\mu_n^{e_{i_1},\dots,e_{i_k}} \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{\mathbf{w}} \mu^{e_{i_1},\dots,e_{i_k}},$$

where  $\frac{w}{n\to\infty}$  denotes the weak convergence of probability measures. Moreover, the collection of these measures is consistent in the sense of Kolmogorov. They therefore define a cylindrical measure  $\mu$  on  $\mathcal{H}$ . To have the  $\sigma$ -additivity, we need an additional condition of tightness. If this last condition is not satisfied, we say that  $\mu$  is a weak probability measure. We must denote this convergence by

$$\mu_n \xrightarrow[n\to\infty]{\mathrm{v}} \mu.$$

Consider an example provided by Gaussian measures. Let X be a random vector  $X: \Omega \to \mathcal{H}$  with a distribution  $\mu$ , a probability measure defined on  $\mathcal{H}$ . Let  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$  be the vector space of continuous linear operators from  $\mathcal{H}$  to  $\mathcal{H}$ . We then say that  $\mu$  is Gaussian if for all  $\phi \in \mathcal{H}$  the real random variable  $\langle \phi, X \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}$  has a Gaussian distribution,  $\mathcal{N}(\mathbb{E}[\langle \phi, X \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}]; \operatorname{Var}(\langle \phi, X \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}))$ . There exists  $m \in \mathcal{H}$ , and  $\mathcal{K}_{\mu} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ , self-adjoint and nonnegative, such that the following properties are verified

$$\mathbb{E}[\langle \phi, X \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}] = \langle m, \phi \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \text{ for any } \phi \in \mathcal{H}$$
$$Cov(\langle \phi_1, X \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}, \langle \phi_2, X \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}) = \langle \mathcal{K}_{\mu} \phi_1, \phi_2 \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \text{ for any } \phi_1, \phi_2 \in \mathcal{H}.$$

 $\mathcal{K}_{\mu}$  is the covariance operator while m is the mean. The distribution of X is characterized by m and  $\mathcal{K}_{\mu}$ .

We can show that  $\mathcal{K}_{\mu}$  is a trace-class operator, i.e. it has a finite trace. Let  $Tr(\mathcal{K}_{\mu}) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \langle \mathcal{K}_{\mu} e_i, e_i \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} < +\infty$ .

Note that if  $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{H}}$  is the norm induced by the scalar product in  $\mathcal{H}$ , one has

$$Tr(\mathcal{K}_{\mu}) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \left\langle \mathcal{K}_{\mu} e_i, e_i \right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}}$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}[\langle X - m, e_i \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \langle X - m, e_i \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}]$$

$$= \mathbb{E}[\langle X - m, X - m \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}]$$

$$= \mathbb{E}[\|X - m\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2]$$

$$= \|\mathcal{K}_{\mu}\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})},$$

 $\left\| \cdot \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})}$  is called the trace-norm.

From now on, we assume without loss of generality that m=0. The following formula is immediate

$$J_{\mu}(\phi) := \int_{\mathcal{H}} e^{i\langle \phi, x \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}} \, \mathrm{d}\mu(x) = e^{-\frac{1}{2} \langle \mathcal{K}_{\mu} \phi, \phi \rangle}, \text{ for any } \phi \in \mathcal{H}.$$

It is easy to prove that for a sequence of Gaussian measures  $\{\mu_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  we have

$$\mu_n \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{\mathbf{v}} \mu \Leftrightarrow \mathcal{K}_{\mu_n} \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{\| \|_{\mathcal{K}}} \mathcal{K}_{\mu},$$

the last convergence takes place in the operator norm. The operator  $\mathcal{K}_{\mu}$  could be non trace-class, then in such a case it can only define a weak Gaussian measure.

#### 5.2. Stable convergence

In this section, we introduce the notion of stable convergence of measures, but adapted to the framework of the vague convergence. To begin with, let us consider an equivalent definition of vague convergence whose proof is routine.

A continuous and bounded function  $F: \mathcal{H} \to \mathbb{R}$  is said cylindrical if there exists a finite dimensional subspace  $E \subset \mathcal{H}$  such that  $F(y) = F(\pi_E(y)), \forall y \in \mathcal{H}$ , where  $\pi_E$  is the ortogonal projection on E. The set of these functions is denoted by  $C_{cyl}(\mathcal{H})$ .

We have the following result. Let  $X_n$  be a sequence of random variables taking values in  $\mathcal{H}$  with  $\mu_n := \mathcal{L}(X_n)$  then

$$\mu_n \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{\mathbf{v}} \mu \Leftrightarrow \mathbb{E}[F(X_n)] \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} \mathbb{E}[F(X)] \text{ and } \mathcal{L}(X) = \mu, F \in C_{cyl}(\mathcal{H}).$$

Above,  $\mu$  could in principle be a weak probability measure.

To introduce the notion of stable vague convergence (denoted as  $S_v$ ) we assume that the all  $\mathcal{H}$ -valued random variables of the sequence  $X_n$  are defined

on the same probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ . This sequence converges in the sense of  $\mathcal{S}_v$  if for all  $B \in \mathcal{F}$  and  $F \in C_{cyl}(\mathcal{H})$  we have

$$\mathbb{E}[\mathbb{1}_B(\omega)F(X_n(\omega))] \xrightarrow[n\to\infty]{} \mathbb{E}[\mathbb{1}_B(\omega)F(X(\omega))].$$

This definition has an equivalent expression when  $\Omega$  is a metric space and  $\mathcal{F}$  is its Borel  $\sigma$ -algebra. For any bounded and continuous function  $G: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  and for any random variable  $Y: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$  we have

$$\mathbb{E}[G(Y)F(X_n)] \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} \mathbb{E}[G(Y)F(X)].$$

Furthermore, the above characterization implies also that for all Y random variable

$$(Y, \pi_E(X_n)) \xrightarrow{\mathcal{S}_v} (Y, \pi_E(X)).$$

Finally we can extend as usual, this property to consider the case where  $Y_n \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{\text{Prob.}} Y$  in probability. Thus, it holds

$$(Y_n, \pi_E(X_n)) \xrightarrow{\mathcal{S}_v} (Y, \pi_E(X)).$$

## **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- [1] R. J. Adler The geometry of random fields, Classics in Applied Mathematics, vol. 62, Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics (SIAM), Philadelphia, PA, 2010, Reprint of the 1981 original [MR0611857].
- [2] R. J. Adler & A. M. Hasofer "Level crossings for random fields", Ann. Probab. 4 (1976), no. 1, p. 1–12.
- [3] R. J. Adler & J. E. Taylor Random fields and geometry, Springer Monographs in Mathematics, Springer, New York, 2007.
- [4] D. J. Aldous & G. K. Eagleson "On mixing and stability of limit theorems", Ann. Probab. 6 (1978), no. 2, p. 325–331.
- [5] D. Armentano, J.-M. Azaïs, F. Dalmao & J. R. León "Asymptotic variance of the number of real roots of random polynomial systems", *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.* **146** (2018), no. 12, p. 5437–5449.
- [6] D. Armentano, J.-M. Azaïs, F. Dalmao & J. R. León "Central limit theorem for the volume of the zero set of kostlan-shub-smale random polynomial systems", *Journal of Complexity* (2022), p. 101668.
- [7] J.-M. Azaïs & D. Florens-Zmirou "Approximation du temps local des processus gaussiens stationnaires par régularisation des trajectoires", *Probab. Theory Related Fields* **76** (1987), no. 1, p. 121–132.
- [8] J.-M. Azaïs & J. R. León "CLT for crossings of random trigonometric polynomials", *Electron. J. Probab.* **18** (2013), p. no. 68, 17.
- [9] J.-M. Azaïs, J. R. León & M. Wschebor "Rice formulas and Gaussian waves II", *Bernoulli* 17 (2011), no. 1, p. 170–193.

- [10] J.-M. Azaïs & M. Wschebor Level sets and extrema of random processes and fields, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, NJ, 2009.
- [11] S. BANACH "Sur les lignes rectifiables et les surfaces dont l'aire est finie", Fund. Math. 7 (1925), p. 225–237.
- [12] S. Benzaquen & E. M. Cabaña "The expected measure of the level sets of a regular stationary Gaussian process", *Pacific J. Math.* 103 (1982), no. 1, p. 9–16.
- [13] S. M. Berman "Local times and sample function properties of stationary Gaussian processes", *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* **137** (1969), p. 277–299.
- [14] M. V. Berry "Statistics of nodal lines and points in chaotic quantum billiards: perimeter corrections, fluctuations, curvature", J. Phys. A 35 (2002), no. 13, p. 3025–3038.
- [15] M. V. BERRY & M. R. DENNIS "Errata: "Phase singularities in isotropic random waves" [R. Soc. Lond. Proc. Ser. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci. 456 (2000), no. 2001, 2059–2079; MR1794716 (2001h:78015)]", R. Soc. Lond. Proc. Ser. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci. 456 (2000), no. 2004, p. 3048.
- [16] C. Berzin "Estimation of local anisotropy based on level sets", Electron. J. Probab. 26 (2021), p. 1–72.
- [17] C. Berzin, A. Latour & J. R. León Inference on the Hurst parameter and the variance of diffusions driven by fractional Brownian motion, Lecture Notes in Statistics, vol. 216, Springer, Cham, 2014, With a foreword by Aline Bonami.
- [18] C. Berzin, J. R. León & J. Ortega "Level crossings and local time for regularized Gaussian processes", *Probab. Math. Statist.* 18 (1998), no. 1, Acta Univ. Wratislav. No. 2045, p. 39–81.
- [19] C. Berzin & M. Wschebor "Approximation du temps local des surfaces gaussiennes", *Probab. Theory Related Fields* **96** (1993), no. 1, p. 1–32.
- [20] P. Breuer & P. Major "Central limit theorems for nonlinear functionals of Gaussian fields", *J. Multivariate Anal.* **13** (1983), no. 3, p. 425–441.

- [21] E. M. CABAÑA "Esperanzas de integrales sobre conjuntos de nivel aleatorios", in Actas del segundo Congreso Latinoamericano de Probabilidad y Estadística Matemática (Caracas), 1985, p. 65–81.
- [22] S. COHEN & J. ISTAS Fractional fields and applications, Mathématiques & Applications (Berlin) [Mathematics & Applications], vol. 73, Springer, Heidelberg, 2013, With a foreword by Stéphane Jaffard.
- [23] H. CRAMÉR & M. R. LEADBETTER Stationary and related stochastic processes, Dover Publications, Inc., Mineola, NY, 2004, Sample function properties and their applications, Reprint of the 1967 original.
- [24] P. DOUKHAN & J. R. LEÓN "Asymptotics for the local time of a strongly dependent vector-valued Gaussian random field", *Acta Math. Hungar.* **70** (1996), no. 4, p. 329–351.
- [25] E. B. DYNKIN "Self-intersection gauge for random walks and for Brownian motion", *Ann. Probab.* **16** (1988), no. 1, p. 1–57.
- [26] H. FEDERER Geometric measure theory, Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 153, Springer-Verlag New York Inc., New York, 1969.
- [27] W. Fleming Functions of several variables, second ed., Undergraduate Texts in Mathematics, Springer-Verlag, New York-Heidelberg, 1977.
- [28] D. Geman "On the variance of the number of zeros of a stationary Gaussian process", Ann. Math. Statist. 43 (1972), no. 3, p. 977–982.
- [29] D. Geman & J. Horowitz "Occupation times for smooth stationary processes", *Ann. Probab.* 1 (1973), no. 1, p. 131–137.
- [30] \_\_\_\_\_\_, "Occupation densities", Ann. Probab. 8 (1980), no. 1, p. 1–67.
- [31] I. S. Gradshteyn & I. M. Ryzhik Table of integrals, series, and products, eighth ed., Elsevier/Academic Press, Amsterdam, 2015, Translated from the Russian, Translation edited and with a preface by Daniel Zwillinger and Victor Moll, Revised from the seventh edition [MR2360010].
- [32] A. Granville & I. Wigman "The distribution of the zeros of random trigonometric polynomials", *Amer. J. Math.* **133** (2011), no. 2, p. 295–357.

- [33] E. HILLE "A class of reciprocal functions", Ann. of Math. (2) 27 (1926), no. 4, p. 427–464.
- [34] K. ITÔ "The expected number of zeros of continuous stationary Gaussian processes", J. Math. Kyoto Univ. 3 (1963/64), no. 2, p. 207–216.
- [35] M. Kac "On the average number of real roots of a random algebraic equation", Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 49 (1943), no. 1, p. 314–320.
- [36] \_\_\_\_\_, "On the average number of real roots of a random algebraic equation (II)", *Proc. London Math. Soc.* (2) **50** (1949), no. 6, p. 390–408.
- [37] E. Kostlan "On the distribution of roots of random polynomials", in From Topology to Computation: Proceedings of the Smalefest (Berkeley, CA, 1990), Springer, New York, 1993, p. 419–431.
- [38] M. F. Kratz & J. R. León "On the second moment of the number of crossings by a stationary Gaussian process", Ann. Probab. 34 (2006), no. 4, p. 1601–1607.
- [39] M. Krishnapur, P. Kurlberg & I. Wigman "Nodal length fluctuations for arithmetic random waves", *Ann. of Math.* (2) **177** (2013), no. 2, p. 699–737.
- [40] T. Letendre "Expected volume and Euler characteristic of random submanifolds", J. Funct. Anal. 270 (2016), no. 8, p. 3047–3110.
- [41] \_\_\_\_\_\_, "Variance of the volume of random real algebraic submanifolds", Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **371** (2019), no. 6, p. 4129–4192.
- [42] T. LETENDRE & M. PUCHOL "Variance of the volume of random real algebraic submanifolds II", *Indiana Univ. Math. J.* **68** (2019), no. 6, p. 1649–1720.
- [43] G. LINDGREN & F. LINDGREN "Stochastic asymmetry properties of 3D Gauss-Lagrange ocean waves with directional spreading", *Stoch. Models* **27** (2011), no. 3, p. 490–520.
- [44] M. S. LONGUET-HIGGINS "The statistical analysis of a random, moving surface", *Philos. Trans. Roy. Soc. London Ser. A* **249** (1957), p. 321–387.
- [45] P. Major Multiple Wiener-Itô integrals, second ed., Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 849, Springer, Cham, 2014, With applications to limit theorems.

- [46] D. Marinucci, G. Peccati, M. Rossi & I. Wigman "Non-universality of nodal length distribution for arithmetic random waves", *Geom. Funct. Anal.* **26** (2016), no. 3, p. 926–960.
- [47] D. NUALART & G. PECCATI "Central limit theorems for sequences of multiple stochastic integrals", Ann. Probab. 33 (2005), no. 1, p. 177–193.
- [48] G. Peccati & C. A. Tudor "Gaussian limits for vector-valued multiple stochastic integrals", in *Séminaire de Probabilités XXXVIII*, Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 1857, Springer, Berlin, 2005, p. 247–262.
- [49] A. O. Petters, B. Rider & A. M. Teguia "A mathematical theory of stochastic microlensing. II. Random images, shear, and the Kac-Rice formula", J. Math. Phys. **50** (2009), no. 12, p. 122501, 17.
- [50] A. O. Petters, H. Levine & J. Wambsganss Singularity theory and gravitational lensing, Progress in Mathematical Physics, vol. 21, Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 2001, With a foreword by David Spergel.
- [51] K. Podgórski & I. Rychlik "Envelope crossing distributions for gaussian fields", *Prob. Eng. Mech.* **23** (2008), no. 4, p. 364–377.
- [52] M. Podolskij & M. Vetter "Understanding limit theorems for semi-martingales: a short survey", *Stat. Neerl.* **64** (2010), no. 3, p. 329–351.
- [53] A. J. RAINAL "Origin of Rice's formula", IEEE Trans. Inform. Theory 34 (1988), no. 6, p. 1383–1387.
- [54] S. O. RICE "Mathematical analysis of random noise, part i-ii", *Bell System Tech. J.* **23** (1944), no. 3, p. 282–332.
- [55] \_\_\_\_\_\_, "Mathematical analysis of random noise, part iii-iv", *Bell System Tech. J.* **24** (1945), no. 1, p. 46–156.
- [56] L. Schwartz "Les théorèmes de Whitney sur les fonctions différentiables", in Séminaire Bourbaki, Vol. 1, Soc. Math. France, Paris, 1995, p. Exp. No. 43, 355–363.
- [57] M. Shub & S. Smale "Complexity of Bezout's theorem. II. Volumes and probabilities", in *Computational algebraic geometry (Nice, 1992)*, Progr. Math., vol. 109, Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 1993, p. 267–285.

- [58] E. V. Slud "MWI Representation of the Number of Curve-Crossings by a Differentiable Gaussian Process, with Applications", *Ann. Probab.* **22** (1994), no. 3, p. 1355 1380.
- [59] M. S. Taqqu "Law of the iterated logarithm for sums of non-linear functions of Gaussian variables that exhibit a long range dependence", Z. Wahrscheinlichkeitstheorie und Verw. Gebiete 40 (1977), no. 3, p. 203–238.
- [60] H. VON WEIZSÄCKER & J. GEISSLER "Fractal sets and preparation to geometric measure theory", Tech. report, Universität Kaiserslautern, 2006.
- [61] M. WSCHEBOR Surfaces aléatoires, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 1147, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1985, Mesure géométrique des ensembles de niveau. [The geometric measure of level sets].
- [62] \_\_\_\_\_\_, "On the Kostlan-Shub-Smale model for random polynomial systems. Variance of the number of roots", J. Complexity 21 (2005), no. 6, p. 773–789.